### What are the Expert Opinions on the Relationship Between Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and Mental Illness Classification?

By

Ryan McConnell

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

Psychology

University of Liverpool

16.03.2019

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contentsii
List of Tablesv
Declaration vi
Abstract
Acknowledgmentsix
List of Abbreviationsx
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Chapter 2: Literature Review7
Background of Narcissism7
Analysis of NPD7
Relationship with Mental Illness10
Validity of NPD Psychometrics
Chapter 3: Research Method15
Research Design15
Appropriateness of Research Approach15
Participants and Sampling16
Tools and Materials17
Procedure & Ethical Considerations
Data Analysis
Ethics 26
Chapter 4: Results

	Methodology of Categorisation and Selection of Themes & Sub-Themes	30
1	Theme 1: Symptoms of NPD	31
1	Theme 2: Severity of NPD condition	32
1	Theme 3: NPD relationship with mental illness	33
1	Theme 4: Differences in NPD behaviour	36
1	Theme 5: Relevance of genetics as NPD contributor	37
1	Theme 6: Relevance of environment	38
1	Theme 7: Decline of discreet diagnosis	39
1	Theme 8: NPD measuring instruments	41
	Theme 9: Future direction of NPD research	41
Chapte	er 5: Findings and Discussion	.43
	Severity of NPD condition	44
	NPD relationship with mental illness	45
	Differences in Displayed NPD Behaviour	47
	Relevance of genetics as NPD contributor	48
	Relevance of Environment as NPD Contributor	49
	Decline of discreet diagnosis	51
	Validity of NPD measuring instruments	52
	Future Direction of NPD research and expanded research	54
	Limitations of Study	54
	Suggestions for Future Research	55
Chapte	er 6: Conclusion	.57
Refere	ences	.59 iii
		111

Appendix A: Interview Questions	84
Overview	84
Interview Questions	84
Appendix B: Transcriptions and Thematic Notes	87
Identified Themes	87
Interview with Expert 1	88
Interview with Expert 2	105
Interview with Expert 3	119
Interview with Expert 4	130
Interview with Expert 5	143
Interview with Expert 6	154
Interview with Expert 7	171
Interview with Expert 8	183
Interview with Expert 9	202
Interview with Expert 10	215
Appendix C: Thematic Groupings	229
Appendix D: IOREC Application for Approval	
Appendix E: Ethics Response Form	
Appendix F: Informed Consent Form	292
Appendix G: Participant Information Sheet	

# List of Tables

Table 3.1: (Interview questions)	19
Table 3.2: (Participant data)	27
Table 3.3: (Extracted categories and themes)	28

## Declaration

No portion of this work has been submitted in support of an application for degree or qualification of this or any other University or institute of learning.

Signature:

Ryan McConnell

### Abstract

**Background**: Within the psychological community there is a great deal of debate over the nature of narcissism. In particular what causes the symptoms and is it correctly diagnosed, categorised and measured. Given that several psychologists argue for a different approach to its diagnosis and its labelling as a personality disorder/ mental illness, there was an apparent need to explore the views of the psychological community.

**Aim of study**: The aim of this research was to explore the opinions of ten established NPD experts with regards to NPD and its relationship with mental illness.

**Methods:** The study was a qualitative in nature and ten participants (experts on the subject of NPD) took part in semi-structured interviews lasting approximately one hour using Skype. These experts were given the same list of twenty-one questions which were adapted from the surrounding literature.

**Results:** A total of nine themes, twenty sub themes and forty-seven categories were extracted. The discussions were centred around: causes of narcissistic tendencies; the placement of diagnostic boundaries, debate over whether a discreet diagnosis or a traitbased approach was superior; validity of multiple forms of NPD; validity of NPD as a concept; validity of mental illness as a concept and the impact of environmental factors on narcissistic tendencies.

**Conclusions:** There has been a significant shift from the discreet diagnosis of NPD to a trait-based approach, with researchers arguing for the removal of discreet terminology in favour of position on a spectrum. There has been a shift in the NPD research community

to focus on a more developed measurement instrument, with many experts agreeing that a trait-based inclusion is necessary for diagnostical progression. There was some division on the nature of narcissism, the cause of narcissism and whether it should be split into sub-categories and whether it should classify as a mental illness.

Keywords: Narcissism, Narcissistic, Personality, Disorder & Interviews.

Abstract Word Count: 300

Dissertation Word Count: 10,987

## Acknowledgments

A brief thankyou to all of the people who made this research possible. I hold all the experts that took part in these interviews in very high regard and thoroughly enjoyed the interview process. Thank you to my dissertation advisor for guiding me through the entire procedure and to the University for giving me the opportunity to undertake this research. Finally big thank you to my parents and girlfriend Anastasia for the endless support and love.

## **List of Abbreviations**

- **DSM-5:** Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5<sup>th</sup> revision)
- **EMA:** Ecological Momentary Assessment
- **EX (1-10):** Reference to expert 1 to 10 referring to the order of interviewing.
- **FFM:** Five Factor Model
- **ICD-10:** International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (10th revision)
- **IOREC:** International Online Research Ethics Committee
- **IPA:** Interpretive Phenological Analysis
- NPD Narcissistic personality disorder
- NPI: Narcissistic Personality Inventory
- PD: Personality Disorder
- **PNI:** Pathological Narcissism Inventory

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

Over the last few decades there has been a radical shift in perceptions of mental illness and the number of individuals impaired by mental illness. Since the introduction of the DSM-3 in 1987, there has been a significant increase to the diagnosis rates of mental illnesses (Angell, 2011). According to Lelliott, et al., (2008) 83% of people will suffer from a mental disorder at some point in their life. Currently, there is a global estimate suggesting that 20% of the adult population suffer from some type of mental disorder (such as anxiety disorders, eating disorders and chronic depression), a marked increase from 18% in the last five years (Salleh, 2018).

One extreme form of mental disorder is personality disorder (PD). Indeed a PD is considered by both medical and academic bodies to be a form of mental illness (Kendell, 2002; Tyrer & Simmonds, 2003). Leising, Rogers & Ostner, (2009) defined personality disorder as a way of thinking, feeling and behaving that deviates from the expectations of the culture. In addition, PD's cause distress or problems functioning that has a lengthy perhaps even lifetime duration. Linehan (2018) described PD's as being an ingrained part of the person's personality and as such affects all decisions they make and the way they analyse stimulus within the environment. According to Tyrer, Reed and Crawford (2015) research, approximately 47% of people will suffer from a personality disorder at some point in their lives.

Depending on the source PDs affects somewhere between 3 to 10% of the population (Tyrer, et al., 2010). In order to be diagnosed with a PD an individual must demonstrate some significant and enduring difficulties with at least two out of four of the following points: Distorted thinking patterns, problematic emotional responses, over-or under regulated impulse control, and interpersonal difficulties (Eren & Şahin, 2016). In addition, for a person to be diagnosed with a specific personality disorder, the individual must meet the minimum number of criteria established for that particular disorder (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013; Beck, Davis & Freeman, 2015).

DSM-5 (APA, 2013) which is the current diagnosing manual used by clinicians to determine PDs suggests that there are ten different types of personality disorders which can be separated into three separate clusters:

- Cluster A involves PDs which are deemed 'odd and eccentric', these conditions being Paranoid, Schizoid and Schizotypal PD.
- (2) Cluster B involves PDs which are considered 'dramatic, emotional and erratic', these being Anti-social, Borderline, Histrionic, and Narcissistic PD.

(3) Cluster C looks to incorporate conditions that are considered as being 'anxious and fearful', these conditions being Avoidant, Dependent, and Obsessive-Compulsive PD.

Whilst there is some area of overlap in these conditions (Beck, Davis & Freeman, 2015; Chabrol, et al., 2009; Miller, et al., 2015) this research will only be focusing on Narcissistic PD and its relationship with mental illness.

Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) according to the DSM-5 is characterised by a long-term display of certain abnormal behaviours manifesting as at least five of these nine traits (APA, 2013):

- (1) Grandiosity with expectations of superior treatment from other people;
- (2) Fixated on fantasies of power, success, intelligence and attractiveness;
- (3) Self-perception of being unique and superior;
- (4) Needing continual admiration from others;
- (5) A sense of entitlement to special treatment and obedience from others;
- (6) Exploitative of others to achieve personal gain;
- (7) Unwilling to empathize with the needs of other people;
- (8) Intensely envious of others, and the belief that others are equally envious of them;
- (9) Pompous and arrogant demeanour.

According to Stinson et al., (2008) Narcissistic personality disorder is believed to affect approximately 6.2% of people at some point in their lifetime, with rates being greater for men (7.7%) than women (4.8%). These rates have been steadily increasing over the last 24 years since the conception of NPD in the DSM-4 (Foster, Shenesey, & Goff, 2009; Ronningstam, 2016)

However, in recent years the DSM has attracted a great deal of controversy within the community regarding its approach to diagnosing in relation to NPD. Firstly, NPD is considered by some as being too broad a terminology (Beck, Davis & Freeman,2015; Russ et al., 2008; Skodol, 2012) with a variety of symptoms being displayed and even radically different types of individuals falling under the same category (Blais, Hilsenroth, & Castlebury, 1997; Shedler & Westen, 2007; Skodol, 2012).

Other controversies such as: the contribution of social media; the relevance of genetics as a contributor and severity of traits required for NPD to be diagnosed are points that need investigating (Blasco-Fontecilla et al., 2009; Hunt, Bornovalova & Patrick, 2015; Zachar, Krueger & Kendler, 2016). Pincus & Lukowitsky (2010) proposed that the reason for so many of these controversies can be related to the prevalence of narcissism as a co-occurrence in other disorders. One of the most commonly raised controversies surrounding NPD is the perceived lack of research conducted on just specifically NPD as a separate entity, rather than as a regarded co-occurrence of other PDs (Brummelman et al., 2015; Marissen et al., 2016). Indeed, papers such as Stinson et al., (2008) and Zachar, Krueger &

Kendler (2016) go as far as to suggest that NPD is the least empirically researched of all personality disorders. Other researchers like Anninos (2018) and Higgs (2009), argued that narcissism is not a mental illness at all, simply a personality quirk as it can be a neutral or even useful trait in the working world, questioning the need to NPD listed as a personality disorder.

As a result of all this controversy it seemed necessary to explore the nature of NPD and how professional clinicians should go about diagnosing it. Without such research, professionals may continue to over or under diagnose the condition, resulting in potential negative ramifications occurring upon their clients and individuals who interact with the client (Curtis & Susman, 1994; Fossati, et al., 2009). This current research was designed with the intent of summarising these controversies and evaluating the current zeitgeist surrounding NPD, by way of experts' perspectives. For the purpose of this current study, the term 'expert' is defined in this paper as being an individual who has published at least one peer reviewed paper/literature on NPD.

The research question posed was 'What are the expert opinions on the relationship between Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and mental illness classification?' The aim of this study was:

(1) To explore the opinions of the established NPD related experts with regards NPD, its understanding and its classification in relation to mental illnesses.

The objectives of the research were:

- (1) To explore the expert perception of what constitutes NPD by way of qualitative approach.
- (2) To explore the expert opinions regarding the classification and identification of NPD as a form of mental illness.

### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

#### **Background of Narcissism**

The word narcissism is taken from the Greek myth of Narcissus, the story of a young man who rejects the advances of the nymph Echo in favour of staring at his own reflection (Vinge, 1967). The story highlights the themes of excessive self-worship, self-aggrandising and societal ignorance (Paris, 2003). Although narcissism is a common trait of humanity, scientific study has only been undertaken within the last one hundred years or so (Graves, 2017).

#### **Analysis of NPD**

The terminology Narcissistic Personality Disorder was originally coined by Kohut (1968), being used to describe the kind of narcissism that causes a state of denial in the patient, to the point where the patient behaviour has become a measurable problem both to themselves and to others. The chief method of diagnosing NPD and indeed most mental disorders, is through application of the DSM (Hyman, 2011; Kilpatrick et al., 2013; Mayou et al., 2005). Kim et al., (2008) and Dhawan et al., (2010) suggesting that approximately one percent in general populace have been or should be diagnosed with NPD. The newest version, the DSM-5 (APA, 2013) presents a series of nine symptoms for identifying NPD, these are listed in the introduction

Patients presenting five out of nine of these symptoms can be diagnosed by clinicians as having NPD. There seems to be disagreement in the community over the presentation and diagnosis of NPD via this method. Russ et al., (2008) argued that this kind of discrete polarisation of the disease (either a person has NPD or does not) leads to limited diagnosis methods. Other researchers such as Cain, Pincus and Ansell (2008) highlighted a key issue with this five out of nine approach, mainly which two different people can display two almost completely different sets of symptoms and yet can be diagnosed with the same disorder (Miller, Lynam & Campbell, 2016; Pincus, Lukowitsky, 2010). In addition, these diagnostic points can be interpreted very differently depending on the clinician.

In Ronningstam's (2011A) work the researcher compares a trait-based approach versus the DSM's discreet diagnosis in an attempt to bring some resolution to this diagnostical issue. Similar works can be found that tangentially compare the two different approaches to diagnosing narcissism (Hopwood et al., 2012; Livesley, Jackson & Schroeder, 1992; Skodol et al., 2011). Hopwood argued strongly for the increased implementation of trait and scale-based approach, creating a DSM-5 hybrid model. This model focuses on the diagnosing NPD by way of personality pathology severity as well as identifying specific pathological traits, with each individual having a personal summary of their condition. Whilst the findings support the integrating of trait and symptomatic elements, presents a more accurate method of diagnosis, the model still lacks large sample testing and arguably requires more combined instruments (only a single questionnaire is

used). In general the results from the community would suggest that moving to a traitbased approach would improve diagnostic accuracy and thus significantly improving treatment (Esbec & Echeburúa 2015; Schmeck, et al., 2013; Shedler et al., 2010; Tyrer et al., 2011; Widiger, 2011).

The main counter argument to this transition is that without the ability to make a diagnosis over the severity of a patient's condition, there is some difficulty in treating them (Golberstein et al., 2015; Schmeck, et al., 2013). The key reason being without an established diagnostic manual, it is much harder to implement homogeneous medical treatment (Golberstein et al., 2015; Ronningstam, 2011B; Saloner et al., 2017; Saulsman & Page 2004) as well as insurance coverage issues (Cooper, 2004; Frueh et al., 2003). As Cooper, (2004) pointed out in his work, there is definitive need to keep discreet disorders, especially within America for this reason. Indeed, many argue that removing NPD from the DSM would make it very difficult for sufferers to be compensated for all narcissism related conditions (Cooper, 2004; Peele, Xu & Kupfer, 2003). However, one could argue that this is a health care system issue rather than an issue with descriptive disorders (Walker et al., 2015; Zimmerman, Rothschild & Chelminski, 2005).

In terms of research that specifically focuses on NPD and narcissism as a single trait, there appears to be very little (Eaton, et al., 2017; Stinson et al., 2008) with a multitude of psychologists suggesting that a great deal of further analysis is required to fully understand NPD and narcissism in general (Eaton, et al., 2017; Manning, 2006; Stinson et

al., 2008). Indeed, Stinson et al., (2008) claimed that NPD is the least empirically researched of all personality disorders. As a result, the majority of modern-day research falls into either the measurement or the treatment of narcissism, with very little attention being paid to the aggregation of opinions regarding NPD (Amernic & Craig, 2010; Eaton, et al., 2017).

#### **Relationship with Mental Illness**

The terminology mental illness was chosen due to its relationship with the concept of discreet diagnosis (Link et al., 2004) as it is thought that a person is either mentally ill, or they are not. It is also argued that mental illness is approximately equated to a personality disorder (Kendell, 2002; Vigo, Thornicroft & Atun, 2016). To quote Kendell who conducted analysis specifically relating to the differences between PD and mental illness, 'It seems clear from this analysis that it is impossible at present to decide whether personality disorders are mental disorders or not, and that this will remain so until there is an agreed definition of mental disorder' (Kendell, 2002 p. 112).

When specifically focusing on whether or not NPD is a mental disorder, it seems there is little to no literature that addresses this theme. The reason for this could be due to the comorbidity of narcissism in comparison with other more prevalent and pressing mental disorders (Eaton, et al., 2017; Stinson et al., 2008; Zanarini et al., 1998). A reason highlighted by Stinson et al., for this apparent comorbidity is based upon the nature of narcissism. NPD seems to present itself in patients who are also displaying other mental disorders which are arguably more serious in severity especially borderline, histrionic, sadistic and general psychopathy, and is therefore often overlooked (Eaton, et al., 2017; Stinson et al., 2008; Zanarini et al., 1998).

Vaknin (2006) argued that given the high comorbidity between NPD and other personality disorders, there can be some consideration to removing NPD entirely and merging the symptoms with other disorders. There is some critique to this idea, for example Vaknin fails to analyse any large medical studies of NPD diagnosed patients, instead referring to just individual cases, reducing the consistency and validly of the argument. In addition, it could be argued that Vaknin does not factor the need to keep NPD as a disorder for the sake of insurance purposes (Twenge & Foster, 2010). Finally, there seems to be some support within the community that NPD should remain its own solitary disorder as narcissistic patients are a danger to themselves and to society in different ways to those suffering from borderline or anti-social behaviour disorder (Skeem et al., 2003; Kim, et al., 2008; Vossen, et al., 2017; Wright, 2016).

There is a secondary factor to consider. As mentioned in recent years there has been a significant move away from a discreet diagnosis to a trait model approach to diagnosis (Hopwood et al., 2012; Krueger & Markon, 2014; Tyrer, Reed & Crawford, 2015; Miller & Campbell, 2008). Models such as those proposed by Miller & Campbell (2008) and Hopwood et al., (2012) propose an effective hybrid model that looks to measure both personality pathology symptoms and maladaptive traits. In doing this, the model removes the need to have discreet personality disorders and thus removes the concept of NPD completely. However, these models do not necessarily tackle the issue of simplifying diagnosis for the sake of insurance issues, with many arguing that the adaption of a trait-based model would require a huge overhaul of insurance methods (Krueger & Markon, 2014; Wright, et al., 2013).

Other issues surrounding the diagnosing of NPD is based upon splitting NPD as a disorder into smaller more defined types of narcissism. According to Cain, Pincus and Ansell's (2008) in recent years there has been a trend towards the splitting of the narcissism disorder, with the majority of researchers suggesting that two separate categories of narcissism be created: Vulnerable Sensitivity-Depletion and Grandiosity-Exhibitionism (Cain, Pincus & Ansell, 2008; Russ et al., 2008; Wink, 1991). Indeed, Wink suggested that grandiose and vulnerable narcissism are two different disorders entirely. Miller, Widiger and Campbell (2014) suggested that NPD tends to emphasise the grandiose aspects of narcissism, suggesting that NPD is similar to the grandiose narcissism separation, whereas vulnerable narcissism may have its roots more in an anxiety-based cluster C disorder. Cain, Pincus and Ansell's (2008) suggested that by placing the majority of the diagnostic emphasis on grandiosity, NPD is subject to poor discrimination validity causing the lowest prevalence of any disorder on the axis II spectrum, despite narcissistic tendencies being present in just about all people (supported by Cramer, Torgersen & Kringlen, 2006; Miller et al., 2011)

There is however, some critique of Cain, Pincus and Ansell's (2008) work. Firstly, only a small amount of research has been carried out on the manner of distinction between grandiose and vulnerable narcissism (Rohmann et al., 2012; Vater et al., 2013A). Whilst Cain, Pincus and Ansell addressed this issue in their paper and utilised as much of the surrounding literature as possible, it still does not detract from the general use of small scaled samples and an apparent lack of supporting evidence. This is of course, going to be the case in every pioneering work but given the gravitas of implementing a completely different mental health framework, it becomes of paramount importance that the new model is well researched.

Given that the understanding of narcissism is in its infancy and theoretical in nature, discussion over a new model implementation and validity has become a complex issue. (Lyneham, Abbott & Rapee, 2007; Regier et al., 2013). For these reasons, some of the interview questions used in the interview for current study were directed towards the understanding of the division within NPD.

#### Validity of NPD Psychometrics

The most widely used method of measuring narcissistic tendencies is the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) (Miller, et al., 2014). Proposed by Raskin and Hall (1979), this fifty-four-itemed index represents a psychometric approach to measuring narcissistic tendencies, by way of Likert scales. Based upon the criteria outlined in the DSM-3 the index has proved useful in determining normal and subclinical levels of the

narcissism and well as identifying individuals who can be categorised as having NPD (Rosenthal et al., 2011; Miller & Campbell, 2011).

The effectiveness of the NPI however, has often been repudiated, with the categories listed by Raskin and Hall (1979) often being critiqued for varying the criteria and the number of criteria categories too readily undermining its validity (Rosenthal et al., 2011; Van der Linden & Rosenthal, 2016). Even Raskin himself suggested that the inventory is unrefined and would be difficult to perfect (Raskin & Terry, 1988). Other issues include the scales within the NPI having a low correlation with one another, resulting in some skewed results (Maxwell et al., 2011; Miller, et al., 2014). In particular attention has been drawn to the relationship empathy has with narcissism within the NPI. In the NPI there is an expectation that a high level of empathy most likely results in low levels of narcissism (Miller, et al., 2014). Foster & Campbell's (2007) however, suggested that the two are not necessarily correlated at all as narcissists do not necessarily have low levels of empathy. An often-cited reason for this lack of definition is once again due to the co-morbidity narcissism shares with other disorders (Diamond et al., 2014; Pincus & Lukowitsky, 2010).

### **Chapter 3: Research Method**

#### **Research Design**

To effectively address the research question, a qualitative approach was undertaken, based on the assumption that detailed explanations and evaluations on the topic of NPD would be required to provide rich meaningful data. Richards (2014) argues that a qualitative approach is more appropriate for topical review studies given that such explanations and evaluations require an in-depth exploration followed by further probing follow up questions. For this reason, a detailed interview approach was selected, with each expert being interviewed from a range of forty-five minutes to seventy minutes. This duration was based on other studies that were conducted with a similar design (qualitative conversations) in a similar method (semi-structured interview) (Harvey, 2010; Hoffman, 1987; Rubin & Rubin, 2011; McGrew & Bond, 1995)<sup>1</sup>.

#### Appropriateness of Research Approach

There are both benefits and pitfalls in conducting research that utilises a qualitative interview approach. Braun and Clarke (2006) argued the merits of thematic research based upon interviews. Firstly, that the flexibility of an interview-based approach especially when talking to experts in a subject matter is vital in order to obtain high levels of detail. Indeed,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A quantitative design was rejected as it would not have been appropriate for such a study. A quantitative design seeks to test hypotheses and the study design is inflexible by nature. In addition, results from a qualitative study cannot be generalised.

Flinders (1997) highlighted the effectiveness of the interview-based approach, describing it as perhaps the most valid form of qualitative study'. Flinders goes on to argue that the use of pre-determined questions with real time follow-up questions, form a highly effective approach to data gathering in interviewing. This flexibility is demonstrated in this research, as some of the questions asked in the interviews were constructed in real-time during the interview, with the goal of providing more in-depth responses. Without this flexibility it would be virtually impossible to achieve the same level of subject detail in any other methodology (Chenail. 2011; Larkin, Watts, & Clifton, 2006).

Qualitative interview-based research does however come with its significant share of pitfalls. Patton (1990) highlighted some concerns for this type of research. Firstly, the information gathered in the study is based in its entirety on the context of the situation and only focused on each subject matter for a short period of time. Secondly, the time of the interview, quality of the interview and depth of response from each question can vary wildly (Larkin, Watts, & Clifton, 2006). Patton also suggested that the researcher beware of drawing conclusions with a small sample size.

#### **Participants and Sampling**

Given the in-depth nature of the study and the need to highlight scientific knowledge, it was deemed vital that all participants were 'experts' in the understanding of NPD or narcissism as a subject matter. Therefore, an inclusion criterion was that only individuals who have published a peer-reviewed academic paper/literature on NPD within

the last ten years would be recruited for the study. Only people who fulfilled these criteria were designated 'experts' and were contacted<sup>2</sup>. The experts were purposely chosen, with every expert having parts of their produced literature being read prior to contact, thus confirming that they met the criteria.

A total of ten experts were interviewed, providing a total of approximately 9 hours 14 minutes of interview time. The first ten respondents to the initial email from the student researcher who met the inclusion criteria were invited to take part in the study. Although the criteria listed requires that the participants had published at least one paper, each expert had at least three papers credited to them, with the highest participating in approximately forty-three papers on the subject matter.

#### **Tools and Materials**

Each expert was asked the same list of twenty-one questions, which acted as the skeleton of the interview (Appendix A). These questions were divided into three separate sections. The first fifteen act as introductory questions, which were designed to get a background for the perspective of the expert and their understanding of narcissism. This provided an added opportunity to delve into some of the aspects of NPD which have tangential significance to the research question, as well as the researchers' background.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> No further criteria were placed for two reasons: firstly, to simplify the research and the acquiring of participants for the study and secondly to encourage a broad discussion on the nature of NPD and narcissism in general by interviewing experts from multiple different backgrounds and occupations.

The questions were constructed based upon reoccurring questions posed in various works relating to narcissism (See table 1).

The next three questions were listed as the core questions, which explore the concept of mental illness and its relationship with NPD. Their purpose being to provide a brief overview on a large variety of topics and sensitive issues surrounding narcissism and its relationship with mental illness. Finally, the last three questions were classified as the erroneous questions, these covered topics that were relevant to the study but not necessarily relevant to the research question in order to get an expansive look at the researcher's beliefs on NPD.

The study firstly was approved by the University (Appendix D), then all questions were reviewed and approved by the University ethics committee provided by the University of Liverpool and the Dissertation Adviser.

Question	Rationale	References
Q1: What do you consider to be	This question was designed to get a	Lambe, et al., 2016;
the key traits and characteristics	basic understanding of how the expert	Pincus &
of a person displaying	believes NPD to manifest.	Lukowitsky, 2010.
narcissistic personality		
disorder?		
Q2: What would you consider	This question was designed to get an	Lambe, et al., 2016;
the difference to be between a	understanding of what the expert	Pincus &
person displaying narcissistic	believes is the difference between	Lukowitsky, 2010.
tendencies and a person with	narcissistic tendencies and NPD.	
NPD?		
Q3: To what extent would you	This question focuses on how	Eaton, et al., 2017;
consider NPD to be prevalent in	prevalent the expert believes NPD to	Torgersen et al.,
the general populace?	be as a rough estimate.	2012
<b>Q4:</b> In your opinion what is the	This question looks to understand	Lambe, et al., 2016
role of genetics as a contributor	what the expert perceives the degree	Torgersen et al.,
to NPD?	to which genetics contributes towards	2012
	NPD.	
<b>Q5:</b> How influential would you	This question looks to understand	Eaton, et al., 2017;
consider society and the	what the expert perceives the	Pincus &
environment to be as	environmental factors are to	Lukowitsky, 2010.
contributors to NPD?	contribute towards NPD.	

## Table 1: List of questions presented to participants

Question	Rationale	References
Q6: What aspects of NPD	This question looks to evaluate	Lambe, et al., 2016;
could be considered as	whether there is anything positive	Pincus &
providing positive personal	about an individual having NPD.	Lukowitsky, 2010.
characteristics?		
<b>Q7:</b> To what extent would you	This question looks to evaluate the	Miller, Widiger &
consider the DSM-5	DSM interpretation of NPD,	Campbell, 2010;
interpretation of NPD to	specifically looking at how the DSM	Pincus & Roche,
accurate?	diagnoses NPD.	2011
<b>Q8:</b> How accurately do you	This question looks to get the expert's	Eaton, et al., 2017;
believe the scientific	opinion as to what extent they believe	Lambe, et al., 2016;
community understands NPD?	the scientific community currently	Stinson et al., 2008
	understands narcissism.	
<b>Q9:</b> Which methodology of	This question looks to get the expert	Miller, Widiger &
measuring narcissistic attributes	to present and evaluate the	Campbell, 2010;
do you consider to be the most	methodologies used to measures	Pincus & Roche,
valid and why?	NPD.	2011.
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have	This question looks to get the expert	Eaton, et al., 2017;
been described as varying in	to discuss whether they consider NPD	Pincus &
appearance and recognition. Do	to be split into multiple demographic	Lukowitsky, 2010.
you agree with this sentiment	and evaluate the notion of splitting	
and why?	NPD into multiple subtypes.	
Q11: Which gender would you	This question simply looks to ask the	Lambe, et al., 2016;
say is more likely to suffer from	expert whether they consider gender	Torgersen et al.,
NPD and why?		2012.

Question	Rationale	References
	to factor into the likelihood of an	
	individual developing NPD.	
Q12: To what extent do you	This question asks the expert whether	Lambe, et al., 2016;
believe age affects the severity	they consider age to factor into the	Torgersen et al.,
of the NPD condition?	severity of the NPD condition and	2012.
	why.	
Q13: In what aspects does	This question asks the expert to what	Pincus &
substance abuse affect the	degree they consider substance abuse	Lukowitsky, 2010;
severity of the NPD condition?	to affect the NPD condition and	Torgersen et al.,
	evaluate why this is the case.	2012.
Q14: What are some of the key	This question looks to follow on from	Eaton, et al., 2017;
issues facing the full	question 8 and ask the expert what	Miller, Widiger &
understanding of NPD?	specifically they feel is an under-	Campbell, 2010.
	researched area of NPD and how the	
	scientific community should proceed.	
<b>Q15</b> : In Stinson et al., 2008.	This question asks the expert whether	Stinson et al., 2008.
The researchers argue that NPD	they considered NPD to be the least	
is the least empirically	researched of all PDs. Reference is	
researched of all personality	made to Stinson et al. work as the	
disorders, to what extent do you	controversial comment of NPD being	
agree with this sentiment and is	the least researched which was stated	
there areas that require further	in their research.	
research in your opinion?		

Question	Rationale	References
QC1: What criteria would you	This question focuses on what criteria	Pargament &
use to classify someone as	is necessary for an individual to meet,	Lomax, 2013;
having a mental illness?	for them to be considered as having a	Tyrer, Reed, &
	mental illness.	Crawford, 2015.
QC2: To what extent would	This question focuses on the	Pargament &
you consider a personality	relationship between mental illness	Lomax, 2013;
disorder to be a mental illness?	and NPD, and asks the expert to	Tyrer, Reed, &
	discuss their response.	Crawford, 2015.
QC3: To what extent do you	Building on the previous QC2, this	Pargament &
consider NPD to be a mental	question specially asks the experts	Lomax, 2013;
illness?	what they consider the relationship	Tyrer, Reed, &
	between NPD and mental illness to	Crawford, 2015.
	look like. This question is considered	
	the core of the research as it is the	
	question that most directly links with	
	the research question.	
QE1: What aspects of NPD	This question focuses on the degree	Lambe, et al., 2016;
could be viewed as dangerous	to which an individual with NPD can	Mirak-Weissbach,
to society?	affect society and asks the expert to	2012.
	evaluate the potential dangers that an	
	individual suffering with NPD could	
	have on society.	

Question	Rationale	References
<b>QE2</b> : In your opinion, in what ways can those with both NPD	Building on question QE1, this question asks the expert to evaluate	Lambe, et al., 2016; Mirak-Weissbach, 2012.
and a position of power impact society?	how impactful power is at having an individual with NPD affect the society and environment around them.	2012.
<b>QE3</b> : What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?	The final question asks the expert why they believe that NPD features as a disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10 (another medical diagnostical manual).	Miller & Widiger, 2010; Pincus & Roche, 2011; Stinson et al., 2008.

#### **Procedure & Ethical Considerations**

A database was compiled, including the names, email addresses, titles and professions of each potential participants. In addition, the details of at least one of the papers published by the expert (name, brief synopsis, URL link) was included in the database. Each expert was emailed by the researcher once and once only. A total of 130 potential participants were emailed. Approximately 16% responded with roughly half choosing to decline for various reasons. Emails were sent out until a total of ten experts had been confirmed. Attached to the original email were two other documents, these being: the informed consent document (Appendix F), and the participant information sheet (Appendix G).

The participant information sheet included information for the participants about the purpose of the research, why they had been selected and what they would be asked to do, as well as other important information about their participation. The participants were informed about the voluntary nature of the study and had the right to withdraw at any time for any reason. All interviews were conducted using Skype. The interviews were audio recorded with the participants' permission.

After the interviews were completed, they were transcribed with each question receiving its relevant time code (see Appendix B). The data was stored on a single laptop and a single hard-drive that is password protected and accessible only by the researcher. The data at no time had been shared with any other organisation outside of the research adviser provided by the university. Each expert was debriefed at the end of the interview regarding how the research would proceed and when they could expect to see the completed research. Every expert was informed that at any time they could contact the researcher and request that their interview be removed from the data or undertaken. No expert has yet actioned this request.

#### **Data Analysis**

The decision was made to analyse the data predominately in the method described in Braun and Clark (2006), outline for thematic analysis. The overall benefit of this process is: flexibility, speed and ease of method. The researchers outline a six-stage process:

- 1. Phase One: Familiarisation with data.
- 2. Phase Two: Generating of initial codes.
- 3. Phase Three: Thematic searching.
- 4. Phase Four: Review of themes.
- 5. Phase Five: Defining and naming of themes.
- 6. Phase Six: Production of report.

Phase one involved all interviews being transcribed personally by the researcher. Any major themes within the interviews that initially presented themselves were highlighted and given a colour coded beside the transcript. Phase two involved coding large amounts of data into rough categories that bear relevance to some of the themes presented in the literature review. As suggested by Boyatzis (1998) the coding was done by colour highlighting the data, with reference being made in the notes for any sections that overlap.

In Phase three, these categorises were linked to the categories extracted in the literature review section. This re-focusing of data allows for the construction and discussion of themes with supporting data, tightening up the categories (Bryman, 2001). Given that the data produced both results that focused specifically on answering the research question as well as significant data on tangential topics, the creation of main themes and sub-themes was necessary. After all themes were collected, phase four involved the merging of themes where possible and the discarding of lesser irrelevant themes.

Phase five involves a dissection of the theme to identify its essence and identify any sub themes that run through the data. At this point all the themes were titled appropriately, with knowledge of what they should and should not include for refinement sake. Finally phase six involves the reporting of the data, in a manner that is analytical, precise and relevant to the research at hand.

#### **Ethics**

Before any data collection occurred, ethical approval was first obtained from the University (Appendix E). Participants were informed of their right to refuse participation and right to withdraw at any time. Data was collected confidentially and not shared with any other organisation. All participants provided consent prior to taking part in the study. Data was accessed only by the researcher and the DA. Data would be kept on a password protected computer for a maximum of three years on completion of the study.

# **Chapter 4: Results**

The demographic data of the chosen participants is shown below in table 2.

Participant	Gender	Age	Location	Current	Years	Papers
_		in		Profession	Practicing	published
		years			profession	on NPD
No. 1	Μ	72	Canada	Psychologist/	42 years at	3
				Theologist	retirement	
No. 2	Μ	56	America	Psychiatrist	28	43
No. 3	Μ	42	America	Psychologist	18	12
No. 4	Μ	60	America	Psychology/	32	4
				Philosopher		
No. 5	Μ	61	England	Psychologist	26	8
No. 6	Μ	59	America	Psychologist	30	21
No. 7	Μ	55	Canada	Psychologist/	11	5
				Philosopher		
No. 8	Μ	39	America	Psychiatrist	13	8
No. 9	Μ	64	America	Psychologist/	36 years at	17
				Philosopher	retirement	
No. 10	Μ	51	America	Psychologist	27	6

## Table 2: Demographic data of participants.

From the analysis forty-seven categories were extracted. These categories were then grouped into twenty sub-themes which were then further grouped in nine themes (see table 2).

## Table 3: Categories, sub-themes and themes

Categories extracted from	Sub-Themes	Themes	
the interviews Grandiosity	1.1 Descriptions of	(1) Symptoms of NPD:	
Self-obsession	Narcissistic behaviour	(1) Symptoms of 1(1 D.	
Lack of empathy and			
sympathy			
Erratic self-esteem and			
self-confidence			
Lack of control over	1.2 Descriptions of		
behaviour	symptoms of NPD		
Narcissistic tendencies no			
longer having any benefit			
Violence	2.1 Reference to severity	(2) Severity of NPD	
Overbearing or controlling	of NPD	condition:	
Unquestioningly			
authoritarian and abusive			
tendencies			
Cunning and compulsive	2.2 Severity in relation to		
lying	other disorders		
Denial of personality			
disorder			
Denial of mental illness/			
mental issues.			
Issues Self control	3.1 Description of mental illness.	(3) NPD relationship with mental illness:	
Lack of control over one's	inness.	mentur mitess.	
thoughts			
Issues with behaviour			
management			
Is mental illness a dated	3.2 Reference to the		
terminology?	validity of mental illness as		
	a concept.		
Similar or the same concept	3.3 Reference to whether it can be considered the same		
Mental illness no longer	as a PD.		
relevant concept			
References to NPD as a	3.4 Reference to whether		
mental illness	NPD can be considered a		
Reference to NPD as not a	form of mental illness.		
mental illness			

Issue with five of nine diagnostical criteria	4.1 References to differences in behaviour within the NPD condition.	(4) Differences in NPD behaviour:	
Grandiose Narcissism	4.2 References to different types of NPD (grandiose	-	
Vulnerable Narcissism	and vulnerable divide)		
Thick-skinned, thin			
skinned narcissists			
Parents or grandparents	5.1 Relevance of genetic factors to NPD	(5) Relevance of genetics	
with NPD		as NPD contributor:	
Siblings with NPD.	-		
Other family members with			
narcissistic characteristics		4	
Reference to impact of	5.2 Level of impact of		
genetics to NPD.	genetics on NPD		
Facebook	6.1 Impact of social media	(6) Relevance of	
Other social media	1	environment as NPD contributor:	
Childhood lessons	6.2 Impact of parenting		
Poor reward structure by	styles		
parents			
Abusive behaviour	6.3 Impact of childhood		
Use of shame and guilt as	abuse		
motivators			
Validity of DSM-5	7.1 Reference to discreet diagnosis	(7) Decline of discreet diagnosis:	
Validity of Personality			
Disorders			
Trait-based approach	7.2 Description in move		
Alternative diagnostical	away from current		
approaches	diagnostical structures		
Figures of apparent mental	7.3 Reference to		
illness.	prevalence rates in society.		
Reference to increase or			
decrease mental disorders.			
NPI	8.1 Reference to any NPD	(8) NPD measuring	
FFM	measuring instrument	instruments:	
Other measuring	1		
instruments			
Additional large-scale	9.1 Description of future	(9) Future direction of	
studies	research involving NPD	NPD research:	

Increased cross cultural studies	
Increase niche organizational studies	
Construction of additional testing methods Refinement of current testing methods	9.2 Reference and description of narcissistic trait research.
Increased studies on diagnostical aids.	

## Methodology of Categorisation and Selection of Themes & Sub-Themes

In order to accurately tackle the research question 'What are the expert opinions on the relationship between Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and mental illness classification?' It was of great importance that the core themes directly tie to the question. The themes were identified based upon their representation as the most prevalent and relevant topics within the interviews. Taylor & Ussher (2001) advises that the themes are selected based upon patterns, and the relevance to the research question. The decision to address the themes presented in this analysis over other themes is based upon the perceived intensity and relevance of importance to the interviewee (based upon Braun and Clarke (2008); Rubin & Rubin, 2011). A choice selection of quotes are used in the below results with the full list of supporting quotes for each theme found in Appendix C.

#### Theme 1: Symptoms of NPD

This theme refers to the symptoms of narcissism and NPD. This includes specifically what experts refer to when considering narcissism and considering the difference between acceptable levels of narcissistic behaviour and NPD levels of behaviour.

## 1.1 Description of Narcissistic Behaviour

Firstly, it was deemed crucial that the experts define what they perceive as narcissistic tendencies. There was unanimous agreement on what the experts considered to be narcissistic tendencies and the type of symptoms we would expect to see in a narcissistic individual. EX9 opinion largely encapsulates all the expert's opinions with this quote 'Highly sensitive to criticism... Grandiosity, lack of empathy, just having little understanding of the emotions of others. Traits like self-entitlement, perceived feeling of uniqueness to an extreme extent, self-disregard for others'.

### 1.2 Description of symptoms of NPD

This is similar to the previous sub-theme except the experts discussed what is different between narcissistic tendencies and NPD. The general census seems to be a lack of control over the narcissistic tendencies, resulting in the individual losing control of their life and their relationships. As EX3 states '*A person who has the disorder will have impairment in their social function, will frequently cycle through jobs, loses and changes friends frequently, just has an uncontrollable difficulty in the world*'.

## Theme 2: Severity of NPD condition

The second core theme relates the severity of NPD on the individual with NPD and those they affect.

## 2.1 Severity of NPD

This subtheme identified what elements of NPD they consider to be the most egregious and detrimental. The most reoccurring ideas being: a lack of control over one's behaviours (EX: 1, 3, 5, 9), a personal fracturing into delusion of grandeur (EX: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9) and a grossly unethical lack of compassion (EX:1, 3. 9).

All the experts agreed NPD should be classified as a personality disorder. The key take-away between narcissistic tendencies and NPD is in relation to the debilitation of the condition and inability to control one's actions as summarised by EX5: '*I think traits such as confidence, social dominance and arrogance are not necessarily bad things... I think to the point where they become extreme then it becomes debilitating to the person... I think not having the flexibility in how intensely they display those traits'.* 

EX6, however, did not feel that narcissistic tendencies are not entirely bad in nature with even some positive elements. EX6: 'I think the confidence and self-promotion that comes with those characteristics I think are really helpful in the right context; for example, short-term interactions. I think narcissistic individuals do quite well in those because they are interesting to other people, draw a lot of attention to themselves they are charming they are funny they are interesting'. This notion is supported by several experts, but the

consensus was only to a certain extent where the narcissistic tendencies is not dominating the individual's life, and therefore should not be considered as NPD.

### 2.2 Severity in relation to other disorders

This theme seems to vary depending on the expert. EX9 for example suggested that NPD is one of the most environmentally impacting personality, since individuals with NPD are often obsessed with achieving power and authority over others. EX9: '*For a narcissist there is joy in exploitation, in the utilisation of this power*'. This is supported by EX10: '*Grandiosity in leaders, military, political, business, can lead one to lead others down the wrong path. If one of these leaders is just trying to instil a sense of grandiosity by misleading their followers, very little good can come from that. I'm talking dictatorial behaviour with little regard for the citizens*'. Since individuals with NPD are more likely to hold positions of power, they would appear to affect more individuals that any other PD averagely would.

#### **Theme 3: NPD relationship with mental illness**

This theme directly focuses on the definition, description and validity of mental illness as a construct. In particular the experts were asked to compare the term mental illness with personality disorder. This exploration was necessary in order to analyse the relationship between NPD and mental illness.

## **3.1 Description of mental illness.**

In describing mental illness, all experts were relatively unanimous in their description of the phenomenon. EX2: 'It has to be harmful and unmanageable and stop the function of family and intimate relationships and friends. Also, its self-control, you lose the ability to modulate your own thoughts and emotions'. EX5 describes mental illness as 'Psychological characteristics that lead to distress impairments and harm to themselves or others'. A key reoccurring description was a lack of control over ones actions and apparent emotional distress.

#### **3.2** Validity of mental illness as a concept.

This was one of the most debated sub-themes with many experts claiming against the idea of mental illness as a construct (EX:1, 4, 7 & 9). EX:1 'I don't believe in mental illness, there is no such thing, when something has been called a mental illness, if they discover a biochemical or some neurological deficit, once that's discover, that doesn't prove that's a mental illness, it proves that it's a physical illness'. EX4 states 'Well you know back in the old days when getting a diagnosis and working with patients was common and they needed a terminology, this term 'mental illness' was fine. I now don't think we need these terms, it isn't reflective of the times'.

## **3.3** Reference to whether it can be considered the same as a PD.

Since the experts are divided on the validity of mental illness as a concept, this theme is also polarly split between supporting the link between mental illness and personality disorder and complete disregard for the concept of mental illness. EX2 for example argued '*I consider a personality disorder to be a mental illness in the same way anxiety and depression is.* This notion is supported by several of the other experts (EX: 2, 3, 6, 7, 8 &10) suggesting mental illness and personality disorders are largely the same concept. Indeed, EX6 defined them as exactly the same phenomenon. '*I regard them as really the same thing*'.

#### 3.4 Reference to whether NPD can be considered a form of mental illness.

When considering if NPD should be a personality disorder, all of the experts agreed unanimously that NPD produce symptoms severe enough to warrant being considered a personality disorder. Some experts seemed satisfied in classifying NPD a mental illness (EX: 3, 5. 6. 8 & 10). EX:10 'I have no doubt it's a mental illness when its present to fulfil the requirement for NPD, not just general narcissism found in the populace. If you have full blown NPD, you suffer from a mental disorder'). Other participants argued that since mental illness is not a valid construct, and NPD cannot be considered to be a mental illness (EX: 1, 2, 4, 7, 9). for example, EX9: 'To the extent that I would consider any other mental illness to be a disorder. I think that NPD when correctly diagnosed is for sure a mental illness. However, I wouldn't say someone with narcissistic tendencies is mentally ill'.

## **Theme 4: Differences in NPD behaviour**

#### 4.1 References to differences in behaviour within the NPD condition.

This sub-theme relates to the difference between individual displaying vulnerable narcissism and an individual with grandiose narcissism. On the differences between the two EX1 states 'So the grandiose narcissism it's all about how great he is. The depressed narcissist is equally obnoxious because it is all about how terrible everything is'. All experts agree that the current diagnostic criteria for NPD is imperfect with its five out of nine-symptom structure, with the majority of experts (1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 8 & 10) agreeing that a division vulnerable/ grandiose divide exists.

#### 4.2 Validity and use of different types of NPD

Whilst the experts seem unanimous in the belief that the current diagnostical structure of NPD is flawed, there is some controversy on whether NPD should be divided into further diagnostical categories, especially grandiose and vulnerable. For example, EX5: 'I have a tough time understanding vulnerable narcissism as narcissism in most cases. It doesn't look like narcissism to me, particularly it seems more like borderline personality disorder. It's almost entirely comprised of high levels of neuroticism. I think that grandiosity fits better with classic descriptions of narcissism'. On the other hand, EX2 stated 'Oh, they are super different, grandiose being the proto-typical one, with vulnerable less so. In terms of vulnerable narcissism many of those people aren't even grandiose. I think they are ego centrical and self-absorbed, but it often comes from a place of victimisation, a defence mechanism and are quite different in my mind'. There appears to

be a majority support (EX: 1, 2, 3, 4, 8 & 10) for the notion of dividing NPD into more relevant sub-types or at the very least redesigning the diagnostical criteria.

#### **Theme 5: Relevance of genetics as NPD contributor**

## 5.1 Relevance of genetic factors to NPD

All experts agree that genetics play a large role in the manifestation of NPD factors. Indeed, parents who display narcissistic attributes are more likely to raise narcissistic children. On the matter EX9 stated there was a *'High likelihood of children becoming narcissistic if their parents were, even if the children had been separated from the parents at birth'*. The main methodology used to test the relevance of genetics as a cause of PD's is the involvement of twin studies. As EX8 discuss *'Even when you conduct twin studies and separate them, they tend to grow up with some innate traits from their parents, including narcissistic attributes'*.

## 5.2 Level of impact of genetics on NPD

All the experts agreed that there are not nearly enough conclusive studies to determine the exact balance between narcissistic traits being caused by biological origins or by environmental origins. Most experts agreed (EX: 2, 6, 9 & 10) that it is approximately 50/50 split between genetic factors and environmental factors as the cause of NPD. On the matter EX5 stated '*I think they reflect the same genetic influence as the traits that contributed to them 45 to 60% from genetic variance*'.

#### **Theme 6: Relevance of environment**

This theme focuses on the relevance of environmental factors as a contributor to NPD highlighting the three most apparent environmental contributors to NPD.

#### 6.1 Impact of Social media

Social media is perhaps the most impactful change in recent years to individualism and by extension narcissism. In terms of its relationship with NPD EX4 states *'There has been quite a few studies that look for narcissism in Facebook and it seems that these kinds of social media, is encouraging this individualism, and reduce tendencies toward optimal frustration which may promote narcissism*'. The experts are in unanimous agreement that social media has been a contributor to recent heighten narcissistic tendencies.

## 6.2 Reference to parenting styles

Perhaps the most common cause of narcissistic tendencies is the influence of parents or parental figures. This is heavily supported by several experts (EX:1, 2, 3, 8, 9 &10) who claim that overly abuse parenting and narcissistic parents are one of the strongest determinates of abusive and narcissistic tendencies in their offspring. EX1 argues the mother-infant relationship may be more impactful than the father-infant relationship '*I*'m far more likely to think in the case of a severe narcissist, something seriously went wrong in the mother infant relationship. I'm more likely to think that than I am biological'.

However, there is an issue on to what degree parenting factors into NPD as EX2 explains 'even showing a correlation between narcissistic parenting style and a child's narcissistic personality does not say that a nurture issue or a genetic issue, because the two still have not been separated'.

#### 6.3 Childhood Abuse

All experts support the notion that both sexual abuse and verbal abuse can cause narcissistic tendencies to develop with the more severe the abuse the more likely the individual is to pick up narcissistic tendencies. EX9: *'The degree to which that child experienced abuse from bullies, or abuse from adults, whether sexual, physical or verbal, can all be effective at unleashing narcissistic tendencies later in life'.* 

## **Theme 7: Decline of discreet diagnosis**

This theme refers to the decline of current diagnostic structures and the move to new options available for NPD diagnosis.

## 7.1 Reference to discreet diagnosis

As previously mentioned, most experts disagree (EX1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 & 9) with the current diagnostical methodology within the DSM-5 of individuals needing any five of nine symptoms to be diagnosed with NPD. EX2 points out the notion of the five of nine symptoms seems arbitrary in nature. EX2: *'If you made the cut off instead of five symptoms,* 

*three or four then absolutely the rate would be higher*... *I quibble over that if you have five of nine you have it and four of nine you don't'*. As a result, most of the experts (EX:1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 & 9) agree that there is a need to change the current diagnostical model of the DSM.

## 7.2 Alternative diagnostical structures

The option presented by most experts (EX:1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 & 9) involved changing the discreet diagnostical methodology of the DSM to one of a sliding scale. EX2 suggested the following 'Moving away from strict, yes or no categorisation of conditions and onto a more trait and percentage-based model'. The most commonly supported trait based diagnostical structure is the Miller FFM model, with EX5 stating 'I prefer the FFM model. It gives you grandiose and vulnerable score based out of three factors neuroticism interpersonal antagonism, Extraversion'. The FFM model seems to have a lot of support with EX: 2, 3, 5, 7 & 9 showing support for its implementation over the current DSM-5 diagnostical model.

However, there is a counter argument presented by experts 3 and 8 on why the FFM model should not be implemented, at least immediately, due to insurance categorisations. EX3 stated '*When you are doing a clinical diagnosis you are looking for symptoms. Then for insurance purposes we would match them up with the DSM when needed, other models do not take this into consideration*'.

## Theme 8: NPD measuring instruments

This theme discusses the use of NPD instruments by the participants and their perceived validity.

## 8.1 Reference to any NPD measuring instrument

Most participants had used either the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI) (EX 2, 3, 5, 6, 7 & 10) or the Five Factor Model (FFM) (EX: 2, 3, 5, 7 & 9) or both. It is relatively supported (EX: 3. 6 & 10), however experts like EX 5 and 7 claim it is at least somewhat invalid and even '*a huge distraction*'. The FFM model looks to analyse narcissistic attributes by way of five factor analysis. On the matter of utilising the two scales EX5 states '*We've used the NPI and bunch of others, I prefer the FFM model. It gives you grandiose and vulnerable score based out of three factors neuroticism, interpersonal antagonism and extraversion*'. There was mention of other models, but they were only briefly discussed by a few experts so no valid data could be drawn.

### **Theme 9: Future direction of NPD research**

## 9.1 Reference and description to future research involving NPD

Most experts agreed that the main direction for research should be more studies, based in multiple backgrounds and multiple cultures since the psychological community was still in the discovery and definition phase of mental disorders (EX:2,3, 5, 6, 7, 9 & 10). EX7 argued for *'further research into the theoretical complexity of the narcissistic condition, how it interacts with other moods, other emotions. I think when you look at these*  kinds of ideas from such a clinical perspective you are failing to take into consideration just life in general. Trying to categorise what, it doesn't even make sense to think of people as a series of traits. People aren't two-dimensional movie characters'.

All experts argued for an increase in sample sizes studies, claiming that most studies are small in size and focused more on university students than general populace. In addition, developing research that focuses on more cross-cultural studies and looks to analyse people from all backgrounds in comparison. EX2 suggested the following 'to see more large-scale research undertaken in societies, especially in corporate and prison environments, where narcissistic people can be found. Clinical studies are just one person and you are capturing them in one instance and may not be accurately reflective of general populace'.

## **Chapter 5: Findings and Discussion**

To reiterate, the aim of this research was to explore the opinions of NPD experts with regard to NPD and its relationship with mental illness, with the following nine main themes being extracted:

- (1) Symptoms of NPD;
- (2) Severity of NPD condition;
- (3) NPD relationship with mental illness;
- (4) Differences in NPD behaviour;
- (5) Relevance of genetics as NPD contributor;
- (6) Relevance of Environment as NPD Contributor;
- (7) Decline of discreet diagnosis;
- (8) NPD measuring instruments.
- (9) Future Direction of NPD research;

There was little controversy with regards to how NPD manifests, with nearly all experts agreeing with the symptom outline listed in the DSM-5 (APA, 2013). However, there are some clear discrepancies between the experts on certain issues. For example, the general participant consensus is that narcissists struggle to emphasise with others showing little understanding of the emotions of others. This notion is supported by the DSM-5

criteria, which suggests that narcissists are unable to empathise with others. By contrast EX1 suggests that narcissists are able to empathise with others, using this understanding of others to manipulate them. There is support for this notion of empathetic tendencies in narcissistic individual's interpretation of empathy where the researchers describe the empathy of narcissists as maligned but present (Baskin-Sommers, Kruse mark & Ronningstam, 2014; Hepper, Hart & Sedikides, 2014) and in some cases even developed for personal gain (Munro, Bore & Powis, 2005; Watson, et al., 1992A).

#### Severity of NPD condition

The most reoccurring statements on the most severe elements of NPD were: a lack of control over ones behaviours (EX: 1, 3, 5 & 9), a personal fracturing into delusion of grandeur (EX: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8 & 9) and a grossly unethical lack of compassion (EX:1, 3 & 9). There is some discrepancy on the severity of narcissism and NPD. Firstly, the literature suggests that a few elements of narcissistic behaviour can be considered positive in nature, in particular arrogance (Hartman, 1998; Johnson, et al., 2010) confidence (DeAngelo, DeAngelo & Zimmerman, 2005) and ruthlessness (Boddy, 2017; Ma Rhea, 2009).

As several of the experts discussed, individuals with narcissistic tendencies tend to be more likely to reach higher management positions (Aktas, et al., 2016; Boddy, 2017; Cragun, 2018). Interestingly an example that all ten experts pointed to is President Donald Trump, suggesting that his narcissistic tendencies are one of the reasons that he is so popular with the general public. There is support for this notion in the surrounding literature (Ahmadian, Azarshahi & Paulhus, 2017; Hall, Goldstein & Ingram, 2016). Indeed Ahmadian, Azarshahi and Paulhus (2017) suggested that Trump's narcissism was one of the defining abilities that helped him win the election. As a result, individuals displaying narcissistic tendencies often tend to believe that they have no personality disorder (Dimaggio & Attinà, 2012; Pinsky, Young & Stern, 2009). Individuals with NPD seldom come to psychologists for therapy, instead believing that they are progressing through life with the correct approach (Germain, 2018; Ronningstam, 2012).

However, all ten experts pointed out that NPD is characterised by having narcissistic tendencies so severe that they impact the individual's ability to progress through life. This notion is supported by several researchers arguing that individuals with NPD become so narcissistic that they eventually isolate themselves from all those around them (Diamond, Yeomans & Levy, 2011; Maccoby, 2012) and ultimately ruin their career (Cavaiola & Lavender, 2011; Fahy, 2017) and relationships (Cavaiola & Lavender, 2011; Määttä, Uusiautti & Määttä, 2012).

#### NPD relationship with mental illness

The analysis suggests there is a multitude of ideologies on what constitutes a mental illness and even whether the terminology should even be used by the scientific community. The main issue seemed to be with the terminology of mental illness with some experts suggesting that either it does not exist or it is an out of date construct that is no longer relevant. We can see support for this notion in Tyrer, Reed and Crawford, (2015) work where the researchers argued that there is no such thing as mental illness only levels of undesirable traits and discreet personality disorder.

Other experts (EX: 3, 9 & 10) suggest that nothing is wrong with the terminology and that it maintain relevance. Indeed, EX6 argues that mental illness and personality disorders are an interchangeable term and still perfectly viable (a notion supported by Galderisi, et al., 2015; Kendell, 2002; Vigo, Thornicroft & Atun, 2016. When considering if NPD should be a personality disorder, all of the experts agreed unanimously that NPD produces symptoms severe enough to warrant being considered a personality disorder.

Furthermore, some participants (EX: 3 & 8) suggested that terminology such as NPD and mental illness are necessary for insurance purposes. The reason being that when conducting a clinical diagnosis, you are looking for symptoms that are then matched up against the DSM-5 providing a discreet diagnosis. Being able to describe an individual as either mentally ill or not mentally ill makes diagnosing patients much simpler and thus makes insurance claims much easier (Ben-Zeev, Young & Corrigan, 2010; Rose & Thornicroft, 2010). However, as Chambers & Stanley (2017) points out, the insurance criteria could still be accurately reworked and addressed without the need for strict discreet terminologies. Removing such rigidity would allow for further categorisation resulting in a more accurate diagnosis and thus better allocation of the insurance companies resources.

Overall while all experts agree that NPD should be considered a personality disorder there is a general dislike of the terminology by both the experts and literature due to datedness (Schomerus, et al., 2012) and misinformation (Henderson & Thornicroft, 2009).

#### **Differences in Displayed NPD Behaviour**

The most controversial topic discussed was the potential distinction between a grandiose and a vulnerable narcissism. The experts can be divided into three groups. The first group (EX:5, 8 &9) suggested that the DSM accurately captures narcissistic disorder and there is no need to spilt NPD into further subcategories, Many researchers support the DSM-5 suggesting a high accuracy rate of diagnosis (Fossati, et al., 2013; Regier, Kuhl & Kupfer, 2013; Stinchfield, et al., 2016 and little improvement is necessary (Coccaro, Nayyer, & McCloskey, 2012). Indeed, Paris and Phillips (2013) argued that by changing the tool to a more complex diagnostical structure, you risk difficulty in future diagnosis by including excessive and unnecessary subjectivity.

The second group (EX: 1, 2, 3, 4 & 10) argued that there is a very apparent division between grandiose and vulnerable narcissism, to the extent that a separation should occur in the diagnosis. EX: 2, 5 and 6 argued that whilst the DSM criteria traits align with mainly that of a grandiose narcissist, a couple of the traits are more positioned towards the diagnosis of a vulnerable narcissist. Support for this idea can be seen in Miller, et al., (2010) and Pincus and Lukowitsky (2010) where the researchers suggest that vulnerable symptoms display a closer connection to borderline than they do to narcissism, especially if elements of grandiosity are missing.

The third group (EX 5, 6 & 7) suggested there should be neither a division in the diagnosis of NPD nor is the current DSM-5 model interpretation correct. These participants argued for the removal of discreet diagnoses and labels in favour of a presentation of present traits and the degree to which these traits manifest in comparison to others, thus removing the need to have personality disorders. However, there are some issues with this approach, for example, by just presenting someone with a series of trait ratings is likely to somewhat confuse the patient and potentially exclude them from associating with other sufferers of the same or similar condition (Hopwood et al., 2012; Sareen et al., 2015). It may also be the case, especially with NPD sufferers that they do not take their diagnosis as seriously because there is no obvious disorder being diagnosed only a series of presented traits (Krueger & Markon, 2014; Sareen et al., 2015).

#### **Relevance of genetics as NPD contributor**

The experts are in unanimous agreement that genetics play a significant factor in the developing of narcissistic characteristics. This aligns with the literature suggesting that certain individuals are more likely to be impulsive (Feilhauer & Cima, 2013; Luo, et al., 2014) aggressive (Feilhauer & Cima, 2013; Kernberg, 2008; Vernon, et al., 2008) arrogant (Cai, et al., 2015; Luo, et al., 2014) and stunted sympathy and empathetic tendencies (Campbell, et al., 2009; Thomaes, et al., 2013) As a result of having parents or grandparents

with similar traits, even if they are raised separated from the narcissistic individuals (Dahl, 1993; Feilhauer & Cima, 2013; Kieling, et al., 2011).

The suggested degree often by the participants in which genetics influences personality ranges from the 50% to 60% mark. This notion is supported by the literature where Cairncross, et al., (2013) and Holtzman & Donnellan (2015) argued that genetics make up a 50% role and Luo, et al., (2014) argues that genetics present a greater than 50% personality contributor. No participant suggested that genetics was less than 50% impactful on a personality. Thomaes, et al., (2009) argued that environmental factors are more contributory than genetics, but this viewpoint would appear to be in the minority within the literature.

#### **Relevance of Environment as NPD Contributor**

All experts were in uniramous agreement that environmental factors are significantly impactful on narcissistic characteristics. The three most presented environmental factors suggested by the participants were: parenting styles; physical or sexual abuse and social media. Some researchers argue that parenting styles are the most likely cause of narcissistic tendencies (Cramer, 2011; Horton, Bleau & Drwecki, 2006; Watson, Little & Biderman, 1992). with some of the given reasons being that children develop much of their character and traits from mimicry (Cramer, 2011; Horton, Bleau & Drwecki, 2006) and are likely to spend the most amount of contact, especially in early childhood with their parents (Cramer, 2011; Horton, Bleau & Drwecki, 2006). Narcissistic

parents are therefore more likely to impart narcissistic tendencies thus increasing the probability of raising narcissistic individuals (Ehrenberg, Hunter & Elterman, 1996; Horton, Bleau & Drwecki, 2006).

Sexual and physical abuse was also a significant factor highlighted by the experts (EX: 3 & 9). This is supported by the literature (Gerzi, 2005; Miller, et al., 2011; Pincus & Lukowitsky, 2010; Ronningstam, 2011B). In addition, such children are likely to be shamed frequently and develop shame related traits such as low self-esteem (Keene, & Epps, 2016; Ritter, et al., 2014), violent tendencies (Ritter, et al., 2014; Thomaes, et al., 2008) abusive behaviour (Ritter, et al., 2014; Thomaes, et al., 2008) and an inability to heed the advice or orders of other individuals (Nevicka, et al., 2011; Thomaes, et al., 2008).

Finally, several experts suggest (EX: 3, 4, 6, 8 & 10) that social media has caused a rise in narcissistic tendencies. This is also supported by the literature, linking excessive social media usage to poor self-esteem (Floros & Siomos, 2014; Mehdizadeh, 2010; Vogel, et al., 2014), feelings of inadequacy (Floros & Siomos, 2014; Mehdizadeh, 2010; Vogel, et al., 2014), self-absorption (Andreassen, Pallesen & Griffiths, 2017; Reed, et al., 2018) and grandiosity (Andreassen, Pallesen & Griffiths, 2017; Reed, et al., 2018). Indeed, a study by Reed, et al., (2018) demonstrated that participants who were requested to spend more time on social media over a 4-month period scored higher on the NPI after a fourmonth period in a manner suggesting a 25% increase in narcissistic characteristics.

## **Decline of discreet diagnosis**

The DSM-5 (APA, 2013) currently proposes that a patient presenting five of nine listed symptoms should be classified as having NPD. Some of the participants suggested that the criteria of five of nine is arbitrary and that there is a need for a change in the classification procedure. Support for the removal of the DSM five of nine rules can be seen throughout the literature as individuals can falsely misdiagnosed (Cooper, Balsis & Oltmanns, 2012; Glover, et al., 2012). or treated with an inappropriate therapeutic approach (Fossati, et al., 2005; Glover, et al., 2012). The main argument being that that individual symptoms are both subjective in diagnosis by the clinician (Fossati, et al., 2005; Miller & Campbell, 2008).

A resolution proposed by EX 2, 6 & 10 suggests that an introduction of rigid taxonym of traits and a percentage based diagnostical interpretation for clinicians with easy to interpret criteria. The experts suggest that combining discreet diagnosis alongside a traitbased system, utilising a rigid taxonomy would improve diagnostic rates around the world. This concept of a trait based rigid taxonomy has been picking up substantial traction in recent years (Esbec & Echeburúa 2015; Schmeck, et al., 2013; Tyrer, 2012) as introducing a trait system stands to reduce misdiagnoses (Esbec & Echeburúa, 2015; Tyrer, 2012) by removing human subjectivity and error from the diagnostical process (Esbec & Echeburúa, 2015; Tyrer, 2012). Experts like EX:1, 4 and 7 on the other hand argues that the clinicians should be wise enough to make interpretations of the patient's condition and allocate therapy as needed, with therapists utilising the DSM-5 as a vague guideline that does not necessarily need to be followed exactly. This is supported in Groth-Marnat (2009) book where the author argues that it is the responsibility of the clinician to accurately diagnose their patient. The idea of needing a strict taxonomy means that the onus is taken off the therapist to accurately provide the client with completely relevant treatment (Groth-Marnat, 2009; Morrison, 2017). The key argument put forward is that categories are arbitrary and can be altered at any time. Some Researchers suggest that placement of a new taxonomy without further validity is equally as likely to compile an inaccurate diagnosis as the current methodology displayed in the DSM-5 (Esbec & Echeburúa, 2015; Gore & Widiger, 2016; Skodol, Bender & Morey, 2014). Indeed, Esbec and Echeburúa, (2015) argue that there is no reason why this new criterion would not be equally as arbitrary as the DSM-5.

Overall most of the experts (EX: 2, 3, 5, 7, 9,10) suggested that further research is needed before implementing a completely new system of diagnosis. In the event of a change, most of the experts were in agreement (EX: 2, 3, 7, 8, 9) that the change should be the implementation of a trait-based system.

## Validity of NPD measuring instruments

The most commonly used instrument by the participants to measure narcissistic tendencies was the NPI (EX: 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 10). The NPI being the most commonly used tool

supported by the psychological community (Corry, et al., 2008; Maxwell, et al., 2011; Vater, et al., 2013). The key reasons being that the NPI has huge amounts of data now supporting its validity given that it is one of the oldest inventories available related to narcissism (Corry, et al., 2008; Vater, et al., 2013B) as well as being a well-tested inventory for researchers to choose from (Corry, et al., 2008; Vater, et al., 2008; Vater, et al., 2013B).

However several of the experts suggest that there is room for improvement with the NPI, with some of the key highlighted issues being: not taking into account multiple types of narcissism (EX:3, 6 & 7); not taking into account the individuals personality in relations to their narcissistic attributes (EX:3, 6 & 7), and poor correlation between the three measuring factors presented in the NPI (EX:6 & 7). As a result, the inventory gives skewed responses that do not accurately align fully with the measured personality. We can see support for this in the literature with other researchers suggesting that the three measuring factors within the NPI do collaborate effectively to one functioning measurement of narcissism (Ackerman, et al., 2011; Maxwell, et al., 2011; Miller & Campbell, 2008). Indeed, the NPI gives a total score that is simply an aggregate response to all items (Maxwell, et al., 2011; Miller & Campbell, 2008) and as a result can biasedly conflated dimensions of the individuals personality (Maxwell, et al., 2011; Miller & Campbell, 2008). The other model that was frequently mentioned by the experts (EX: 2.3.6), was the FFM model proposed by Miller & Campbell (2008).

It should be noted, many of the experts had not used any inventories for measuring NPD, as it was never relevant for their field of work (EX: 1, 4, 8, 9). In this manner there is potential for further research that delves into the validity of narcissism measuring models and the validity of said models, using only participants who had utilised several models in a research setting.

#### **Future Direction of NPD research and expanded research**

As mentioned most experts agreed that more studies, based in multiple backgrounds would be useful for NPD research. EX7 for example argues that a definitive definition of narcissism is required to make further progress (a notion supported by Ogrodniczuk, 2013). All experts argued for an increase in sample sizes. In addition, there was support for developing research that focuses on more cross-cultural studies and looks to analyse people from all backgrounds in comparison. EX2 suggests more studies that focus on prison environments and corporate environments (supported by Hepper, et al., 2014; Petrenko, et al., 2016; Zhu & Chen, 2015). This would be a meta-analysis of traits within a tribal context.

#### **Limitations of Study**

One key limitation in this research is with some of the terminology used in the interview questions. This is especially apparent with the key phrase 'mental illness'. The problem appears to lie with the finality and discreetness of the term, suggesting that one

either is or is not mentally ill, as opposed to the trait-based spectrum. It does not seem necessary to further explore this terminology in any further research.

Another limitation of the study was that the focus of the discussion varied significantly between experts and as a result some participants spent a great deal of time on a single question that others may have only briefly touched upon. This led to a bias within the data with regards the content of certain questions and thus created a bias within certain themes.

Finally, utilising only mono coding each theme removed the ability to cross categories thoroughly. Something to consider in a further study, would be for more emphasis to be placed on cross-referencing the categories and analysing the relationship between the categories. However, for this to be completed thoroughly there would be a need for significantly more data, analysis and more in-depth interviews.

#### **Suggestions for Future Research**

- Focus more specifically on models of NPD by only interviewing experts who have dealings with multiple models, tools and methodologies.
- Use NPD experts as interviewers. Having two experts discussing the subject matter would have almost certainly provided more in-depth content.

- Repeat the study with more participants, thus increasing the validity of the results.
- Alter the questions so they focus on specific niche aspects of NPD, with the aim of really drawing out the expert's knowledge and opinions on smaller, overlooked elements of NPD. This could also mean the addition of more niche questions.

## **Chapter 6: Conclusion**

In summary there are several points that can be taken from the data:

- There has been a significant shift from the discreet diagnosis of NPD to a traitbased approach, with researchers arguing for the removal of discreet terminology in favour of position on a spectrum. This means a general move away from the discreet disorders listed in the DSM-5 and ICD-10 in favour of a spectrum and percentage approach focusing on the degree of severity.
- There has been a shift in the NPD research community to focus on a more developed measurement instrument. Whilst there is some support for the current version of the NPI, many of the experts agree that a trait-based inclusion is necessary for diagnostical progression.
- Even though there is some consensus between the experts, there is still a great deal of division on the nature of narcissism, the cause of narcissism and whether it should be split into sub-categories.
- An apparent need to move away from the terminology 'mental illness' in favour of a more unique descriptive diagnoses for individuals under the provision of a move from the current insurance structure.

In terms of the usefulness of this study, the study provides information about the need for a change in diagnosis of NPD which includes the methods used in diagnosis and the labels given the patient. In particular a focus on a trait-based approach. In this manner, we could see an individual once being diagnosed with just NPD, instead for example being diagnosed as displaying acute vulnerable narcissistic tendencies alongside a breakdown of their respective scores within the FFM model. This research has made it apparent however, there is still a great deal of debate within the community over diagnostical categorisation and diagnostical methods that will continue to be present for the foreseeable future.

## References

- Ackerman, R. A., Witt, E. A., Donnellan, M. B., Trzesniewski, K. H., Robins, R. W., & Kashy, D. A. (2011). What does the Narcissistic Personality Inventory really measure? Assessment, 18, 67–87. doi: 10.1177/1073191110382845
- Ahmadian, S., Azarshahi, S., & Paulhus, D. L. (2017). Explaining Donald Trump via communication style: Grandiosity, informality, and dynamism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 107, 49-53.
- Aktas, N., De Bodt, E., Bollaert, H., & Roll, R. (2016). CEO narcissism and the takeover process: From private initiation to deal completion. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 51(1), 113-137.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5*®). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Amernic, J. H., & Craig, R. J. (2010). Accounting as a facilitator of extreme narcissism. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 96(1), 79-93.
- Andreassen, C. S., Pallesen, S., & Griffiths, M. D. (2017). The relationship between addictive use of social media, narcissism, and self-esteem: Findings from a large national survey. *Addictive behaviors*, 64, 287-293.
- Angell, M. (2011). The epidemic of mental illness: why. *The New York Review of Books*, 58(11), 20-22.

- Anninos, L. N. (2018). Narcissistic business leaders as heralds of the self-proclaimed excellence. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, *10*(1), 49-60.
- Baskin-Sommers, A., Krusemark, E., & Ronningstam, E. (2014). Empathy in narcissistic personality disorder: From clinical and empirical perspectives. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 5(3), 323.
- Beck, A. T., Davis, D. D., & Freeman, A. (Eds.). (2015). Cognitive therapy of personality disorders. Guilford Publications.
- Ben-Zeev, D., Young, M. A., & Corrigan, P. W. (2010). DSM-V and the stigma of mental illness. *Journal of mental health*, 19(4), 318-327.
- Blais, M. A., Hilsenroth, M. J., & Castlebury, F. D. (1997). Content validity of the DSM-IV borderline and narcissistic personality disorder criteria sets. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 38(1), 31-37.
- Blasco-Fontecilla, H., Baca-Garcia, E., Dervic, K., Perez-Rodriguez, M. M., Lopez-Castroman, J., Saiz-Ruiz, J., & Oquendo, M. A. (2009). Specific features of suicidal behavior in patients with narcissistic personality disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 70(11), 1583.
- Boddy, C. R. (2017). Psychopathic leadership a case study of a corporate psychopath CEO. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *145*(1), 141-156.
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). *Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development*. London Sage Publications.

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101.
- Brummelman, E., Thomaes, S., Nelemans, S. A., De Castro, B. O., Overbeek, G., & Bushman, B. J. (2015). Origins of narcissism in children. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(12), 3659-3662.
- Bryman, A. (2001). The nature of qualitative research. Social research methods, 264-288.
- Cai, H., Shi, Y., Fang, X., & Luo, Y. L. (2015). Narcissism predicts impulsive buying: phenotypic and genetic evidence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 881.
- Cain, N. M., Pincus, A. L., & Ansell, E. B. (2008). Narcissism at the crossroads: Phenotypic description of pathological narcissism across clinical theory, social/personality psychology, and psychiatric diagnosis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(4), 638-656.
- Cairncross, M., Veselka, L., Schermer, J. A., & Vernon, P. A. (2013). A behavioral genetic analysis of alexithymia and the Dark Triad traits of personality. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, 16(3), 690-697.
- Campbell, W. K., & Foster, J. D. (2007). The narcissistic self: Background, an extended agency model, and ongoing controversies. *The self*, 115-138.
- Campbell, J., Schermer, J. A., Villani, V. C., Nguyen, B., Vickers, L., & Vernon, P. A.
  (2009). A behavioral genetic study of the Dark Triad of personality and moral development. *Twin Research and Human Genetics*, *12*(2), 132-136.

- Cavaiola, A., & Lavender, N. (2011). The One-Way Relationship Workbook: Step-by-Step Help for Coping with Narcissists, Egotistical Lovers, Toxic Cowokers, and Others Who Are Incredibly Self-Absorbed. ReadHowYouWant. com.
- Chabrol, H., Van Leeuwen, N., Rodgers, R., & Séjourné, N. (2009). Contributions of psychopathic, narcissistic, Machiavellian, and sadistic personality traits to juvenile delinquency. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(7), 734-739.
- Chambers, S. P., & Stanley, C. (2017). Big Pharma's DSM Heist: Rewriting the Prescription for Over-Diagnosis: Review of Saving Normal: An Insider's Revolt Against Out-of-Control Psychiatric Diagnosis, DSM5 Big Pharma, and the Medicalization of Ordinary Life. London Sage Publications.
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The qualitative report*, *16*(1), 255-262.
- Coccaro, E. F., Nayyer, H., & McCloskey, M. S. (2012). Personality disorder-not otherwise specified evidence of validity and consideration for DSM-
  - 5. Comprehensive psychiatry, 53(7), 907-914.
- Cooper, R. (2004). What is wrong with the DSM?. History of Psychiatry, 15(1), 5-25.
- Cooper, L. D., Balsis, S., & Oltmanns, T. F. (2012). Self-and informant-reported perspectives on symptoms of narcissistic personality disorder. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 3(2), 140.

- Corry, N., Merritt, R. D., Mrug, S., & Pamp, B. (2008). The factor structure of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 90(6), 593-600.
- Cragun, O. R. (2018). Antecedents to The Selection of CEOs With Higher Levels of Narcissism and How CEOs With Higher Levels of Narcissism Affect the CEO Succession Process. London Sage Publications.
- Cramer, V., Torgersen, S., & Kringlen, E. (2006). Personality disorders and quality of life. A population study. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 47(3), 178-184.
- Cramer, P. (2011). Young adult narcissism: A 20 year longitudinal study of the contribution of parenting styles, preschool precursors of narcissism, and denial. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 45(1), 19-28.
- Curtis, J. M., & Susman, V. M. (1994). Considerations in misdiagnosis of narcissistic personality disorder. *Psychological reports*, 74(2), 408-410.
- Dahl, A. A. (1993). The personality disorders: A critical review of family, twin, and adoption studies. *Journal of Personality Disorders*.
- DeAngelo, H., DeAngelo, L., & Zimmerman, J. L. (2005). What's really wrong with US business schools? *Available at SSRN 766404*.
- Dhawan, N., Kunik, M. E., Oldham, J., & Coverdale, J. (2010). Prevalence and treatment of narcissistic personality disorder in the community: a systematic review. *Comprehensive psychiatry*, *51*(4), 333-339.

- Diamond, D., Levy, K. N., Clarkin, J. F., Fischer-Kern, M., Cain, N. M., Doering, S., ... & Buchheim, A. (2014). Attachment and mentalization in female patients with comorbid narcissistic and borderline personality disorder. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 5(4), 428.
- Diamond, D., Yeomans, F., & Levy, K. N. (2011). Psychodynamic psychotherapy for narcissistic personality. *The handbook of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder: Theoretical approaches, empirical findings, and treatments*, 423-433.
- Dimaggio, G., & Attinà, G. (2012). Metacognitive interpersonal therapy for narcissistic personality disorder and associated perfectionism. *Journal of clinical psychology*, 68(8), 922-934.
- Eaton, N. R., Rodriguez-Seijas, C., Krueger, R. F., Campbell, W. K., Grant, B. F., & Hasin,
  D. S. (2017). Narcissistic personality disorder and the structure of common mental disorders. *Journal of personality disorders*, *31*(4), 449-461.
- Ehrenberg, M. F., Hunter, M. A., & Elterman, M. F. (1996). Shared parenting agreements after marital separation: The roles of empathy and narcissism. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(4), 808.
- Eren, N., & Şahin, S. (2016). An evaluation of the difficulties and attitudes mental health professionals experience with people with personality disorders. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, *23*(1), 22-36.
- Esbec, E., & Echeburúa, E. (2015). The hybrid model for the classification of personality disorders in DSM-5: a critical analysis. *Actas Esp Psiquiatr*, *43*(5), 177-86.

- Fahy, P. (2017). How to Avoid Hiring a Narcissist: A Toxic Hire Will Hurt Your Team and Your Leadership Credibility. *The Journal of Medical Practice Management:* MPM, 33(3), 146-149.
- Feilhauer, J., & Cima, M. (2013). Youth psychopathy: Differential correlates of callousunemotional traits, narcissism, and impulsivity. *Forensic science international*, 224(1-3), 1-7.
- Flinders, D. J. (1997). InterViews: An introduction to qualitative research interviewing: Steinar Kvale. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, 1996.
- Floros, G., & Siomos, K. (2014). Excessive Internet use and personality traits. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, 1(1), 19-26.
- Fossati, A., Beauchaine, T. P., Grazioli, F., Carretta, I., Cortinovis, F., & Maffei, C.
  (2005). A latent structure analysis of Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, narcissistic personality disorder criteria. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 46(5), 361-367.
- Fossati, A., Borroni, S., Grazioli, F., Dornetti, L., Marcassoli, I., Maffei, C., & Cheek, J. (2009). Tracking the hypersensitive dimension in narcissism: Reliability and validity of the Hypersensitive Narcissism Scale. *Personality and Mental Health*, 3(4), 235-247.
- Fossati, A., Krueger, R. F., Markon, K. E., Borroni, S., & Maffei, C. (2013). Reliability and validity of the Personality Inventory for DSM-5 (PID-5) predicting DSM-IV

personality disorders and psychopathy in community-dwelling Italian adults. *Assessment*, 20(6), 689-708.

- Foster, J. D., Shenesey, J. W., & Goff, J. S. (2009). Why do narcissists take more risks? Testing the roles of perceived risks and benefits of risky behaviors. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(8), 885-889.
- Frueh, B. C., Elhai, J. D., Gold, P. B., Monnier, J., Magruder, K. M., Keane, T. M., & Arana, G. W. (2003). Disability compensation seeking among veterans evaluated for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatric Services*, 54(1), 84-91.
- Galderisi, S., Heinz, A., Kastrup, M., Beezhold, J., & Sartorius, N. (2015). Toward a new definition of mental health. *World Psychiatry*, *14*(2), 231-233.
- Germain, M. L. (2018). Assessment of Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD). In *Narcissism at Work* (pp. 25-39). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Gerzi, S. (2005). Trauma, narcissism and the two attractors in trauma. *The International Journal of Psychoanalysis*, 86(4), 1033-1050.
- Glover, N., Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., Crego, C., & Widiger, T. A. (2012). The five-factor narcissism inventory: A five-factor measure of narcissistic personality traits. *Journal of personality assessment*, 94(5), 500-512.
- Golberstein, E., Busch, S. H., Zaha, R., Greenfield, S. F., Beardslee, W. R., & Meara, E.
  (2015). Effect of the Affordable Care Act's young adult insurance expansions on hospital-based mental health care. *American Journal of Psychiatry*,172(2), 182-189.

Gore, W. L., & Widiger, T. A. (2016). Fluctuation between grandiose and vulnerable narcissism. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 7(4), 363.

Graves, R. (2017). The Greek myths: The complete and definitive edition. Penguin UK.

- Groth-Marnat, G. (2009). Handbook of psychological assessment. John Wiley & Sons.
- Hall, K., Goldstein, D. M., & Ingram, M. B. (2016). The hands of Donald Trump:
  Entertainment, gesture, spectacle. *HAU: Journal of Ethnographic Theory*, 6(2), 71-100.
- Harvey, W. S. (2010). Methodological approaches for interviewing elites. *Geography Compass*, 4(3), 193-205.
- Hartman, E. M. (1998). The role of character in business ethics. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 8(3), 547-559.
- Henderson, C., & Thornicroft, G. (2009). Stigma and discrimination in mental illness: Time to Change. *The Lancet*, *373*(9679), 1928-1930.
- Hepper, E. G., Hart, C. M., & Sedikides, C. (2014). Moving Narcissus: Can narcissists be empathic? *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 40(9), 1079-1091.
- Hepper, E. G., Hart, C. M., Meek, R., Cisek, S., & Sedikides, C. (2014). Narcissism and empathy in young offenders and non-offenders. *European Journal of Personality*, 28(2), 201-210.
- Higgs, M. (2009). The good, the bad and the ugly: Leadership and narcissism. *Journal of change management*, 9(2), 165-178.

- Hoffman, R. R. (1987). The problem of extracting the knowledge of experts from the perspective of experimental psychology. *AI magazine*, 8(2), 53.
- Holtzman, N. S., & Donnellan, M. B. (2015). The roots of Narcissus: Old and new models of the evolution of narcissism. In *Evolutionary perspectives on social psychology* (pp. 479-489). Springer, Cham.
- Hopwood, C. J., Thomas, K. M., Markon, K. E., Wright, A. G., & Krueger, R. F. (2012).
  DSM-5 personality traits and DSM–IV personality disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(2), 424.
- Horton, R. S., Bleau, G., & Drwecki, B. (2006). Parenting narcissus: What are the links between parenting and narcissism?. *Journal of personality*, *74*(2), 345-376.
- Hunt, E., Bornovalova, M. A., & Patrick, C. J. (2015). Genetic and environmental overlap between borderline personality disorder traits and psychopathy: evidence for promotive effects of factor 2 and protective effects of factor 1. *Psychological medicine*, 45(7), 1471-1481.
- Hyman, S. E. (2011). Diagnosing the DSM: diagnostic classification needs fundamental reform. In *Cerebrum: the Dana forum on brain science* (Vol. 2011). Dana Foundation.
- Johnson, R. E., Silverman, S. B., Shyamsunder, A., Swee, H. Y., Rodopman, O. B., Cho, E., & Bauer, J. (2010). Acting superior but actually inferior? Correlates and consequences of workplace arrogance. *Human Performance*, 23(5), 403-427.

- Keene, A. C., & Epps, J. (2016). Childhood physical abuse and aggression: Shame and narcissistic vulnerability. *Child abuse & neglect*, 51, 276-283.
- Kendell, R. E. (2002). The distinction between personality disorder and mental illness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 180(2), 110-115.
- Kernberg, O. (2008). Aggressivity, Narcissism, and Self-Destructiveness in the Psychotherapeutic Rela: New Developments in the Psychopathology and Psychotherapy of Severe Personality Disorders. Connecticut, Yale University Press.
- Kieling, C., Baker-Henningham, H., Belfer, M., Conti, G., Ertem, I., Omigbodun, O., ...
  & Rahman, A. (2011). Child and adolescent mental health worldwide: evidence for action. *The Lancet*, 378(9801), 1515-1525.
- Kilpatrick, D. G., Resnick, H. S., Milanak, M. E., Miller, M. W., Keyes, K. M., & Friedman, M. J. (2013). National estimates of exposure to traumatic events and PTSD prevalence using DSM-IV and DSM-5 criteria. *Journal of traumatic stress*, 26(5), 537-547.
- Kim, E. J., Namkoong, K., Ku, T., & Kim, S. J. (2008). The relationship between online game addiction and aggression, self-control and narcissistic personality traits. *European psychiatry*, 23(3), 212-218.
- Kohut, H. (1968). The psychoanalytic treatment of narcissistic personality disorders: Outline of a systematic approach. *The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child*, 23(1), 86-113.

- Krueger, R. F., & Markon, K. E. (2014). The role of the DSM-5 personality trait model in moving toward a quantitative and empirically based approach to classifying personality and psychopathology. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 10, 477-501.
- Lambe, S., Hamilton-Giachritsis, C., Garner, E., & Walker, J. (2016). The role of narcissism in aggression and violence: A systematic review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 1524838016650190.
- Larkin, M., Watts, S., & Clifton, E. (2006). Giving voice and making sense in interpretative phenomenological analysis. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 102-120.
- Leising, D., Rogers, K., & Ostner, J. (2009). The undisordered personality: Normative assumptions underlying personality disorder diagnoses. *Review of General Psychology*, 13(3), 230.
- Lelliott, P., Boardman, J., Harvey, S., Henderson, M., Knapp, M., & Tulloch, S. (2008). Mental health and work. London, Sage Publishing.
- Linehan, M. M. (2018). *Cognitive-behavioral treatment of borderline personality disorder*. Surrey, England. Guilford Publications.
- Link, B. G., Yang, L. H., Phelan, J. C., & Collins, P. Y. (2004). Measuring mental illness stigma. *Schizophrenia bulletin*,30(3), 511.
- Livesley, W. J., Jackson, D. N., & Schroeder, M. L. (1992). Factorial structure of traits delineating personality disorders in clinical and general population samples. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *101*(3), 432.

- Luo, Y. L., Cai, H., Sedikides, C., & Song, H. (2014). Distinguishing communal narcissism from agentic narcissism: A behavior genetics analysis on the agency–communion model of narcissism. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 49, 52-58.
- Lyneham, H. J., Abbott, M. J., & Rapee, R. M. (2007). Interrater reliability of the Anxiety Disorders Interview Schedule for DSM-IV: child and parent version. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 46(6), 731-736.
- Ma Rhea, Z. (2009). Indigenising international education in business. *Journal of International Education in Business*, 2(2), 15-27.
- Määttä, M., Uusiautti, S., & Määttä, K. (2012). An intimate relationship in the shadow of narcissism: What is it like to live with a narcissistic spouse. *International journal of research studies in psychology*, *1*(1), 37-50.
- Maccoby, M. (2012). Narcissistic leaders: Who succeeds and who fails. Crown Business.
- Manning, N. (2006). DSM-IV and dangerous and severe personality disorder—an essay. *Social Science & Medicine*,63(7), 1960-1971.
- Marissen, M. A., Brouwer, M. E., Hiemstra, A. M., Deen, M. L., & Franken, I. H. (2016).
   A masked negative self-esteem? Implicit and explicit self-esteem in patients with Narcissistic Personality Disorder. *Psychiatry research*, 242, 28-33.
- Mayou, R., Kirmayer, L. J., Simon, G., Kroenke, K., & Sharpe, M. (2005). Somatoform disorders: time for a new approach in DSM-V. American Journal of Psychiatry, 162(5), 847-855.

- Maxwell, K., Donnellan, M. B., Hopwood, C. J., & Ackerman, R. A. (2011). The two faces of Narcissus? An empirical comparison of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and the Pathological Narcissism Inventory. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(5), 577-582.
- McGrew, J. H., & Bond, G. R. (1995). Critical ingredients of assertive community treatment: Judgments of the experts. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services and Research*,22(2), 113-125.
- Mehdizadeh, S. (2010). Self-presentation 2.0: Narcissism and self-esteem on Facebook. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, *13*(4), 357-364.
- Miller, J. D., & Campbell, W. K. (2008). Comparing clinical and social-personality conceptualizations of narcissism. *Journal of Personality*, 76(3), 449-476.
- Miller, J. D., & Campbell, W. K. (2011). Addressing criticisms of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory (NPI).
- Miller, J. D., Dir, A., Gentile, B., Wilson, L., Pryor, L. R., & Campbell, W. K. (2010). Searching for a vulnerable dark triad: Comparing factor 2 psychopathy, vulnerable narcissism, and borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Personality*, 78(5), 1529-1564.
- Miller, J. D., Few, L. R., Lynam, D. R., & MacKillop, J. (2015). Pathological personality traits can capture DSM–IV personality disorder types. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 6(1), 32.

- Miller, J. D., Hoffman, B. J., Gaughan, E. T., Gentile, B., Maples, J., & Keith Campbell,
  W. (2011). Grandiose and vulnerable narcissism: A nomological network analysis. *Journal of personality*, 79(5), 1013-1042.
- Miller, J. D., Lynam, D. R., & Campbell, W. K. (2016). Measures of narcissism and their relations to DSM-5 pathological traits: A critical reappraisal. *Assessment*, 23(1), 3-9.
- Miller, J. D., McCain, J., Lynam, D. R., Few, L. R., Gentile, B., MacKillop, J., & Campbell,
  W. K. (2014). A comparison of the criterion validity of popular measures of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder via the use of expert ratings. *Psychological Assessment*, 26(3), 958.
- Miller, J. D., Widiger, T. A., & Campbell, W. K. (2010). Narcissistic personality disorder and the DSM-V. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 119(4), 640.
- Miller, J. D., Widiger, T. A., & Campbell, W. K. (2014). Vulnerable narcissism: Commentary for the special series "Narcissistic personality disorder—New perspectives on diagnosis and treatment". London, England. Sage Publishing.
- Mirak-Weissbach, M. (2012). *Madmen at the Helm: Pathology and Politics in the Arab Spring*. Reading, England. Garnet Publishing Ltd.
- Morrison, J. (2017). *DSM-5 made easy: The clinician's guide to diagnosis*. Guilford Publications.

- Munro, D., Bore, M., & Powis, D. (2005). Personality factors in professional ethical behaviour: Studies of empathy and narcissism. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 57(1), 49-60.
- Nevicka, B., Ten Velden, F. S., De Hoogh, A. H., & Van Vianen, A. E. (2011). Reality at odds with perceptions: Narcissistic leaders and group performance. *Psychological Science*, 22(10), 1259-1264.
- Ogrodniczuk, J. S. (2013). Understanding and treating pathological narcissism. American Psychological Association.
- Pargament, K. I., & Lomax, J. W. (2013). Understanding and addressing religion among people with mental illness. *World Psychiatry*, 12(1), 26-32.
- Paris, J. (2003). Personality disorders over time: precursors, course and outcome. *Journal of personality disorders*, *17*(6), 479-488.

Paris, J., & Phillips, J. (Eds.). (2013). Making the DSM-5. New York: Springer.

- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. SAGE Publications, inc.
- Peele, P. B., Xu, Y., & Kupfer, D. J. (2003). Insurance expenditures on bipolar disorder: clinical and parity implications. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160(7), 1286-1290.
- Petrenko, O. V., Aime, F., Ridge, J., & Hill, A. (2016). Corporate social responsibility or CEO narcissism? CSR motivations and organizational performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 37(2), 262-279.

- Pincus, A. L., & Lukowitsky, M. R. (2010). Pathological narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, 6, 421-446.
- Pincus, A. L., & Roche, M. J. (2011). Narcissistic grandiosity and narcissistic vulnerability. *Handbook of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder*, 31-40.
- Pinsky, D., Young, S. M., & Stern, J. (2009). The mirror effect: How celebrity narcissism is seducing America. Harper Collins Publishers.
- Raskin, R., Hall, C. (1979). "A narcissistic personality inventory". *Psychological* reports. 45 (2): 59
- Raskin, R., & Terry, H. (1988). A principal-components analysis of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and further evidence of its construct validity. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 54(5), 890.
- Reed, P., Bircek, N. I., Osborne, L. A., Viganò, C., & Truzoli, R. (2018). Visual Social Media Use Moderates the Relationship between Initial Problematic Internet Use and Later Narcissism. *The Open Psychology Journal*, 11(1).
- Regier, D. A., Narrow, W. E., Clarke, D. E., Kraemer, H. C., Kuramoto, S. J., Kuhl, E. A., & Kupfer, D. J. (2013). DSM-5 field trials in the United States and Canada, Part II: test-retest reliability of selected categorical diagnoses. *American journal of psychiatry*, *170*(1), 59-70.
- Regier, D. A., Kuhl, E. A., & Kupfer, D. J. (2013). The DSM-5: Classification and criteria changes. World Psychiatry, 12(2), 92-98.

Richards, L. (2014). Handling qualitative data: A practical guide. Sage.

- Ritter, K., Vater, A., Rüsch, N., Schröder-Abé, M., Schütz, A., Fydrich, T., ... & Roepke,
  S. (2014). Shame in patients with narcissistic personality disorder. *Psychiatry research*, 215(2), 429-437.
- Rohmann, E., Neumann, E., Herner, M. J., & Bierhoff, H. W. (2012). Grandiose and vulnerable narcissism: Self-construal, attachment, and love in romantic relationships. *European Psychologist*, 17(4), 279.
- Ronningstam, E. (2011A). Narcissistic personality disorder in DSM-V—in support of retaining a significant diagnosis. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 25(2), 248-259.
- Ronningstam, E. (2011B). Psychoanalytic theories on narcissism and narcissistic personality. *The handbook of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder: Theoretical approaches, empirical findings, and treatments*, 41-55.
- Ronningstam, E. (2012). Alliance building and narcissistic personality disorder. *Journal of clinical psychology*, *68*(8), 943-953.
- Ronningstam, E. (2016). Pathological narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder:
   Recent research and clinical implications. *Current Behavioral Neuroscience Reports*, 3(1), 34-42.
- Rose, D., & Thornicroft, G. (2010). Service user perspectives on the impact of a mental illness diagnosis. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, *19*(2), 140-147.
- Rosenthal, S. A., Montoya, R. M., Ridings, L. E., Rieck, S. M., & Hooley, J. M. (2011). Further evidence of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory's validity problems: A

meta-analytic investigation—response to Miller, Maples, and Campbell (this issue). *Journal of Research in Personality*,45(5), 408-416.

Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2011). Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data. Sage.

- Russ, E., Shedler, J., Bradley, R., & Westen, D. (2008). Refining the construct of narcissistic personality disorder: Diagnostic criteria and subtypes. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 165(11), 1473-1481.
- Sareen, J., Wang, Y., Mota, N., Henriksen, C. A., Bolton, J., Lix, L. M., ... & Afifi, T. O. (2015). Baseline Insurance Status and Risk of Common Mental Disorders: A Propensity-Based Analysis of a Longitudinal US Sample. *Psychiatric Services*,67(1), 62-70.

Salleh, M. R. (2018). The Burden of Mental Illness: An Emerging Global Disaster.

- Saloner, B., Bandara, S., Bachhuber, M., & Barry, C. L. (2017). Insurance coverage and treatment use under the Affordable Care Act among adults with mental and substance use disorders. *Psychiatric services*, 68(6), 542-548.
- Saulsman, L. M., & Page, A. C. (2004). The five-factor model and personality disorder empirical literature: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical psychology review*, 23(8), 1055-1085.
- Schmeck, K., Schlüter-Müller, S., Foelsch, P. A., & Doering, S. (2013). The role of identity in the DSM-5 classification of personality disorders. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 7(1), 27.

- Schomerus, G., Schwahn, C., Holzinger, A., Corrigan, P. W., Grabe, H. J., Carta, M. G.,
  & Angermeyer, M. C. (2012). Evolution of public attitudes about mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *125*(6), 440-452.
- Shedler, J., Beck, A., Fonagy, P., Gabbard, G. O., Gunderson, J., Kernberg, O., ... & Westen, D. (2010). Personality disorders in DSM-5. American Journal of Psychiatry, 167(9), 1026-1028.
- Shedler, J., & Westen, D. (2007). The Shedler–Westen assessment procedure. Journal of personality assessment, 89(1), 41-55. An ego-psychological analysis of the work and life of Otto Rank in the light of modern conceptions of narcissism. International Review of Psycho-Analysis, 3, 441-459.
- Skeem, J. L., Poythress, N., Edens, J. F., Lilienfeld, S. O., & Cale, E. M. (2003). Psychopathic personality or personalities? Exploring potential variants of psychopathy and their implications for risk assessment. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 8(5), 513-546.
- Skodol, A. E. (2012). Personality disorders in DSM-5. Annual review of clinical psychology, 8, 317-344.
- Skodol, A. E., Bender, D. S., & Morey, L. C. (2014). Narcissistic personality disorder in DSM-5. Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 5(4), 422.
- Skodol, A. E., Clark, L. A., Bender, D. S., Krueger, R. F., Morey, L. C., Verheul, R., ... & Oldham, J. M. (2011). Proposed changes in personality and personality disorder

assessment and diagnosis for DSM-5 Part I: Description and rationale. *Personality disorders: theory, research, and treatment,* 2(1),

- Stinchfield, R., McCready, J., Turner, N. E., Jimenez-Murcia, S., Petry, N. M., Grant, J.,
  ... & Winters, K. C. (2016). Reliability, validity, and classification accuracy of the DSM-5 diagnostic criteria for gambling disorder and comparison to DSM-IV. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *32*(3), 905-922.
- Stinson, F. S., Dawson, D. A., Goldstein, R. B., Chou, S. P., Huang, B., Smith, S. M., ... & Grant, B. F. (2008). Prevalence, correlates, disability, and comorbidity of DSM-IV narcissistic personality disorder: results from the wave 2 national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry*, 69(7), 1033.
- Taylor, G. W., & Ussher, J. M. (2001). Making sense of S&M: A discourse analytic account. *Sexualities*, 4(3), 293-314.
- Thomaes, S., Bushman, B. J., Stegge, H., & Olthof, T. (2008). Trumping shame by blasts of noise: narcissism, self-esteem, shame, and aggression in young adolescents. *Child development*, 79(6), 1792-1801.
- Thomaes, S., Bushman, B. J., De Castro, B. O., & Stegge, H. (2009). What makes narcissists bloom? A framework for research on the etiology and development of narcissism. *Development and Psychopathology*, 21(4), 1233-1247.

- Thomaes, S., Brummelman, E., Reijntjes, A., & Bushman, B. J. (2013). When Narcissus was a boy: Origins, nature, and consequences of childhood narcissism. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(1), 22-26.
- Torgersen, S., Myers, J., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., Røysamb, E., Kubarych, T. S., & Kendler, K. S. (2012). The heritability of Cluster B personality disorders assessed both by personal interview and questionnaire. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 26(6), 848-866.
- Twenge, J. M., & Foster, J. D. (2010). Birth cohort increases in narcissistic personality traits among American college students, 1982–2009. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 1(1), 99-106.
- Tyrer, P. (2012). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: A classification of personality disorders that has had its day. *Clinical psychology & psychotherapy*, 19(5), 372-374.
- Tyrer, P., Crawford, M., Mulder, R., Blashfield, R., Farnam, A., Fossati, A., ... & Swales, M. (2011). The rationale for the reclassification of personality disorder in the 11th revision of the international classification of diseases (ICD-11). *Personality and Mental Health*, 5(4), 246-259.
- Tyrer, P., Reed, G. M., & Crawford, M. J. (2015). Classification, assessment, prevalence, and effect of personality disorder. *The Lancet*, *385*(9969), 717-726.

- Tyrer, P., & Simmonds, S. (2003). Treatment models for those with severe mental illness and comorbid personality disorder. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *182*(S44), s15-s18.
- Vaknin, S. (2006). Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) at a Glance.
- Van der Linden, S., & Rosenthal, S. A. (2016). Measuring narcissism with a single question? A replication and extension of the Single-Item Narcissism Scale (SINS). *Personality and Individual Differences*, 90, 238-241.
- Vater, A., Ritter, K., Schröder-Abé, M., Schütz, A., Lammers, C. H., Bosson, J. K., & Roepke, S. (2013A). When grandiosity and vulnerability collide: Implicit and explicit self-esteem in patients with narcissistic personality disorder. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 44(1), 37-47.
- Vater, A., Schröder-Abé, M., Ritter, K., Renneberg, B., Schulze, L., Bosson, J. K., & Roepke, S. (2013B). The Narcissistic Personality Inventory: A useful tool for assessing pathological narcissism? Evidence from patients with Narcissistic Personality Disorder. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 95(3), 301-308.
- Vernon, P. A., Villani, V. C., Vickers, L. C., & Harris, J. A. (2008). A behavioral genetic investigation of the Dark Triad and the Big 5. *Personality and individual Differences*, 44(2), 445-452.
- Vigo, D., Thornicroft, G., & Atun, R. (2016). Estimating the true global burden of mental illness. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *3*(2), 171-178.

- Vinge, L. (1967). *The Narcissus theme in Western European literature up to the early 19th century*. Gleerups.
- Vogel, E. A., Rose, J. P., Roberts, L. R., & Eckles, K. (2014). Social comparison, social media, and self-esteem. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, 3(4), 206.
- Vossen, T. J., Coolidge, F. L., Segal, D. L., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (2017). Exploring the Dark Side: Relationships between the Dark Triad Traits and Cluster B Personality Disorder Features. *Journal of Psychiatry and Psychiatric Disorders*, 1(6), 317-326.
- Walker, E. R., Cummings, J. R., Hockenberry, J. M., & Druss, B. G. (2015). Insurance status, use of mental health services, and unmet need for mental health care in the United States. *Psychiatric Services*, 66(6), 578-584.
- Watson, P. J., Little, T., Sawrie, S. M., & Biderman, M. D. (1992A). Measures of the narcissistic personality: Complexity of relationships with self-esteem and empathy. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 6(4), 434-449.
- Watson, P. J., Little, T., & Biderman, M. D. (1992). Narcissism and parenting styles. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 9(2), 231.
- Widiger, T. A. (2011). Personality and psychopathology. *World Psychiatry*, *10*(2), 103-106.
- Wink, P. (1991). Wink, P. (1991). Two faces of narcissism. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61(4), 590-597.

- Wright, A. G. (2016). On the measure and mismeasure of narcissism: A response to "Measures of narcissism and their relations to DSM-5 pathological traits: A critical reappraisal". *Assessment*, 23(1), 10-17.
- Zachar, P., Krueger, R. F., & Kendler, K. S. (2016). Personality disorder in DSM-5: An oral history. *Psychological medicine*, *46*(1), 1-10.
- Zanarini, M. C., Frankenburg, F. R., Dubo, E. D., Sickel, A. E., Trikha, A., Levin, A., & Reynolds, V. (1998). Axis II comorbidity of borderline personality disorder. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 39(5), 296-302.
- Zhu, D. H., & Chen, G. (2015). CEO narcissism and the impact of prior board experience on corporate strategy. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 60(1), 31-65.
- Zimmerman, M., Rothschild, L., & Chelminski, I. (2005). The prevalence of DSM-IV personality disorders in psychiatric outpatients. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162(10), 1911-1918.

## **Appendix A: Interview Questions**

#### **Overview**

The research question is 'What are the experts views on NPD (Narcissistic Personality Disorder) as a form of mental illness?'

This means that primarily the questions are focused on NPD and how it interacts with the concept of a mental illness. According to (Stinson et al., 2008) there is no real difference between a personality disorder and a mental illness, however for the purposes of this study it is important that the experts discuss their standings on mental illness and personality disorder. The questions have been split into three categories (initial, core and summary) to accurately address the research question.

#### **Interview Questions**

**Initial and opening questions:** The purpose of these opening questions is to gauge the general views of the expert regarding NPD to see how they align with others.

- 1. What do you consider to be the key traits and characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic personality disorder?
- 2. What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?
- 3. To what extent would you consider NPD to be prevalent in the general populace?
- 4. In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a contributor to NPD?

- 5. How influential would you consider society and the environment to be as contributors to NPD?
- 6. What aspects of NPD could be considered as providing positive personal characteristics?
- 7. To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 interpretation of NPD to accurate?
- 8. How accurately do you believe the scientific community understands NPD?
- 9. Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attributes do you consider to be the most valid and why?
- 10. Symptoms of NPD have been described as varying in appearance and recognition. Do you agree with this sentiment and why?
- 11. Which gender would you say is more like to suffer from NPD and why?
- 12. To what extent do you believe age affects the severity of the NPD condition?
- 13. In what aspects does substance abuse affect the severity of the NPD condition?
- 14. What are some of the key issues facing the full understanding of NPD?
- 15. In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that NPD is the least empirically researched of all personality disorders, to what extent do you agree with this sentiment and is there areas that require further research in your opinion?

**Core questions:** The purpose of these questions is to discuss the core focus of the research question.

- 1. What criteria would you use to classify someone as having a mental illness?
- 2. To what extent would you consider a personality disorder to be a mental illness?
- 3. To what extent do you consider NPD to be a mental illness?

**Evaluation questions:** The purpose of these questions is to discuss outlier arguments in the discussion before finally summarising the interview and content.

- 1. What aspects of NPD could be viewed as dangerous to society?
- 2. In your opinion, in what ways can those with both NPD and a position of power impact society?
- 3. What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?

In order to keep the conversation relevant and flowing I will be asking some filler questioning in-between the listed question. The interview will be conducted online via Skype or some other online medium of the experts choosing and will last roughly 45 minutes to an hour.

Please contact me if you have any questions and thank you for taking the time to read this.

# **Appendix B: Transcriptions and Thematic Notes**

### **Identified Themes**

This table represent the themes which were identified and analysed:

CORE	Symptoms of NPD: Descriptions of NPD and of narcissistic
	tendencies. Any reference to behaviour.
	Severity of NPD conditions: Reference to high-level narcissistic
	behaviour, consideration on whether if should it be considered a
	mental illness
	NPD relationship with mental illness: Any reference to criteria,
	severity, validity and whether it should count as a Personality
	Disorder
TANGENTAL	Differences in NPD behaviour: Division in the behaviour
	displayed in NPD sufferers. Predominate focus on the grandiose
	and vulnerable divide.
	The relevance of genetics as NPD contributor: Reference to
	discussion between nature versus nurture and influence of genetic
	contributors.
	Relevance of environment as NPD contributor: Example are
	impact of Social Media, cultural trends, parenting styles
	Decline of discreet diagnosis: Reference to movement away
	from past diagnostic structures. Reference to current prevalence
	rates in society.
	NPD measuring instruments: Any reference made to utilisation
	and validity of NPD instruments.
	Future direction of NPD research: Reference to potential future
	directions of NPD and narcissistic trait research.

# **Interview with Expert 1**

INTERVIEW 1	THEMATIC NOTES
Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and	
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic	
personality disorder?	
r	
RM – Asks Q1 EX1 - Self-involvement, egocentricity, a difficulty getting beyond encapsulation in the self, getting across the divide in the other, so as seeing them as fully real as they are. All narcissists have issues with empathy, although they can emphasise, using it as a tool to extract useful information from others. What they really have trouble with sympathy and compassion. I think of empathy as cognizant and	The expert describes some displayed symptoms but does not highlight a great deal of difference in the symptoms of narcissism and NPD
sympathy as caring. Psychopaths are often cognizant of the feelings of others, but they don't give a damn. So, I think of psychopathy and severe narcissism, especially malignant narcissism at the severe end of the spectrum really embodies this. But all narcissists have issues with empathy and have trouble with sympathy. I think of empathy as cognizant and	
<ul> <li>sympathy as caring.</li> <li><b>RM</b> – <i>The difference being compassion</i>.</li> <li><b>EX1</b> – I think so, narcissists have real difficulty feeling sympathy and caring for the views of other people, especially the feelings of other people.</li> </ul>	
<b>RM</b> – Okay good.	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between arcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 2:05 – 4:54	ween a person displaying
$\mathbf{RM}$ : – Asks Q2.	There is some overlap between
<b>EX1:</b> I don't really think of it as a line, I think of it	narcissism as a continuum and
as a continuum. I think of it as a continuum of	narcissistic tendencies
narcissistic traits. I think of it like, I mean Judaeo-	appearing in all the general
Christian religion sees the fundamental sin of pride,	populace.
which is narcissism. So, we are all narcissists	
<b>RM:</b> – On a scale I suppose?	Expert marks a difference
<b>EX1</b> - Yes, On a scale from mild to moderate, to	between grandiose and
severe.	vulnerable narcissists.

<b>RM:</b> – So there point, or there is no straw you	
consider to be the one that breaks the back. A point	
that we say, no no this is too much.	
EX1- Ahhh I don't really think that we can. I don't	
really think we can ethically perspective. I mean it's	
almost based upon different ethically judgements. I	
mean what you are really asking is how much	
selfishness is too much selfishness.	
<b>RM:</b> – Errr yeah, I mean maybe, it depends if you	
define narcissism and selfishness as the same thing.	
Perhaps more like asking, as what point is loving	
yourself too much, too much?	
<b>EX1:</b> – well thing I don't believe narcissists do love	
themselves.	
<b>RM:</b> – Yeah of course, my mistake.	
<b>EX1:</b> – I don't believe narcissism is about loving	
yourself too much, it's also about hating yourself too	
much. There are two kinds of narcissists: neurotic	
grandiose narcissists and depressed narcissists. The	
reason we can't stand depressed people, is because	
they are so self-involved. It's all about how bad	
things are. It's all about how great, how terrible, how	
ugly, how useless they are and blah blah blah. It's all	
about them, they can't get their minds off	
themselves.	
<b>RM:</b> – <i>Hmm yeah</i> .	
EM1: – So the grandiose narcissism it's all about	
how great he is. The depressed narcissist is equally	
obnoxious because it is all about how terrible	
everything is.	
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be pre	valent in the general populace?
4.54 - 9:03	
<b>RM:</b> $-Asks Q3$	There is some crossover
<b>EX1:</b> – I think it's err again, Judaeo-Christian	between the occurrence of
religion sees the sin of pride which as narcissism, so	narcissism in the general
to be human is to be narcissistic. I mean this is the	populace and the severity
fundamental moral problem that humans face, of	required for narcissism to be
course this is also Lacan's theory, the first self is the	outstanding as NPD. The
encounter in the mirror and we become obsessed	expert argues for a sliding
with ourselves in it and the worship of the self-	continuum with even NPD
image is a form of ideology. To be human is to be	sufferers showing moments of
ideologist in this way, and some people are more	clarity. As the expert suggests
obsessed with themselves than others. But to be	a Kleinian cycling between the
seessed with member to than others. But to be	

human is to struggle for your whole life with	two-different positions (PS –
selfishness versus concern for the other. I mean this	D).
also pure Freud. In 1914 Freud is talking about the	
attempt to switch from narcissism to object love,	
which no one makes perfectly but our capacity to	
love others is hampered by our narcissism. Some	
people are so hampered they just can't love at all.	
<b>RM:</b> So, in this respect every person is a narcissist	
they just are better at reigning it in and don't need	
people to err give them validation.	
<b>EX1:</b> As much. I mean everyone needs narcissistic	
gratification, everyone needs mirroring, validating,	
applause appreciation. But some people are	
desperate for it. So as a relatively more mature	
person would be sad, and he comes home and he	
wants narcissistic gratification from his partner and	
he tells her about his bad day, and basically he wants	
soothing and bucking up. But after 15 minutes of	
this attention he realises she is a human too and gets	
up. He will ask 'oh how was your day'.	
RM: Yeah.	
<b>EX1:</b> Now some people never get up, they spend	
their whole lives as using other people as mirrors.	
RM: I suppose that is the difference then, whether or	
not you are available divorce yourself from that	
mindset. Would you say someone with NPD spends	
90% of their time blinkered and the rest being self-	
reflective, or is it never.	
<b>EX1</b> : Hmm I'm having some trouble with your	
language of 'never'. See in Kleinian theory no one	
occupies the depressive position all the time, we are	
always cycling all the time. See in PS (Pysco-	
schzoid position) we are narcissistic, in D	
(depressive) we have compassion for others, but we	
are never are fully in one position. Now some people	
spend 90% of their lives in the schizoid position and	
another 90% spend their lives in the depressive	
position, but we are cycle.	
RM: Even people who are very much deluded.	
EX1: I think so, most psychologists will tell you,	
even in deep psychosis there are moments of clarity.	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co	

### & Q5: How influential would you consider society and the environment to be as contributors to NPD?

9:04 - 17:29

### RM: Asks O4

**EX1:** \*pauses, I can't claim any knowledge in this, what I will say, I remain agnostic. I remain sceptical in determination. I recognise that babies come into the world, form day one with different temperaments, so I would never deny that. Clearly, we have brains as well as minds so clearly there is something there to begin with not just the environment. To me it's in a black cloth, I don't know how to estimate it. I don't think about it very much because the whole of the psychotic approach is based around environmental factors, the quality of the maternal holding. I'm far more likely to think in

the case of a severe narcissist, sometime seriously went wrong in the mother infant relationship. I'm more likely to think that than I am biological.

### RM: hmmm

**EX1:** But on the other hand, I won't deny that may be involved I just have no way of estimating them. **RM:** *The probable is you can't just say that It all* comes out in a wash. From my understanding it's like you are trying to put together a puzzle that you only have half the pieces for.

#### EX1: Hmm

**RM:** *If you were going to estimate on the sliding* scale of nature versus nurture, hat percentages roughly would you attribute to each.

**EX1:** My thinking is it is more towards nurture than it is nature, err yeah, we are very much shaped by experience and shaped by others. A baby come into the world with a temperament for sure, but boy the reaction on the people in that in environment to that infant I feel is a heavy, heavy influence.

**RM:** Would you say that a child can be taken from any background and become a narcissist under the right circumstances,

**EX1:** Yeah, I think so, all that needs to happen is the for the child to be wounded substantially enough, binging on it or by depriving it of some fundamental nurturing. Say a mother who is herself never narcissistic and she can't really see the infant as

With regards to genetics, the expert's response suggests that it is difficult to accurately predict how influential genetics are as a contributor to NPD. In the expert's mind, it does seem to be a solvable question, so the focus has instead been shifted towards environmental factors, especially the role other people have as a contributor towards high narcissistic attributes in people.

The expert goes on to suggest that narcissistic parental behaviour is a significant contributor towards the increased likelihood of narcissistic tendencies. In addition, factors like childhood bullying and sexual abuse are suggested to be significant contributors.

The expert highlights that a good prevention to narcissistic tendencies, is the presence of the love of the parents.

nothing but an extension of herself. Parents who are	
incapable of love and self-sacrifice. I mean that's	
what is required for good parenting, sacrifice your	
self-interest and putting the child first. In my opinion	
narcissists are people who have been really hurt.	
<b>RM:</b> Is narcissism a parentally influenced	
phenomenon or could say the abuse of peers and	
other influences like teacher abuse or from family	
members.	
EX1: Yeah, I think it can be from other kids and	
bullying the meanest, the cruelness of other kids,	
especially if they identify something odd or unusual	
about the person they tease him or her, the ostracize	
that person. Even with really good parenting that can	
be very damaging. Although my bias to kids who	
have a really loving mother and father and a really	
great environment, even if that kid encounters sever	
bullying later in childhood or adolescence, although	
the child will be hurt, if the kid has really good	
loving, he is going to have a core, that's going to be	
pretty strong and endure the later cruelty better than	
someone who has been deprived.	
<b>RM</b> : So they have more of a backbone or self	
because of this loving nurture, they have this	
foundation of love to be supported by.	
EX: Yeah exactly a person who has been raised with	
love knows what it is and they have received it, he	
knows that it exists in the world and if he is not	
getting it he will not be ingeniously be able to find it.	
He will find the one teacher or coach or friend who	
can prove them a semblance of this love. They will	
find it in god or in their imagination, some	
semblance of this love.	
<b>RM</b> : So that allows them to build up some form of	
mental refuge?	
<b>EX1:</b> Yeah one of my student in my seminar was	
talking about this errr Castaway and Wilson.	
<b>RM:</b> How the character of Wilson was a method of	
Tom Hanks character mirroring in order to get that	
necessary affection.	
<b>EX1:</b> Not just that but also by transferring his love	
and character onto Wilson, it shows he has a	
background of love. As he has this loving presence	

in his mind he is able to externalise this love on Wilson.

Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as providing positive personal characteristics? 17:08 – 24:10

RM: Asks Q6

**EX1:** Well okay sure, ruthlessness is useful, especially under capitalism.

**RM:** Yes, it would seem that a lot of CEO's seem to be narcissistic, it seems kind of necessary to get to the top

**EX1**: Exactly, you need to be willing and able to step on other people

**RM**: I would go as far as saying being too modest comes across as weakness. Instead saying 'I can do it I'm the best I can do it'. Like if that person embraces their narcissism and rides it other people are going to say, 'hey that guy seems confident, I bet he can do it'

**EX1**: Hmm I was watching an ad play during the Canadian Football League for GMC. The ad goes 'what kind of a person do you want to be, a good person a good friend, a good parent, is that it? (it belittles this notion) 'No you want to be the best'! Well you see that's narcissism talking right there. **RM**: But I mean if that resonances within everyone, then that's genius. They have brought along this product and said look how niche and this is and how unique you will be if you have this, but deep down it is relevant to everyone.

EX1: Right, it's very easy to tempt people's narcissism.

**RM**: I would say that it seems to be more prevalent in CEO or in managers, who are big, but not at the top of their field. Like they are people who are very focused on getting to the top. The leaders who do seem to sit at the top change their mentality to a more humanistic approach perhaps, but not those who are still trying to reach the top. That's really just speculation though

**EX1**: Right, I think so, although there are people in this world who don't crave to be number one who are still narcissists. So I have this one client who

This response suggests that narcissism and our society are somewhat integrated with one another. As the expert outlines in the commercial story, this marketing was addressed directly towards narcissistic tendencies, which some people can relate to. As the expert outlines, society and capitalistic structures encourage the promotion of asset acquisition and the power that comes with it. Such power structures are known to bring forth narcissistic tendencies in people through a multitude of methods.

There is also some reference to the treatment of a narcissistic patient. The expert suggests that much of the treatment revolves around the inducement of modesty, through introspection. The expert suggests these narcissistic tendencies are rooted within childhood.

<b>DM</b> . $A_{a}k \cap Q$	The expert highlights here the
<b>RM:</b> Ask Q8	The expert highlights here the
<b>EX1:</b> I think there is room for improvement, we	history of understanding
have been working on narcissism for half a century,	narcissism. The expert refers to
well i've been working on different tools and	Kernberg's concept of
whatnot, but there is not a consensus. In	depression, something similar
psychoanalysis there is a real difference in the	to introspection. As the
understanding of narcissism between Freudians,	experts' states by helping the
Kleinians and Lacanians on one hand and self-	patient become depressed you
relational based upon attributes. I think the	are making them confront their
Freudians, Kleinians and Lacanians are very much	guilt and their personal
aware of narcissism as a defence, they see narcissism	failures. The expert suggests
as a compensation for feelings of inadequacy, also as	that this is a difficult and
a compensation for guilt. The invasion of guilt, the	gradual process requiring a
super ego and depression. Otto Kernburg, who has	year or more of therapy.
had a huge impact in narcissism and psych-analysis,	
he is mainly talking about the grandiose narcissism,	There is also some reference to
basically, he says, in treating a narcissistic person,	ageing and NPD. The expert
you are helping that person become depressed. There	specifically referencing it as
grandiosity is a defence against aggression. Its only	the mortal enemy of the
when this grandiosity fails apart and gives way to	narcissist. He also talks about
this depression, only then are you making headway	the relationship between
in the treatment. Obviously not that you want to	narcissism, losing and ageing.
leave them in a puddle of depression.	
<b>RM:</b> So how would you make them depressed, by	
focusing on their actions in the past.	
<b>EX1</b> : Well you aren't exactly making them	
depressed. They were depressed before that's why	
they came to psychanalyses. They come to us	
because their grandiosity is starting to crack. Maybe	
it worked for them back when they were younger but	
now they are old, maybe have potency problem.	
Maybe they have hit a wall in their career, maybe	
their wife leaves them, says she has had enough of	
their narcissistic crap.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>I</i> mean if they had no problem they wouldn't	
come to you, its just a matter of time before you have	
alienated everyone you love.	
<b>EX1:</b> Exactly, Kernberug rasies a point, saying age	
is the ultimate nightmare for the narcissist is aging.	
because what is ageing. My old mentor Eli Sagan	
once told me secret of aging is loss, loss, loss.	
Narcissists do not want to be lovers, the aging means	
you are becoming a loser. At the end you are going	
to lose your live and everything.	

<ul> <li>RM: No way to beat it and it beats you down slowly,</li> <li>EX1: Haha yes just like me. I don't have a narcissistic personality disorder anymore, but I did and after years of analysis, I evolved beyond that and now I am able to push away from the table, let go and say goodbye, okay but the narcissistic personality disorder is greedy.</li> <li>RM: So the narcissist feels that they haven't peaked.</li> <li>EX1: Well im despite losing my vision, I am still happy and grateful, that's a key point gratitude. Melanie Klein is really goof on this, she says 'there is only one cure for envy and that's gratitude. I mean you can't discuss narcissism without discussing envy. If you can feel grateful that your cup is half full you won't be envious out about not having a full cup.</li> </ul>	
Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr	ibutes do you consider to be the
most valid and why? 34:11 – 37:16	
<b>RM:</b> Ask Q9	Here the expert states they do
<b>EX1:</b> What measure?	not have the relevant
<b>RM:</b> Perhaps an inventory like NPI, all question	knowledge in this area to
based, or like 2pg?	comment.
<b>EX1:</b> I'm sorry I can't comment I haven't used any	
of these inventories.	
<b>RM:</b> okay well how about when you are talking to	
somebody, how would you work out how narcissistic	
a person was.	
<b>EX1:</b> Hmm well I'm never trying to measure how	
narcissistic a person is. I mean I am listening to a	
client talking and paying attention to the death of the	
description of the other people in his life. Say I want	
to talk about his wife or children, but he may go	
through the whole session without talking about	
others in their lives, then that is a pretty strong	
indication. Other people to mention their wives and	
children but at the end of the hour you are left with a	
feeling, that they are kind of carboard figures, he	
hasn't spoken about them in that in any way brings	
them to life. He is not communicating any depth to	
these people, because he is not interested in their depth, just as them as object affecting them.	

<ul> <li>RM: So is that how they just are or can they be changed.</li> <li>EX1: Well yeah of course, these narcissistic individuals are functionally primarily in the schizoid position and have little time in the depressive position, so they have very little capacity of concern for the people, but it is there for sure.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyir recognition. Do you agree with this sentiment and why 37:17 – 40:43</li> <li>RM: Asks Q10</li> <li>EX1: That they vary, yes, the big variation being between grandiose and depressed.</li> <li>RM: I read a work that split narcissism into 5 separate types of disorder, something like two poles, grandiose and vulnerable with some other variants in-between.</li> <li>EX1: Yeah that could be true, thinking of different types of narcissism remind some of Kohut psychology and he distinguishes the difference between the type of narcissist who is constantly looking for mirroring, who is constantly looking for mirroring, who is constantly looking for mirroring as opposed to the idealising narcissist who are narcissists who are engaged in hero worship they are worshiping gurus and they are just projecting their ideal self in a character, like Doyle Brunson or Donald Trump or even God, or the Pope or whatever. It's a variation of narcissism to idealise people. That's certainly different from the mirroring narcissist who wants to be God. The worshiping of God is a more indirect version of this.</li> <li>RM: I wonder if there should be at least two different names and disorders on narcissism.</li> <li>EX1: Yes there probably should be.</li> </ul>	• • • •
Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff 40:44 – 42:06 <b>RM</b> : <i>Asks Q11</i> <b>EX1:</b> I don't think it is particularly leaning towards one gender, although it certainly takes on different manifestations. So you have the sadistic narcissistic domineering male, but you have the seductive female, who is out to get you addicted to her, her	Fer from NPD and why? The expert implies that there is no difference between narcissistic availability between genders. I believe he suggests that males are more likely to be blatant with their

narcissism takes the form of a trying to make her the centre of your desire and attention. She goes about it in a different way. <b>RM</b> : <i>Is that because men and women want</i> <i>fundamentally different things from life</i> . <b>EX1</b> : Err I think actually they kind of want the same thing, they just have two different ways of thinking, two different applied strategies. They just want to be the centre.	narcissism, with women being a little more introverted and secretive.
<ul> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the set 42:06 – 47:21</li> <li>RM: Asks Q12</li> <li>EX1: Oh, it think aging threatens the narcissist, because he beings to lose his power.</li> <li>RM: If they have no therapy they go into denial then right, because their world is slowly being taken away and there is nothing that can really do to stop it.</li> <li>EX1: Yes exactly, but the power to deny becomes overwhelming, the facts speak for themselves, the narcissistic women who has sort to be the centre by being a beauty, but now crow feets are showing on around her eyes, her boobs are sagging, she can't deny it even if she avoids all mirrors.</li> <li>RM: Hmm are you more likely to have a breakthrough with a young person, or an older person?</li> <li>EX1: I think the key factor is if their narcissism is breaking apart, whether it is due to aging or something else. A young narcissists world might be breaking apart because he not that successful, unable to market himself. If he is young and talented and able to market himself maybe this narcissism won't break apart until later.</li> <li>RM: So, in a way this person has yet the reap the rewards of being a narcissist, because they are unsuccessful. There has been no plateauing</li> <li>EX1: Right I see this in student whole aced high school, getting A's but moving on to university they become C or D students, and this leads to breaks in twenty-year olds, they define themselves in a particular way and now they are not getting that feedback.</li> </ul>	verity of the NPD condition?

<b>RM:</b> Do you think it has something to do with the	
scholastic system, internalising in children how they	
need to do well in exams, promoting that fear of	
failure?	
<b>EX1:</b> Well now we go back to the environmental	
question, I personally think this whole culture	
including our educational system, this structure we	
live in breed narcissism, a culture of achieving and	
doing and doesn't pay any attention to being, always	
about doing and achieving, not about being	
<b>RM:</b> I suppose it comes down to easy management	
of people, trying to get them focused to be	
productive and keep the country running.	
<b>EX1</b> : Right but it's a mistaken theory,	
<b>RM:</b> Well it implies not creative ambitions and that	
people can be shoehorned happily into jobs they	
don't want	
<b>EX1:</b> Right you don't have any confidence that a	
child who was well loved and cherished, allowed to	
be and play, I mean a lot of great creativity come	
from play.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>Gives the child the opportunity to explore their</i>	
imagination.	
imagination.	
imagination.	
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s	severity of the NPD condition?
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s $47:22 - 48:44$	
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13	Expert suggests that utilisation
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to	Expert suggests that utilisation
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem,	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling.	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling. <b>RM:</b> <i>Makes sense</i>	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten narcissistic tendencies.
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling. <b>RM:</b> <i>Makes sense</i>	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten narcissistic tendencies.
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling. <b>RM:</b> <i>Makes sense</i> Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full ut 48:45 - 55:08	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten narcissistic tendencies.
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling. <b>RM:</b> <i>Makes sense</i> Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full ut 48:45 - 55:08 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q14</i>	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten narcissistic tendencies. nderstanding of NPD? The expert suggests that much
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 47:22 – 48:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX1:</b> I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling. <b>RM:</b> <i>Makes sense</i> Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full ut 48:45 - 55:08	Expert suggests that utilisation of substances heighten narcissistic tendencies.

e D
5
5
5
5
ţ
l

<ul> <li>EX1: Not exactly, understanding it intellectually and then producing feelings of compassions and love for others don't realise together. They only understand they have a deficit, not a cure for it</li> <li>RM: So, would that be on the spectrum of autism, or is it about object relations?</li> <li>EX1: Well people now talk about the spectrum and I think thick skinned narcissists are probably on the spectrum and they are probably too adapted to society to be called autistic.</li> </ul>	
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your	do you agree with this sentiment
<ul> <li>55:09 – 56:58</li> <li>RM: Asks Q15</li> <li>EX1: Erm I am not familiar enough with the literature to make that kind of qualitative comparison,</li> <li>RM: Sure, just for reference do you believe it's been fairly well researched</li> <li>EX1: There has been an awful lot of concern over narcissism in psychoanalysis regarding narcissism in the last fifty years, one of the major topic.</li> <li>RM: Well I mean Kernburg dedicated his life works to it, as so have many others. I mean there is a huge load of literature on narcissism. One of the reason I really wanted to do it was to create an aggregate of the knowledge of narcissism.</li> <li>EX1: Well that's kind of a book was thinking of writing, that covers all the major point of views.</li> </ul>	The expert states that they do not have enough information to make an informed decision.
<ul> <li>QC1: What criteria would you use to classify someone as having a mental illness?</li> <li>&amp; QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality disorder to be a mental illness?</li> <li>&amp; QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a mental illness?</li> </ul>	
56:59 – 67: 35 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC1</i> <b>EX1:</b> well you see here we get into core problem. I don't believe in mental illness, there is no such thing , when something has been called a mental illness, if they discover a biochemical or some neurological deficit, once that's discover, that doesn't prove that's a mental illness, it proves that it's a physical illness,	There was an issue here with the wording 'mental illness'. This was the first time I encountered this issue, but it frequently came up in other discussions. Because the expert deems the core

Mental illness is a category of those behaviours that we want to think of as sick but that we can't think of as sick. As soon as we can prove that thy are sick it becomes a physical illness. Mental illness applies to behaviour that we know is sick but we can't prove is sick. There sickness is biological, you cannot apply the language of sick to mental behaviour it is simply a metaphor, a person is sick in the way an economy is sick, that is its merely a metaphor.

**RM**: Okay that's a fine answer but the next two questions use the terminology mental illness, so I am not sure how relevant these questions will now be. To skip to the last part how to what extent do you consider narcissistic personality disorder to be a mental illness

**EX1:** Okay well my answer has to be that I do not consider narcissistic personality disorder to be a mental illness because I do not consider hysteria or grandiosity or any of these things to be a mental illness, because mental illness doesn't exist.

**RM:** *Is it just a terminology, if I was to change the terminology from mental illness to a physical illness would that change anything.* 

**EX1**: Well certainly NPD is not a physical illness, I mean to do that you would have to prove with microscopic data that empirically prove that there is a biological malfunction, defect or disease. You can't do that for these behaviours that are called mental illness. I mean what am I doing then when I'm so called treating these traits. I'll tell you what it is, narcissism is not sick its bad, the whole of psychology has devoted itself to avoiding the law and that's its fundamental error. These forms of behaviours that we consider to be mental illness, if we were to be honest we would call them wrong and bad, we don't like these behaviours. Even down to weird behaviours like someone standing too close to you when they talk, so we think there is something mental wrong with them. The key point being that the concept of illness should be confined to the physical domain.

**RM:** Is that you personally or a great deal of the community at this point.

questions to be somewhat unanswerable, the three questions were grouped together into a discussion regarding mental illness as a terminology. Whilst I believe it was an interesting discussion, it is arguable that the questions were distorted so much that they cannot be used with validity.

However, given that the discussion of whether or not mental illness is an actual phenomenon, is very relevant to the research question in hand. It was deemed necessary that this section should be included in the data.

The experts view on the subject matter was that mental illness is not a real phenomenon, but rather there is a degree of mental trauma. The expert does not distinguish a discreet cut off point, but rather a continuum.

Interestingly, he also does not fully agree with trait theory but instead suggests that it's far more transcendent and metaphysical.

Although he does suggest he is treating 'traits' I do not believe he uses this terminology in the exact same way as other experts. He is instead trying to treat what he identifies are apparent traits, with direction

<b>EX1</b> : No I am very unusual, Peter Zaz and I have a	towards reducing these traits
different perspective. In the Judaeo-Christian realm	via psychotherapy.
sin is something that is treated by the priest, but I	1 5 15
mean how do you treat sin, I mean you help them	
give it up and convert to the god light. That's what's	
going on in psychotherapy, but we don't want to see	
it as that, preforming shamanic or priestly function.	
We want to see ourselves as scientists, and we draw	
on the medical model to cloak what is really a	
shamanic kind of enterprise.	
<b>RM</b> : Well it is very subjective and difficult to	
measure, there is it is metaphysical process and	
cannot be boiled down to just stats-based work	
<b>EX1</b> : I my opinion most people who suffer	
psychological and in the field of psychosomatic and	
there they have an illness, one that has strong	
emotional contributors. A they are bringing that	
suffering on themselves, why are they punishing	
themselves, well they don't know but on some level	
there is usually a good reason.	
E1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as dangero 67:35 – 69:56 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks E1</i>	us to society?
<b>EX1</b> : The most extreme form of NPD is a	
<b>EAI.</b> The most extreme form of NFD is a	
nevehonathe and they are extremely denoerous to	
psychopaths and they are extremely dangerous to	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people around them, seeing them as tools or pawns,	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people around them, seeing them as tools or pawns, especially to their partners and children, they do immense damage to these children and the narcissistic parents is incapable of loving and	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people around them, seeing them as tools or pawns, especially to their partners and children, they do immense damage to these children and the	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people around them, seeing them as tools or pawns, especially to their partners and children, they do immense damage to these children and the narcissistic parents is incapable of loving and sacrificing so in this way it damages the child.	
society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people around them, seeing them as tools or pawns, especially to their partners and children, they do immense damage to these children and the narcissistic parents is incapable of loving and	NPD and a position of power

69:57 - 70:55

<ul> <li>RM: Asks E2</li> <li>EX1: Oh my god well, I mean you are seeing it right now, this situation with Trump and threatening to nuke Korea and all the ridiculous tweets, it's a real real concern.</li> <li>RM: Right well im just happy I don't live in America or Korea for that reason.</li> </ul>	This use of Trump as an idea of a person who displays NPD and is in a huge position of power is commonly used by the experts. In this case, the expert suggests that President Trump displays symptoms of NPD.
<ul> <li>E3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified a DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>70:56 – 71:57</li> <li>RM: Asks E3</li> <li>EX1: Honestly, I do not use the ICD-10, I'm only</li> </ul>	The expert suggests that they are not familiar with the ICD-
vaguely familiar with it. Well I believe narcissistic personality disorder should be considered a disorder and any compendium that doesn't list it as a disorder should seriously considering why. It's certainly a real condition and disorder and I still see it as being	10 and offer only a general comment regarding the state of NPD as a disorder.
very problematic, in the way that the other mental disorders are problematic. <b>RM</b> : Okay great that concludes our interview, thank you very much.	

# **Interview with Expert 2**

INTERVIEW 2 Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic personality disorder?	THEMATIC NOTES
<ul> <li>0:00 – 3.20</li> <li>RM: <i>Ask Q1</i></li> <li>EX2: Err for me the grandiosity is sort of the lynchpin, idea that you are better than others, entitlement, idea that you are unique, rules don't apply to you, be willing to exploit others in part because of those traits. Also showing off exhibitionism, being a domineering people and domination approach, perhaps in some sort of hierarchical model.</li> <li>RM: <i>Do you discern a difference between grandiose and vulnerable narcissism?</i></li> <li>EX2: Oh, they are super different, grandiose being the proto-typical one, with vulnerable less so. In terms of vulnerable narcissism many of those people aren't even grandiose. I think they are ego centrical and self-absorbed, but it often comes from a place of victimisation, a defence mechanism and are quite different in my mind.</li> </ul>	The expert clearly discerns a difference in symptoms within the NPD condition, considering a radical difference.
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be better narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 3:20 – 4:39	ween a person displaying
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q2</li> <li>EX2: Flexibility, I mean if you are a little cocky you are going to keep it to yourself a bit and still fit in, I shouldn't brag about how much money I make, the quality of my life such as that. Also, people with the disorder have a great deal of failure, maybe in the workplace or in relationship between of the condition, it's a flexible and fine line. Also, less control over the manifestation over the traits.</li> <li>Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be presented as a statement of the present of the statement of the statement of the present of the statement of the present of the statement of the present of the present of the statement of the present of the present of the statement of the present of the present of the statement of the present of the pr</li></ul>	The expert considers NPD to be a more radical version of narcissistic characteristics. These characteristics are not necessarily bad, and can be considered even good traits. Personally, I believe the expert suggests this because narcissism walks a fine line between acceptable and unacceptable.

4:40 - 7.24	
RM: Asks Q3	Between 0 to 1 percent is lowe
EX2: I mean using the DSM cut off point, the data	than the average expert gives,
would suggest extraordinarily rare, the Stinson paper	however this expert in question
you put forth is really an outlier but most	had conducted a study which
epidemiological studies the modal percent is zero to	directly looked at this issue.
0.1 % but I think that's there an artificial cut off, so	Once again though, the
if you made the cut off instead of four symptoms,	prevalence rates are very
three or two them absolutely the rate would be	dependant on the criteria
higher.	presented in the DSM.
You know when you have a dimensional construct	
that you pretend is categorical, resulting a yes/ no I	
don't even know how useful knowing prevalence	
rates are as it's an arbitrary cut-off	
<b>RM:</b> Hmmm that's interesting that you say its so	
low yet it seems so many people display such open	
narcissistic tendencies to the point you would expect	
the rate to be much higher?	
EX2 <mark>: Well the previous data shows it to be zero to</mark>	
one percent given on the paper, this Stinson once	
you showed me seems to be an outlier in that regard.	
It depends how you access it. If you use semi-	
structured or fully structured interviews like the	
paper they are not going to necessarily be that	
accurate as people tend to over think the scale and	
magnitude of these disorders. You are going to find	
high rates when you ask people but then speaking	
with clinicians it's a lot rarer because of the severity	
of the symptoms required to meet this criteria. There	
are plenty of very narcissistic people, that its rather	
rare for people to meet that five of nine criteria	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co 7.25 - 9:57	ontributor to NPD?
	The expert suggests the ratio is
RM: Asks Q4	The expert suggests the ratio is $50/50$ although there is little
<b>EX2:</b> I mean genes play a huge role in all	50/50 although there is little
psychology and in all psychopathy, so probably $50\%$	success in trying to determine
about 50%.	genetic factors so far.
<b>RM:</b> That's roughly what I've heard although	
perhaps learning more on the nurture side.	
<b>EX2:</b> Yeah actually I think I go to the opposite I	
don't think that psychoanalytic theory really goes that far, like it all being about parenting. I don't	
that far like it all being about parenting. I don't	

	r
that let you parce genetics from environmental feature, that's all speculation really, even showing a correlation between narcissistic parenting style and a child's narcissistic personality does not say that a nurture issue or a genetic issue, because the two still have not been separated. I think it's a very poorly understood issue as to how any of the personality disorder divide into nature versus nurture? <b>RM:</b> Do you think there is any research that could be done to understand this better, or is it really just a variable the scientific community has to live with? <b>EX2:</b> I think from a behavioural genetic perspective there can be further research done but the papers so far keep it within roughly the 50% bracket, and with inheritability they have correlation of 0.5 so certainly more conclusive results are needed. You need twins adoption approaches, they aren't easy to do and I don't know if we have any understanding of molecular cause, and especially for NPD that's going to be low on the list for conditions that receive the necessary attention to understand the condition, on a molecular level.	
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the	he environment to be as
contributors to NPD?	the environment to be as
9:58 – 11:49	
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q5	The expert suggests that
EX2: I'm more pessimistic about it to be honest, I	childhood indicators are
don't think parenting and selfies and the self-esteem	prevalent in predicting NPD,
movement plays a huge role frankly in the	although perhaps not to a
contributor of narcissism. I mean there was a study	conclusive state.
to look at narcissistic traits in pre-schoolers and	
studied to see if they continued and the correlation	
suggest that by preschool they were able to pick out these traits, you know they think they are better than	
others and behave more antagonistically towards	
each other. That experiment was relatively	
successful. I think you bring some of those traits	
straight out of the womb with them. I think some	
cultures can inhibit this, like some Asian cultures,	
where being self-absorbed can bring shame on your	
family in a way that isn't fully comprehended in the	
west, and this pushes down some of these traits,	
where as a western culture may encourage	

individualism on a level that an courages paraissistic	
individualism on a level that encourages narcissistic attributes but you know I don't think nurture is as	
impactful as people give it credit for.	
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as prov	iding positive personal
characteristics?	ranig positive personal
12:20 - 15:57	
RM: Asks Q3	
EX2: I don't know I mean when you get to a	
disorder its going to be bad, but if you have say	
some narcissistic tendencies then sure, I mean we	
know confidence is attractive and so it finds dates	
and helps people rise in jobs to positions of	
leadership so yeah there are some positives to having	
high narcissism, extroversion assertive, can be	
positive at least at first, I mean over time people will	
catch on to the negative aspects the manipulation	
and lying, but yeah there are some positive qualities.	
Mainly through extroversion.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>it could be something of a self-fulfilling</i>	
prophecy, where if you get validation and regrading	
from narcissistic behaviour this in turn promotes	
<i>you to act in a further narcissistic way.</i> <b>EX2</b> : I mean some studies have shown that some	
people who display grandiose narcissism are less	
likely to internalise the criticisms of others and this	
has allowed them to push through and achieve in a	
manner that others cannot, you know just incredible	
confidence in yourself and when bad events occur	
you just shift the blame onto someone else. You	
know it's not my fault I got a bad grade my teacher	
is dumb. It can protect you in form some of that self-	
doubt and give you some psychological resilience.	
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in	terpretation of NPD to accurate?
15:21 - 21:23	
RM: Asks Q7	The expert argues that there are
<b>EX2:</b> For me this is a question of what part of the	differences in symptoms
DSM you mean, there are two different way of	displayed by patients with NPD,
thinking about PDs within the DSM. Do you mean	with grandiose and vulnerability
the traditional way or using the newer model?	again being apparent. The
<b>RM</b> : <i>I believe I am referring to the DSM-5 the</i>	expert demonstrates the
newer part	interlinking themes in this
	answer.

ſ	EX2: hmm okay well the traditional model goes
	over the classic symptoms, grandiosity, entitlement,
	bravado, exhibitionism etc, and then there is the
	newer model you diagnose based on impairment and
	on traits, are you talking about the traditional five of
	nine symptom?
	<b>RM</b> : Perhaps we should talk about both?
	EX2: I don't have a terrible problem with the five of
	nine seems pretty relevant to narcissism as term of
l	construction validity if you meet this crtieria you are
l	narcissistic. But I quibble over that if you have five
l	of nine you have it and four of nine you don't. We
l	have argued that the DSM should favour vulnerable.
l	mean either though it only focuses on the grandiose
l	and not the vulnerable I think that okay because
l	NPD should be considered to be an impairment in
l	society and the listed traits should reflect that as
l	opposed to a weaker, vulnerable condition which
	impairs society. If we can capture both that would be
	a benefit, but that would broader the symptoms of
	NPD but the things is if you include the traits to say
l	include shyness, sensitive to criticism and other
	vulnerable qualities that you are just going to
l	increase the likelihood of co-occurrence, with
	borderline dependence and so. This is why we see so
	must cooccurrence due to the general overlap of
	traits within disorders.
	<b>RM:</b> Do you think the DSM-5 is that relevant to a
	psychologist's interpretation of NPD?
	<b>EX2:</b> I think the DSM is super important, it's the go
	to diagnostic tool for clinical. In America most of
	the clinical physicians use it, both In papers and in
	practice. I think this extends outside of America.
	That being said many people researching narcissism
	are not clinical psychologists and might just study it
	as a construct largely separated from the DSM. It
	does seem to be a background thing, but I would like
	to see the DSM incorporate something that is going
	to be basic trait model like ICD-11 and have a
	section like antagonism or anti-social dissocial that
I	will capture a lot of the traits of narcissism
l	grandiosity untrustworthy malevolence. So people
l	will be interested in in traits and narcissism with
I	very little knowledge of the DSM captures it and we

would like have knowledge on why these people are as they are on a basic level.	
Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific comm $21.24 - 25.35$	nunity understands NPD?
<ul> <li>21:24 – 25:35</li> <li>RM: <i>Asks Q8</i></li> <li>EX2: Probably not that well, I don't even know if people with expertise included myself know that well compare to other disciplines where there have been thousands of papers. I mean its been researched less, much of the work about narcissism was coming from a theoretical nature. Mostly psychodynamic purist base on their own experiences, previous works and case studies, but really not until the last 10 – 20 years have we seen this outburst of empirical work on it. Frankly there is too much speculation and not enough data and what it means for functions.</li> <li>RM: <i>That's the issue with clinical cases they are one off and, in a way are hyped up. So is it more necessary that we conduct large scale aggregation on narcissism?</i></li> <li>EX2: Oh yeah we have a paper coming out controversy in narcissism and in clinical psychology where we call into questions whether narcissism is best studied in case studies, I mean even if you have a hundred people, the people that you see in clinical settings are a specific type of narcissist and they are in therapy usual because someone forced them to get therapy or they feel horrible and depressed the thing is they blame others for their problem. For this reason I would like to see more large scale research undertaken in societies, especially in corporate and prison environments, where narcissistic people can be found. Clinical studies are just one person and you are capturing them in one instances and may not be accurately reflective of general populace</li> <li>RM: Something I feel like should be looked is further aggregation of current narcissism research heter as been a lot of speculation and ideas were heterogenous in nature, so you couldn't even</li> </ul>	Expert suggests that current clinical studies do not capture enough of the populace to be considered truly valid.

way. Now we are getting closer to having a better	
idea of the contrast since we have become more	
homogenous in result production.	
Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr	ibutes do you consider to be the
most valid and why?	
25:36 - 28:50	
RM: Asks Q9	Expert favours self-report
EX2: I would go on a self-report basis, I mean	methodologies, in addition to
narcissistic people are pretty willing to discuss	asking family and close
themselves and their views, you could even ask 'are	acquaintences. This can yield
you a narcissist' but things like 'would the world be	fairly valid results.
a better place if I ran it'. I trust self-report more than	
I think most people do, I mean more than normal	
people, Also you could ask family member, partners	
and friends and see what they agree on trait wise and	
where they differ. Most provide relatively valid	
information especially if you collect the data from	
enough sources.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Is there an inventory that you personal prefer?</i>	
<b>EX2</b> : I think the NPD is heavily criticised, but very	
commonly used though and the data suggest it works	
just find. I'm a co-author on a FFM relationship to	
NPI, so it relates to something that resonances with	
all people, FFM works for all. I think we just need to	
know what kind of narcissism we are measuring and	
making sure the data makes sense together and is	
valid, so multiple inventories and multiple testing	
with the same experiment design help with this. We	
have a paper showing though that some scales are	
more than relevant and can skew the results, so it's	
worth bearing in mind when selecting from the	
available instruments.	
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varying	ng in appearance and recognition.
Do you agree with this sentiment and why?	
28:51 – 34:58	
RM: Asks Q10	Expert suggests there is an
EX2: I think if you think about grandiose and	overlap between the grandiose
vulnerable, at the core and traits from agreeableness	and vulnerable insignificant
with the five factor model, so you are going to	way. Despite this, the expert
display some of the obvious traits of narcissism	believes they should still be
present in both, the self-entitlement, the constant	identified and diagnosed
self-involvement but then a grandiose narcissist	differently.

displays some other traits like desire to rule the hierarchy, to be outgoing and always after the newest object with can be praised, like a car or watch. All about attention. Vulnerable are shyer, sensitive to criticism, anxiety and so are every different. Some people are very obvious in their narcissism, like Donald Trump it's hard for people not to agree on this. But then there is hidden or covert narcissism, who don't reveal this narcissism until you get to know them intimately. <b>RM:</b> <i>If Trump was narcissistic would he still be</i> <i>popular? It seems like people would be against him,</i> <i>his own supporters, if he began apologising for</i> <i>things.</i> <b>EX2:</b> Yeah, I think that's true, I suspect if he could control his disorder and say you know I get a little dense or sometimes I'm wrong, I think some of supporters wouldn't like that but it would make him seem more psychological healthy. But yeah there are people who have that bullheadedness that others find appealing. <b>RM:</b> <i>Yes it would interesting to do further research</i> <i>to see why that is the case why people like</i> <i>narcissists as leader.</i> <b>EX2:</b> Well people who are open like to think of the world as complex and nuances with an unlimited amount of perspectives and ideas to explore. That is complex and time consuming however, even for the voters. Others would rather have a black and white dichotomy to make things simpler, immoral and moral and don't like that things are complicated. Trumps black and white approach appeals to people who don't want to make so many challenges, rather want a simplified version that aligns perfectly with them. Its not deep, but then it doesn't have to be, because its about simplifying things. <b>RM:</b> <i>I mean we have to make a whole lot more</i> <i>decisions now than we used to, so any categorisation</i> <i>makes your life a lot easier</i> <b>EX2:</b> oh yeah for sure, we are expanding our ideas about gender and sexuality and female equality. I mean having these answered in black and one makes things seem easier.	Reference is made to Trump again as an example of a person with NPD. Special mention is made of the qualities identified in both NPD and Trump's success: bullheadedness, impervious to criticism, One could even argue that people identify with his splitting persona, things being either good or bad in their nature.

<b>RM</b> : It could also be a case of the glory days and	
rose-tinted glasses not seeing all the choices made	
back in the day.	
<b>EX2</b> : yeah also that conservative views, with closed	
views and the uneducated.	
Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff	fer from NPD and why?
34:59 - 38:46	
RM: Asks Q11	The expert suggests that the
EX2: I think both show it, I come from a trait-based	reason for the higher prevalence
background, that all personality disorders can be	on men being narcissistic over
linked to normal personality. So, we know across the	women is due partially to
world men are less agreeable to women, less tender	hormones, partially due to the
minded, more self-focused. This doesn't mean that	slow change of the current
women don't do some disagreeable that others, just	hierarchical model.
men tend to me more disagreeable, so looking at the	
curve at the high end you are going to see mainly	
men at the part of the spectrum where this is going	
to be represent as NPD or some other disorder.	
<b>RM:</b> Do you think that is a societal thing or more a	
physical one.	
<b>EX2:</b> I don't know it may well be that there are	
hormonal factors, like testosterone, but also	
culturally men have been praised and encouraged for	
narcissistic traits to an extent whereas these qualities	
have often been oppressed or even attempt to breed	
out of woman. There is an interesting study done by	
Judge who showed that being disagreeable predicts	
higher salaries for men but not for women. So if you	
are some asshole dude, who says I should get a raise	
I kick ass, isn't going to go so well for a women.	
<b>RM:</b> Office environments seem to be unique in the	
ways in which they highlight gender difference, I	
mean more bosses are men rather women.	
<b>EX2:</b> For sure many male CEO are driven towards a	
hierarchy. An all or nothing, get to the top kind of	
approach. With more women CEO we would likely	
see an increase in communal structure in companies,	
that could very much change performances and	
organisational structures.	
<b>RM:</b> In what ways?	
<b>EX2:</b> On a macro scale, who could say. Most likely	
make organisational structures a lot flatter, but I	

mean I haven't done the legwork to really discuss this.

### Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the severity of the NPD condition? 38:47 - 42:09

## RM. Asks 012

58.47 - 42.09	
RM: Asks Q12	The expert suggests that NPD is
<b>EX2</b> : I don't know for accurately the degree to	most prevalent in early
which it is correlated shows younger people	adulthood and tapers off in the
specifically little children are more likely to be	twenties. The expert also
narcissistic, peaks in early adulthood and we see a	suggests that the reason
decline in the twenties. I mean if you are narcissistic	someone might be old and have
you may get away with it a little when you are a	NPD is due to trait rigidness
teen, but in the working world no one wants to hire	past the fifty point. Given the
someone who doesn't know anything, and that	extravagant and powerful
thinks they are amazing, no one is going to want to	lifestyle Donald trump has
work with them. So it gets slowly diminished, same	lived, it seems logical that the
with narcissistic tendencies in relationship, so as you	factors required to reduce his
take an more adult role, it seems to go down.	ego were never apparent. This
<b>RM:</b> Is it a conscience decision?	would suggest that changing
<b>EX2:</b> I don't know about that, I mean you have a	Trumps traits at this point given
better theory of mind and understanding of the	his age would be extremely
world. You get a better sense of what people are	difficult.
thinking and feeling depending what you are saying.	
<b>RM:</b> I was wondering if older age, people just stop	
caring and become more narcissistic, kind of back to	
the trump example, who still appears to have NPD	
<b>EX2:</b> Well Bret Rogers who has probably done the	
best diagnostic personality over time, his data shows	
that by the time you are in your fifties no substantial	
changes to happen in personalities, I mean in trumps	
case at seventy, there is really no chance you are	
going to change. I mean at that point you have built	
a like and surrounded yourself with people who can	
at least tolerate your flaws, so the incentive to	
change probably isn't going to be there.	
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s	everity of the NPD condition?
42:10 - 43:33	
RM: Asks Q3	Expert suggest substance abuse
<b>EX2</b> : I have a good sense of that to be honest,	worsens symptoms, this occurs
narcissism like most other disorders seem to have co	in a self-fulfilling prophecy, as

narcissism like most other disorders seem to have co in a self-fulfilling prophecy, as morbidity with substance disorder and anti-social the substance abuse makes the behaviour, but it's not a robust correlate like antisymptoms worse and reinforces social and psychopathy disorders. I mean it makes negative behaviour.

things worse because substance disorders tend to make all disorders worse and reinforce negative behaviours or at the least numb the individual from dealing with said negative behaviour. Does it dramatically change it though, I don't really know <b>RM:</b> Any difference between the type of substances <b>EX2:</b> Hmm I'm not sure, one would expect stimulates to increase some symptoms, but I'm not sure the research isn't there I believe.	
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u 43:44 – 45:14 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q14</i> <b>EX2:</b> I mean some of the stuff, in our controversies	nderstanding of NPD?
paper, do narcissistic people not like themselves, is it a mask model where you put on a facade of confidence that's important, do people who are narcissistic fluctuate between vulnerable and grandiose, there is an interesting paper by Pincus who thinks grandiose and vulnerable are different states of the same person. Is pathological narcissism the same as narcissism, is it a continuous stream like I believe or is there a distinctive difference between the two, like something like should be consider a separate entity. How would you help someone with NPD, If someone wants to get better how do you	
help them get better? The answers to these questions are still pretty simplistic compared to what a full review could show with some time and planning.	
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent of and is there areas that require further research in your $45:15 - 47:19$	lo you agree with this sentiment
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX2:</b> That's definitely not true, that it's the most under research, disorders like paranoid and histrionic, we know nothing able really. I mean if you focus has always been in psychology, so you haven't seen the condition too frequently you might think it was under researched, but no its somewhere more in the middle of the pack. It's not as well researched as borderline or psychopathy as those, but it's certainly nowhere near the lowest. Those	

people as far as I know are not narcissism	
researchers.	
QC1: What criteria would you use to classify someone $47:20 - 48:38$	e as having a mental illness?
RM: Asks QC1	
<b>EX2:</b> I mean its super hard when dealing with a multi-dimensional disfunction. Tom Whitaker and Jerome Wakefield argue that it has to be harmful and unmanageable and stop the function of family and intimate relationships and friends. Also, its self-control, you lose the ability to modulate your own thoughts and emotions. Like just cocky there is some control over, you would turn it down for say an interview. NPD has to be debilitating in a way, it should cause you to fail, cause you to make poor choices. Its very different though in a way from	
other disorders, given the relationship narcissism has	
with good and poor behaviour.	
QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality 48:39 - 50:22 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC2</i>	uisorder to be a mental miness?
EX2: I consider a personality disorder to be a mental	
illness in the same way anxiety and depression is. I	
suppose you would consider them as mental illness	
if you want a precise answer, but I would rather not	
look at personality disoders in such a way. They	
tend to be hard to treat given the genetic underpinning. Also, It's hard because the lines are	
arbitrary on whether or not you have the condition,	
the cut offs could really be changed at any time,	
altering the meaning. Like are you really talk or not,	
yes no, like who knows. So, you can make cut-offs	
but it's worth bearing this in mind. So, with	
disorders we should be really consolidating a model	
which address trait theory in the best possible way. It	
would help remove some of these tough issues.	
<b>RM:</b> Can telling people they have a disorder going	
to make the case worse?	
<b>EX2:</b> It can be, but it's more likely in my experience	
that it acts as a wakeup call makes them feel like they have a diagnosis and some perspective on	
themselves, they know they aren't alone or crazy.	
memberves, mey know mey aren t alone of clazy.	

Sometimes this really resonates in people. Although with highly narcissistic individuals they may deny this and try and turn the issue around.	
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a me $50:23 - 51:42$	ental illness?
<ul> <li>RM: Asks QC3</li> <li>EX2: Yeah, I mean it's really the same answer as the last question. Given all the time I spent looking at NPD and the narcissistic condition, I have of course seen it in people, and its very real. It should absolutely be taken seriously, especially given how our society currently views narcissistic tendencies. Yeah, it's a personality disorder, it absolutely should be, so that makes it a mental illness I guess.</li> <li>RM: <i>The terminology is a problem?</i></li> <li>EX2: Yes, kind of, it feels a little archaic, a little bit of setback to still think it such black and white term.</li> </ul>	The expert displays an issue with the terminology 'mental illness'
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as danger 51:43 -52:50	rous to society?
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QE1</i> <b>EX2:</b> The grandiosity the entitlement, it's not necessarily dangerous, but when it leads to entitled and exploitive behaviour, it stops them from caring about others, showing the kind of compassion that is vital. Especially if it leads to success, these abusive behaviours, so they think they don't need to care about others, its not their responsibility. So they might not feel bad about bankrupting a million people, its all about me and my stakeholder. This Is both dangerous and sadly common in business practices, and in desperate times it only gets worse.	The expert draws ties between narcissism and capitalism, with business practices sheltering narcissistic behaviour, even fostering it.
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with bo impact society? 52:50 – 54:19	th NPD and a position of power
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks E3</i> <b>EX2:</b> Hugely right, you see it with Trump, you can look at this paper we did on narcissism and previous presidents. This was interesting because they often won by popular vote and had popularity with the people but were also more likely to commit ethical violations and be impeached, less likely to win re-	

election. Narcissistic leaders are going to make high risk executive decisions, so not just on the country but on the world. Even where they are making high stakes decisions based on ego not on taking the long view of what's best for world peace. My preference is to have a leader who isn't at all narcissistic, you don't want ego involved in political decisions. But then you won't find a president who doesn't have some confidence, in themselves, but when they are so narcissistic it becomes a concern that decisions can be so easily influenced and based upon short term ideals. Very tricky balance that the president needs to be aware of in themselves.	
<ul> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>54:20 – 56:46</li> <li>RM: Asks E3</li> <li>EX2: I mean I'm an American, my clinical work and my psychology is largely based around the DSM and not at all around the ICD-10 really at all.</li> <li>RM: That's interesting is the ICD more of a European system</li> <li>EX2: It's more around the world, the DSM follows the ICD codes, but the DSM is more developed in terms of mental health. The ICD is all about health problems for all parts of the anatomy. The DSM is more mental illness. If narcissism was taken out of the DSM it would not stop research from occurring, the actually tried to take it out and I wrote a paper concerning this, but yeah people still would study narcissism even if it was no longer listed. Just because its so fascinating and relevant and complex in nature. The ICD-11 is going to get rid of all personality disorders and just describe personality disorders based on trait allocation.</li> <li>RM: Great thank you very much</li> </ul>	as a Personality Disorder in the

## **Interview with Expert 3**

INTERVIEW 3	THEMATIC NOTES
Q1 What do you consider to be the key traits and	IIIEMATIC NOTES
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic	
personality disorder?	
0:00 - 3.20	
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q1	
<b>EX3:</b> My understanding is that some argue there is a difference between social psychology narcissism and clinical psychology NPD, based on my experience, there tends to be a high degree of sense of superiority to others and a sense or a need to be associated with indicators of status. One patient I had told me he was diagnosed with bi-polar, even though he turn out to have NPD, this guy was so narcissistic in his belief of his own bipolar disorder that he claimed that the scientific world had produced an additional four disorders based on his case. So, there is this association with a sense of uniqueness and entitlement, I think an ironic failed status as well, you know boasting or a serious of excuses.	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between arcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? $3:21 - 4.53$	ween a person displaying
RM: Asks Q2	The experts answer ties in
<b>EX3:</b> A person who has the disorder will have	somewhat with the discreet trait
impairment in their social function, will frequently	argument. Suggesting that being
cycle through jobs, loses and changes friends	dsyfuncational could be one of
frequently, just has a uncontrollable difficulty in the	the key structures used in
world. A narcissistic individual with just more	determining whether a person
apparent tendencies could have the same problem	has NPD. However, as the expert
but would be able to manage their life and their	suggests, it is a complex manner,
societal relationships, at least to the degree of some	suggesting the effectiveness of a
control.	move away from discreet clinical
<b>RM:</b> So when they are dysfunctional is essentially	diagnosis to a more discreet
the key phrasing.	diagnosis based upon a
<b>EX3</b> : yeah something like that, although that is just	judgement of presented trait
one part of many dimensions one could use.	scores.
Dysfunction refer not only to the individuals	

<ul> <li>behaviour but also how they manage their role in society. A person with NPD is also dysfunctional in society and in person.</li> <li>Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be predent to the extend of the extended of the external system of the external system.</li> <li>RM: Asks Q3</li> <li>EX3: I'm not sure but on a truly clinical diagnosed level, extremely small like less than one percent, perhaps higher.</li> <li>RM: I have heard similar or as low as 0.01 percent, although this could be somewhat controversial.</li> <li>EX3: I imagine he would know but it still need more research RM: For sure.</li> </ul>	evalent in the general populace? Expert is not confident of his answer.
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co 5:57 – 7.08 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q4</i> <b>EX3:</b> Genetics play a role in everything, although to some extent, I guess I'm not really sure. Erm *pauses. The research that links narcissism to biological substrates, there isn't anything too conclusive, it cant be, the science is not there yet to make some comclusive decision. At least I believe so. There is some genetic component to it obviously, I think this one of the personality disorder, which is more influenced by the environment, more so than other sides might be by genetics.	Expert is not confident of his answer.
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the contributors to NPD? 7.09 – 8.06 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q5</i> <b>EX3:</b> There is a clear learning process than the environment has effect. On the diagnostic level for narcissism there is going to be a higher genetic component to that, than say in social psychology, who are measuring the general population. So, it is very difficult to say, one imagine it is around the 50/50 ratio. Society is more measurable of course, there are lots of studies which show the influence of narcissistic parents on children, and narcissistic	ne environment to be as

bullies or the involvement of verbal or sexual abuse. NPD really has its roots in childhood where the environment can impact you in a huge way, in a way you can't deal with or understand. We can see this in the research, but I'm really not sure how to evaluate and answer this question.	
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as prov	viding positive personal
characteristics?	
8.07 - 11:47	
RM: Asks Q6	Expert suggests that the severity
<b>EX3:</b> So, I would say on a level where there is a	of NPD on the individual and the
disorder, there is like nothing that is positive about	environment around them means
the disorder, its causing them major life problems. I	that there are no benefits to
mean if a person is narcissistic, but ont have NPD,	NPD.
they might have that grandiosity, and swagger and confidence which helps them climb the ladder and	The expert references Donald
become successful ironic. There is an optimal level	Trump as an example of a
of anxiety to narcissism. Think about if you go to a	narcissistic individual.
Dr. you want the narcissistic DR. who says they are	narenssistie individual.
the best, to trust you. People are more likely to	
gravitate and trust those who seem to know what	
they are doing. Narcissists give off a good first	
impression, it's a double-edged sword with their	
inability to see their own flaws. Donald Trump has	
the ability to shrug off these criticizes and keep	
going forward.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>it's almost like it is not a problem if you do not</i>	
acknowledge it. I mean we have recently had all	
those sexual allegation scandals, but I imagine if	
such a thing would happen to Trump, he simply	
would not acknowledge it and thus the people could	
not hold him accountable.	
<b>EX3:</b> That behaviour is a very indicative of	
narcissists, thinking the boundaries no not apply to	
you and a prevalence to commit exhibitionary or exploitive sexual acts, another classic marker,	
Trump is most likely a sexual predator and he	
believes he has the right to be one.	
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in	terpretation of NPD to be
accurate?	
11:48 – 12:19	

<b>RM:</b> Asks Q7 <b>EX3</b> : I haven't spent much time on the DSM-5, it seems a little vague and only covers grandiose narcissism, or perhaps no other types. But honestly, I am not that familiar.	Expert is not familiar enough to give a conclusive answer
<ul> <li>Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific commentation 12:20 – 14:17</li> <li>RM: Asks Q8</li> <li>EX3: I would say a minority of it is understood, but certainly not all. We are still just throwing things against the wall to see what sticks.</li> <li>RM: I mean all of psychology is a pretty new field, at least scientific</li> <li>EX3: I mean since we have no idea of what maximum understanding of NPD and psychology would look like or be reasoned its impossible to say how far we are along to truly understanding any mental disorders. We just have the metrics, but we are making progress especially within the last 20 years or so. Moving away from strict, yes or no categorisation of conditions and onto a more trait and percentage-based model, has really improved understanding of disorders.</li> </ul>	munity understands NPD? Expert suggests that we still have a great deal more discovery to do on the subject matter. Inter-lapping with the discreet vs trait theme. The expert argues that the move towards trait theory has improved the understanding of narcissism.
<ul> <li>Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr most valid and why?</li> <li>14:18: 17:31</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX3: Erm (ponders roughly 30 secs). Yeah, I'm not sure about this, as I've only used the NPI and a lot of the previous models I've used have long since been retired as standard practice in psychometrics.</li> <li>RM: Okay no problem, what was your experience with the NPI like?</li> <li>EX3: It's not a great measure, Josh Millers introduction of the FFM has improved its logic and direction as assimilation of character. The NPI itself doesn't take into consideration different types of narcissism so well, or rather as well as it could, so there is room there for improvement. Perhaps the introduction of subcategorizations looking at entitlement and exploitive-ness as traits, it how does this map on to psychopathy. I think it terms of</li> </ul>	ibutes do you consider to be the Expert not confident on NPD measures. Suggest that J. Millers FFM NPD instrument is a more valid and realising tool.

instruments to use it has become a little dated now.	
Although I'm sure they have revamped it since I last	
used it.	
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyi	
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? Symptoms	
varying in appearance and recognition. Do you agree	with this sentiment and why?
17:32-21:56	
RM: Asks Q10	Expert suggest a divide in NPD
EX3: Yeah, I do, it's true with all diagnostic	would be good for diagnostic
categories, with mental illness. The debate on	purposes.
whether personality disorders the five out of nine,	
captures it perfectly. Two individuals could have	Expert also suggests much of the
almost completely different symptoms, almost all of	value of the DSM lies in its
them different, but still be classified with the same	diagnostical interpretation for
disorder. For this reason alone, shows that there	insurance. As a practising
needs to be a change in classification. Trait based	psychologist, the expert suggests
dimensional model, and perhaps a further focus on	this is a usual occurrence.
subcategories could help with this diagnostic	
problem	
<b>RM:</b> Since Vulnerable and grandiose are so	
different, arguably they should have their own	
disorder, but who knows. One of the reason I	
focused a lot of on the DSM-5 in this research is	
because much of the literature I looked at suggested	
that the DSM was the go to diagnostic model, do you	
agree with notion, have you used the DSM before?	
<b>EX3:</b> I have used the DSM a little, to be honest it	
mostly is for the purposes of insurances	
<b>RM:</b> <i>That's interesting, for insurance?</i>	
<b>EX3</b> : So when you are doing a clinical diagnosis	
you are looking for the symptoms, so and so displays	
these symptoms, that display with narcissistic	
tendencies, so we would treat that, rather than give	
the diagnosis of narcissism. Then for insurances	
purposes we would match them up with the DSM	
when needed, but I didn't have too much to do with	
that.	
Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff	fer from NPD and why?
21:57 - 23:50	
RM: Asks Q11	Suggests men are more prone to
EX3: You know I'm not entirely sure, but I would	narcissistic thinking based on
imagine that it is men, no sure why, probably partly	societal structures. There is a

, a the transfer of the second and a	
to do with social distinction, patriarchal and males	crossover in themes in this
are taught to show dominance and toughness in	answer.
society, all of those can be linked to narcissism.	
Women tend to be more compassionate, which is	Between the genetics of being a
pretty much the opposite, as well as modesty.	female and the tolerant
<b>RM:</b> So basically, our societal structure looks to	behaviour in a male-oriented
nurture the opposite of narcissistic thinking for	work environment. The expert
women.	suggests that perhaps in the
<b>EX3:</b> Right, well it might in some way, in say the	future we could see a change in
Kardashian way an aloofness there, but no mainly it	narcissist attributes if the
does not.	workplace becomes more gender
<b>RM</b> : That seems pretty controversial?	neutral. Whilst this is occurring,
<b>EX</b> : Why? It has nothing to do with women, but	I believe the expert is referring
marketing psychology and ancient societal	to upper management, which has
structures. I think we have seen a move away In the	tended to be dominated by men.
more recent years. But women's rights have come a	Whether women would become
long way since the 20's, even since the 60's. That is	more narcissistic or the work
very very recent in human history, so it will take	environment would become less
some time for that cocky approach that could be	narcissistic is unclear.
considered narcissism in men. This is all starting to	
change now, with more women becoming managers	
and CEOs, moving towards a more neutral work	
environment over a male one.	
environment over a male one.	
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev	verity of the NPD condition?
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45	
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 RM: Asks Q9	Expert is unsure in answer, but
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45	
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 RM: Asks Q9	Expert is unsure in answer, but
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late
<ul> <li>environment over a male one.</li> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX3: *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
<ul> <li>environment over a male one.</li> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX3: *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late
<ul> <li>environment over a male one.</li> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX3: *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in.</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
<ul> <li>environment over a male one.</li> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX3: *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
<ul> <li>environment over a male one.</li> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX3: *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian depressive position more frequently they you reflect	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian depressive position more frequently they you reflect on your mistakes, but someone with NPD would be	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian depressive position more frequently they you reflect on your mistakes, but someone with NPD would be in schizoid position pretty much all the time, so it	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian depressive position more frequently they you reflect on your mistakes, but someone with NPD would be	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian depressive position more frequently they you reflect on your mistakes, but someone with NPD would be in schizoid position pretty much all the time, so it	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the
environment over a male one. Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 23:51 – 26:45 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q9</i> <b>EX3:</b> *Pauses. I would assume that it doesn't have too great of affect, after a certain age. Of course, we tend to see narcissism develop out of people when they are young, in their twenties, as they get a little older, have some failures it starts to get reigned in. But the disorder is more severe and thus less tied to age, although I think it's more like a degree, maybe more likely to be ramped up in the teen, twenties years. When you reach the point when you have had enough failure as you move in the Kleinian depressive position more frequently they you reflect on your mistakes, but someone with NPD would be in schizoid position pretty much all the time, so it could take some time, that's why I'm not too certain	Expert is unsure in answer, but suggests that narcissism develops young, peaks in late teens and reduces throughout the

Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the severity of the NPD condition?	
26:46 - 28:40	

<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q13</i> <b>EX3:</b> Err I'm honestly not sure about that. Substance abuse is obvious shares a critical relation with clinical psychology, so I would imagine that you would see an increase in narcissistic traits or heightens destructive behaviour. Perhaps used as a crutch and thus be used in that way, but with narcissists, hmmm you have to imagine some narcissists take uppers and other stimulates to get that rush, I mean they are often very driven people, this again is narcissists not people with NPD, those who have the disorder would almost certainly be using drugs, if they are using drugs as a crutch to make it through the day. One imagines the abuse would be chronic use, as it tends to be in psychological disorders.	Expert states he does not have confidence in his answer. Suggest people with NPD may be driven towards using drugs as a crutch, particularly stimulants.
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u 28:41 – 30:40 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q14</i> <b>EX3:</b> Hmmm, well our recent trend towards individualism in the more recent years has seen that kind, sorry those kinds of narcissistic tendencies increase. I would say consolidate a lot of this research and put some practical measures in place. Hmmm key issues Large scale testing for sure, as much as possible, you can never really do enough, so more money for research in that regard. I mean when you really think about it, money in the major majority of research areas in narcissism. I would say we are very much in the middle, in terms of where human understanding is towards narcissism.	Inderstanding of NPD? Suggests direction towards large-scale testing, looking at practical environments further. Suggests we are only halfway in our understanding of narcissism.
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your $30:41 - 34:08$ RM: Asks Q15	do you agree with this sentiment

50111 51100	
RM: Asks Q15	Expert disagrees with the
EX3: Really? That seems bizarre, I would have	Stinson Paper.
imagined it was one of the more researched. I don't	
think there is all that mush research done, on say	
histrionic but anti-social, borderline and NPD I	

<b>NIVI.</b> ASKS QC2	Expert suggests mental illness and personality disorder are a
QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality 38:54 – 39:45 RM: <i>Asks QC2</i>	
<ul> <li>34:09 – 38:53</li> <li>RM: <i>Asks QC1</i></li> <li>EX3: Hmm (pauses and considers some time) They have to be significant impairment in their daily functioning or significant emotional stress, so those are basically the criteria.</li> <li>RM: <i>Do you like the terminology mental illness, because I have had some experts who didn't like it as a terminology because it draws that line once again.</i></li> <li>EX3: Well I see the point, it is called psychopathology for a reason, we need to be a able to give a diagnosis and put names to illnesses, mental illnesses being no different for the purpose of treatment. I do prefer the points in traits-based approach, but it's obvious that people with a mental illness are mentally ill, after all one of the criteria is that society can see this in them when they interact. Also, when looking at genetical factors, having a mental illness means there is a good chance your offspring will inherit certain aspects of this or perhaps even the disorder themselves, so in this respect it is worth thinking of mental illness as a disease.</li> </ul>	Expert supportive of mental illness terminology. Suggests that it is necessary for treatment purposes. Considers mental illness to be a disease. A thematic crossover with views on discreet versus trait theory, with the expert suggesting a trait-based approach that produces some discreet diagnostic markers for treatment purposes.
<ul> <li>thought were the most researched. But you know</li> <li>I'm probably bias based on the background of my</li> <li>research, but yeah surprising and I can't imagine</li> <li>accurate.</li> <li><b>RM:</b> Yeah it strikes me as odd, they argue, the</li> <li>authors, that because NPD has so much co-</li> <li>occurrence with other disorders, it is often referred</li> <li>to, but not actually the isolated focus on a paper.</li> <li><b>EX3:</b> Hmmm I'm not sure about that, seems errr not</li> <li>true</li> <li><b>RM:</b> haha yeah probably, well the consensus is that</li> <li>are Stinson are wrong, among the people I have</li> <li>interviewed, but I suppose we don't really know.</li> </ul>	as having a mental illness?

<b>EX3:</b> I guess like the previous question, but I mean a personality disorder is definitely a mental illness, I mean they are somewhat interchangeable as term for a reason. I guess you could argue that they aren't on the grounds of the mental illness term being a somewhat undefined term, I mean I suppose a personality disorder is too, but regardless there is not much difference.	somewhat interchangeable term, with all personality disorders being considered a mental illness.
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a me $20.46 - 40.20$	ntal illness?
39:46 – 40:20 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC3</i> <b>EX3:</b> Yeah, I mean, it's both a mental disorder and a personality disorder, so for sure it's a mental illness, I think it's important that we distinguish once again though between NPD and narcissism, everyone of course has some narcissistic tendencies and they range in severity, and for the severity required to be classified as NPD, should hopefully 100% align with the notion that person is mentally ill and needs treatment.	Expert suggests that when diagnosed correctly NPD is without question a mental illness. Expert once again highlights the required severity for someone to have NPD rather than just narcissistic tendencies.
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as danger $40:21 - 43:23$	rous to society?
RM: <i>Asks QE1</i> EX3: Superiority, entitlement, some of the general traits of narcissism which are destructive. Also, boundary issues, so frequently sexual assault, or abusive actions of some kind, physically or verbally, tends to be more verbal though. I mean with narcissists its very much a constant mind game of how to conquer others, analysing weaknesses and flaws in a person's lifestyle so it can be used as leverage at a later time, but yeah for sure they can be dangerous.	
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with bo impact society? 43:24 - 47:12	th NPD and a position of power
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QE2</i> <b>EX3:</b> Well I mean we have a president right now who is a good example to look at. One thing that is interesting is the kind of people Trump employs around him, tend to be either these kind of weasel	Once again Trump is mentioned. Whilst this is an interesting response, I do not believe that the interview questions focus enough on the political to make

<ul> <li>people who suck up to him, or some other less bright pawns, he isn't putting anyone in a position of power that might be able to topple him. It's the reason why he picked someone so unlikeable as Pence to be Vice President.</li> <li>RM: Hmmm well I have a theory that Trump is going to help democracy, by rallying everyone together against him, you guys are going through a mad rodeo right now, but its bringing people together to put aside their differences and then look to bring things back to normality.</li> <li>EX3: It could be the case, of course the real issue is Trump is only elected for four years, but the people he has put in place for a long time, especially in the congress and in the senate, we could be paying for these mistakes for years to come.</li> <li>RM: Well at least for research purposes we get to see a narcissist put in the biggest position in the world.</li> <li>EX3: Hmmm (sad head shake)</li> <li>RM: Do you think Trump is more or less likely to put other narcissists people in positions of power, I mean on the one hand they are like him, on the other hand he could see that mentality as being competitive.</li> <li>EX3: him good question I believe it could go either way, I believe that what has happened, is a little blend of each, I mean he could be falling for their tricks, like Scaramooch, go fired immediately because they are kind of similar people, I mean you look at Trump's history, he has a legacy of being the figurehead of businesses, that didn't work, like gold plate airlines, the trump university, mad ideas that pretty much always failed, and trump gets away with it and just sacks the head of that project, as an icon as a brand he always has something to sale even when he doesn't, he's part of the legacy of what it means to be American. Not the American we want, but certainly one the world see as an ideal of a great American or the dream that we all have. Hopefully this view is somethat outdated at this point, but</li> </ul>	any valid comments on NPD within the political sphere. It is worth noting, however, how often Donald Trump is brought up as a classic example of a person suffering from NPD who is also in the public eye.
yeah, it's a sad state of affairs.	

QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:13 – 48:16	as a Personality Disorder in the
<ul> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX3: Err hmm, not too much to say on that, I mean the ICD looks at all types of medical conditions right, so it theoretically shouldn't go into as much detail as the DSM, I mean though even if the occurrence is one in a million it should really be present as a disorder, but honestly, we don't have too much dealing with the ICD-190.</li> <li>RM: Okay no problem, thank you very much for the interview.</li> </ul>	Expert is not familiar enough with the ICD-10 to pass any valid judgement.

# **Interview with Expert 4**

<ul> <li>INTERVIEW 4</li> <li>Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic personality disorder?</li> <li>0:00 – 2:09</li> <li>RM: Asks Q1</li> <li>EX4: For me the big picture, is grandiosity is associated with self-esteem which is dependent upon social approval. There is this need to have approval for the approvals of others. When that approval is not there then you start to see these people lash out in some way. They tend to be driven individuals.</li> <li>RM: And do you distinguish a difference between vulnerable and grandiose narcissism?</li> <li>EX4: I think it you go to Kohut, there are pull that suggests a vulnerable and grandiose divide. The grandiosity is there relative to what, I mean its what diagnosticians focuses on. One of my paper was on sex roles and narcissism, and basically the results suggest that grandiosity seems to be more associated with males. And the vulnerability aspects seem to be more focused around women.</li> </ul>	THEMATIC NOTES Expert suggest there is a divide between grandiose and vulnerable, with women being more likely to display vulnerable narcissism and men grandiose.
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be betw narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 2:10 = 2:55 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q2</i> <b>EX4:</b> differentiate between adaptive and maladaptive in all disorders, maladaptive would be upon the social environment and on self-esteem and moves towards greater and greater intolerance and frustrations within the environment, coming out in anger and aggression. The difference being the degree of severity based upon control.	ween a person displaying Suggests that the key difference between the two is the degree of severity based on control.
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be presented by the extension of the extensio	Suggest narcissistic traits appear in everyone and can be reduced with a good ethical role model.

RM: Yes, that's pretty much the response I have gotten from other experts, that narcissism acts on a continuum and is present in everyone. EX4: in my time I found myself influenced greatly by Kohut, I think that individuals have a continuum of self-representation, with people having internalised self-structures, I think they are variants between people on their narcissism based upon where they are and their environments, which could alter whether the narcissist will have some semblance of maturity as well. So a parent or guardian that gives them a morally justice direction. RM: Yes, that makes sense.	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co 4:17 – 5:28 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q4</i> <b>EX4:</b> I have no honest idea, I guess based on a what we know, I mean Freud would suggest that it's a common a true characteristic in all. Are there variations in narcissism based upon genetics, that is hard to say? I mean we will get into the sex roles later, but you know the data is not there really. <b>RM:</b> <i>Yeah that seems to be one of the running</i> <i>themes of this research is that we simply do not</i> <i>know too much about the role of genetics, even on</i> <i>the most ball park of level.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Part of the problem, is specifying with precision exactly what pathological narcissism, there could be some ideas which test this, so much is based upon speculation though.	Expert is unsure of nature versus nurture argument with respects to narcissistic behaviour.
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the contributors to NPD? 5:29 – 12:47 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q5</i> <b>EX4:</b> Well my interested in narcissism comes from need to understand it in relation to social and environmental perspectives. There were two times early on in my career, a religious critic of psychology and the study of the works of Peter Lash. Lash suggests that the Western world has become exceptionally materialist and has built society around the striving of consumption. So there has	he environment to be as Suggests that contemporary structures promote a cult of narcissism, based upon the transition from religion to individualism. One reference the experts makes is to his paper on narcissism within Iran, comparing how

been a lost in community as a force that helps give structure to human life. So, some of the criticism the most basic black and white ideas, said things like contemporary society and contemporary psychology were promoting a cult of narcissism. I would say things are a lot more complicated than they used to be, having a culture which is increased communal, less religious and more disconnected from value systems has aggravated tendencies towards a narcissistic disposition.

**RM:** Yes I would agree with you, when you refer to the west do you mean specifically America, or Europe and that other countries which may fall in categorisation

**EX4:** Yeah absolutely, I did a study in Iran though, in terms of the dynamic of narcissism, the family resemblance of the family, or rather the difference is in Iran, there is a religious submission, under Islam, which looks to squash some of the beliefs and goals that may back a person more narcissistic. By putting an emphasis on complete control of Allah, and one of the tenets that specifically focuses on charity. **RM:** *I have spent some time in Muslim culture,* about 15 years, and Muslim culture varies hugely depending on the country. And one of the tents of Islam is based upon ego and how you should view yourself as a servant to god, I'm not sure if people in Western society are under the same belief, although one could definitely draw similarities between Christianity and Islam. More cross-cultural studies should really be undertaken.

**EX4:** well Christianity does have that same submission that is apparent in Islam, the difference is the culture, western Christianity, isn't organised, that's not to say there are not all kinds of problems with Muslim societies, but I do think in those kinds of society, that the prevalence of narcissism is not so common, because of there tenants.

**RM**: I'm not sure if I have seen any difference in narcissism levels regardless of where I have been in the world, but then I was not paying attention and its speculation. I was wondering what your opinion of social media as a contributor to narcissism? Muslims and Christians take on their position under God. The expert suggests that by having Allah as all-powerful and having tenants that specifically focus on charity in a way Christian does not, there is reduced narcissistic tendencies. He links family values in conjunction with religion as a specific for the apparent reduced symptoms. This seems like a somewhat controversial claim. However, given the lack of focus the interview questions applied to religious constructions in combination with narcissism, the data did not produce a satisfactory theme.

The expert goes on to discuss the relationship social media has with narcissistic attributes, arguing that the transition from face to face into internet communications has caused a breakdown in optimal frustration points. In other words, the person is not forced to overcome obstacles of endurance. Instead, having the alternative of using others and sheer bruteheadedness to succeed. Since this goes somewhat against a normal human life, the behaviour is altered accordingly. If the narcissistic doesn't encounter this optimal frustration by a certain point, there is no reason for the behaviour to change, as it has been successful so far.

Especially something like Facebook which gives you
mathematically basis behind your popularity.
EX4: There has been quite a few studies that look
for narcissism in Facebook and it seems that these
kind of social media, is encouraging this
individualism, and reduce tendencies toward optimal
frustration which may promote narcissism. I mean
according to Kohut, what is supposed to happen,
narcissism is just fine in early life. And you go
through times where you are optimately frustrated in
your relationships, and what is supposed to happen
id you internalise sources of self esteem not allows
for change in the understanding of relationship. So
social media effects this optimum frustration does
not occur so well in social media
RM: How so?
EX4: Well it requires that person to person
interaction, so seeing emotions and experience so
called real life, by contrast social media in its current
form is a primitive spartan version of this that
doesn't provide the necessary feedback to stimulate
this optimal frustration.
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be seen as providing positive personal characteristics
12.54 - 17.43

#### RM: Asks Q6 The expert suggests that EX4: Leadership, self-esteem, appropriate narcissism can be divided along assertiveness are one of the social issues looked at Kohut's idea of two poles of across cultures is the history of the last man. I wrote narcissism, these being a bipolar a paper that argues than thalnos is essentially structure characterized by narcissism, and so one of the things that must be true grandiosity at one pole and is commitment and assertiveness, so one of the dependency at the other. It is strengths of narcissism allow the person to rise to the not apparent if people can move head of society. You know it's a self-fulfilling thing between these positions or that narcissistic tendencies promotes more rather, are likely to portray only opportunities for the individual which promotes a single pole when acting narcissism. narcissistically. **RM**: *Could these characteristics be achieved* without narcissistic tendencies? Expert also referring to synthetic **EX4**: Hmm from the poles point of the narcissism, narcissism, this being narcissism the non-ambitious to non-grandiose pool, could have created out of a social more compassion but does not have the assertiveness environment. This idea of that comes with that grandiosity. I think at the heart synthetic narcissism would be an of democracy and leadership the necessary self-133

esteem is based in this idea of being somewhat	interesting topic to delve into
narcissistic, they in a sense are linked in a manner	further in future research.
which has been orchestrated by modern society. In	
Kohut's system the idea is to take both poles and	
join them together somewhat.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Could you explain the poles please?</i>	
<b>EX4</b> : In Kohut's analysis of narcissism, he says the	
self emerges as a bipolar structure characterized by	
grandiosity at one pole and dependency at the other.	
<b>RM</b> : Hmm when you look at monarchy reigns the	
ones who attempted to be modest are the ones often	
forgotten and seen as weak in comparison to the	
more narcissistic members of that family.	
<b>EX4:</b> Yeah I would imagine that is correct, there	
seem to be a host of factors surrounding popularity,	
in drew westerns book he talks about synthetic	
narcissism as a methodology of combing the two	
poles, in a maturing, so I think you can't have	
leadership without that grandiosity and ambition but	
at the same time you need to be aware of the	
compassion and submission required in	
understanding others.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>What exactly is synthetic narcissism?</i>	
<b>EX4</b> : It refers to a kind of narcissism that develops	
in a situation that is contrary to the ordinary. I one of	
my papers, the synthetic narcissism looked at was	
based around gender roles. If a woman, acts like a	
man, in a man's position, doing masculine work, do	
you see women develop a kind of narcissism	
normally related to men, as in an increase in	
grandiose characteristics. The correlation is actually	
quite strong.	
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in	terpretation of NPD to accurate?
17:54 – 19:12	
RM: Asks Q7	Expert has no interest in the
<b>EX4:</b> I don't mean to be rude, but I don't really care	DSM and no comment on the
about the DSM	question.
<b>RM:</b> That's interesting because it seems the DSM is	
the divided on whether or not it should be relevant.	
<b>EX4</b> : Actually, some of my first research was	
predicting and finding inverse relations between	
empathy, I have some interaction with the DSM for	

this, but I'm not really interested in diagnostic. I'm more interested in theoretic classification.	
Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific comm 19:13 – 20:10 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q8</i> <b>EX4</b> : Who knows, I'm not sure how accurately I understand narcissism. When I first started my career, there was almost simplistic ideas, with all a few different beliefs and interpretations, now it's become more complex, I think that it is a very complex issue, that requires significant research <b>RM:</b> <i>Yeah, I mean some psychologists have</i> <i>dedicated their entire lives to narcissism, like</i> <i>Kernburg and still there is so much to be done.</i> <i>Seems like it's a case of hidden depth and the more</i> <i>you know the less you know</i> <b>EX4:</b> Haha that's why my hair is white. But to tell you the truth I would say, not very and I could still see us making huge headway with mental health, especially with the influence of machines and the internet. Advances in technology we can't even imagine.	munity understands NPD? Expert suggests that we have limited knowledge on the subject matter and we could potentially see large development in the near future. He references the involvement of the internet and machines, suggesting the kind of development we will make will most likely not be done by a single person, or even humans at all.
Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr most valid and why?	ibutes do you consider to be the
<ul> <li>20:11 – 23:51</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX4: I really don't think anything is better than anything else, I use questionnaires normally, but anyone using whatever method they want is a good way to generate data and continue to pioneer, it's about the conversation, I don't value any methodology really over the others.</li> <li>RM: which measures have you used in your own work so far?</li> <li>EX4: The main one was the NPI, this helped me clarify that narcissism was a spectrum, I've also used the narcissism scale, in recent versions of the dark triad, there is a narcissistic trait scale I have used, a Margolis scale, all kinds.</li> <li>RM: You have used quite a few scales, the last experts I asked him about the NPI because that is the</li> </ul>	Expert suggests use of questionnaires, citing some success with NP and Margolis scale. Recommends using multiple approaches, making sure the scales all focus on one particular form of narcissism so as to not skew results. This again suggests a difference in the types of behaviour displayed in NPD.

only one he used, do you recommend a particular	
scale, or rather find most valid.	
<b>EX4</b> : Well this predisposes our previous topic that	
suggest we have had accurate measure for	
narcissism, we don't know that of course, I do	
believe it is important to use multiple measures, the	
NPI proved to have all kinds of advantages for me,	
my friend in Iran, used grandiose narcissism scales	
in Iran and in the united states too and that seemed	
fine. Usually whatever model you are going to be	
using usually has some research behind it, although I	
am an advocator of using unique mythologies, for	
testing sake.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>There really doesn't seem to be a downside to</i>	
using multiple measures, just time.	
EX4: Well the research I have been doing into	
adaptive and maladaptive, using some of the new	
scales, that interact with the NPI and seeing how	
they correlate, using more and more measures give	
you a good perspective on what exactly you are	
measuring.	
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyi	ng in appearance and recognition
Q10. Symptoms of 10 D have been deserioed us varyf	ng mappearance and recognition.
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24	
Do you agree with this sentiment and why?	Expert again refers to the
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i>	Expert again refers to the
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have	
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self-	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships,	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance.	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i>	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles</i> .	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided,	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided, although you see some cross over between the	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles</i> . <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided, although you see some cross over between the grandiose and the dependant pole.	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided, although you see some cross over between the grandiose and the dependant pole. <b>RM:</b> <i>Do you believe they should be categorised</i>	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided, although you see some cross over between the grandiose and the dependant pole. <b>RM:</b> <i>Do you believe they should be categorised</i> <i>differently under description of NPD</i> .	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided, although you see some cross over between the grandiose and the dependant pole. <b>RM:</b> <i>Do you believe they should be categorised</i>	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of
Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:52 – 25:24 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX4:</b> I don't know, I would say that things I have suggested before, that an element of maladaptive narcissism requires social support, so if you have individuals and societal structures, and Kohut suggest with self-object function, there might be immature narcissism obscured by nurturing self- objects, when they disappear from relationships, then something you could then find in an appearance. <b>RM:</b> <i>You mentioned earlier a model by Kohut that</i> <i>suggested two poles.</i> <b>EX4:</b> Yes, in this respect narcissism is divided, although you see some cross over between the grandiose and the dependant pole. <b>RM:</b> <i>Do you believe they should be categorised</i> <i>differently under description of NPD</i> .	Expert again refers to the Kohutian explanation of narcissism.

#### 25:24 - 30:55

RM: Asks Q11

**EX4:** Yes, I noticed you said suffer, I think that the people around them tend to suffer more. **RM:** *Ha-ha yeah, I think it retrospect I would have* 

altered some of the phrasing and terminology in these questions.

**EX4:** My data suggest that male masculine shows that there is a tendency for narcissism to be more present in males. We did a study in Iran which measures the dirty dozen measures the dark triad in school teachers in central iran, to make it short and sweet, males are going to be higher, if you look at masculinity even in females, this tends to predict narcissistic characteristics.

**RM**: *What exactly do you masculinity in females?* **EX4**: If you go and look at the sexual inventory there is an inverse of positivity evaluated masculinity, positivity evaluated femininity, a bipolar masculine and feminine scale, then there are smaller scales which look at socially devalued forms of masculinity and femininity, so when I say to you that masculinity predicts narcissism in males and females, both males and females with show a spectrum of relationships which are more masculine or feminine relative to sexual stereotypes, and vice versa, and so masculinity of this kind measured in females and males alike, predicts narcissism.

**RM**: So would you say that it's caused by hormones like testosterone?

**EX4**: I don't know honestly, the dirty dozen had this evolutionary process, because of selection pressures, it is just a natural characteristic of males, I am sceptical of physiological reductionism, not because it is not important but because it's part of a complex picture, I mean it would make sense, but I do not have any definitive evidence. I mean on the one hand testosterone would seem to influence narcissistic tendencies, but then you see these characteristics in women, so it could be that the social construction of masculinity promotes narcissism, and the social structure of femininity promotes something different.

Expert suggest that narcissists tend to be male. Expert also suggests a factor of 'masculinity' can be shown in causal link to narcissism. Suggesting that such a characteristic in women could result in more narcissistic behaviour. Both males and females with show a spectrum of relationships which are more masculine or feminine relative to sexual stereotypes, and vice versa, and so masculinity of this kind measured in females and males alike, predicts narcissism.

<b>RM:</b> Yeah, a common theme this research has been	
the lack of understanding on the genetics aspects of	
NPD. As much of your work is related around	
sexuality and its relationship with narcissism, at	
least from what I understand, is there anything else	
you would like to add.	
<b>EX4</b> : I think that basically we have covered it, but	
it's not just genetic sex that produces narcissism, but	
the prevalence of the masculine mindset. We don't	
know the equations, we are just taking wild stabs.	
know the equations, we are just taking whe stabs.	
Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev	verity of the NPD condition?
31:36 – 35:50	centry of the TATD condition.
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q12	Expert suggest that age is the
<b>EX4:</b> Kernburg theory that aging is the final insult	true enemy of narcissism. In
	•
to the narcissist, I think that age and aging is	trump's case however a
hopefully an optimal frustration, and within a	combination of environmental
Kohutian framework would lend to maturing.	factors, father involvement,
<b>RM</b> : Yes, I have heard this phrase before that	privilege, wealth and lack of
ageing is the final insult on narcissism, what would	optimal frustration has meant the
you say about the older you are the more likely you	narcissism has gone unchecked
are to get set in your way. For example, our good	or even promoted.
friend Donald Trump, is he at the point where his	1
narcissism is set in such a way that it cannot be	
altered?	
<b>EX4</b> : Well he was such a privileged person that he	
never got that frustration. I did this paper on	
•	
narcissism based on parenting styles, I contrasted	
permissive, authoritarian and authoritative and	
permissive and authoritarian was show to contribute	
towards narcissistic tendencies, not a huge effect but	
its there. We with regards to Trump he has had a life	
of minimal frustration, because of his wealth and	
situation so I don't know what to say about his age	
and narcissism, it is apparent that it would be	
extremely difficult if not impossible to get some sort	
of mindset change out of Trump at this point, he	
listens to himself above all else, above logical	
reasoning. This is of course one of the reasons why	
it is so difficult to treat NPD.	
n is so difficult to ficult in D.	

Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the severity of the NPD condition 35:51 - 36:50

<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q13</li> <li>EX4: I don't have a good answer about that, I suppose theoretically that would make sense, it depends on the substance.</li> <li>RM: yes of course, the difference between stimulates and relaxants.</li> <li>EX4: One would assume that narcissistic individuals would tend to abuse substances which fall in line with their ethos as a narcissist, I guess the theoretical point is if a narcissist finds themselves in an environment which does not in optimal frustration, they may substitute social supports for chemical support, I mean that's all very plausible.</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure how to answer question validly, suggests a relationship between people unable to achieve optimal frustration and seeking out chemical support.
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u	nderstanding of NPD?
<ul> <li>36:51 – 38:51</li> <li>RM: Asks Q14</li> <li>EX4: One of my problem is reducing issues to the individual, so I think that narcissism needs to be understood in terms of aggregate cultural dynamic, I think that is an important idea. I think cultural environment that doesn't look to be individualistic, doesn't have submission, maybe not Muslim submission, a kind of submission to ideals that control ambition, and the family dynamic and the cultural dynamic, I don't know if that answers what you looking for?</li> <li>RM: Mainly I was just wondering if you consider there to be large holes in the understanding of narcissism?</li> <li>EX4: Hmm (pause) well honestly, I'm not sure, perhaps a wider issue of larger aggregation of views on narcissism, it is important to use as many different methodologies as possible.</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure on future direction for narcissism, proposes investigation towards narcissism and aggregate cultural dynamic.
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent	÷ •
and is there areas that require further research in your $38:52 - 41:20$	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX4</b> : I don't have enough knowledge or understanding of all personality disorders to comment on that accurately, psychopathy and antisocial disorder, borderline have been around a	Suggests that NPD is not least researched disorder. Argues for the influence of technology aggravating narcissistic tendencies.

long time, but the least that seems unlikely, you could google search each disorder and count the citation, but the least seems very unlikely <b>RM</b> : <i>I agree the idea of narcissism can be seen as a</i> <i>central tenant in earlier psychology</i> . <b>EX4:</b> Yeah exactly, I also think your comment on Trump reflect the zeitgeist on understanding narcissism, its widely talked about. <b>RM</b> : With the rise of social media, and the ability to have a mathematic calculation of popularity has really upped that ability to thrive on individualism, it's a very widely talked about issue. I real societal issue. Perhaps that is just the nature of capitalism <b>EX4:</b> That's exactly right, technology aggravates this tendency, and in conjunction with capitalist structures and ever-increasing technology, they all work with one another to exacerbate the symptoms.	
<ul> <li>QC1: What criteria would you use to classify someone 41:21 - 43:36</li> <li>RM: Asks QC1</li> <li>EX4: You are going to hate me for this</li> <li>RM: Ha-ha you don't like the terminology 'mental illness' right</li> <li>EX4: Well you know back in the old days when getting a diagnosis and working with patients was common and they needed a terminology, this term 'mental illness' is fine. I now don't think we need these terms, it isn't reflective of the times.</li> <li>RM: Okay unfortunately the next two questions specifically reference mental illness, and I don't want to alter the questions for the sake of validity. Would you mind giving me your thoughts regardless?</li> <li>EX4: Sure</li> <li>RM: So just for reference sake if you had to classify a person as mentally ill how you would you go about it?</li> <li>EX4: I mean I just wouldn't I don't like to think with that terminology. I mean if the diagnosis helps people, but I don't think it does honestly. Doctors these days diagnosis people far too fast with far too much need to place a label on a disorder. They aren't interesting in listening as much as trying to quickly</li> </ul>	e as having a mental illness? Expert does not agree with the use of mental illness as a terminology, describing it as unreflective and old fashioned.

diagnosis. I'm not saying that it was different in the past, only that it is something we should be addressing now. I'm not even opposed to making a diagnosis like that, just not in the manner its used. For mental illness I just don't believe in it, so I wouldn't diagnosis someone as mentally ill. <b>RM:</b> Sure, no problem let's move on.	
QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality 43:37 – 44:07	y disorder to be a mental illness?
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC2</i> <b>EX4:</b> Here is what I would say is useful it's nice to have diagnostic criteria to help with diagnosis, I think that with personality disorders all focus on a serious point of concern and should be managed accordingly.	Does not necessarily agree or disagree that PD's should be considered a mental illness.
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a me $44:08 - 44:26$	ntal illness?
RM: Asks QC3 EX4: Yeah I mean the same as before, a person with NPD is mentally ill by the definition you want to go by.	Suggests that a person with NPD is mentally ill but would not use the terminology.
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as danger 44:27 - 44:51	rous to society?
RM: <i>Asks QE1</i> EX4: Well if you have narcissistic leaders who doesn't not have submission, I think that this kind of authoritarianism leads to serious issues. There is an incentive to try and get away with as much as possible in this situation and that is always dangerous.	Suggests that unchecked narcissism leads to further narcissistic tendencies and unethical application of power.
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with bo impact society?	th NPD and a position of power
<ul> <li>44:52 – 45:50</li> <li>RM: Asks QE2</li> <li>EX4: Well its Trump, its Putin, its Assad, it's a great deal of these powerful leaders, especially in developing worlds, no one is checking the power of these people, so it is no wonder it goes to their heads. But like I said before I'm less concern with the leaders and instead the mindset of the people.</li> </ul>	Expert suggest that the real reason trump was elected was based on the ignorance of the people. A lack of education and critical thinking mean they get easily mislead.

There is this meshing of very submissive people who can be used by very assertive people and I think it is a mixing of the two that leads to this issue. Without all people trying to educate themselves critically on matters we are doomed to this kind of mediocrity.	
QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 45:51 – 46:26	as a Personality Disorder in the
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q8</i> <b>EX4:</b> I completely clueless how to answer that I'm afraid I do not have too much dealing with either.	Expert is unsure how to answer question validly.

## **Interview with Expert 5**

<ul> <li>INTERVIEW 5</li> <li>Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic personality disorder?</li> <li>0:00 - 1:39</li> <li>RM: Asks Q1</li> <li>EX5: I would mostly say in terms of low agreeableness and high extraversion, lack of Concern for others, Grandiosity, attention seeking,</li> </ul>	THEMATIC NOTES
interpersonal dominance, those kinds of things. Q2: What would you consider the difference to be betw narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 1:50 – 3:04	
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q2</li> <li>EX5: The key difference is probably one of trait extremity NPD should be more associated with impairments. So, for me it's mostly a matter of degree/intensity compared to tendencies.</li> <li>RM: And this impairment might be something like not functioning normally in society.</li> <li>EX5: Right so like Impairments within relationships work, school and such. I think it's just a result of these extreme traits.</li> <li>So that would be more of the kind of sliding scale type thing rather than the definitive line</li> </ul>	Suggests it is a matter of degree and intensity. Requires an impairment in relationships and work environment.
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be presented as $3:05 - 3:59$	evalent in the general populace?
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q3</li> <li>EX5: I'm going to go with the DSM estimates to me somewhere between 3 to 5% we're like we're talking about the full-blown disorder.</li> <li>RM: According to Josh Miller he reckons it's like much lower even less than 0.1% but I think it depends how you look at it.</li> <li>EX5: I would say that he is most likely correct.</li> </ul>	Expert is unsure on prevalence in general populace, arguably guesses quite high.
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co 4:00 - 5:44	ontributor to NPD?

RM: Asks Q4	Expert suggest that they are
<b>EX5:</b> Similar to my other answers. As a traits	unsure how to answer validly
theorist, I think they reflect the same genetic	with regards the role of genetics.
influence as the traits that contributed to them. 45 to	
60% from genetic variance. From a	
behavioural/genetics standpoint.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Do you have any kind of understanding of what</i>	
researchers are focusing on NPD specifically the	
focus on genetics.	
EX5: No.	
<b>RM:</b> I haven't either. it seems it's difficult to	
research, so what would your figure be based upon?	
<b>EX5:</b> if you look at the general Five Factor model	
traits. I'm just comparing it to General personality	
traits.	
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the	he environment to be as
contributors to NPD?	
5:45 - 8:24	
RM: Asks Q5	Expert argues strongly in favour
<b>EX5:</b> I suspect there are a lot of other personality	of the strength of genetics within
traits which don't show a whole lot of shared	the nature v nurture, suggesting
Influence. Asperger's shows about 10% due to	that twin studies have helped
shared environments and the rest is due to unshared	positively demonstrate this
environments or measurement error. So, while I	argument.
agree that the environments important I think it's	
probably the way that genetic shape it. So, I'm	Expert also suggest the narcissist
convinced That the traits lead to those environments	is likely to move environments if
themselves?	the environment does not
<b>RM:</b> <i>Could you explain that more detail?</i>	support his tendencies. If he can
<b>EX5:</b> There is good evidence, like if you look out of	find an environment that
a lot of studies with twins, that have been separated	supports these tendencies, there
at birth they look remarkably similar despite not	is no reason to move.
being together and not living in the same	
environment. One of the big ideas behind that is	There was an issue with the
similar genetics are constructing similar	recording software with this
environments *inaudible* way people respond to the	interview, so the backup
types of choices they make. It seems that their genes	recording on the researcher's
heavily influenced the kind of decisions that they	phone was used. This resulted in
make. I think a narcissist is not going to allow	some audio difficulties
himself to spend the whole lot of time in	
environments that wouldn't support the way he	
seems himself/his view of themselves. So, they seek	

out people that would support their grandiose and such.	
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as prov characteristics? 8:25 – 10:44	
<ul> <li>RM: <i>Asks Q6</i></li> <li>EX5: I think traits such as confidence, social dominance and arrogance are not necessarily bad things. I think to the point where they become extreme then it becomes debilitating to the person. I think not having the flexibility in how intensely they display those traits, is what can become so impairing for narcissists.</li> <li>RM: In that respect I suppose it depends on how much you can hide certain aspects of these NPD from your peers. Under the consideration that you are very narcissistic like Patrick Bateman from American Psycho level and he's just holding it just under the surface. Once you reach a certain point in a then I guess it becomes debilitating in all fronts</li> <li>EX5: I also think it becomes very hard to hide the further down you go. You don't have a lot of options by responding different ways. They tend to be liked in initially and as time goes on other people's impressions of them decreases. I think that happens in most cases the more interactions you have with them the more debilitating they are because they can't regulate their behaviour.</li> </ul>	The expert suggests the difference is based upon the level of debilitation and the degree of flexibility to which people extend their narcissistic tendencies. The expert also suggests he more narcissistic an individual is the less control they will have over their positive aspects of narcissism.
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in $10:45 - 14:31$	terpretation of NPD to accurate?
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q7</li> <li>EX5: I think the description is pretty good. The need for admiration, grandiosity, lack of empathy. Very consistent of the traits that I would associate with the condition. I think if I thought that there was more of an underlying vulnerability to these folks I'd be dissatisfied with calling it NPD.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there is a distinction between vulnerable and grandiose narcissism?</li> <li>EX5: I have a tough time understanding vulnerable narcissism as narcissism in most cases. It doesn't look like narcissism to me, particularly it seems</li> </ul>	Suggests there is a difference in between people who display grandiose and vulnerable narcissism. The expert suggests that grandiose should remain NPD and vulnerable should be something else entirely. Rather than give this vulnerable narcissism a name the expert seems to perhaps use of trait theory.

more like borderline personality disorder. It's almost entirely comprised of high levels of neuroticism <b>RM:</b> In that case the lines must be very blurred between the two disorders. Is there a case being
<i>made for a category that lies somewhere between?</i> <b>EX5:</b> There could be. *inaudible* I think the grandiosity fits better with classic Descriptions of narcissism. I think the emotional vulnerability Is the result of psychoanalytic overthinking. With the
<ul> <li>whole putting up a front because they feel vulnerable and have very little self-worth I don't agree that should be categorised as NPD</li> <li>RM: Why do you think that?</li> <li>EX5: Because I think you can get all of that without having this sort of underlying vulnerability. When you go about assessing it with vulnerable narcissism scales it doesn't look like Classic narcissism. There's not what research of showing that shows. That these people are at their core vulnerable. So it doesn't make sense to use the same instruments or terminology to measure the two.</li> </ul>

### Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific community understands NPD? 14:32 - 19:26

#### PM. Asks 08

RM: Asks Q8	Expert suggest that self-reports
EX5: I'm a fan of self-reports I think they work	are effective tools for measuring
pretty well as long as you're not asking about	NPD as long as you are not
motivations for behaviour then self-reports work	involving motivation for
great. You're asking people to describe characteristic	behaviour. Suggests that
ways of thinking and feeling and acting. I think	narcissists will behaviour quite
they're very good at doing that. If you believe that	truthfully in self report
narcissism is some sort of dynamic process as the	questionnaires, under the proviso
result of Vulnerability rising and grandiose.	that they are happy to boast
*inaudible* From my perspective it's about	about how they like to boast.
grandiosity, social dominance, lack of concern for	The expert supports this idea by
others I think people are perfectly capable to report	suggesting that psychopaths who
those traits. As a trait theorist I'm perfectly	would have more incentive to lie
comfortable using trait Inventories.	than those with NPD rarely do as
<b>RM:</b> <i>do you think a narcissistic individual would be</i>	they want to explain their
more prone to lying in the questionnaires.	thinking. According to the expert
<b>EX5:</b> Lying to what end? Not sure that the	this idea can be applied to NPD,
narcissist thinks that their behaviour or traits are	since a person with NPD wants
wrong. Psychopaths seem to self-report pretty	to explain why they are great.
accurately. And they got the same thing is going on	This idea only extends to self-

<ul> <li>Possibly worse. For example, they realise their acting too confident, so they know to tone things down. They are very special and very good at it</li> <li>RM: I suppose in that respect You often question yourself but there's nothing they would consider lying on perhaps.</li> <li>EX5: There's obviously cases away this will not be true, but this is true for any self-reporting. If the motivational contingencies and Incentives and environments. Like you're not going to be psychopathic when you go to jail because that's not going to serve you well. I think there's every reason to think that narcissists will be generally truthful.</li> </ul>	reporting questionnaires theoretically.
<ul> <li>Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr most valid and why?</li> <li>19:27 – 20:20</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX5: We've used the NPI and bunch of other but I prefer the FFM model. It gives you Grandiose and vulnerable score based out of three factors neuroticism interpersonal antagonism, Extraversion.</li> </ul>	ibutes do you consider to be the Experts implies that FFM is a useful instrument for measuring both forms of narcissism.
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyin Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 20:21 – 23:19 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i>	ng in appearance and recognition. The expert suggests that there is
<ul> <li>EX5: Assuming that you mean something more than there are a bunch of different ways than 5 out of 9 symptoms, I think there are a lot of ways of getting there. Symptom profiles can differ dramatically Is that all that you meant?</li> <li>RM: Could you have two people who are classified as having NPD but be very different in the symptoms and the appearance of the disorder enough to almost classify distinction between the two; that's the purpose of the question. Read a jounal that listed five different or as many as 7 forms of narcissism, broken down into categories.</li> <li>EX5: Certainly, I agree there are different ways of the symptoms showing/distorting? themselves. I'm not sure what you truly believe when these diagnostic subtypes or however you describe it. I think those might just be features of the same thing.</li> </ul>	not many types of narcissism as the paper I reference implies, instead these are all similar disorder to the point where they are not worth considering if a discreet diagnosis is required. In this event the expert suggests there is only a grandiose narcissism, with vulnerable narcissism being a different disorder entirely, placing it closer towards borderline personality disorder. The expert highlights the importance of moving to trait theory to move away from having a multitude of names for the same disorder.

I'm still more comfortable saying that vulnerable narcissism is still closer to borderline personality disorder and high levels of neuroticism	
Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff $23:20 - 25:03$	Fer from NPD and why?
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q11</li> <li>EX5: Men. Simply because the traits that comprise narcissism are much more prevalent in Men in general. Simple gender differences will make men more diagnosed with narcissism. Men are more antagonistic.</li> <li>RM: Do you think that's more to do with testosterone or more to do with Society?</li> <li>EX5: I would say testosterone.</li> <li>RM: That is interesting, I have heard its more to do with society from others. Perhaps it's related to the survival type deal.</li> <li>EX5: Well these structures in society are caused by genetics if you trace it back far enough. If you had to pick one dimension that would be a good place to start. In terms of determining trait It's probably agreeableness, sort of the connection with others and playing well with others.</li> </ul>	Expert suggests that NPD is more prevalent in men, in many respects due to testosterone. The expert suggests that if you retrace lines back long enough testosterone will be the key factor in creating societal hierarchy.
Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 25.04 - 20.27	verity of the NPD condition?
<ul> <li>25:04 – 29:37</li> <li>RM: Asks Q12</li> <li>EX5: I suspect across time NPD becomes less prevalent over time. I base that on research showing age-related changes and their effect on traits associated with NPD like antagonistic tendencies and agreeableness. As agreeableness increases over time I would say.</li> <li>RM: Why would you say people become more agreeable as they age?</li> <li>EX5: Some folks are talked about the socialization process. a lot of people have talked about a developmental process of Personality. Life's a lot harder if you leave it as an antagonistic person and as you age it makes people more likely to dial back on that behaviour.</li> <li>RM: Over time many of those repercussions might internalise and change the person.</li> </ul>	Expert suggest you are unlikely to be narcissist in old age as agreeableness rises. He attributes narcissism in old age to finding people who will accept these narcssitc traits.

<ul> <li>EX5: You're invested in relationships and jobs and you want to keep those things. You might act be a bit more accordingly.</li> <li>RM: What about where you reach an age and that you're still a narcissist individual and an older person that it might solidify it as your permanent characteristics that cannot be changed. Would you say that is caused by the npd condition or just becoming older and having traits stick as they do with older people?</li> <li>EX5: From 50 onwards people tend to be much more stable and consistent with their traits. If you are markedly narcissistic moving through your fifties. Well at this point you sort of construct and environments. you piss off people they don't want to spend time with you at some point so you just move to next group of people until you find people who do accept this behaviour.</li> <li>The socialization process might contribute to the stability over time. You've got people who are relatively aggressive and have poor impulse control and lots of stuff in line with those traits that they piss everybody in their life develop criminal records. I think it can be similar in the way that narcissistic people develop.</li> </ul>	
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 29:37 – 30:37 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q13</i> <b>EX5:</b> Hmmm I suspect that certain substances with exacerbate the symptoms of NPD, I'm not sure really.	everity of the NPD condition? Expert suggest they do not have a valid understanding of the subject matter to pass opinion.
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u 30:38 – 31:41 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q14</i> <b>EX5:</b> Defining it. You can go back to the subtypes we sort of believe that vulnerability is an area of narcissism. I think redefining narcissism might be a good idea.	nderstanding of NPD?
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent of and is there areas that require further research in your of	do you agree with this sentiment

#### 31:42 - 38:10

# **RM:** *Asks Q15* **EX5:** I think that was true in 2008 I don't think it's true now. I think due to the number of Personality Inventories in recent times that's been developed. Part of it depends do allow to explicitly need to be studying criteria already set to be talking about NPD? The criterion is probably still under researched. Lots of folks Developing New Inventories to access narcissism. People are looking for newer and better measurements that solve some problems that they see with NPI.

**RM:** *Is there any research in particular that you* would like to see done that hasn't been done under the proviso you could have an extremely large budgets search something on a large scale? **EX5:** My research has always been that's what I see is the very complex sort of molecular compounds of traits. And breaking them down into them into further little pieces. There are more elemental pieces and asking do you need that big compound all the levels of antagonism in extraversion which different pieces and what kinds of problems can be associated with those. \*inaudible\* You look at these more basic traits and you ask what do these do to people throughout life. I don't think we know a lot about developmental issues. It's interesting for most personality disorders, the exception being Psychopathy. there's not much research on the people who would become narcissists as Adolescents and children. what do these use future narcissistic children look like? I'd like to see more developmental research done.

**RM:** Yeah, I would have thought the actions that have done to you as a child would definitely shape you since becoming a narcissist. It's like the structure of the human being composed you don't really shake things off as being a kid.

**EX5:** I think we need perspective research to do that and most of what we've done so far is just retrospect after the fact that it's happened rather than figuring it out while they're a kid, asking about family life, parents.

Suggests that Stinson is incorrect. Argues that further investigation into the minutia of narcissism, in conjunction with studies that specifically involve a testing in the present rather than the pass (to analyse families with parents who have NPD and make it ongoing).

QC1: What criteria would you use to	classify someone	as having a mental illness?
38:11 - 41:11		

#### RM: Asks QC1

EX5: Psychological characteristics that lead to distress impairments and harm to themselves or others. When I started doing research on narcissism I took a lot on psychopathy. So maybe in a case like that they're not so much distress but they're definitely harming others. But yeah those are my 3 criteria. I suppose you could tack on lack of control as well.

**RM:** How do you feel about the terminology mental illness. Because I know trait theorists tend to be somewhat against that.

**EX5:** It implies a sharp demarcation. At a high end that's pretty bad and that's a low and that's probably OK. You have to draw a line of demarcation? somewhere and when it gets to figuring out if it seems to be lack of control impairment distress and harm to others. I think it's fair to call it something and mental illness is ok with me.

**RM:** *I* think one way of defining it could be that no one can tolerate you anymore and that's why you've defined someone having a mental illness.

**EX5:** I think that's part of it honestly that's the impairment criteria where social relations are impaired, job prospects are impaired. Or you know you're in jail for harming others that's also impairment.

**RM:** *let's say you do something very narcissistic that should land you in jail and you just get out of it. Then you know you technically haven't filled that criteria even though you are very much treading on the line.* 

**EX5:** Jail is the official version of that. Like you see with self-reports people harming others and not being put into jail or being arrested for it.

Expert suggest that their a benefit to the discreet disorder diagnosis. Arguing that a line needs to be draw somewhere and mental illness is an acceptable term for distinction.

The expert also suggest that mental illness is a terminology worth keeping, identifying 3 items that would highlight a person as mentally ill. Suggest that the key is impairment. The expert also suggests that going to jail because of a PD is a casual identifier of mental illness.

QC2: To what extent we	ould you consider	a personality	disorder to be a	mental illness?
41.12 - 41.55				

11.12 11.55	
RM: Asks QC2	Expert considered mental illness
EX5: 100%. It meets the same criteria that most	to be fairly interchangeable with
major personality disorders do. if you look at major	PD.
depression it's also got thresholds that's distress and	

impairments. Mental illness also refer to the same kind of behavioural distress and impairment.	
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a meta $41:56 - 42:23$	ental illness?
RM: Asks QC3	
<b>EX5:</b> I consider it to be like any other personality	
disorder even more so than most.	
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as dange	erous to society?
42:24 - 44:12	
RM: Asks QE1	
<b>EX5:</b> The aspects that make it more likely that you	
will suffer in payments or make other people suffer.	
Not being able to feel empathy and compassion;	
being callous towards others making rules that don't	
apply to you because you're special. Responding	
with rage when you are slighted it's all setting the	
stage for a screw up yours and other people's lives. I	
think those are all potential dangerous to society.	
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with be impact society? 44:13 – 49:09	
RM: Asks Q8	Suggests that NPD is perhaps
EX5: you've got the same psychological	more self-serving than any other
characteristics that you have before they care about	PD. In addition people with NPI
themselves and not so much for other people	often focus their efforts on
respond with rage when threatened. if you have	covertly attacking people in
somebody with power doing that and the ability to	some manner, so it is effecting a
influence other people I expect those behaviours will	group of people in way that othe
be far more self-serving than the others with NPD.	PDs might not.
so, it's not just them beating up one person for	Expert suggests that Trump is
	I Experi suggesis inal Trump is
slighting them but they'll be affecting entire groups	1 00 1
of people. the more you are in power than more	singled out as a individual with
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt.	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt. <b>RM:</b> <i>What do you think about trump being</i>	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a caricature. This presumably
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt. <b>RM:</b> What do you think about trump being described as a narcissist	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a caricature. This presumably means that he displays most or
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt. <b>RM:</b> What do you think about trump being described as a narcissist <b>EX5:</b> I think he's also most a caricature of a	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a caricature. This presumably means that he displays most or even all of the specified
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt. <b>RM:</b> What do you think about trump being described as a narcissist <b>EX5:</b> I think he's also most a caricature of a narcissist. it's unbelievable he's so singled out.	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a caricature. This presumably means that he displays most or
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt. <b>RM:</b> What do you think about trump being described as a narcissist <b>EX5:</b> I think he's also most a caricature of a narcissist. it's unbelievable he's so singled out. <b>RM:</b> This is interesting because you say he's got the	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a caricature. This presumably means that he displays most or even all of the specified
of people. the more you are in power than more People you can hurt. <b>RM:</b> What do you think about trump being described as a narcissist <b>EX5:</b> I think he's also most a caricature of a narcissist. it's unbelievable he's so singled out.	singled out as a individual with NPD as he comes across as a caricature. This presumably means that he displays most or even all of the specified

them. why do you think people might find us	
qualities attractive in the leader?	
<b>EX5:</b> People like narcissists before truly meeting	
them, from a distance they seem strong entertaining I	
think they're looking for. I think it's only across time	
that they will become dissatisfied and disillusioned	
with them. it's only once you put him in a position	
of power, people realise that he's not even making	
decisions in line with the people who elected him.	
<b>RM:</b> Do you think it's more likely that he'll have	
other narcissists on his cabinet or just try and be the	
only one.	
<b>EX5:</b> Honestly, I think his cabin is full of morons, I	
think he purposely chose people who are unlikely to	
challenge him and people who are not particularly	
qualified for their positions. I think he's chosen	
people who know that place in relation to him.	
<b>RM:</b> what about Kim Jong-un I suppose it's more	
difficult to tell but would you describe him as	
narcissistic.	
<b>EX5:</b> the thing with trump is you have so much	
information what with his 6000 tweets and	
thousands of hours of interviews multiple	
biographies people constantly talking and	
researching about him. Kim Jong-un you don't have	
a whole lot.	
E3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified a	s a Personality Disorder in the
DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?	
49:10 - 51:04	
EX5: I actually don't know. I haven't read enough to	
see what the ICD-10 was thinking. You seem to	
have everything in there, all the more severe	
/dangerous disorders except, narcissism and I don't	
understand that at all. I think the research shows that	
narcissism is truly impairing.	
<b>RM:</b> Could it be to do with co-occurrence?	
<b>EX5:</b> I think it's assumed that it becomes under	
something like NPD. maybe some people are	
thinking it's a subset of psychopathy. I think the	
evidence is clear that it's not true.	
evidence is creat that it's not true.	

## **Interview with Expert 6**

INTERVIEW 6 Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and	THEMES
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic	
personality disorder?	
0:00 - 2:29	
RM: Asks Q1	
EX6: I think the grandiose, one the elements is still	
definitely one of the most important pieces. I think	
in recent years the idea of the vulnerability	
component has become more interesting as well,	
although there seems to be a lot of controversy and	
confusion about exactly what that means.	
<b>RM:</b> From a lot of people I've spoken to, they	
would say that there is a difference between	
grandiose and vulnerable narcissism at least one	
that's worth some sort of medical distinction.	
<b>EX6:</b> I would, I mean if we jump back maybe 8 or	
10 years ago I actually at that point I actually	
thought I had a better kind of grasp from what was	
going on with vulnerable narcissism. Now I'm not	
sure, if anything I feel like it's getting to be a	
slippery concept. I think if we were having this	
conversation back then I would have said yeah I'm	
pretty sure kind of what this is starting to look like	
but now I just don't know. It doesn't make a lot of	
sense to me anymore so I think there's something	
important there but I'm not sure what exactly it was	
that we're trying to capture.	
<b>RM:</b> Yeah you sound like me when I was composing	
<i>my literature review the further in you get you think</i> <i>wait a minute this is all contradicting and I don't</i>	
know what's going on anymore.	
<b>EX6:</b> It's odd because some of the folks who were	
opposed to the entire idea seem to have kind of come	
around to endorsing it now I still don't understand	
now what it is that they're looking at, it was a very	
odd time.	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be betw	ween a person displaying
narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?	

<ul> <li>2:30 – 5:21</li> <li>RM: Asks Q2</li> <li>EX6: I think there is definitely a correlated difference while they are displaying the characteristics. I think in terms of the differences I think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think is a relatively healthy view of narcissism.</li> <li>RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q2</li> <li>EX6: I think there is definitely a correlated difference while they are displaying the characteristics. I think in terms of the differences I think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism.</li> <li>RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EX6: I think there is definitely a correlated difference while they are displaying the characteristics. I think in terms of the differences I think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism.</li> <li>RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
difference while they are displaying the characteristics. I think in terms of the differences I think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism. <b>RM</b> : <i>If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement</i> <i>components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a</i> <i>lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</i> <b>EX6</b> : I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM</b> : <i>Would you say there's only a few components</i> <i>that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps</i> <i>can just get buy in society and people might tolerate</i> <i>them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that</i> <i>person is, which could factor into whether you can</i> <i>be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking</i> <i>of this person is an ass at times.</i> <b>EX6</b> : Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
characteristics. I think in terms of the differences I think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism. RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures. EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism. <b>RM</b> : <i>If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</i> <b>EX6</b> : I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM</b> : <i>Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</i> <b>EX6</b> : Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism. <b>RM</b> : <i>If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</i> <b>EX6</b> : I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM</b> : Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6</b> : Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism. <b>RM</b> : <i>If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement</i> <i>components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a</i> <i>lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM:</b> <i>Would you say there's only a few components</i> <i>that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps</i> <i>can just get buy in society and people might tolerate</i> <i>them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that</i> <i>person is, which could factor into whether you can</i> <i>be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking</i> <i>of this person is an ass at times.</i> <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism. <b>RM</b> : <i>If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement</i> <i>components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a</i> <i>lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</i> <b>EX6</b> : I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM</b> : <i>Would you say there's only a few components</i> <i>that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps</i> <i>can just get buy in society and people might tolerate</i> <i>them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that</i> <i>person is, which could factor into whether you can</i> <i>be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking</i> <i>of this person is an ass at times.</i> <b>EX6</b> : Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
<ul> <li>perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism.</li> <li>RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>narcissism.</li> <li>RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>RM: If you ignore the exploitation and entitlement components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>components, the rest is captured by the NPI and a lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>lot of other measures, non-clinical measures.</li> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>EX6: I think a lot of it is just interesting that the literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around.</li> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
literature has been so dominated by the measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM:</b> Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
measurements of narcissism which is really one of those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM:</b> Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
those cases of the tail wagging dog kind of thing. I think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM:</b> Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
think the measurements kind of dictated what the contract is rather than the other way around. <b>RM:</b> Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
<ul> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>RM: Would you say there's only a few components that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
that separate a narcissistic individual who perhaps can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
can just get buy in society and people might tolerate them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
them. Or maybe it's to do with how tolerable that person is, which could factor into whether you can be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
<ul> <li>person is, which could factor into whether you can</li> <li>be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking</li> <li>of this person is an ass at times.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I</li> <li>think there is a difference in terms of the extent in</li> <li>which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I</li> <li>definitely think the continual sort of approach is an</li> <li>irrevocably good way looking at personality in</li> </ul>
be considered to have NPD as opposed to thinking of this person is an ass at times. EX6: Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
of this person is an ass at times. <b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
<b>EX6:</b> Yeah, I think that's definitely a part of that I think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
think there is a difference in terms of the extent in which they're showing these characteristics. Yes, I definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
definitely think the continual sort of approach is an irrevocably good way looking at personality in
irrevocably good way looking at personality in
constal. If you imaging some poople are for more
general. If you imagine some people are far more
tolerant of others, and we see that given enough time
and attachment to a person they are willing to deal
with a lot of anguish. We cannot expect the love
ones of people with narcissistic tendencies to bring
that person forward, seeing as they are most likely
be dominated by the narcissist.
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be prevalent in the general populace?
5:21 - 7:21
RM: Asks Q3

<ul> <li>EX6: It's hard to know, the hit rates look very low because the government went for treatments but I'm guessing. I don't know it's a good question I'm guessing maybe like 5%. I reckon it's higher though than some institutions say like 1% I think the diagnostic criteria is a little weak for NPD so I'm going to say 3 to 5%.</li> <li>RM: I guess one of the problems of today is anyone with NPD it's probably not going to come in to be tested or thinks there's no real issue so why would they. Josh Miller who apparently has done some research on this and he reckons it's like 0.0 1% something it extremely small but then again it's only a certain sample and the jury is still out.</li> <li>EX6: Yeah that's the number I always see prevalent.</li> </ul>	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a correct result. The role of genetics as a correct result. The role of genetics as a correct result. The role of genetics are always a little fuzzy, but I definitely think that there's a genetic contribution I reckon it's about half the genes half environments. I definitely think there's a strong genetic connection that gives people at disposition and tendencies to develop characteristics.	Expert suggests a fifty/ fifty break between the two factors.
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the contributors to NPD? 8:00 – 14:56 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q5</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think it's a huge contributor, I know that the data regarding whether or not there are generational influences people look at the exact same data and come up with different conclusions of what's going on. I think there is definitely something happening where I think societal changes really can have an impact on narcissism characteristics and I think narcissism probably is increasing in recent years since they have been a lot of changes in Society. I'm sure societal and environmental forces can have a huge impact. <b>RM:</b> <i>why do you think they've been increasing recently?</i>	he environment to be as Expert suggest that recent trends in culture and society may have impacted narcissism tendencies. Argues that the rise of social media has caused a rise in only surface level development and framed personal development more around the general populace. As a result, people are not developing in a naturally intended human way. Since this has never happened before the counter measures do not exist

EX6: I'm not absolutely sure, I do think some of the	
things like social media. weather I think that's her a	
causal inference or just a symptom of the increasing	
narcissism I can't be sure. I definitely think there's	
something going on with this strong desire to be in	
public to have people looking at you constantly to be	
talking about what you're doing at every possible	
moment and I don't know if that's creating an	
impression for young folks in particular, that life is	
like a constant stage. Without any kind of time off	
stage so I, then again I think the causal force of this	
or a being a consequence of increasing narcissism.	
I think some of the changes in family environments	
also, might have something to do with this while	
there's more of a focus on surface level	
characteristics rather than character development.	
So I think there's a large number things that have	
been changing that may be contributing to this. It's	
also possible that I am just getting old and this is one	
1 0 0 0	
of those all those kids these days. I also worry about.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Have you heard of juvenoia?</i>	
<b>EX6:</b> Yeah it certainly could be and I do worry	
about that possibility its in my head. But I really feel	
like recent cultural and economic conditions could	
be contributing to the appearance of narcissism but	
I'm not absolutely sure.	
<b>RM:</b> The internet does act as a megaphone so	
maybe narcissists seem more noticeable online . Do	
you think maybe the younger generation will see a	
wave of shifting away from narcissistic tendencies	
rather than further towards as popular voices of	
reason step forward .	
<b>EX6:</b> It's certainly possible, I don't know what	
would change. I don't know if the availability of the	
information would be enough to incite change. It	
could be possible that something else might start to	
shape that sort of change.	
Maybe two years ago when I was doing a study	
when we are looking at kids and their career	
aspirations it wasn't connected to narcissists but one	
thing I did find a bit worrisome was when we asked	
what they want to do when they grow up. A large	
percentage said something that has to do with being	
a celebrity or an athlete or actor or musician which is	

interesting because they seem to be a lot more focused on fame and attention now then in past generations when you would see other things like I would want to be a police officer or astronaut which were a bit more common then. So I don't know if there's something a bit more different now where we celebrate celebrity culture to such an extent that it's become this kind of overwhelming desire and a lot of young people. but I don't know if that's going to continue or if there'll be some kind of backlash.	
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as prove characteristics? 14:57 – 16:39 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think some of the NPD criteria, I don't think they're necessarily horrible in the right context. If think the confidence and self promotion that comes with those characteristics I think are really helpful in the right context; for example Short-term interactions I think narcissistic individuals do quite well in those because they are interesting to other people, draw lot of attention to themselves their charming they are funny they are interesting. In the long-term they can be really annoying and drive people crazy, But I still do think that a lot of the characteristics are positive in the right situations and contexts. And that context is usually short term and I think that's why they do well in several organisations where they can use their grandiosity to get themselves noticed but their interactions aren't actually deep enough to the point where people realise how Interpersonally stunted they are. But yeah that's why they do well in really large organisational settings.	Expert suggest that NPD is perhaps not as debilitating as other experts suggest. Suggest that in the short term it could even be useful.
<ul> <li>Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in 16;40 – 21:24</li> <li>RM: Asks Q7</li> <li>EX6: I don't think at the moment. I think a lot of work needs to be done I don't think we're anywhere close to having an idea of exactly what's going on</li> </ul>	terpretation of NPD to accurate? Expert suggest that grandiosity And Vulnerable are two different poles and a people can move between the two depending on

and I think the grandiosity vs vulnerability argument	the situation. For, example,
really needs to be reconciled. So I don't think dsm-5	when things are going well, the
interpretation is quite there yet I definitely think	grandiose expression comes to
NPD is a real construct don't think it should be	the surface. When things go
completely stricken from the record. I think there's	badly for them the vulnerability
something real there and I think we're still struggling	component may come out.
to understand it. For example, I've had some really	
interesting discussion, with folks about whether	Expert supports Miller's FFM
grandiosity and vulnerability are two different	DSM trait model understanding
expressions. is it the case that people that people	of narcissism.
kind of oscillate between the two and I'm not sure? I	
like the idea that people can move between the two.	
For example, when things are going well, the	
grandiose expression comes to the surface. When	
things go badly for them the vulnerability	
component may come out. So I think there is a	
possibility for a subset of these individuals. I think it	
might be possible But there are different types of	
narcissism that's why things look so murky. But	
trying to explain slightly different manifestations	
using a similar language.	
<b>RM:</b> that's something I was thinking about before. Like it's pretty small right it was only two pages	
about it and it pretty much only talked about the	
grandiose side of things. and I'm thinking well	
maybe that's because it's the disorder that's louder	
and more prevalent. from other work I've read	
people seem to be on the fence but do you think it's	
stands to be expanded on, so maybe have it split into	
two separate disorders?	
<b>EX6:</b> I think it's probably too early to do that. I	
definitely want to be encouraging work in this area I	
think it's something we should be cautious with	
before splitting it into two categories. I like the fact	
that you mentioned Josh Miller and I like the work	
that he's been doing kind of stripping these	
personalities down to the basic underlying principles	
of the brains. And I really like his DSM 5 trait model	
So I think there might be something there that will	
eventually help us understand these different	
manifestations of npd and I think the vulnerability	
stuff might have a really really strong neuroticism	
component that just isn't showing up. I think trying	
to understand the underlying traits structure is one of	

the nicer avenues for the near future to find out what exactly is going on. Because I think we understand the grandiosity to some extent it's the vulnerability stuff that I think is just kind of odd.	
stuff that I think is just kind of odd. Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific comr 21:25 – 26:49 RM: Asks Q8 EX6: Not terribly accurately at the moment I think some of the things we talked about earlier like distinctions between the different forms of narcissism are not very well understood yet. I think it's still I also think it's the study of narcissism is a bit unusual in that we've allowed Measurement issues to get ahead of our understanding of the construct guide how we have made sense of the construct guide how we have made sense of the construct itself. I think people have let their own history have an influence or impact on it and maybe we don't understand maybe as much as we like I think some people are more reluctant to try out new ideas because they spent their entire careers building up this literature with one particular view. It's hard to make people let go of what we've done in the past. I think it's an absolutely fascinating construct. I think our knowledge gaps definitely shows when it comes to things like the dsm-5 and I think the personality disorders are a perfect example, of that we want this really simple categorical distinctions. Most of us realise and not really the best way to make sense of these things. Yes at the same time I'm really sympathetic to DSM 5 workers when because I like the idea looking at these things as a Continuum I think that is the best way for scientific approach to understanding these sorts of things. Also I recognise that clinicians have to have something that is tangible and that they can use like cut off scores I don't think we're in a position yet to give that to them and so I can understand why have there been reluctant to shift over to things like Bob Krueger's ideas? RM: If not cut off points, at least sectored areas that could give them more precise interpretation so everyone isn't treated exactly the same.	nunity understands NPD? Expert argues that the community still does not understand narcissism and personality disorders very well. Expert suggests trait approach is necessary. When sector option was propsed expert argues that there would be difficulty in defining the location of these points, to the extent where the problem would not be any more solved.

ou consider to be the
gues for the use of the ex narcissistic in rivalry model. it focuses on narcissism iosity as to keep a self-view and an in component where is are focused on g their own grandiosity social, charming and ic etc. Another item o is the narcissistic ich is really a very ntagonistic and self- and paranoid. The or the NPI is lacking l, with certain elements weak correlation. The or the E dimension , 0.27. We can't have a ent where there are 4 items and it hangs o poorly.

<b>EX6:</b> So, it splits and focuses on narcissism and	
grandiosity as what they argue is different ways to	
basically keep a grandiose self-view and when they	
threw this admiration component where individuals	
are focused on promoting their own grandiosity and	
being social, charming and charismatic etc. The	
other thing which is referred to as narcissistic rivalry	
which is really a very socially antagonistic and self-	
protective, almost paranoid Manifestation. Where	
they want to tear everybody else down in essence.	
They argue that another strategy to maintain the	
grandiose-self, which I agree with, but there's also a	
lot of neuroticism that's kind of mixed in with the	
rivalry. People with high levels of rivalry a very	
reactive to setbacks, failures. So, I think there is a lot	
of potential for that.	
You look at some of the other measures and ways of	
thinking about it like the NPI, I think the	
exploitation and entitlement don't mention it's	
already the most interested to me But then the	
psychometric qualities are also just ridiculously	
weak like I was reviewing a paper yesterday. The	
box alpha or the E dimension was like a, 0.27. We	
can't have a measurement where there are only 3 or 4	
items and it hangs together so poorly. But I think it's	
really interesting because it taps into the more toxic	
elements of narcissism. I think this in particular has	
a lot of potential but it only came out in 2013. 10	
years down the road I think it has the potential to be	
a real contender	
<b>RM:</b> Yes that does sounder promising, so would you	
say that the NPI looks at narcissism to broadly?	
EX6: You can get such a diversity of symptoms with	
a simple checklist in the DSM where you have	
people who have the same diagnosis but have really	
different symptom profiles and I think that's part of	
what's happening with narcissism and I'm guessing	
that we probably do need some multidimensional	
approach to really understand it well.	
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varying	ng in appearance and recognition.
Do you agree with this sentiment and why?	
33:01 - 33:31	
RM: Asks Q10	

<b>EX6:</b> I do agree. I think the way in which people will manifest something, whether they're recognised or not, I think this is a great deal. So I think one of the things that societal changes and cultural changes also matter. I would definitely agree with that.	
<ul> <li>Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff 33:32 – 37:19</li> <li>RM: Asks Q11</li> <li>EX6: Men are much more likely to be identified as far as why I think there's definitely in part because it's a way for males to gain status and power. Give some access to resources and is helpful with meeting especially short-term mating and I think men get some of the stronger benefits from it. At the same time, I think women typically display more than we give them credit for. I think the case may be that they manifest it in a slightly subtler way.</li> <li>RM: Do you think that is to do with testosterone or more to do with societal structure.</li> <li>EX6: I think both I know testosterone can definitely play a role and men are socialised to do this. I think it's a biological inheritance that sets the stage. I'll socialization finishes things off where in many cultures is typical for men to gain status. I think the connections between social hierarchy and NPD and the navigation of those hierarchies it's one of the things I'm really interested in and I think there's something there. We talked about the past, but people haven't really dealt into that enough.</li> <li>RM: It certainly rewards narcissistic tendencies season doesn't particularly punish either. Like you can be a powerful CEO.</li> <li>EX6: I think the connections between narcissism and power and status are very fascinating. In the idea that some people at least start to develop those tendencies when they are put in a position of having influence of power. it's certainly something that deserves more attention and it does make a lot of sense. If you're someone who suddenly has a lot of tremendous wealth and fame and people essentially worshipping you it might distort how you think about yourself and other people and there is definitely something there. There's important</li> </ul>	Expert suggests that men are more likely to be narcissistic, citing testosterone is the key component in the narcissism, arguing that biological inheritance is the basis behind narcissistic tendencies, with socialization occurring secondary. Expert suggest that the involvement of power increases narcissistic tendencies, which would seem logical.

# component in the type of people who seek out those sorts of things regarding to fame and power.

# Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the severity of the NPD condition? 37:20 - 42:41

#### RM: Asks Q12 Expert supports the notion that narcissistic tendencies tend to **EX6:** I definitely think it's a lot easier to notice some of the symptoms in individuals. I think that, or there decline in late 20's early thirties. is the appearance that narcissistic tendencies tend to decline over the lifespan. Whether that's true or simply being manifested in a different way is definitely something that's worth consideration. At the moment my guess is that there's probably a real decline in some of those symptoms and partly might be to do with with things like testosterone and those kinds of changes. **RM:** What range of Ages would you be talking about? **EX6:** For men early 30s maybe late 20s. I think narcissistic males in particular maybe demonstrating the excuse because they are attracted to females and as they start to develop in their age they may not use the same sort of cues. **RM:** *I suppose you should also think about it from* that our bodies were sort of genetically setup going back to caveman survival ages, so maybe during the age where your most likely to be breeding during that time you show more narcissistic tendencies. Then when the man reaches the age of a teaching role and a fatherly personality those two ideas, they wouldn't align so well because a narcissistic teacher would be a bad teacher. **EX6:** I think it's an interesting idea, people age out of these things. Especially the impulsive kinds of issues that males especially tend to deal with for example age-related crime, I'm guessing part of it is just a completely biological testosterone thing. **RM:** *I've also heard the argument that once you* reach a certain age for some people they tend to become stuck in their ways. Especially narcissistic tendencies any point where even therapy really isn't helpful.

**EX6:** I agree with that too, and then other things connected to age with Males for example as they

accrue more power and Status. if they're hanging onto these narcissistic tendencies I definitely think that's Sets the stage for a lot of really unpleasant kinds of behaviour like sexual harassment, that are getting so much attention now. I think a lot of that comes from narcissistic men who find themselves in positions of power. Like a perfect storm to engage in that behaviour.	
<ul> <li>Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the state of the state of</li></ul>	severity of the NPD condition?
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u	nderstanding of NPD?
<ul> <li>43:36 – 44:59</li> <li>RM: Asks Q14</li> <li>EX6: Some of the issues we have already talked in terms of reconciling the different manifestations of narcissism. Moving away from this categorical understanding of NPD in that's you either have it or you don't.</li> <li>RM: What about sample size, would you say there's been enough people to tell?</li> <li>EX6: The vast majority of what is from non-clinical samples. I think that would certainly help if they were clinical.</li> </ul>	Expert suggest that further work with more clinical studies would be a way to provide further proof to trait theory
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 45:00 - 47:46	do you agree with this sentiment
RM: Asks Q15	Expert suggests that Stinson et al. were right with regards

<ul> <li>EX6: I think they are probably right, I think where things get a bit fuzzy is, how you connect that work with non-clinical populations. I think if you factor that in, narcissism jumps way up the list and I think they're right. I think they're right you're arguing for a strict view of this as just looking at NPD and the people who meets diagnostic thresholds. I think they're probably not far off they probably be far down on the list.</li> <li>RM: A lot of it has to do with measurement and research, There's very little aggregation in my opinion.</li> <li>EX6: With certain other personalities like borderline personality disorder, there's a lot ofmaybe part of it is just aggregation. There seem to have been a lot of studies that are using clinical samples. I think it really all just depends to me in parts or where people are making a really strong distinction and with clinical and non-clinical populations.</li> </ul>	describing NPD as the least researcher personality disorder. Although he would disagree when viewing non-clinical populations.
<ul> <li>47:47 – 50:07</li> <li>RM: Asks QC1</li> <li>EX6: I think the biggest thing would be distress, I think the individual experiencing distress is definitely one of the huge things which obviously is going to be an issue for a narcissism because they typically don't experience a great deal of stress themselves.</li> <li>RM: So by that do you mean distress being caused to the individual *and* people around them?</li> <li>EX6: If we were to sum up mental illness in general, distress is definitely one of the key components. I think you'll see that in the vast majority of things that show up in the DSM for example narcissism it's one of those disorders where the individual doesn't report typically a great deal of distress, but the distress that because other people around them is enough to meet the criteria to what I would consider important. I also think there's distress to the individual and that they're not necessarily aware of it, or what the source of it is.</li> </ul>	Expert suggests the determining factor is distress. They are not necessarily aware of this distress

50:08 - 5028	
	Export considers no real
<b>RM:</b> Asks QC2	Expert considers no real
<b>EX6:</b> I regard them are really the same thing.	difference between a PD and a
<b>RM:</b> So, no differences?	mental illness.
EX6: Errr not really no.	
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a me. 50:29 – 57:19	ntal illness?
RM: Asks QC3	Expert agrees that NPD is a
EX6: I do think that's a mental illness. My view is	mental illness.
pretty standard and goes along with the traditional	
views that dsm-5 manuals go with. I think it can be a	Suggest there is a difficulty in
bit murky in terms of identifying and figuring out	producing the distinct line in a
where people fall on it. I think there is a point where	discreet diagnosis due to ever
it can become pathological exactly where that point	changing literature and lack of
is like is there a qualitative shift? It makes it hard to	supportive validity.
	supportive validity.
find out where the dividing line is if there is one.	
<b>RM:</b> So you mean with the literature changing all	
the time, the markers by which we identify a	
personality disorder?	
<b>EX6:</b> Yes, the research is constantly evolving and	
seeing as the DSM looks to be up to date with	
diagnostics, it has to change frequently. That effects	
the validity somewhat, but at least it is moving	
forward in the right direction.	
<b>RM:</b> Yes, for sure. Are there any additional	
measures that we should look to take in order to	
have narcissistic individuals consider themselves to	
have a mental illness and seek out treatment?	
<b>EX6:</b> I wouldn't necessarily want us to go down that	
road. I think it would be great to get more people	
into treatment but it's a case of how easy would it	
be? As odd as it sounds I'm perfectly fine with	
saying yes these people have mental illnesses and	
yes it would be great if they went treatment. As far	
as making them go into treatment I don't think so. I	
honestly think that such a small percentage of these	
people would consider treatment and acceptance of	
their own volition as opposed to maybe a partner	
threatening to leave them or a supervisor at work	
forcing them to go into treatment. I would assume	
• •	
that would be the more common way if people	
would get into treatment.	

QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed a	s dangerous to society?
57.20 62.18	

RM:	Asks	QE1

**EX6:** I actually think there are various ones. The most other ones are the ones that have implications for how they immediately deal with other people in terms of their willingness to exploit and manipulate them. The more subtle ways, for example selfpromotion and grandiosity can start to undermine some of the social connections that bind humans together. And that's affecting how groups of people function. I think it's hard for any of us to connect one another if everybody wants to perform to each other And everybody wants an audience as if we're on a stage. I think there is a kind of the nasty aspects that can be detrimental on the long run. **RM:** *You mentioned the rivalry aspect which* presumably, On the survey end of things, has physical and psychological consequences. **EX6:** One of the things that those folks have found

is that people in the rivalry component. When they see someone who's are performing better than them and they are envious of that person that way of dealing with the envy is dragging that person down to their level rather than them building themselves up and catching up to that person. I think all of us to some extent enjoy it when we build up other people or people even gaming celebrity Status And then also enjoy seeing them fall, even more so for narcissists. Expert suggests use in a rivalry element to measuring NPD, given that one of the more dangerous traits on a failing narcissist is to try and drag people down to their level, both in a social and mental aspect.

QE2: In your opinion,	in what	ways can	those	with both	NPD	and a pos	sition of	power
impact society?								

62:19 - 66:23	
RM: Asks QE2	Expert suggest Trump won by
<b>EX6:</b> One of the things that power does is it serves	being the more honest of two
this inhibitor and what happens when you have that	unlikeable candidates.
in the mission and coupled with the nasty elements	
of narcissism. You get the perfect storm with people	
will manipulate and exploit others and in some cases	
can lead to things you would see in the current	
media like sexual harassment and such. For example,	
you've got a narcissistic male in a position in power	
who uses it to get sexual Access to women that he	

wouldn't have been able to get otherwise. In relition	
wouldn't have been able to get otherwise. In politics	
you see this with our current president in the US	
who definitely has some narcissistic tendencies in	
the position of power. With this you see the	
unpleasant ramifications of these authoritarian	
approaches to dealing with conflict.	
<b>RM:</b> I was wondering if we could get through one	
of these interviews without talking about Mr trump.	
He dominates the media.	
<b>EX6:</b> I know it's like I really hate using the word	
textbook example, but he fits into it so well. I think	
I last election was really strange in that we had two	
candidates were they were extremely disliked. He	
just put out whatever he wanted without any kind of	
filter and that contrast with the other candidate was	
so extreme that it made them look attractive to	
certain sections of the population in that he didn't	
look like a typical politician.	
QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified	as a Personality Disorder in the
DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?	J.
66:24-70:46	
RM: Asks QE3	Suggest that NPD may be cut
<b>EX6:</b> I know with the DSM-5 being developed there	from the DSM in the future, but
was a lot of conversation about whether it was going	not with any confidence. Given
to show up in it or not. Just because it's still in there I	the more to trait theory it is
don't think it was close to getting cut. Whether	likely that if NPD was cut, it
NPD will feature in the next version I don't know but	would be in a situation where
	would be in a situation where disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I	
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should.	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> Hypothetically why do you think it might be removed?	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> Hypothetically why do you think it might be	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the definition. I think clinicians and researchers are still	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the definition. I think clinicians and researchers are still at odds about it. the conversation about it being cut went on for such a long time and it looked for a	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the definition. I think clinicians and researchers are still at odds about it. the conversation about it being cut went on for such a long time and it looked for a while that it was going to be certain that would be	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the definition. I think clinicians and researchers are still at odds about it. the conversation about it being cut went on for such a long time and it looked for a	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the definition. I think clinicians and researchers are still at odds about it. the conversation about it being cut went on for such a long time and it looked for a while that it was going to be certain that would be cut. Which I obviously think is a mistake I think it's a very interesting disorder and a real construct, not	disorder names and
I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should. <b>RM:</b> <i>Hypothetically why do you think it might be</i> <i>removed?</i> <b>EX6:</b> I think there's so much controversy About the definition. I think clinicians and researchers are still at odds about it. the conversation about it being cut went on for such a long time and it looked for a while that it was going to be certain that would be cut. Which I obviously think is a mistake I think it's	disorder names and

argument was from cutting it from the ICD. There
6
were people in 2007 writing opinion pieces trying to
convince the DSM people, that it should stay in
since it was looking like it was going to get chopped.

## **Interview with Expert 7**

INTERVIEW 7	THEMATIC NOTES
Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and	
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic	
personality disorder?	
0:00 – 3:59	
RM: Asks Q1	Expert outlines that they do not
<b>EX7:</b> Let me just start by saying I think narcissism	think there is such a thing as
is whatever the person who is studying it, says what	NPD. They suggest that both
it is. Meaning that a lot of different people have	trait theory and the DSM is
found different definitions and created measurement	incorrect.
tools to study. so nobody seems to really agree what	
we're talking about. You could call me a sceptic. I	Expert suggests an unique
think the DSM has it wrong, personality technology	perspective of looking at NPD,
has it wrong. I don't think there such thing as NPD.	suggesting that if you were to
it doesn't take long to take a bunch of traits, put them	provoke a person with
together and say "so now that's what narcissism is".	narcissism in a certain way you
it's sort of like saying if you took a woman with	expect to receive a homogenous
blonde hair and brown hair and freckles and maybe	response.
call that a "Blondivorg" And say well now we have	
a name. it doesn't make it a thing it just means it has	
a particular combination of features.	
So, then your question becomes; what do I think	
what the word narcissistic means and I don't think	
anybody at the university would agree with me but if	
it has a value to me, it's someone who has some kind	
of fragility or vulnerability inside and if you poke	
them in the right way, they act like an asshole, as a	
way of regulating their self-concept. The reason that	
that's important is because the inclination is	
diagnostic. knowing what you can do to poke at	
them and knowing how they're going to	
respond. that's the only aspect that has any value for	
me.	
<b>RM:</b> Quite a few experts I have spoken to, say they	
identify difference between grandiose narcissism	
and vulnerable narcissism. some people reckon	
there are maybe 5 or 6 subcategories.	
<b>EX7</b> : I would say it very much depends on how you	
look at it.	
<u></u>	

Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying	
narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?	
4:00-5:54	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q2</i> <b>EX7:</b> It's probably arbitrary. I don't think any scientists can answer that question. Clinically it's like if a person has problems in their life that means that they have a problem, right? and then narcissism might be a way to describe the reason for those problems, but the fact that they have problems is already determined by the fact that they came into your office so you don't need to go above and beyond to determine whether or not they have problems. I don't think that's a scientific way to draw a line.	Expert suggests that NPD maybe an arbitrary term and is against the notion of discreet disorder diagnosis. He argues that it is not necessary to have a terminology at all, rather if a person needs therapy they will seek it and a definition is not required.
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be pre 5:55 – 9:29	evalent in the general populace?
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q3	The expert suggests that there is
<b>EX7</b> : It's not uncommon I think a lot of people in	a weak spot, a particular
general are very immature. I don't think it's	reference that would trigger
particularly rare especially in academics of course	narcissistic tendencies in the
like me and you know, there will be people who are	patient. In a similar manner in
easily provoked into becoming an asshole. A person	the approach outline by some
like that can still hold a job, effective parent or even	other experts.
be president of the United States. People with	
privilege can have a lot more narcissism than people	Expert is willing to accept
without because they have social bumpers. I worked	criteria listed in DSM-5 given
in a prison for example and you run into people who	that it is necessary to make cut-
are similarly successful. But what defines the	offs for epidemiological studies.
difference between those people I don't think it's a	
level of narcissism but different opportunities that	
they have in life. It's really tricky to depend on	
percentages for a question like that. It's easy for me	
to poke at a patient and get a negative reaction in a	
clinical setting. <b>RM:</b> <i>like a weak spot?</i>	
<b>EX7</b> : Yeah, I think for example if I knew you a bit	
better I'd find a way to piss you off. I think what	
you can't do it's take the stance where you say, I'm	
going to accept the DSM criteria and cut-offs for that	
construct and then make an epidemiological study	
where we calculate the number of people number of	

people within that construct. I think that's ridiculous and unsupportable.	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co 9:30 – 10:38 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q4</i> <b>EX7:</b> Genetic studies generally show even if you're talking about relatively stable dispositions, the variance levels are too high. Genes aren't quite the right level of analysis to think about.	ontributor to NPD?
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the contributors to NPD? 10:39 – 13:21	
RM: <i>Asks Q5</i> EX7: I think the impact on society is overstated Usually, I think the idea of it being an epidemic is a hoax and I don't think it's very good evidence supporting the idea so I'm sceptical of that. RM: <i>Could you go into more detail about it being a</i> <i>hoax? I think I know what you mean. maybe it's just</i> <i>a case of it being highlighted by social media more.</i> EX7: A lot of papers by people supporting the arguments have turned out later on to be unsupported, except but other poorly supported papers, something of a snowball effect. I think people in western society like England or USA are becoming more individualistic. There are more references to personal pronouns and people are naming their children in stranger and less conventional ways. There are pieces of evidence that people are becoming more individualistic whether that's good or bad for Society is the question and it's not clear at all, because it's not associated with any negative outcomes? I think the trouble is that research is based on instruments, the NPI, which is not all that much related to dysfunction and function. Either the score for the measure of narcissism is increasing, Two, that measure of narcissism is measuring the clinical problems we tend to think of about when we think about that word. I accept the first part but not the second.	Expert does not believe NPD has high levels in populace. He suggests this notion is created by the rise in individualism and the creation of the internet. Also says you can see this in personal pro-noun changes and children names. He suggests the reason for this change in opinion recently is more likely based upon the increased amount of problems being measured and reducing the severity required before mental health is issued.

<b>EX7</b> : Just to add I think if you follow the money people who are pushing that argument on making a lot of money and selling books about it. I'm very sceptical about people who are making money on the scientific argument.	
<ul> <li>Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as proveharacteristics?</li> <li>13:22 – 15:29</li> <li>RM: Asks Q6</li> <li>EX7: Depends on how you measure it and the problem of the construct that the way people have measured it is high self-esteem. In the absence of context there's nothing wrong with qualities like leadership and confidence. that's why I restrict the definition to its clinical meaning which is not a bad thing necessarily. There's a basic problem with the measurements with NPI.</li> <li>RM: You mentioned self-esteem. something that comes under with somebody to consider with high levels of narcissism. self-esteem can be pretty broad in my opinion.</li> <li>EX7: It all depends how you measure it. I can answer your question the other way around. To the degree that your narcissism measure is related to positive characteristics, I wouldn't qualify that as a way of measuring.</li> </ul>	viding positive personal
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in 15:30 – 18:14 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q7</i> <b>EX7</b> : I find it pretty invalid. I can give you an extended answer about the origins of that construct. In the middle of the twentieth century, there were two dominant paradigms in psychiatry. There was the psychoanalytic Paradigm And the descriptive Reductionist paradigm. The latter, the ones that were in control of writing the DSM 3. The reason for that was because psychiatry overall was embarrassed about how inconsistent the diagnoses were. By turning the diagnostic criteria of a fundamentally Influential and complex dynamic construct into something that can be reliably rated, they fundamentally change the definition of the term.	Expert takes issue with the DSm-5 interpretation of the NPD. He suggest the issue with NPD is 'There was the psychoanalytic Paradigm And the descriptive Reductionist paradigm. The latter, the ones that were in control of writing the DSM 3. The reason for that was because psychiatry overall was embarrassed about how inconsistent the diagnoses were. By turning the diagnostic criteria of a fundamentally Influential

RM: Sure.	and complex dynamic construct
<b>EX7:</b> It basically became, narcissism means being a	into something that can be
grandiose jerk. From a clinical perspective it's not	reliably rated, they
enough to know that a person is a grandiose jerk you	fundamentally change the
need to know that they're doing that because of an	definition of the term'.
inner deficit and it's not presented in these criteria. I	
think there was a gambit the made where the analyst	The expert suggests this divide
said, the only way we can get our construct in this	between creating diagnosis and
manual, is if we agree to these criteria. The	actually accurately giving
description of psychiatrists was like, the only way	perfect care. By generalising the
we can shut these psychoanalytic people up is to put	symptoms, it has become easier
these stupid constructs in the manual. So, it's	to diagnose but also created a
essentially trivialised in the criteria sense in the	simplified version of what the
DSM III and I think that persisted to DSM 4 and 5.	patient needs.
So You'll end up having a list of attributes of a	
person that's an asshole but that doesn't mean the	
same thing that the psychoanalysts originally meant.	
We can say that's not a valid construct in the first	
place.	

Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific com	nunity understands NPD?
18:15 - 21:01	

RM: Asks Q8

**EX7**: I think it's going to complete disarray and you'll find out if you interview people who give you 10 different answers to the same question.

**RM:** *it depends, some have been pretty unanimous some have been very split. You can kind of bring it together to an aggregate, but do you think they're still needs more work to be done to get the pieces in place?* 

**EX7**: I could reliably sort people into clusters who could give you some Similar answers. So, Josh Miller and Don Martin would have very similar answers. There's massive variance across the spectrum. I would not accept Josh's view, if you're a trait psychologist, you should pick the traits and not arbitrarily create questions that sort people into constructs. it's superfluous and not necessarily accurate

**RM:** I suppose the kind of people who should be making diagnostic decisions, should be people who can Read more than 2 pages. So, you think it's too basic in the sense?

Expert suggests there is no need to have such a reductionist perspective to diagnosing. Given that the clinician must be intelligent to get to this point where they are counselling it makers sense for the personality disorders to be more in depth, since the clinician will most likely be able to understand them.

He also suggests an issue with trait theory such as the one proposed by Josh Miller, as it is a creates a series of sorting constructs which does not necessarily provide therapy or accurately work a hundred percent. The expert suggests a more hands on approach to

<b>EX7</b> : I mean what is the point of the diagnosis? to get paid by the NHS or an insurance company in the states then who gives a s***, put any diagnostics you want so you can get paid. If the point is to guide treatment just listing a few traits, like grandiose, attention seeking. I think you can honestly learn that by 30 Seconds of interactions with them. So how does that guy treatment in any way that specific, that doesn't do anything for me.	diagnosing and engaging a more complex treatment.
Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr most valid and why?	ibutes do you consider to be the
21:02 - 24:24	
RM: Asks Q9	Expert is somewhat against the
<b>EX7</b> : That's exactly the right question. I don't think	NPI, suggesting that it lacks has
anybody has a good answer for it. You want to have	been misleading other
measures that do 2 things. First, using multiple	inventories based on its
methods so not just relying on self-reports and	simplicity. I think the NPI is a
secondly, methods that can account for time. My	huge distraction. I think it has
overall take on narcissism is that this is a complex	*back necking? * Because it the
Interesting construct and the science of measurement is not adequate to determine whether it's real. We	perverted the meaning of the construct and because it has
haven't had the chance to test it yet and we don't	some psychometric limitations
have the methods to do so in my opinion.	that I don't want to bore you
<b>RM:</b> Has there been any Inventories that you found	with. I think the precautionary
to be valid or particularly invalid?	response scale is kind of dumb. I
<b>EX7</b> : I think the NPI is a huge distraction. I think it	think it's got structure that hasn't
has *back necking? * Because it the perverted the	been well characterized, those
meaning of the construct and because it has some	three factors have completely
psychometric limitations that I don't want to bore	different correlation, but people
you with. I think the precautionary response scale is	put it down to 1 construct. I
kind of dumb. I think it's got structure that hasn't	think it's been a huge mistake
been well characterized, those three factors have	relying so much on the NPI.
completely different correlation, but people put it	
down to 1 construct. I think it's been a huge mistake	He argues for multiple measures
relying so much on the NPI.	and suggest there is not enough
<b>RM:</b> And with so much research been done that	understanding on narcissism to
bases itself on the NPI, it almost seems like a self-	be making such judgement, even
fulfilling prophecy at this point?	suggesting it may not be real.
<b>EX7</b> : So, when you have something like the	
narcissistic epidemic. But then you have to consider	Recommends instead his PNI
that it may not be measuring narcissism in the first	questionnaire or the FFM made
place. In general, I would say the favourite of my	by Josh Miller. However in all
cross-sectional questionnaires is the PNI? Or the	cases she suggests multiple

narcissists, like how grandiose and vulnerable would do, insists on the clinicians discretion. r from NPD and why? Doesn't suggest either is more likely to be narcissistic. He also does not necessarily attribute
Doesn't suggest either is more likely to be narcissistic. He also
a c I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I

<b>EX7</b> : That's a complicated question probably a little of both. There German psychologist whose studies Narcissism, He has the idea there are both agentic and communal forms of narcissism in which case I think you would have to say it depends on which flavour you are talking about. and maybe oestrogen and being a victim of a patriarchal Society could make you communal narcissist.	
<ul> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 29:49 – 31:44</li> <li>RM: Asks Q12</li> <li>EX7: I think it's normal for a 3-year old to be narcissistic. the problem is when you're 18 or even 40 then it becomes a problem.</li> <li>RM: Would you say if you get 40, and display symptoms of NPD, would you become stuck in your ways and will not change?</li> <li>EX7: There is good evidence that personality is more difficult to change at older ages so there's more hope for you then there is for me ha-ha. It is difficult to say, I would say more around the 60 mark you are noticeably less likely to have some sort of revelation and by 80 you may as well forget it.</li> </ul>	verity of the NPD condition? Expert does not necessarily specify an age where NPD is most likely to be present.
Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 31:45 – 36:22 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q13</i> <b>EX7:</b> You can see substance abuse being intertwined with the narcissistic dynamic, which is the cause and which is the effect is difficult to know. it's interesting because substance abuse is fine until it's not a problem. Get high all you want but once your life starts going wrong and then you can't cut out getting high then it's a problem. if you can get away with it rock on. If one of my patients comes to me and says I'm having all these problems in life and they also get high every night, I'm not going to necessarily say getting high every night is why you have these problems but one really the easy thing you can do is you can stop getting high every night. it's much easier than changing your personality.	severity of the NPD condition? Suggests that substance disorder and personality disorder may be tied. Although the expert suggests that any chemical which effects the dopamine receptor is going to have a significant impact on mood and personality disorders by proxy.

<ul> <li>RM: The way I view substance abuse is, the person has an issue and they need a crutch and if there isn't a supportive person in place. They might turn to substance abuse or something like prostitutes. would you say that different substances affect the severity?</li> <li>EX7: I think of challenge with answering that question is that I think of narcissism biological and not methodically. I think anything that messes with dopamine it's going to be much worse for example cocaine.</li> <li>RM: What about drugs designed for high performance. like speed or Adderall, things that boost your productivity or at least in appearance.</li> <li>EX7: Yeah those also affect dopamine would be most likely.</li> </ul>	
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full of 36:22 – 37:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q14</i> <b>EX7:</b> Measurement is the key issue. We don't have the tools to measure the construct and all of its theoretical complexity. it's like trying to argue about the nature of water without understanding the periodic table. <b>RM:</b> If you had a load of money how would you go about researching that? <b>EX7:</b> I think you have to figure out time and multiple methods and there's a both tremendously challenging <b>RM:</b> Do you mean more pioneering work in that respect? <b>EX7:</b> Yes in a way, I would honestly need to really think about it, in fact I really will.	Suggests pioneering and further work into theoretical complexity.
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue the researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 37:55 – 39:39 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX7</b> : No that doesn't seem right. Hmmm even if you were to look at works that only focused on NPD	do you agree with this sentiment

somehow separated them, then perhaps. But no I don't think so, histrionic for sure hasn't received that kind of attention <b>RM:</b> This seems to be the prevailing opinion. <b>EX:</b> Perhaps they wrote that to some how encourage more investment into narcissism, but really that doesn't make any sense. Further research into the theoretical complexity of the narcissistic condition, how it interacts with other moods, other emotions. I think when you look at these kinds of ideas from such a clinical perspective you are failing to take into consideration just life in general. Trying to categorise what, it doesn't even make sense to think of people as a series of traits. People aren't two- dimensional movie characters, they all have the same stuff inside of them creating complex emotions. Intelligence doesn't even factor into this.	Suggest that for further research we should move away from this idea of categorisation through traits and instead create more complex models that fully and accurately capture the scope of human psyche.
QC1: What criteria would you use to classify someone 39:40 – 40:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC1</i> <b>EX7:</b> I don't really like that term. I think it's important for people who have problems in their lives to get help. I'm quite pragmatic about this issue. People are very preoccupied about biological origins and that changing the perception on how valid their problem is. And they feel if it was it would be more valid. I feel obligated as a person of privilege to use some of my tax money to help people with problems and as a licensed health professional. I don't care if the problem is their fault their parents fault their genes it doesn't matter. what I'm interested in is that people having problems have opportunity to improve. I just wouldn't really use terminology.	e as having a mental illness? Expert does not look fondly on the term mental illness, there is again some movement away from discreet diagnosis and labelling.
<ul> <li>QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality 40:55 – 41:39</li> <li>RM: Asks QC2</li> <li>EX7: If they have a problem in their lives that is causing distress or dysfunction for themselves or people close to them, then they have a mental illness I guess.</li> </ul>	y disorder to be a mental illness? Suggests all PD's are mental illnesses but again is not supportive of the terminology.

	1
<b>RM:</b> To what extent do you consider a personality	
disorder to be a mental illness?	
<b>EX7</b> : If it meets that criteria.	
<b>RM:</b> So, some personality disorders are not mental	
illness?	
EX: To put it differently I would say all mental	
illnesses are personality disorders	
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a me	ental illness?
41:40 - 43:40	
RM: Asks QC3	Suggests that NPD is perhaps
<b>EX7</b> : Being of developmentally immature is one	not as debilitating as some other
path having problems in life.	types of psychosis.
<b>RM:</b> is it particularly egregious disorder in	
comparison to others?	
<b>EX7</b> : I think there are problems in life that are very	
chronic and debilitating like severe autism,	
extremely low intelligence, traumatic brain injuries	
flavours of psychosis. I'm more hopeful for a person	
who is narcissistic than any of those.	
who is naterssistic than any of those.	
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as dange	rous to society?
43:41 – 44:04	
RM: Asks QE1	
<b>EX7</b> : The question is kind of frames for me to	
accepted definition of narcissism.	
<b>RM:</b> Just speak about how you want to speak about	
it that's the point of this research you don't	
necessarily come from our angle. I want to get a	
whole different perspective. it's really good.	
whole different perspective. It's really good.	
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with bo	th NPD and a position of power
impact society?	
44:05 - 48:09	
RM: Asks QE2	
<b>EX7:</b> One of the characteristics of narcissism that	
lead to problems for other people, is that people with	
the problem aren't very reflective or self-aware. If	
you're not careful, you're not thinking about the	
impact of your behaviour and the origins of that	
behaviour then you have all kinds of potentials to	
cause damage. especially if you have the privilege to	
be in a position of power. If you think about people	
like Donald Trump they live life in a way to avoid	
ince Donald Trump they live life in a way to avoid	

fact that you are small that your life is meaningless, if you have a hard time doing that you can do all kinds of things to compensate for that concern and caused damage and you don't think at the fact that you're causing damage. <b>RM:</b> Or maybe even revel in the destruction to a degree.	
<ul><li>EX7: Yeah, for example Margaret Thatcher. I consider her to be reflective despite the damage that she's done to the Country I wouldn't compare her to Someone Like Ronald Reagan.</li><li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified</li></ul>	as a Personality Disorder in the
	2
DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 48:10 – 49:34	J

## **Interview with Expert 8**

INTERVIEW 8	THEMATIC
Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and	
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic	
personality disorder?	
0:00 - 2:38	
RM: Asks Q1	Expert suggest differences in
<b>EX8:</b> Yeah, so I would say in my opinion the key	anger displayed between
characteristics, the one that stands out to	narcissists might be one of the
me the most would be just the sense of arrogance	factors worth considering in their
and acts of self-interest. One	separation.
of the characteristics people have this a real of sense	
of superiority, the sense of grandiosity and	
entitlement, some people thinking that they deserve	
better treatment then the others or special treatment.	
Then I would also include selfishness, self-centred,	
really prioritizing one's	
needs over the needs of others. And the last one that	
stands out to me is sort of the	
sense of exhibitionism and attention-seeking, trying	
to be in the spotlight and having	
power, that kind of thing	
<b>RM</b> : Do you distinguish the difference between	
vulnerable and grandiose narcissism?	
<b>EX8</b> : So yeah, that's what I can probably talk a lot	
about. I would make a distinction, yes. I	
probably fall more into the camp where grandiose	
and vulnerable narcissisms are	
different presentations of narcissism rather than	
present just that different types of the	
same person. I think individuals who are very	
grandiose, they might show anger in their	
reaction rather dominant than vulnerable narcissistic	
individuals. But I think there are certainly people out	
there who are narcissistic just because they are	
narcissistic and not because they are trying to master	
underline vulnerability or something that they don't	
like about themselves. So, I would make distinguish	
between those 2 things.	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be bet	ween a person displaying
narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?	

#### 2:39 - 5:12**RM**: asks O2 Suggests that normal levels of **EX8**: I guess I would think about it as an issue of narcissism are fine, but when the severity and how much that interferes with the person is deliberately trying to person's functioning or another people's make our lives difficult to the functioning. So for example, you could probably complete disregard of the think of somebody who may be, I would say, they emotions of others, then it can be are a little bit smart or arrogant, but they are still considered a serious condition. likable or overall generally a fine, or average This would suggest that the member of society. Maybe they talk about expert considers NPD to be a themselves too much but in general they are serious condition. enjoyable person to be around. Whether if you're thinking about it as a full-blown disorder those traits are present very strongly and they either interfere with person's functioning. For example, maybe it makes their relationships difficult, or they make the lives of other people really difficult. So perhaps they are manipulative and self-centred in relationships or seek power just for the sake of seeking power and you could see a situation where it becomes a problem for other people. And I think and the disorder I really think about is an extreme version of some Machiavellian characteristics. **RM:** *It's interesting that NPD is a little bit different,* perhaps, to other personality disorders on which extend to how you consider someone to have NPD or not tend to be a lot on how tolerable people find them in a way. *Like there are certainly people* who kind of write that line of like... I think perhaps, may be Robert Downy Jr... EX8: Yeah, sure **RM:** *kind of cheeky cocky guy but everyone loves* that about them. Maybe it's almost like a leader quality in a way or something like that EX8: yeah. **RM:** *Or like a bonding element in a way. Then* that's not exactly narcissism, that's something else, I suppose. **EX8**: Yeah, I think that's a good example and I think this may be getting in some other

questions a little bit. But I think that with narcissism the ugliest how I see it the issues of the distresser has always been jealously to the detriment of themselves and others, but they might cause problems for other people, like manipulative relationships, that kind of things.	
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be proposed by $5.12 - 6.40$	evalent in the general populace?
5:13 – 6:49 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q3	
<b>EX8:</b> I would say that the prevalence is very low of NPD that is. Although that's of course subjective. Estimates I've seen of range like anywhere from 1 to 5 percent I mean based on qualitative experience of what I've read	
<b>RM:</b> On the estimate I've heard, perhaps, somewhere around the 0.1 to 1 percent even less	
maybe	
EX8: Oh, WOW, yeah	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Extremely low. It's very subjective.</i>	
<b>EX8</b> : It is indeed.	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a constant $6:50 - 8:46$	ontributor to NPD?
RM: Asks Q4	Suggests that some narcissistic
<b>EX8:</b> I think that's an interesting question and, in	characteristic or behaviours from
my opinion, as far as the development of	the parents are epi-genetical and
narcissism we don't have very good understanding	behaviours can be passed down
of, there different theories out there but to my knowledge there have been a lot of societal research	genetically. In addition, given the biological similarities all
examining these kinds of issues but not so many	humans have, it would be
examining these kinds of issues out not so many	

<b>Kivi</b> : 15k5 Q7	Dug
<b>EX8:</b> I think that's an interesting question and, in	cha
my opinion, as far as the development of	the
narcissism we don't have very good understanding	beh
of, there different theories out there but to my	gen
knowledge there have been a lot of societal research	the
examining these kinds of issues but not so many	hun
genetic studies. I would say that genetics is pretty	reas
big component to it that would explain a lot	beh
of the characteristics, where you see it in siblings or	mai
children and parents. Even when you conduct twin	sim
studies and separate them, then tend to grow up with	Thi
some innate traits from their parents. Also I mean	biol
given how similar humans are biologically, it would	grea
make sense that genetics influence behaviour in a	C
huge way. I would think that it definitely is the	
central component as important as the environment,	
certainly, I would think.	
<b>RM</b> : Would you say it is roughly 50%, I suppose it's	
where most people fall. It seems very	
	1

Suggests that some narcissistic characteristic or behaviours from the parents are epi-genetical and behaviours can be passed down genetically. In addition, given the biological similarities all humans have, it would be reasonable to imagine that behaviour is recreated, manifested and understood in a similar way within the brain. This would suggest that human biology could effe3ct mood a great deal.

difficult to determine ultimately because I've never met anyone, or rather I haven't interviewed anyone who really can say with definition about the role of genetics that pretty much (I'm going to get to this later) all based on the society and the environment because people just don't know. It's too dangerous because of the problem of multi- generational studies which people going to conduct. <b>EX8</b> : Yeah, absolutely. I think environmentally I don't think we know whole lot about narcissism. But then again, we know very little and that is difficult and	
<ul> <li>important question to be answered, certainly.</li> <li>Q5: How influential would you consider society and the contributors to NPD?</li> <li>8:47 – 13:45</li> <li>RM: Asks Q5</li> <li>EX8: I think genetics is probably more primary and genetics help dictate the environment that you choose, that kind of thing. That being said, I think just like anything there certainly is more important environmental contribution and so from what I've read there 2 sorts of theories of development of narcissism. One of them seems to be that narcissist is chosen at birth to develop these tendencies. Another one is the person who is narcissistic as an adult was spoiled as a child and thought they were special, they were great. I would personally see that as a bigger influence of narcissism but again, I don't think we have</li> <li>the answers to these questions and I think that is an important direction for narcissism research quite forward.</li> <li>RM: That is interesting because arguably schooling in more recent decades had that kind of spin on it which is bigging children up a lot like 'you are great''.</li> <li>EX8: Right</li> </ul>	he environment to be as Expert suggests 'there 2 sorts of theories of development of narcissism. One of them seems to be that narcissist is chosen at birth to develop these tendencies. Another one is the person who is narcissistic as an adult was spoiled as a child and thought they were special, they were great. I would personally see that as a bigger influence of narcissism, but again, I don't think we have the answers to these questions
<b>EX8:</b> Right <b>RM</b> : <i>I was wondering if you think, well, firstly, if you agree with it, secondly, if you</i>	

think that could lead potentially to more narcissistic	
as a general populus? Or is it,	
perhaps, may be more deeper issue than that, and	
this is only self-esteem issue	
<b>EX8:</b> Yeah, it is an interesting question. There is a	
lot of stuff now about generation millennials and	
narcissism, whether the society is promoting that. I	
think there's been	
some debate about that. In the States there's	
increasing valuation narcissism	
being measured. Once could argue that the president	
chosen for the country is a reflection of this. But the	
thing is a leader and being really confident and really	
persuasive is a good thing. I think those traits are	
really being valued by younger generation. So, I	
could think that contributing to some degree or may	
be people who don't have those traits can feel like	
something's wrong about them and they're not	
leadership type. But I think we can only have so	
many leaders and I think telling everybody they are	
going to be a leader probably is unrealistic. And I	
could see that contributing to narcissism in some	
way shape or form. Because, again, I don't think	
everybody can be a leader, but I can see at schools,	
at least in the States, where everybody is told to be a	
leader and to stand out and that's sort of interesting	
perspective.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>Mathematically for everyone to be a leader it</i>	
would be impossible. I think for lots of people think	
they want it but actually they don't	
particularly want to be a leader, they hope to follow	
a leader they believe in. You've	
gotta be a little bit narcissistic to be a leader	
because you want to stand in front. May be	
<i>he will tell "oh, I'm doing it to help society" or</i>	
whatever but there's still something	
underline there.	
<b>EX8:</b> Oh yeah, I mean you have to be ok with the	
attention, be comfortable with the fame and still	
manage it	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Do you think recent integration of social media</i>	
has influenced narcissistic tendencies?	
<b>EX8</b> : I think it's possible. I think may be to some	
degree, but I think it also may be that people who are	

already type of narcissistic or histrionic just are	
louder and able to express themselves better on	
social media. Just now that we	
see it more. But companies like Facebook have	
massive massive marketing teams designed to	
among other things bring out that kind of narcissism	
which keeps you posting. So I think it	
probably contributes to some extent, but I think a lot	
of it is just giving the people the	
outlet to what they already have. It's just now on	
display more.	
<b>RM:</b> Well, you get a mathematical representation to	
something like Facebook or you get an amount of	
likes and comments that you wouldn't have	
mentioned if you were alone. It was just based on	
how you or other people were experiencing it.	
Whether now it has mathematical basis behind your	
thinking of how the people think about you.	
EX8: Yeah	
<b>RM</b> : Who knows? It's going to take a long time now	
to do the research on it	
	• 1• • • • •
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as prov	iding positive personal
characteristics?	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q6	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention,	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self-	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know,	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know,	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're running group or even in a clinical psychology world	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're running group or even in a clinical psychology world if you want to be a top scientist or researcher. There some of those traits that could be	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're running group or even in a clinical psychology world if you want to be a top scientist or	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're running group or even in a clinical psychology world if you want to be a top scientist or researcher. There some of those traits that could be adopted. I think some of this leadership and	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're running group or even in a clinical psychology world if you want to be a top scientist or researcher. There some of those traits that could be adopted. I think some of this leadership and confidence aspects could be	iding positive personal
characteristics? 13:47 – 15:07 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q6</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think some of the things we talked about in their less extreme forms like the leadership aspect. Like you were saying, to be an effective leader you have to have some confidence, to be the centre of attention, assertive, driven and have a strong sense of self- belief. So I could see a lot of situations, you know, when you're running a company, you're running group or even in a clinical psychology world if you want to be a top scientist or researcher. There some of those traits that could be adopted. I think some of this leadership and confidence aspects could be adapted. But I think if you're a professional athlete, I	iding positive personal

them or if they want to be the person who takes the	
final shot or the final shot or the	
final shot of big name. There is a lot of variable and	
it all intermingles with what it means to be human.	
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in	terpretation of NPD to accurate?
15:08 - 18:14	
RM: Asks Q7	
EX8: So, I would say, overall, it's a good	
representation. I think some of the criteria are	
probably just different ways of asking the same	
thing. But I think overall, it is a	
good reflection of some of the core traits that at least	
that I think of as defining	
narcissism. I think it reflects here against entitlement	
those kind of things. I think having a bit of a fuller	
and cleverer dimensional model will be preferable to	
the criteria. Also, some of criteria themselves seem a	
bit redundant So I I prefer a complex model with the	
trait dimensions rather than categoric	
criteria.	
<b>RM:</b> That's been a hot question. One expert said	
"you should throw that all	
out because it is much too vague – classifying people	
with the sort which just putting	
them into the category and not actually treating	
them on individual basis". He said it's	
kind of a problem when it's quite brief and also it	
doesn't necessary reflect the use of	
vulnerable narcissism. It's still up in the air and	
everyone is coming to it from a different kind of	
angle.	
<b>EX8</b> : I think, like you said, there is not a lot of	
consensus, I think people are not happy	
with it as it is. I would generally agree that these	
categories, but they don't know exactly what that	
means, we're saying you can't take	
into account another trait as well that might also be	
present, or some other disorder.	
Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific com	munity understands NPD?
18:15 – 19:56	
RM: Asks Q8	Expert suggest one of the key
	issues in the understanding of
	issues in the understanding of

<b>EX8:</b> I think, honestly, there people who are really	narcissism is the multiple
passionate about that and I	backgrounds and methodologies
think they are taking these issues really seriously but	having issue being compared and
this is based just on my personal	contrasted. Whilst it can be
experiences, when I've discussed vulnerable and	done, it does not accurately
grandiose narcissism and those	display the full picture of
concepts with other people and other researchers,	narcissism and can be interpreted
most of it is just kind of speculative. I think some of	in many ways. Also given its
the issues with that are that narcissism is studied a	entirely theoretical nature it is
lot in clinical psychology, also studied a lot in	difficult to even define it
personality psychology and social psychology. And	properly.
you have years of intermixing literature and so may	
be people are more or less familiar with those	
individual literatures and it is hard, and have their	
own interpretations I think it is challenging for	
anybody to integrate those literatures and make	
sense of it all, especially even when the experts, like	
you're saying, who studied NPD, narcissism	
specifically, can't agree on consensual definition,	
that makes it tough to compare and contrast the	
research with one another. I don't think that we can	
expect them to have a good definition because we	
don't have one actually.	
don't have one actually.	
Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr	ibutes do you consider to be the
most valid and why?	ioucos do you consider to be the
19:57 – 23:11	
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q9	Expert suggest multiple sources,
<b>EX8:</b> I guess maybe this is kind of cheating, but I	and utilising interviews with
would say as much as possible getting	close family members.
multiple measures and sources of information from	close family memoers.
the person themselves, also from informant, so	Expert recommends using
perhaps, people who've known that person for a	ecological momentary
while, because they can bring different perspective.	assessment designs. This would
A person that you meet for one hour in a clinic	mean following a narcissistic
might not get an accurate picture. Also a really	individual imoving throughout
narcissistic and self-centred might be worried that	their daily lives if they do show
you are going to try and change and influence them	these fluctuations of grandiosity
so they might try and hind their condition from you,	to vulnerability. I think that the
especially if they know the reason for their clinical	research that is focused on
visit. One really important future direction for	
visit. One rearry important future uncetion for	
narcissism is really get	vulnerable is really just
narcissism is really get	speculative.
narcissism is really get out this question of vulnerability assessed, by using broad longitude studies, that use large sample sizes.	

	1
Also using ecological momentary assessment designs that we can actually test to the extent that narcissist is moving throughout their daily lives if they do show these fluctuations of grandiosity to vulnerability. I think that the research that is focused on vulnerable is really just speculative. <b>RM:</b> <i>How would you test it</i> ? <b>EX8:</b> I think you could do couple different ways. I think you could do it when you're just using EMA of what happened to person, by filling out a diary. In that case of EMA approach you just track them of complete assessment, you know, several random assessments a day for so many days, track whether or not they were in a social situation and how they've responded. That would be one way to get at it. But then you can see if there is anything that is unusual. Do you see fluctuations or narcissistic outbursts or is this person pretty much always says that they feel good about themselves and that would be interesting. Another way to get at it would be to use more of an experimental design where, for example, you actually bring narcissist to a lab studying, have them do some sort of task to see if they show more reactivity to criticism from others or to negative abuse from others. I think that there are couple of different ways you can go about it. I think that would be interesting approaches that would really take these researches a step forward.	around them filling in diaries that record outburst of narcissism from the individual. Acting as both self-reflection and data taking.
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyin Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 23:11 - 27:04	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q10</i> <b>EX8:</b> I would say for the most part no, I think I'm most interested in studying different approaches like methodology (pathology?), what are the elements of NPD that can distinguish it from other disorders. So I'm guessing with this question getting about grandiose vs vulnerable distinction and I think for somebody to be a narcissist there's a	Expert suggest there is no need to further split NPD and this would intermingle more with other disorders. Expert argues for the adoption for a trait-based model for medic al diagnostics, suggesting NPD should only be; used for a n individual with particular grandiose tendencies.

grandiosity and entitlement and attention seeking	
that really has to be there. And I think	Expert suggests that most
you just have these vulnerable features are like some	practical model is a trait based
other personality disorder. For example: avoidance	one, however it is necessary to
personality disorder, really something that's	have disorder cut off points for
different and I think what stands out about	diagnostic purposes.
narcissism or the grandiose aspects is just they focus	
on self-entitlement and grandiosity and if those are	
not present you don't have in narcissist. That person	
could	
also just be having some brief mood swings, or	
could be self-conscious in some situations and I	
think grandiosity is the thing that distinguishes	
narcissism. Without it the condition becomes	
something else.	
<b>RM:</b> Would you consider doing split and kind of	
disorder labels and moving away from	
the idea of NPD to grandiose personality disorder or	
vulnerable personality disorder?	
<b>EX8:</b> I think that the best way to capture that will be	
some sort of a trait model where	
you could have somebody who is high on grandiose	
traits or you some sort of specify if	
they also show elevation on vulnerable traits.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Is there an issue with trait theory not providing</i>	
a diagnostic name for people? It	
only provides them with point score? Would that be	
an issue?	
<b>EX8:</b> I think that would be important if we adapt	
some kind of trait scheme you still have	
labels of some sort of greater purposes and	
reinvestment, also communication with the patients.	
So, I think the challenge of that would be	
determining where are the key markers. For	
somebody to meet even if you're using the trait	
model to be diagnosed with NPD. I think they would	
have to have eye caught on high scores of grandiose	
traits such as entitlement and exhibitionism and	
inflated self-esteem. Again, I think at the most	
fundamental cores of those high scores that would	
have to be there to get somebody this label. But I	
think that label is important for a lot of purposes.	
With using this dimensional scheme, we don't have	
to parallel label entirely, we just say the most	

primary thing going on there seems to be these grandiose traits.	
Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff $27.05 - 29.52$	Fer from NPD and why?
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q11</li> <li>EX8: I would say males are. I would think it could definitely be problematic in some females but looking at the personality literature I think the men are higher on the measures of leadership and measures of antagonism and some of these other traits that we've talked about being central to narcissism, there are probably some cultural factors that includes that: for example, where men are just put into the leadership roles more respected as the leaders then women, so I would say – men.</li> <li>RM: Do you reckon that is to do with testosterone and estrogen or society structure?</li> <li>EX8: I think probably both of those things. I do think the societal structure is probably some of it where I could say there are probably more expectations for males that there will be leaders. I mean, look at the USA, supposed to be one of the leaders in global progression and freedom you've never had a female president. There certainly seem to be strong environmental influences there too, and I think for men perhaps it's more appropriate or OK to be narcissistic whereas women might receive harsh environmental feedback for seeming to arrogant or too much of a leader type.</li> <li>RM: It is very difficult for a woman to pull of because men are looking to put them down especially in a way of the challenges in a narcissistic way, in a way, perhaps, a man could or would act. Could you imagine, for example, a female Donald Trump in a way he would act? It is very hard to imagine</li> <li>EX8: Absolutely. I think for women it is much finer line and more difficult line to walk. And</li> <li>I mean I couldn't really imagine situation where we would have a female Donald Trump</li> </ul>	Expert suggest men are more likely to have narcissistic tendencies.

# Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the severity of the NPD condition? 29:53 – 32:37

### RM: Asks Q12

**EX8:** I think to some degree, but I also think we don't have really clear answer on this. I think it's hard to imagine somebody in their 70s or 80s just being as aggressive about their narcissism I guess where it's really out there and they are really seeking attention especially if you are, or used to be an exhibitionist. Any exhibitionist has aspects of the NPD disorder: it might be about one's aging body or being a centre of attention, or progressing sexual boundaries, the need to for fill a kind of kink. I think those things are probably associated to age to some degree. Whereas again people who are poor, look plain and never had much interest in mating. They are not really judged based on their appearances as much as narcissist who is under the impression everyone envies them and wants to have what they have. So, I can see it influencing those particular traits the most, the ones that are based on exhibitionism and attention seeking and liking someone's body and finding it attractive **RM:** *I* was speaking to one of the experts and he said that that's the thing about age: it's the ultimate fight for narcissistic individuals, because they can't win. You can fight it with face lifts and tummy tucks, but ultimately, it's going to get you in the end. But interestingly it also seems that highly narcissistic attributes seem to draw off kind of in the early 20s like 25. Do you have any idea why is that might be? **EX8:** You know, one theory might be that in your teens - early 20s some level of narcissism is adaptive, sort of gives you confidence to go off and do your own things. That could be some of it. I think at that age they are probably also much more focused in popularity, if you think about people who are in college and if we are talking about something like Facebook or Instagram there is a lot of reinforcement at that age for appearing to be very socially active, loving and kind of wild and I think that there are a lot of environmental

Suggests that people who display exhibitionist tendencies most likely have some aspect of NPD in their psyche. The wanton need to expose oneself is suggested to have ties with the need for public attention and admiration associated with NPD. This is in conjunction with the sexual boundaries that suffers of NPD often seem to have issue affirming too.

Expert also suggests that narcissistic tendencies in the teens and tweenies can be aggravated and heightened by the rise of social media and heavy market directions towards consumerism.

expectations at that age too that contribute to narcissism showing up. Since these kids think that this will make them happy, they are willing to push the ethical and moral boundaries to achieve this kind of mad high expenditure lifestyle. Its all just marketing though of course.	
<ul> <li>Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the solution of the</li></ul>	severity of the NPD condition? Expert does not necessarily suggest that NPD would be worse as result of substance abuse. Suggest that individuals with NPD already will display narcissistic tendencies without substance, only that substances might reduce ability to withhold expressing all thoughts and ideas without a filter.
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u $34:27 - 37:39$	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q14</i> <b>EX8</b> : I think some of these we've already touched. I guess I see 2 issues. The 1st one is how much should vulnerability be represented, definition on the	Experts suggests one of the key issues is to do with how much emphasis is placed on the role of vulnerability within narcissism.

a ground of managing I think we need to determine	
concept of narcissism - I think we need to determine	The second issue is due to look
that. And then if we	The second issue is due to lack
determine that (yes or no), to what degree a person	of consensus within the
needs to be in a category that suggests expressive	community on basically all
narcissistic tendencies. Then I think we need to	aspects of narcissism, with no
come up with the best way to measure it whether it	new information coming to light
would be the traits or some sort of combination	that will currently change minds.
where we use traits and then the category. So, I think	
one is to determine the extent to which the	
vulnerability is also part of narcissism. But before	
we do that I think we need to pin down what the key	
traits and aspects of disfunction are. That's a really	
important issue, obviously: when you're going	
all the way down to what the disorder is and how we	
define it, $\check{I}$ don't think not necessarily asking those	
questions for something like depression is a bad idea	
either	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Why do you think we still haven't kind of</i>	
established a precise measuring method. I'm not	
going to say we haven't come long way but it still	
seems like almost pioneering research still needs to	
be done in some	
ways and if it's not that, like you said, the	
implementation of a multi-dimensional	
attribution model. Why is it taking so long to be put	
in place?	
<b>EX8:</b> I think some of that is as far as the definition.	
Like I said, I think there is a lot of	
studies of narcissism but all different directions.	
There is the conceptualization of narcissism focuses	
heavily on grandiosity. In the clinical world I think it	
is a little different. Psycho-dynamic theorists and	
therapists who really see	
the vulnerability as an important piece and I think	
we've kind of got to the point where	
people are really stuck in their views. I think	
honestly that's some of it where they are	
not willing to amend and try to find common points	
of their agreement where some	
people saying "no, you're wrong, I had clinical	
cases, vulnerable narcissism is a thing,	
should we treat it like narcissism or like something	
else entirely. I think the progress is then really slow	
because of that. Like I	

said earlier, another important thing is that narcissism really hasn't been studied developmentally or cross cultural or really had environmental design and experimental design very often. So, I think there are some really big holes there, we just don't really have good sense of how core the vulnerability aspect is. Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue tha	t NPD is the least empirically.
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your	do you agree with this sentiment
<ul> <li>37:40 – 41:17</li> <li>RM: Asks Q15</li> <li>EX8: I guess I'm going to look at it as the different diagnosis that is lowly researched. I don't really know anybody who their primary area of study is histrionic personality disorder, or schizoid personality disorder or obsessive-compulsive personality disorder. However even so this sounds like a false claim. I do think the literature has picked up, especially in recent years as narcissism seems to be a topic of continuing public interest. And like I was saying, I think the important future directions is to use latitudinal and EMA designs where we can really assess how stable some of these traits are and how central to narcissism they are.</li> <li>I think without those design we are not being able to answer some of those questions about how central vulnerability. Another big area that I think is important is once we have figured out, we are going to need to push through the dimensional model which I think we should, we need to have some clinical field trials that we show can use these measures effectively and if it does actually, improve diagnostic specimen.</li> <li>RM: It's interesting that you've mentioned the history of narcissism not being focused on because I've heard that from other people as well and I think that distance of papers I researched is something like 10 years old so it turns out to not being exactly</li> </ul>	Expert does not agree with Stinson claim. Suggest that often histrionic disorder and NPD get measured together which maybe one of the reasons why Stinson et al made this claim. Regardless the expert suggests that this claim by Stinson is false based on a lack of research done specifically on histrionic disorder.

<i>true at all now.</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think that some of it is becoming increasingly more recognized certainly for shifting cultural reasons. I also think when you think of histrionic a lot of models sort of blend in with narcissism and histrionic PD share same features as narcissism, so those things are often end up being studied together or similar traits end up being studied together. You just don't see whole lot of papers where you know, for example, the histrionic disorder is the sole focus where you can see a lot of them where narcissistic is the sole focus.	
QC1: What criteria would you use to classify someone	e as having a mental illness?
41:18 – 42:04 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC1</i> <b>EX:</b> I think the most important thing I could see, I guess there are 2 things: 1 is it very distressing to the person or to other people around them. That's the core criteria. The 2nd thing I would say, especially if you're thinking about severity, almost how much functional can that person done a job, can they go to school, anything that overlapping with the distress. I think sometimes we tend to think of distress and failure to function in a pyramid that's two really separate dimensions. I think they are overlapping to quite some degree, but I think also deserve there own focus.	Suggests that distress and lack of function are both good signs of mental illness.
QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality $42.05 - 42.12$	y disorder to be a mental illness?
42:05 – 43:12 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC2</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think pretty much 100% and if you think of something like anti-social personality disorder or grandiose narcissism again, the problems might not be in that person but in the disorder as present as pathological, it may cause problems for other people, so for example the person who is a narcissist might play a lot of games in the relationships, might always be out for themselves whether it's inside the job or in another setting,	Expert again highlights differences between distress and a lack of functionality. This suggests that people with NPD may have high functionality but are still distressed, meaning they count as having a PD or mental illness.

may be disruptive to the other people just because they are so arrogant. Somebody with anti-social PD, for example, we still say they have a disorder and have a PD even they aren't particularly distressed just because they're breaking laws or something like that. I don't think it necessarily has to be about distress of a person, I think it can be functionality in society's eye, which is a complicated issue but exceptionally impactful.	
<ul> <li>QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a mereoder of the extension of the e</li></ul>	
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as danger 43:42 – 44:57 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QE1</i> <b>EX8:</b> I'm sure you've got I would guess that you've interviewed a lot of joking authors from the America about Donald Trump <b>RM:</b> <i>He has pretty much dominated the research</i> <b>EX8:</b> I think that is a good example when somebody so aggrandising and so self-absorbed and the primary goal really there is to promote the image, their product (you know, their product is themselves). That's not really a good thing when everything is self-centred. I think again, you know, it's not necessarily just Donald Trump but we could probably think of other examples like business executive or even somebody at school who is a bully because they are very narcissistic. There are	ous to society?
probably different manifestations and examples but I think narcissism is a very dominant space thing and so I think in some ways it's hard to reason with a person who is very dominant but for the people whom they	

QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with both NPD and a position of power impact society?44:58 - 47:13RM: Asks QC2EX8: Hmmm, maybe in some sense a level of stubbornness when that person really needs to be right just to be right and this really dogmatic and authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government. I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.Suggests that a narcissistic leader is not necessarily a bad thing if the leader thinks they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44RM: Asks QE3 EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up to that ICD test. It seems more like	are backing whether it is subordinates or dominated individuals they might see some positivity in the actions displayed by the narcissists. And often narcissists feel like they are going to war, they want to rally their troops and get ready to attack. It's kind of a game which other people aren't really playing but caught in the crossfire. You see this a lot in office politics.	
RM: Asks QC2EX8: Hmmm, maybe in some sense a level of stubbornness when that person really needs to be right just to be right and this really dogmatic and authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.Suggests that a narcissistic 	impact society?	oth NPD and a position of power
<ul> <li>EX8: Hmmm, maybe in some sense a level of stubbornness when that person really needs to be right just to be right and this really dogmatic and authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>		Suggests that a narcissistic
<ul> <li>stubbornness when that person really needs to be right just to be right and this really dogmatic and authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>		
right just to be right and this really dogmatic and authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		•
authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government. I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		•
highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government. I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		•
<ul> <li>their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li><b>RM:</b> Asks QE3</li> <li><b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>	highway where is there is no negotiation, no	
leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		• • • •
government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44RM: Asks QE3 EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		5
but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM</b> : Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		their pleas.
canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda. I think the issue there is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 RM: Asks QE3 EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		
their agenda. I think the issue thereis we can think of how confident somebody is andwhat other traits they have. Forexample, if somebody is very confident but theyhave good impulse control, they areself-restrained and in personal interactions they arevery nice person, then it's not sobad if they think they are really great and they aredoing really great job. The problem when they thinkthey are great but they are also think they are jerkand they are loose cannon and have no self-controland just kind of all over the place, floundering forimprovements without thought.QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in theDSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?47:14 - 49:44RM: Asks QE3EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		
<ul> <li>is we can think of how confident somebody is and what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>		
what other traits they have. For example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.          QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?         47:14 – 49:44         RM: Asks QE3         EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		
example, if somebody is very confident but they have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QE3</i> <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up	•	
have good impulse control, they are self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QE3</i> <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up	•	
self-restrained and in personal interactions they are very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 RM: Asks QE3 EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		
very nice person, then it's not so bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought. QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 RM: Asks QE3 EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up	• • •	
<ul> <li>bad if they think they are really great and they are doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>	1	
<ul> <li>doing really great job. The problem when they think they are great but they are also think they are jerk and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>and they are loose cannon and have no self-control and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>and just kind of all over the place, floundering for improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>	they are great but they are also think they are jerk	
<ul> <li>improvements without thought.</li> <li>QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?</li> <li>47:14 – 49:44</li> <li>RM: Asks QE3</li> <li>EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up</li> </ul>	•	
QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified as a Personality Disorder in the DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up		
DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10? 47:14 – 49:44 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE3 <b>EX8:</b> I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up	improvements without thought.	
EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up	DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?	d as a Personality Disorder in the
EX8: I don't see it as a huge issue as I'm not as up	RM: Asks QE3	
to that ICD test. It seems more like		
	to that ICD test. It seems more like	

they are moving towards and more generalist trait
sort of model and I think that
probably is way to go. I think ideally, I would like to
see a DSM follow where the ICD
headed not the other way around. I think there's
been a lot of resistance to change into
trait models and so I would like to see the DSM go
more where it looks ICD is going. And
I think I'll be happy with ICD whether it's 10 or 11.
<b>RM:</b> <i>I'm not sure whether it's been published or not</i>
though
<b>EX8:</b> I don't think so. I think they are working on a
revision right now so may be what I'm
saying doesn't make a lot of sense. But I guess
generally what I've heard of the generalist
perspective of the recognition of different traits, but I
would also like for DSM to
go that way. I think it's a problem if you don't have
the same conditions but there are so many categories
like if you look into the depressive disorders.
There's 10 different depressive disorder diagnoses
and again I think we're better off with having just 1
depressive disorder with some different specifiers
and traits rather than 10 different diagnosis that
essentially capture different degrees or
manifestations of the same thing.

## **Interview with Expert 9**

INTERVIEW 9 Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and	THEMES
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic	
personality disorder?	
0:00 - 2:04	
RM: Asks Q1	
<b>EX9:</b> Er yeah sure, so I mean there are some common traits shared by all narcissists and then there are traits that say a vulnerable narcissist would have as compared to a grandiose one. Common traits would be the detachment of self that a person has that causes them to foster resentful tendencies, so normally the narcissism is a reflection of the behaviour of the parent. The commonality is that the behaviour is abusive in some nature. Other communalities would be highly sensitive to criticism, although how this manifests as behaviour would alter. Grandiosity, lack of empathy Err just little understanding of the emotions of others. Traits like self-entitlement, perceived feeling of uniqueness to an extreme extent err self-disregard for others, I mean all narcissistic tendencies but ones that are obviously extreme, NPD is an extreme disorder.	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be betw narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 2:05 - 6:12	ween a person displaying
RM: Asks Q2	Expert suggests that narcissistic
<b>EX9:</b> That's a good question, hmm one thing I would really emphasis is the lack of self-control a person with NPD has. They behave almost mindlessly towards simple goals, kind of in a	tendencies come from childhood trauma, in particular bullying and abuse. Without a proper role model which the child is loved
miasma. Just trapped in their thinking. The grandiosity come along with the disorder, but at its	by these aspects of abuse build and form future narcissistic
core, it's a disability. I think this delusion of grandiosity and arrogance is a manifestation of being	intensity.
unable to correctly process how to behave within society. They are so unhappy in their own lives that	
they really struggle to be compassionate to others, I really don't think they can help it. For diagnosing	
this difference, we recently we have seen a move to	

twit the arry. It's the many approximate method and has	
trait theory. It's the more accurate method and has	
been peer reviewed so much at this point it should be	
implemented. Really, it is debatable whether or not	
NPD even exists, where is the hypothetical line	
drawn, you know.	
RM: Right.	
<b>EX9</b> : So I mean it has to be debilitating, yeah so that	
it interferes in that person's life and the life of others	
around them to a intolerable state.	
<b>RM:</b> So it's a case of tolerance?	
<b>EX9:</b> Sure, I mean that is subjective of course, what	
is tolerable, who is to say. Maybe that attributes to	
its rareness, because it is indistinguishable from	
being human in a way. Of course, NPD is very	
serious in its effects on others, of course. It of course	
depends which perspective you use as a determinate	
of what is too much narcissism. It's all based on	
personal interpretation that is the issue, and all the	
marker points are subjective. The DSM criteria is	
only nine little vague descriptions and from that an	
entire medical diagnosis is made.	
<b>RM</b> : That is what I have heard	
<b>EX9</b> : Of course, we now know that it is more	
complex than that, how much more complex who	
could say. Perhaps it is due to the extent of their	
childhood trauma.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>Could you elaborate</i> ?	
<b>EX9:</b> Sure, so let's say the degree to which that	
child experienced abuse from bullies, or abuse from	
adults, whether sexual. Physical or verbal, they can	
all be effective at unleashing narcissistic tendencies	
later in life.	
RM: Sure	
<b>EX9:</b> that's not to say such trauma would in any	
way guarantee narcissistic tendencies, only that	
extreme cases could be more likely to cause NPD,	
especially if that child does not have a loving and	
teaching support group.	
<b>RM:</b> You mean parental?	
<b>EX9:</b> Predominately, but it could also be the support	
and love of a sibling or guardian, like grandparent	
that helps guide and channel malevolent tendencies.	
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be pre	evalent in the general populace?

6:13 – 7:52	
RM: Asks Q3	
<b>EX9:</b> Very rare, very rare, hmmm maybe around say	
one in 200 maybe 300.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>I hear estimates between</i> 0.01 – 1 percent	
<b>EX9:</b> Yeah perhaps my first estimate was an over	
estimation, I honestly have not done enough research	
to say with some determination, but then who really	
has.	
<b>RM:</b> Sure, that seems to be the consensus	
<b>EX9:</b> Again, it really depends where you are going	
to draw the line, what are the parameters behind the	
diagnosis, of course different psychologists are	
doing to diagnose differently, so I can't imagine	
these figures are precisely accurate.	
<b>RM:</b> No, I do not think so, it's just what I have	
heard.	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co	ontributor to NPD?
7:53 - 10:22	
RM: Asks Q4	Argues that genetics testing is
<b>EX9:</b> Hmmm I'm not too sure, certainly it plays	too difficult to isolate factors,
some role. I forget the authors of the paper, but I	there is also not too much point
read in the not too distant past. It focused on the	currently
likelihood of children becoming narcissistic if their	
parents were. The children had been separated from	
the parents at birth. I mean the paper proved that	
these two factors do correlate relatively well,	
however the why is unclear, so this reference isn't	
too useful I guess,	
RM: Ha-ha	
<b>EX9</b> : Well, I mean it just impossible to know, does	
every one of the previous interviewees know?	
<b>RM</b> : <i>Erm I would have to go back and check, but im</i>	
pretty sure no, no one has any real knowledge.	
<b>EX9</b> : The thing is it is an interesting question but	
given the amount of data we have and the	
requirements to set up such an experiment, would be	
just about impossible, to isolate all the factors and its	
highly open to some bias, and ultimately it isn't	
worth spending too much time on. Unless you	
conducted a great deal of interviews.	
-	
<b>RM:</b> Since it lacks practical application	

<b>EX9:</b> Well no not exactly, it arguably does lack	
application, but its more that it would be very	
unlikely to prove with any credibility the relevance	
of genetics. It's just not possible right now.	
or genericor in o just not possible right not it	
Q5: How influential would you consider society and the	ne environment to be as
contributors to NPD?	
10:23 - 14:57	
RM: Asks Q5	
<b>EX9:</b> Yeah well on the other hand we know quite a	
bit more about the effects of the environment in	
comparison to genetics.	
<b>RM:</b> Sure, could you go into some more detail about	
what you mean when you say key role models.	
<b>EX9:</b> Yeah sure, so the mother and father figure of	
course. If one of these two sets a good example, with	
plenty of love, this role model can overcome the	
development of narcissistic tendencies. If both the	
mother and father fail, it is likely that the child will	
grow up with some degree of heighten narcissistic	
tendencies, but a good sibling or guardian figure,	
maybe even a childhood friend can reduce the	
likelihood of NPD. I think it was Arson and Wick's	
paper which goes into a little more depth over the	
subject matter. I mean the thing is though a child is	
constantly learning, the camera is always recording	
so to speak. If a teacher isn't present they will find	
one in the form of the world around them, test things	
curiously. Since the world is filled with more than its fair share of pain and suffering, anxiety and misery it	
is possible and very probable that a child in a poor	
environment with be influenced by negative effects	
of the environment. Even a child living in the safe	
loving environment will always see aspects of the	
world which they dislike and can be heavily	
influenced by.	
initialized by:	
Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as prov	iding positive personal
characteristics?	
14:58 - 20:12	
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q6	
<b>EX9:</b> Hmm I mean by definition, none. It's a mental	
disorder right so it is affecting the patient to such an	
extent where they can no longer function in the real	

world. If they are diagnosed with NPD. Do you	
mean what are some of the benefits of narcissistic	
tendencies?	
<b>RM:</b> <i>Hehe yeah exactly.</i>	
EX9: So, I mean we see it in all aspects of the public	
eye, through entertainment and sport, narcissistic	
characters often tend to bring the attention of the	
populace. I think a good example is Floyd	
Mayweather, so when he was known as Pretty Boy	
Mayweather he was smashing people, but nobody	
was interested in watching him fight. He has kind of	
a boring points based defensive style, that isn't all	
that interesting to watch, plus he is a small weight	
class.	
RM: Sure	
EX9: But then he changed his name to Money	
Mayweather, started talking lots of shit; saying he	
was better than everyone else; throwing money	
around; really being as narcissistic as he could be. It	
was almost a persona. He literally has the intention	
of getting everyone to hate him. Suddenly all eyes	
are on him and everyone wants to see him get	
mauled, so his pay-per-view buys surge and	
suddenly he is one of the most famous boxers of all	
time. Now in the last few years he has kind of	
changed into a more kind-hearted individual, but he	
realised that some of his success was based upon	
people wanting to see him get badly hurt. I wouldn't	
say this is normally how a true narcissist thinks, but	
I think that partial Flloyd stumbled upon this	
technique partially because he was so narcissistic,	
and partly because it is a truism of human nature, to	
what to the see the narcissistically arrogant get	
punished for their hubris. Sorry I haven't really	
answered the question here.	
<b>RM:</b> No you have although im not to sure if having	
people hate you is such a great benefit.	
<b>EX9</b> : Haha no of course not, that is an extreme	
example. The grandiosity, being characterised as a	
trait of leader, you see narcissistic individuals often	
become leaders. I think it was Josh Miller who did a	
lot of work regarding the relation between the	
proportion of people who held elevated narcissistic	
traits and were in position of power, and the	

correlation was rather strong I believe. I would also say there is a certain level of protection one gets from a purely headstrong narcissistic approach, although I don't believe that there are truly any benefits to be narcissistic in comparison to the person you could be.	
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 in	terprotation of NDD to accurate?
20:13 - 21:39	terpretation of NPD to accurate?
	Suggests a place for both the
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q7	Suggests a place for both the
<b>EX9:</b> Hmm its pretty good I would say, there is a hard learning on the granding constant of noningian	DSM and a trait based diagnostic
hard learning on the grandiose aspect of narcissism,	approach.
but I believe that is what is should be predominately	
trying to capture. More detail on the criteria	
probably would not help.	
<b>RM:</b> You mean the split to vulnerable and the	
grandiose. EX9: Yes, but really people aren't sure enough	
about the split to be implanting it into the DSM yet.	
Millers FFM model seems like a smarter approach.	
To be honest moving to a more trait-based approach.	
certainly seems the more sensible way to approach	
the subject. The DSM has its uses for sure, but really	
clinicians should not be banking on it to hard when it	
comes to therapy, it's a diversion from the core	
issue.	
15500.	
Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific comparison $21:40 - 23:04$	munity understands NPD?
RM: Asks Q8	
<b>EX9:</b> Err I think its kind of relative, in comparison	
to what we are going to know in fifty years, I think	
we will look back and say we knew very little. In	
terms of being to treat it currently, I think we do	
okay, just okay but okay, especially if you compare	
to just a hundred years ago, there was basically no	
structured mental health system anywhere.	
RM: Sure.	
<b>EX9:</b> Also when you say compare our mental health	
programs to say what Freud and Jung were	
suggesting, things have completely changed. This	
idea of hard diagnosing conditions. Its going to be	
the same in just a few years, especially with future	
robotic diagnosing assistance.	

<b>RM:</b> Okay that brings us to my next question.	
Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr most valid and why? 23:05 – 24:11	ibutes do you consider to be the
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX9: Hmmm I don't really know what to say, I'm probably not a great source on comparison. Probably the NPI I guess</li> <li>RM: That's what a lot of people have said</li> <li>EX9: Of course it depends entirely on what you are trying to measure. Any research you are planning to undertake, you should have a great deal of knowledge about the most valid instruments, but I'm afraid I haven't done really any work with the presented inventories. From what I've read on the NPI it seems relatively well regarded. Sorry I'm not more help.</li> </ul>	Expert unfamiliar with using inventories.
Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyin Do you agree with this sentiment and why? 24:15 – 27:23	ng in appearance and recognition.
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q10</li> <li>EX9: Yes I would say so, I would say there is enough definitive proof that suggests multiple different behavioural patterns can be observed in NPD sufferers. The five in nine systems is not entirely correct in its approach. It's a little bit too broad to be entirely accurate.</li> <li>RM: I would say it seems like there is a lot of agreement for this position.</li> <li>EX9: Yeah I would say so, its hard to tell, but a great deal of people have written about the subject, and I don't believe there would too many negative ramifications to introducing a grandiose and vulnerable split, although as I mentioned the trait based approach especially the FFM one is very impressive and probably the future.</li> <li>RM: Why not split it more?</li> <li>EX9: Well yeah that's the thing, should it be split into more categories, I personally would say no. The way to approach this is with small steps, continuously little changes. This allows us to utilise the data we have and keep some semblance of</li> </ul>	Suggests that whilst vulnerable and grandiose may be a fine division, further division would most likely cause confusion to diagnose. Expert proposed moving to a more trait-based approach for this reason, describing the FFM as the future.

<ul> <li>structure. I would say if you made say four sub categories of NPD for example, then the dispute over why four categories and what they should be there would be a rampant one.</li> <li>Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff 27:24 – 28:47</li> <li>RM: Asks Q11</li> <li>EX9: For sure men, I'm not saying you don't encounter narcissistic women, you do all the time. Narcissism is more suppressed in women, and since NPD is largely centred around blatant symptoms,</li> </ul>	er from NPD and why?
<ul> <li>NPD is certainly diagnosed far more in men.</li> <li>RM: Why is that?</li> <li>EX9: Who can say, many reasons. The patriarchal shape of society, the validation and encouragement of such traits in men over women, perhaps based in hormones, or in general physical strength. It is a combo of biological and societal that is for sure. Biology influences society in a rather meaningful way, but we have no real idea what kind of influence that it. No one really does, the data just isn't that producible on any meaningful level.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 28:49 – 30:02</li> <li>RM: Asks Q12</li> <li>EX9: I'm not sure to be honest, it probably tapers in the twenties, thirties perhaps. I mean it depends on the circumstances of the life, how much influence and money that person has. Its easy to become a narcissist if people worship you like a god, at the same time its hard to remain a narcissist when people constantly put you down and dominate you.</li> <li>RM: Would you say if you are born rich you are more likely to become a narcissist.</li> <li>EX9: Of yeah for sure, it's a generational thing, if the parents are highly narcissistic, its likely that the child with become that too, especially if it's a boy observing the behaviour of his narcissistic father. This is how the boy thinks a man should act, and often grows up believing this. This is then passed on to his children.</li> </ul>	verity of the NPD condition? Suggest that NPD is likely to decline in twenties/ thirties but obviously depending on the circumstances of the life, how much power that person has over others, and if factors have occurred that would stop them from abusing the power.

Q13: In what aspects does substance abuse affect the s 30:03 – 31:26 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q13 <b>EX9:</b> Again, I'm not entirely sure, I have to imagine that certain drugs, ones that are renown for making a person behave in a more narcissistic manner, like alcohol or cocaine, you have to imagine they exacerbate the problem. A person will NPD is quite likely to have some sort of addiction, whether it is to the constant maintenance of their body, their social appearance often requiring a crutch. By I mean that is true of most mental disorders. Narcissism is a little different though because it is present to some degree in everyone. What NPD refers to is an extreme	severity of the NPD condition?
display of common traits.	
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u 31:27 – 33:49 RM: Asks Q14	nderstanding of NPD? Suggests that research is going
<b>EX9:</b> This is pretty difficult to say, who knows what the future has to offer. I mean I think we as a community addressing the shortcomings of our understanding. The things being pursued pretty much most things that should be pursued. I mean scientists are always looking to make their research count and be cited by others, so interesting topics often get tackled. The big problems facing the understanding of NPD are the same as the problems facing the understanding of most disorders. We need to do larger scale testing, using a whole lot of different methods to support, just trying a whole bunch of different ideas and items. I mean the breakthroughs we are talking about are going to be in the form of new and interesting discoveries obviously right. So really the more and varied the testing the better chance we have of understanding human psychology as a whole concept. I wouldn't say there is anything about NPD specifically which is hard to test, it's a pretty obvious disorder and we have some great metrics already for determining it with high accuracy.	Suggests that research is going in the right direction and the community is making breakthroughs. Suggests larger scale testing and a variety of different experiments with varied methodologies could also help.

Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that researched of all personality disorders, to what extent of and is there areas that require further research in your $33:50 - 34:21$ <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX9</b> : Hmmm I don't really know what to think of that. Sounds wrong honestly. Hmmm well, I personally don't think it is the least researched of all disorders, in my mind for sure it isn't, but I really haven't done the research. I mean would it even be worth doing the research to find out? Research should really be generated by relevant subject matter, not by need to have an arbitrary equal distribution of resources.	do you agree with this sentiment opinion? Suggests Stinson claim is irrelevant and as it wouldn't effect the amount of research being done on NPD.
QC1: What criteria would you use to classify someone 34:22 – 35:27 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC1</i> <b>EX9:</b> A mental illness? Hmmm a big one is disorder, the complete loss of control over their behaviour, to the point where they are harming others with their behaviour, in ways they really don't want to. It's a disease, a mental disorder and when you think of it as one, a disease that manifests not for a day or a year, but the whole life span even, some days manageable but most days it is not. I'm not sure how I feel about the term mental illness, it is <b>something of a dated term.</b> Especially for something like narcissism it is better to think of it as a spectrum over whether the person qualifies for a mental illness.	e as having a mental illness?
<ul> <li>QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality 35:28 – 36:21</li> <li>RM: Asks QC2</li> <li>EX9: Hmm I thought they are roughly the same thing, no?</li> <li>RM: It seems to be a matter of opinion, I guess it is based around how you feel about the term mental illness.</li> <li>EX9: Sure, well I mean anyone who has a mental disorder a mental impairment is essentially going to be mentally ill.</li> </ul>	V disorder to be a mental illness? Suggests PD's and mental illness to be roughly the same thing.

QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a mer 36:22- 37:19 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC3</i> <b>EX9:</b> To the extent that I would consider any other mental illness to be a disorder. I think that NPD when correctly diagnosed is for sure a mental illness. However, I wouldn't say someone with narcissistic tendencies is mentally ill. If you are going to go by that kind of diagnostic method of identifying disorders over the trait-based approach, NPD is a mental illness. But with a trait-based approach I feel you are best to avoid these kinds of terminologies.	ntal illness?
<ul> <li>QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as danger 37:19 – 40:04</li> <li>RM: Asks QE1</li> <li>EX9: Actually, sometime really important to consider is how people deal with narcissistic tendencies. Often you see people wanting to silence them. A typical example of this is how people react to Trump, so he says some crazy shit and the liberals want to have him silenced and removed, you can obviously see their justifications.</li> <li>RM: Sure.</li> <li>EX9: But then, Trump fires back saying people are trying to stifle free will, that he is being oppressed and all his supporters are being oppressed along with him, but trying to silence Trump, the liberals end up trying to silence his supporters. This creates a rivalry between the populace, where communication breaks down as each party tries to silence one another. Really this is a very serious issue we are facing, this break down in communication, in conjunction with his tendency to say things that often have a small degree of truth to them, especially in the case of stating issues that other politicians are willing to ignore or lie implicitly about. We really saw this in the campaign trail leading to Trump's presidency.</li> </ul>	ous to society? Suggest that narcissistic abuse from a person in a position of power can lead to the divide within the community between supporters and people the narcissist thinks of as enemies. This division is very made for society and for social communication. Mention once again of Donald Trump.
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with bot impact society? 40:05 – 44:16 <b>RM:</b> Asks QE2	h NPD and a position of power

RM: Asks QE2	Argues that to stop consistently
	getting narcissistic leaders in

<b>EX9:</b> Well I suppose like I said, you often see	power, the main change that
highly narcissistic people in position of power.	needs to occur is schooling
Especially in roles that especially require the person	direction is the induction of
act powerful, like in politics. This is an unfortunate	politics and logical thinking in a
consequence of the governmental structure we have	way that engages the child.
built.	
<b>RM:</b> Yes, it is.	
<b>EX9</b> : I mean in a position of power, for a narcissist	
there is joy in exploitation, in the utilisation of this	
power. So, its obvious why jobs that very obviously	
suited for those who want to be powerful. One of the	
great failings of modern society is that the people	
who would make the best leaders, very often don't	
want to be powerful and so never strive to be.	
<b>RM:</b> Do you think video recordings and in recent	
years has held these narcissistic leaders more	
accountable.	
<b>EX9:</b> These things certainly help prove the point,	
I'm not sure if the truly narcissistic leaders care or	
can be stop by these events, it really depends on	
which society we are talking about. But in general,	
whatever promoted freedom and transparency in	
government action are the most effective tool to	
beating fascism and by proxy a narcissistic leader.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>What do you think about Trump tactic of</i>	
calling sources fake news.	
<b>EX9:</b> It's a tactic that I think works on the surface,	
because it calls into question the validity of the	
source, it a very meaningful way. Of course, if	
someone can actually prove it and show the facts to	
the public, then that's another thing. The fake news	
thing honestly only works on the dumber members	
of society. On every source of news, you consume	
you really need to put it context and evaluate it in an	
unbiased manner. It's a tough skill to learn, but very	
necessary.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>I agree it's something we should spend more</i>	
time educating our children in.	
<b>EX9</b> : I couldn't agree more, focusing on the most	
effective way to educate the populace from a young	
age should be a chief focus by the government.	
QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified	as a Personality Disorder in the
DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?	

44:17 - 45:09	
<b>RM:</b> Asks QE3	Suggests that it is not really a
<b>EX9:</b> I would say that it is perhaps a problem, but a	problem as the DSM to be the go
minor one. One the one hand having a unified	to diagnostical tool for
structure on NPD would have for understanding and	personality disorders.
diagnostic purposes, for sure. But then getting trying	
to force a decision on a disorder that have a great	
deal of discussion is not a smart move either. I think	
the DSM's idea of narcissism is pretty fine overall.	
there is no real need to split the diagnosis up into	
smaller subcategories and identities, I would say that	
it would probably be better if it was put back in the	
ICD-10, but really since the DSM-5 is the manual	
most used and even then, it's not used that much, I	
don't think it's such a problem.	

## **Interview with Expert 10**

Q1: What do you consider to be the key traits and characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic personality disorder? <ul> <li>(0:0 - 4:39)</li> <li>RM: Asks Q10</li> <li>EX101 think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploit other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entilement.</li> <li>RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between behaviour displayed by an narcissistic individual, but it may be the case that an individual cycles between grandiose and recissism?</li> <li>EX101 think the kame as self-esteem, however, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of yulnerable they and thus someone who has vulnerable marcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.</li> <li>RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.</li> <li>EX101 thoes, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose narcissism addition and these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.</li> <li>EX101 Absolutely yeah.</li> </ul> <ul> <li>Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?</li> <li>Y440 - 7:22</li> <li>RM: Asks Q2</li> <li>EX101: In my own research l've studied clinical</li> </ul>		
characteristics of a person displaying narcissistic personality disorder? 0:00 – 4:39 EX10:I think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploi other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entitlement. RM: Asks Q10 EX10:I think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploi other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entitlement. RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between multicable and grandiose narcissism? EX10:I imagine there is definitely one, those are two definitions of narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can stat a sense of unnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense. EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features. RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. EX10: Absolutely yeah. Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22 RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research l've studied clinical	INTERVIEW 10	THEMES
<ul> <li>personality disorder?</li> <li>0:00 – 4:39</li> <li>RM: Asks Q10</li> <li>EX10:1 think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploit other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entitlement.</li> <li>RM: Doyn discern any kind of difference between that an individual cycles between the soft of the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable and grandiose narcissism?</li> <li>RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.</li> <li>EX10:1 I does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.</li> <li>RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissism would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.</li> <li>EX10: I Absolutely yeah.</li> <li>Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?</li> <li>4:40 – 7:22</li> <li>EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical</li> </ul>		
0:00 - 4:39 <b>RN</b> : Asks Q10 <b>EX10</b> : I think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploit other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entilement. <b>RM</b> : Do you discern any kind of difference between yulnerable and grandiose narcissism? <b>EX10</b> : I imagine there is definitely one, those are two definitions of narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be. <b>RM</b> : That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense. <b>EX10</b> : I does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features. <b>RM</b> : Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. <b>Q2</b> : What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22 <b>Q2</b> : What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22 <b>EX10</b> : In my own research I've studied clinical		
RM: Asks Q10EX10:1 think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploit other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entidement.Expert suggests that there is a difference between displayed by an narcissistic individual, but it may be the case that an individual cycles between grandiose and narcissism, depending on the situation and mood.RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between pulnerabile and grandiose narcissism?Expert suggests that there is a difference between grandiose and narcissism, depending on the situation and mood.RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between pulnerability, and thus sepecially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of yunerability, and thus someone who has vulnerabile narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.Ext0: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.Ext0: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Ext0: Absolutely yeah.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22Ext0: It may own research I've studied clinical		
<ul> <li>EX10:I think the key traits are a sense of grandiosity, a willingness to exploit other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entitlement.</li> <li>CMY: Do you discern any kind of difference between that an individual cycles between grandiose and narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.</li> <li>RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.</li> <li>EX10: I thoes, but I don't think the ware completely unrelated. It would be trare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.</li> <li>RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.</li> <li>EX10: Absolutely yeah.</li> <li>Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22</li> <li>EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical.</li> </ul>		
<ul> <li>grandiosity, a willingness to exploit other people for one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entitlement.</li> <li>RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between grandiose and narcissism?</li> <li>EX10: I imagine there is definitely one, those are two definitions of narcissism, especially with the nost recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they solub be.</li> <li>RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.</li> <li>EX10: It does, but I don't hink the two are?</li> <li>completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose narcissist would pend for a something one of the experts was talking about was talking about the state.</li> <li>EX10: Absolutely yeah.</li> <li>Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?</li> <li>4:40 – 7:22</li> <li>EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical</li> </ul>	~	1 00
one's personal gain, and a pronounced sense of entitlement.individual, but it may be the case that an individual cycles between grandiose and narcissism, depending on the situation and mood.RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between yunerable and grandiose narcissism?individual, but it may be the case that an individual cycles between grandiose and narcissism, depending on the situation and mood.RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between yunerable and grandiose narcissism?individual, but it may be the case that an individual cycles between grandiose and narcissism, depending on the situation and mood.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are! completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to stalking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		
entitlement.RM: Do you discern any kind of difference betweenRM: Do you discern any kind of difference betweenrunerable and grandiose narcissism?EX10: I imagine there is definitely one, those aretwo definitions of narcissism, especially with themost recent research which has shown thatnarcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However,a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense ofvulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerablenarcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out asthey think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiosenarcissism you think they are more likely to haveuncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two arecompletely unrelated. It would be rare if someoneonly had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem toslightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts wastalking about was talking about, he said that it mightbe the case that people fluctuate between being inthese two states. Particularly someone you woulddescribe as a grandiose state of narcissism andless in the vulnerable state.EX10: It Absolutely yeah.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displayingnarcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?4:40 - 7:22EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		1
RM: Do you discern any kind of difference between vulnerable and grandiose narcissism?grandiose and narcissism, depending on the situation and mood.EX10: Timagine there is definitely one, those are two definitions of narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.grandiose recent research which has someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.extense a person displaying narcissism consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinicalminuch longer		-
vulnerable and grandiose narcissism?depending on the situation and mod.EX10: I imagine there is definitely one, those are two definitions of narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.depending on the situation and mood.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.extra sense of extra sense of sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.EX10: Absolutely yeah.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinicaldepending on the situation and mood.		•
EX10: I imagine there is definitely one, those are two definitions of narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.mood.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.mood.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.mood.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.mood.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22mood.RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinicalmood.		-
two definitions of narcissism, especially with the most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		depending on the situation and
most recent research which has shown that narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		mood.
parcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However, a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		
a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable parcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be. <b>RM</b> : That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense. <b>EX10</b> : It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features. <b>RM</b> : Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. <b>EX10</b> : Absolutely yeah. <b>Q2</b> : What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? <b>4</b> :40 – 7:22 <b>RM</b> : Asks Q2 <b>EX10</b> : In my own research I've studied clinical	most recent research which has shown that	
vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable parcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	narcissism is not the same as self-esteem. However,	
parcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as they think they should be.RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	a fragile sense of self-esteem can start a sense of	
they think they should be. <b>RM</b> : That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense. <b>EX10</b> : It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features. <b>RM</b> : Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. <b>Q2</b> : What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22 <b>RM</b> : Asks Q2 <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	vulnerability, and thus someone who has vulnerable	
RM: That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose narcissism you think they are more likely to have uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.         EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.         RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 - 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	narcissism is more prone to retaliate and lash out as	
narcissism you think they are more likely to have         uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.         EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are         completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone         only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to         slightly colinear features.         RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was         talking about was talking about, he said that it might         be the case that people fluctuate between being in         these two states. Particularly someone you would         describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend         much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and         less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying         narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 – 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	they think they should be.	
uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.EX10: Absolutely yeah.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	<b>RM</b> : <i>That's interesting, in comparison to grandiose</i>	
EX10: It does, but I don't think the two are completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.         RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 - 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	narcissism you think they are more likely to have	
completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features.RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?4:40 - 7:22RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	uncontrolled bursts? That kind of makes sense.	
only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to slightly colinear features. <b>RM</b> : Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. <b>Q2</b> : What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?4:40 - 7:22 <b>RM</b> : Asks Q2 <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	<b>EX10</b> : It does, but I don't think the two are	
slightly collinear features. <b>RM</b> : Yeah that's something one of the experts was talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. <b>EX10:</b> Absolutely yeah. <b>Q2:</b> What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? <b>4:</b> 40 - 7:22 <b>RM:</b> Asks Q2 <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	completely unrelated. It would be rare if someone	
RM: Yeah that's something one of the experts was         talking about was talking about, he said that it might         be the case that people fluctuate between being in         these two states. Particularly someone you would         describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend         much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and         less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying         narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 – 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	only had grandiose or only vulnerable. They seem to	
talking about was talking about, he said that it might be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. EX10: Absolutely yeah. Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22 RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	slightly colinear features.	
be the case that people fluctuate between being in these two states. Particularly someone you would describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state. EX10: Absolutely yeah. Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22 RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	<b>RM</b> : Yeah that's something one of the experts was	
these two states. Particularly someone you would         describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend         much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and         less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying         narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 - 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	talking about was talking about, he said that it might	
describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 - 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	be the case that people fluctuate between being in	
describe as a grandiose narcissist would spend much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 - 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		
less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 – 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	• •	
less in the vulnerable state.         EX10: Absolutely yeah.         Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD?         4:40 – 7:22         RM: Asks Q2         EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical	much longer in the grandiose state of narcissism and	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q2</i> <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	less in the vulnerable state.	
Q2: What would you consider the difference to be between a person displaying narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q2</i> <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	<b>EX10:</b> Absolutely yeah.	
narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q2</i> <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical		
narcissistic tendencies and a person with NPD? 4:40 – 7:22 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q2</i> <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	Q2: What would you consider the difference to be betw	ween a person displaying
4:40 – 7:22 RM: Asks Q2 EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q2 <b>EX10:</b> In my own research I've studied clinical	-	
EX10: In my own research I've studied clinical		
	~	
	narcissism, and not full-blown NPD. I would say	

someone displaying narcissistic tendencies has not	
risen to an appropriate level so that it causes some	
sort of pronounced functional impairment or that it	
would be something making it difficult to have	
meaningful bonds and relationships with others.	
<b>RM</b> : So, when they stop being able to function in	
society to a point? Do you discern there would be a	
line in the sand I suppose for the people around	
them?	
<b>EX10</b> : Oh gosh that line in the sand thing falls into	
the categorical narcissistic personality disorders and	
I've never been a real fan. I think that line is different	
for everyone. There is some range where the line	
actually is. And so it's a particular confluence of the	
experiences and disorders, thinking, and emotional	
responses, and maladapted egos. That particular	
confluence can rise to a high enough level where it	
becomes a full-blown personality disorder.	
Q3: To what extent would you consider NPD to be pre-	evalent in the general populace?
7:23 – 10:46	
RM: Asks Q3	Expert suggests that NPD is
<b>EX10:</b> It's my understanding that it ranges between	diagnosed in a cultural and
1 - 6% of the population, however there is an	subjective context so the line in
argument that since the evolution of the Diagnostic	the sand is purely based upon
Statistical Manual everybody's got something wrong	one's own judgement and thus
with them, because thats a complication, however it	becomes arbitrary.
may or may not be true. But rephrase the question	5
for me?	
<b>RM:</b> What percentage of the general population, or	
the US, would you say have NPD? Ive heard of all	
things from less than 0.0001% to somewhere like	
around 2-5%. The jury seems pretty out.	
<b>EX10</b> : Basically you said around the world, because	
personality disorders can only be diagnosed in their	
cultural context. So something that is bad enough,	
shall we say, to be a disorder in one culture may not	
be bad enough to some other cultures.	
<b>RM</b> : Yeah for sure. We're talking about	
categorization of something which, like you say,	
e i i i	
depending on your culture or your background is	
depending on your culture or your background is	

<b>EX10</b> : I would say there are more narcissists in America than there are in any other place in the world.	
Q4: In your opinion what is the role of genetics as a co $10:47 - 15:21$	ontributor to NPD?
RM: <i>Asks Q4</i> EX10: Well as we know from twin studies of modern psychotic twins we know that about 51% of anyone's personality is inherited. So I would suggest that a personality disorder which is so fundamentally based upon trait levels, the majority of one's inherited disorder comes from one's parents. A shame, because you don't get to pick your parents. RM: <i>You just have to work with what you've got.</i> <i>Yeah, 51%, that's interesting. It's so difficult to say though, even if look at twin studies, how do you know that they're still not influenced by their parents? Or even if separate, parenting is still not influencing on that level? Because by the time they get those kind of tendencies, they might be two, three years old maybe more before they start showing. And for NPD to be determined you have to be maybe 12 plus?</i> EX10: Yeah, but, NPD cannot be diagnosed until the later years of adolescence and primarily early years of adulthood. In fact most personality disorders, only anti-social personality disorders, cannot be diagnosed in anyone under the age of 18. And so when they diagnose personality disorders, it's almost always has an onset in the early teen years and early 20's. By that time one's personality is starting to congeal, so we know that over the course of one's life, by the time of the age of about 30, one's personality is very much set in stone. It's not completely immutable, but they're pretty well established. There are four personality disorders based upon conglomeration of trait levels, and a personality disorder can be set in stone as well around that age. So once we have a stable maladapted set of traits we can measure those and in these twin studies we simply measure them, it doesn't really matter who raised you, the correlation between the two comes across in the genetic inputs.	Expert suggest that genetics are more influential that environmental factors. Expert suggests use of twin studies to prove this point. Suggesting even when the twins are separated at birth we see similar traits being displayed in the children.

Q5: How influential would you consider society and the	ne environment to be as
contributors to NPD?	
15:22 - 22:08	
<b>RM:</b> Asks Q5	Expert suggest the role of social
EX10: I'm glad you asked, as I've asked my friends,	media and in particular Facebook
is social media for example causing Narcissism, or	has given rise to more narcissistic
simply an avenue for expression of narcissism? The	tendencies, by giving people the
way I look at it is imagine the 1880s pioneer woman	platform and the opportunity to
crossing the American West in a covered wagon. She	express their internal monologue.
	-
could have been a raging, flaming narcissist, but had	The expert suggests that by
no one to express it to. Today we have social media,	knowing how many friends you
and people can go on and relatively anonymously	have exactly on Facebook you are
express how great they think they are.	paying a high level of attention to
<b>RM</b> : <i>Or completely anonymously if you so choose.</i>	your perceived popularity.
Or you could be an old bald man and pretend you're	
a hot girl and do whatever you like. You can	
completely alter who you are as a person and get the	
feedback you are looking for from society.	
<b>EX10:</b> Oh sure. Then we have internet trolls and	
people like that who just thrive off of thinking that	
somebody's dead.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>I</i> don't think it's making people worse, it's just	
way easier to express that internal monologue.	
<b>EX10</b> : That's exactly my point. It doesn't make them	
worse, they're already bad. I believe they have a way	
to express it.	
<b>RM:</b> You could argue that it's a self-fulfilling	
prophecy because it gives you positive	
reinforcement, getting likes, getting popularity, etc.	
If you're not good at analysing it from a back seat	
you can get very wrapped up in it, my parents get	
wrapped up in it, they're obsessed with social media.	
<b>EX10</b> : That's the purpose right?	
RM: Yeah right.	
EX10: I have no Facebook account. I don't care if	
you had a ham sandwich for lunch. I wont tell you	
what I had.	
<b>RM</b> : In fairness, Facebook is a good way for storing	
photos, and I get the benefit of other people's	
albums. It's also a good way for organizing an event.	
EX10: I have a theory, I don't know if you're	
familiar with the American comedian Jeff	
Foxworthy? Well I say "you might be a narcissist if:	

<ul> <li>you know exactly how many Facebook friends or followers you have"</li> <li>RM: I think that's right on the money.</li> <li>EX10: If you regularly check how many followers you have, and you get upset when you lose followers, and get upset at who did it.</li> <li>RM: You could get obsessed and figure it out too.</li> <li>Q6: What aspects of NPD could be considered as provi characteristics?</li> <li>22:09 - 26:37</li> <li>RM: Asks Q6</li> <li>EX10: Any personality disorder has pronounced effects on one's emotional life and their ability to forge relationships and caters to such stuff. If we're talking about subclinical narcissism, then superiority and leadership are usually considered "adaptive" components of narcissism. That's one of the problems with NPD is that it measures adaptive and maladaptive components, and have a high level fo these adaptive components, and also has a high score.</li> <li>RM: Interesting, I hadn't heard that before. It sounds like it needs more categorization in that respect. In a paper I read, there were 5 forms of NPD identified, it's complex. In terms of providing positive characteristics, you could say someone like Trump has achieved a lot because of that bullheadedness.</li> <li>EX10: It's beneficial to a lot of successful people. You want your brain surgeon to say "Yes, I am so good I can cut your head open, cut your brain, and save your life."</li> </ul>	iding positive personal Expert argues for a difference between adaptive and maladaptive traits presented by narcissism. Suggests that in a clinical case there would be little to no adaptive traits, with the condition being debiltating by most accounts.
Q7: To what extent would you consider the DSM-5 int	erpretation of NPD to accurate?
26:38 – 28:04	Expert finds DSM to be highly
RM: Asks Q7	accurate in its diagnostic

<ul> <li>EX10: I think it's highly accurate, I like it. I like that they got rid of the whole "access to" thing, and now it's included in the general taxonomy of mental disorders. Access to group B is now group B.</li> <li>RM: Is there anywhere they can take it you would like to see? Changing the DSM that is.</li> <li>EX10: Hmm, well I'm a fan of section 3 of the DSM 5, the whole trait taxonomy, measurement of particular disorders, I expect in future generations, there will be even more of that. Have it expanded upon, perhaps with a little more complexity? After models of personality have been able to be used to measure personalities of all types, we need more work that delves further into classification too.</li> </ul>	determination. Suggest expanding section 3 of the DSM would be a positive consideration.
Q8: How accurately do you believe the scientific compared $28:05 - 33:13$	munity understands NPD?
<ul> <li>RM: Asks Q8</li> <li>EX10: Very accurately, I think we have a pretty good grip on this stuff.</li> <li>RM: Interesting, this question has had very varied answers. What are the reasons behind thinking we already have a lot of the research in place?</li> <li>EX10: I think there is a clear set of requirements for diagnosis of NPD in the DSM 5, that very clear set is really helpful in initial recognition and diagnosis. If there were only one standard, that would be more difficult. Here is one of the diagnostic criteria: expects to be recognized as a superior without achievements. I think that these diagnostic criteria are really helpful, I'm a fan. I'm a fan of any rigid taxonomy.</li> <li>RM: As opposed to the trait theory?</li> <li>EX10: That would be part of the taxonomy theory, as opposed to some loose amorphous psychodynamic approach. They delve into "for the next fourteen months tell me about your mother". I think that many mental disorders are not quite that complicated.</li> <li>RM: Or they're blurred I suppose, there should be a different way of talking about them. You're talking about going back to old psychotherapy. Where it was like "I understand this guys psychology and I'm trying to tell you this" rather than "I'm trying to tell</li> </ul>	Expert suggest that without a rigid taxonomy, there is more room for ego and for misdiagnosis on behalf of the clinician. Suggests that having no clear-cut categories for both OCD and schizoid had made diagnosis blurred and difficult for these conditions, leading to further misdiagnosis.

you personally". <b>EX10</b> : One of the things about things being clear is that there is OCD and then there is OCPD and then Schizoid personality type which can be confused with Schizophrenia. There is no real clear-cut category for these, which is why I'm a fan of a rigid taxonomy. It gives us a frame of understanding the various components of these disorders which may or may not overlap.	
<ul> <li>Q9: Which methodology of measuring narcissistic attr most valid and why?</li> <li>33:14 – 33:57</li> <li>RM: Asks Q9</li> <li>EX10: Sure, well I used the NPI on a couple of my studies and I found it to be relevant and effective, also its been rather widely peer reviewed so I was happy with the outcome, even though I tried to critique it a little (chuckles), apart that the NPI I haven't used too many other psychometric models with relation to narcissism, it's not exactly my field.</li> </ul>	ibutes do you consider to be the Suggest benefit of NPI.
<ul> <li>Q10: Symptoms of NPD have been described as varyin Do you agree with this sentiment and why?</li> <li>33:58 – 36:04</li> <li>RM: Asks Q10</li> <li>EX10: I'm not familiar with that view on NPD. I don't know what to say.</li> <li>RM: Some clinicians believe that a grandiose narcissist and a vulnerable narcissist are two different disorders, so they appear very different in</li> </ul>	Expert suggest hat by having tests that measure both aspects of grandiose and of vulnerable narcissism and have them come together and create valid testing demonstrates that grandiose and
recognition, whereas other clinicians might say its the same, just at different points along a spectrum. <b>EX10</b> : Well I think that spectrum can be further dissected, such that there are varying components where one narcissist may be more vulnerable, and another less, but if grandiose and vulnerable narcissism were entirely separate things, then scores on any test designed to measure those two things would be entirely orthodical, and that's not the case. <b>RM:</b> Yeah, you're right. Okay that makes a lot of	vulnerable narcissism share similar characteristic.
sense. Isn't it the case that the evidence is somewhat, erm not entirely valid to suggest that testing accurately captures both vulnerable and grandiose.	

EV10. Oh avec yeah but in talking about just the	
<b>EX10</b> : Oh sure, yeah but im talking about just the	
essence of what those distincitons mean, in that	
respect we see clear overlap.	
RM: I see okay.	
Q11: Which gender would you say is more like to suff 36:05 – 41:47	er from NPD and why?
<b>RM:</b> Asks 011	Expert suggest men score higher
<b>EX10:</b> Males, the literature clearly supports the fact	in narcissistic tendencies. The
NPD is far more likely to be present in males than	expert argues this could be
females Generally, males score higher than females.	largely due to patriarchal
The reason for this is some sort of longstanding	structures and male dominance.
cultural bias in favour of the success of male	Expert is unsure about genetic
children than female children. For many generations	contributors.
women were told their only option in life was to be a	
nurse or have children, and if they got married they	Expert suggests in time we will
were to stay home and cook, but men are supposed	begin to see more women CEO
to go out and conquer the world. Why men? They're	and see more narcissistic
special, they're powerful, they're smart, women are	tendencies from women if they
not.	attempt to adopt the same role as
<b>RM:</b> <i>What about testosterone and oestrogen as</i>	men.
influencers?	
<b>EX10</b> : I'm sure that has some particular role in one's	
drive and tendency towards NPD, correlated with	
risk taking, and things like that.	
<b>RM</b> : So by your theory, as we begin to see more	
females in position of power hopefully, we're more	
likely to see narcissistic female CEOs as well?	
<b>EX10:</b> Absolutely, in fact some pop culture icons	
develop narcissism, such as the Kardashians. They	
operate as icons, do you want to grow up to be a	
CEO or a model on Instagram?	
RM: I'm not sure, you could argue Kardashian	
works as something to scare your kids with, do you	
want to grow up to just be a model, potentially doing	
porn? Or do you want to actually achieve things?	
She's got an easy life, yeah, but you could argue she	
doesn't look happy, and probably isn't. How could	
you be if that was your lifestyle?	
EX10: To a 14-year-old girl, they'll see Kim	
Kardashian and think "I want to be rich and	
famous".	
<b>RM</b> : Surely there's, for western society, there's	
always been these figures around. Perhaps not.	

<ul> <li>EX10: I'm sure the American actress May West back in the 30's was held up as an example of things you dont want your daughter to be.</li> <li>RM: Wasn't May West quite an intelligent woman? I'm not sure.</li> <li>EX10: If she was, she was able to catapult this coquette personality into star status.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Q12: To what extent do you believe age affects the sev 41:48 – 45:32</li> <li>RM: Asks Q12</li> <li>EX10: I think that with age things tend to moderate a little bit. Not so much wild swaying in terms of personality traits, in general they tend to stabilize over time and while one who is dumb and attractive might think they're all that and a bag of chips as they get older in life they tend to realize that perhaps they're not and their expectations of others and how others perceive them tend to become more in line with cultural norms.</li> <li>RM: What age would you say that roughly would be?</li> <li>EX10: It used to be around 30 but now it's about 50.</li> <li>RM: What about the idea that once you reach a certain age, if you're a narcissist, it's going to be harder to get rid of those aspects of your personality, being set in your ways a little?</li> <li>EX10: I'm sure there's some validity to that, just like personality traits in general, they tend to be set in stone. However, if you have full blown NPD, over life you develop coping skills, realizations, self-awareness, that help them change not only how they're being, but also how they see themselves and how others see them. That's my theory.</li> <li>RM: We still have people like Trump though, and older CEOs who are quite narcissistic, and it's obviously quite hard for them to change.</li> <li>EX10: That's mostly because those personality traits are largely responsible for where they are in life.</li> <li>RM: You'd be asking them to get rid of what they consider a good part of their success.</li> </ul>	Suggests that NPD tendencies tend to drop off between 30 to 50.

45:33 - 48:12

RM: Asks Q13	Expert suggests substances would
<b>EX10</b> : It's my understanding that people who have	most likely heighten narcissistic
NPD are more likely to engage in substance abuse,	tendencies
especially cocaine, as it is supposed to make you feel	
smart and intelligent and pretty and powerful, and all	
those things, which then just acts as fuel for the	
narcissism fire.	
<b>RM:</b> Would you say there would be a difference in	
the type of substance depending on the effect of their	
disorder? Maybe taking stimulants might make	
certain traits worse than the average person.	
<b>EX10</b> : I would think people with different disorders	
would tend to gravitate towards different substances	
to abuse, for example someone with a general	
anxiety disorder, may be more likely to abuse	
tranquilizers, as it takes away their anxiety. A	
narcissist might be more likely to take stimulants	
because it makes them feel even prettier.	
<b>RM:</b> Or even more like the "big shark in the water".	
Q14: What are some of the key issues facing the full u	inderstanding of NDD?
48:13 - 53:34	
EX10: I think the popular press really hinders the	Expert suggests that the popular
publics understanding of what a personality disorder	press and the general 'dumbing
actually is. I'm kind of torn on the work of Jean	down 'of media has caused the
Twinking, who's written some really cool books, but	understanding of personality
I think the fact she had to dumb down some of	disorders to be warped, and given
scientific research into a pop culture book for the	a false pretence.
bookshelf made the publics access to this easier, but	
their understanding became worse.	As a result of this simplification,
<b>RM:</b> Interesting, you're talking about high level	much of society deems a few
results which many people wouldn't be able to	narcissistic tendencies such as
mentally interpret, though.	superiority and grandiosity to be
EX10: She made her name doing Cross Temporal	full blown disorders.
Meta Analyses, the average person has no idea what	
a meta-analysis is, so she explained it in layman's	
terms because it made for better reading, it required	
some simplification, and the problem is everyone in	
the west does not have NPD, and everyone does not	
have high level clinical narcissism, but when we see	
someone acting superior and grandiose, we think	
they are.	
<b>RM:</b> It's something of a witch hunt in that respect. I	
suppose it's just how people work, cocky. Interesting.	

How do you think we're going to address that issue?	
110W ab you mink we're going to address mai issue!	
The education of society?	
<b>EX10</b> : That would be a good start. The popular press	
could start coming up with explanations, rather than	
just categorizing everyone as a narcissist. Every	
cocky person is not a narcissist, just over confident.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>A lot of the way I get my knowledge is through</i>	
Youtube and content like that, my dyslexia is quite	
bad, but I retain the knowledge much better coming	
5	
from a lecture that is specifically designed to teach.	
Maybe we need researchers who put this information	
into passable terms for people because you've got to	
catch them up, you can't expect them to jump	
onboard and understand her research as she's	
written it. There has to be some joining point.	
<b>EX10:</b> I've hybridized all of my lectures, and now I	
have a YouTube channel, maybe quite narcissistic,	
my face is on everything.	
<b>RM:</b> Some people I chose to interview have YouTube	
channels, I think it's the future of education. It	
shouldn't just be a tool for cat videos, it should be	
something that transcends modern media.	
015: In Stingon at al 2008 The researchers argue the	
Q15: In Stinson et al., 2008. The researchers argue that	it NPD is the least empirically
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent	
	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i>	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid.	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i>	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i>	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i>	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this.	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this. <b>RM:</b> <i>How do you define Machiavellianism</i> ?	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this. <b>RM:</b> <i>How do you define Machiavellianism?</i> <b>EX10:</b> The belief that the ends always justify the	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this. <b>RM:</b> <i>How do you define Machiavellianism?</i> <b>EX10:</b> The belief that the ends always justify the means, and someone is always on their own quest	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this. <b>RM:</b> <i>How do you define Machiavellianism?</i> <b>EX10:</b> The belief that the ends always justify the	do you agree with this sentiment
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this. <b>RM:</b> <i>How do you define Machiavellianism?</i> <b>EX10:</b> The belief that the ends always justify the means, and someone is always on their own quest for glory.	do you agree with this sentiment opinion?
researched of all personality disorders, to what extent and is there areas that require further research in your 53:35 - 55:54 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks Q15</i> <b>EX10:</b> That cannot be true, you cannot tell me NPD is researched less than schizoid. <b>RM:</b> <i>Stinson has gotten a lot of abuse for this</i> <i>question admittedly. Are there areas you think</i> <i>require further research?</i> <b>EX10:</b> I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this. <b>RM:</b> <i>How do you define Machiavellianism?</i> <b>EX10:</b> The belief that the ends always justify the means, and someone is always on their own quest	do you agree with this sentiment opinion?

<b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC1</i> <b>EX10:</b> A mental illness is when someone has issues forging meaningful relationships with other people and impairs major life activity like working and such. It should be debilitating in nature, to the point where the person cannot function as they desire and obviously cannot function within society.	Expert would seem to bot have an issue with the term mental illness, although this is not confirmed. Expert suggests that mental illness is debilitating to where the person cannot function appropriately
QC2: To what extent would you consider a personality 56:47 – 58:02 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QC2</i> <b>EX10:</b> A mental illness is when someone has issues forging meaningful relationships with other people and impairs major life activity like working and such. It should be debilitating in nature, to the point where the person cannot function as they desire and obviously cannot function within society. <b>RM:</b> I hadn't thought of it that way before, but you're right I suppose.	y disorder to be a mental illness? Expert suggest that PD's are a niche section of mental disorders. PD are resistant to treatment with no curing medication available.
QC3: To what extent do you consider NPD to be a me 58:03 – 59:08 <b>RM:</b> Asks QC3 <b>EX10:</b> 100%. I have no doubt its a mental illness when its present to fulfil the requirement for NPD, not just general narcissism found in the populace. If you have full blown NPD, you suffer from a mental disorder you know. NPD is very much an apparent condition, that effects a great deal of people, some in small and some in large ways, but a very large impact overall.	ental illness?
QE1: What aspects of NPD could be viewed as danger 59:09 – 60:05 <b>RM:</b> <i>Asks QE1</i> <b>EX10:</b> Grandiosity in leaders, military, political, business, can lead one to lead others down the wrong path. If one of these leaders is just trying to instil a sense of grandiosity by misleading their followers, very little good can come from that. I'm talking dictatorial behaviour with little regard for the citizens. Given that the citizens then tend to resent to tyrant in a loud and aggravating fashion to the	Expert suggest that narcissism in a position of power can often end up oppressing and resenting their subjects, an intron become resented, creating something of a self-fulfilling prophecy.

narcissist, you are going to see oppressive action taken. A kind of its me versus them mentality.	
QE2: In your opinion, in what ways can those with bo	th NPD and a position of power
impact society?	
60:06 - 64:08	
RM: Asks QE2	
<b>EX10:</b> They can impact it for good and for bad. A	
grandiose leader who is a charismatic visionary can	
help an entire segment of the world for the better.	
I'm fairly sure Mahatma Gandhi was a narcissist but	
(he) was also a tremendous charismatic visionary	
who helped unshackle India from the reins of British	
Imperialism. Anyone who is that functional,	
performing at that level, needs a hefty dose of	
narcissism.	
<b>RM</b> : <i>That could be brought about by constant</i>	
praise, reflective from society, Gandhi has to be an	
outlier.	
<b>EX10:</b> Most people who have NPD have no impact	
on major society, just playing World of Warcraft and	
feeding off of their parents. If they have influence, it	
can be influence for good or bad. Look at Hitler,	
very grandiose, lots of entitlement, superiority,	
exploitativeness.	
<b>RM:</b> <i>An interesting book is called Dinner Talks at</i>	
Hitler's Table, all things he talked about at the	
dinner table, interesting because he didn't consider	
what he was doing to be wrong, he considered	
himself a batman figure, doing what he had to do to	
pave the way for greatness. You could label that at	
Machiavellianism. Jordan Peterson says you would	
definitely be a Nazi if you had been there, and based	
on the Stanford Prison Experiment you would do	
what you're told, and not make a decision to get out	
of that. Mad. EV10: Llove Jordan Paterson	
<b>EX10</b> : I love Jordan Peterson.	
<b>RM</b> : Yeah he's a personal hero of mine.	
QE3: What are your opinions on NPD being classified	l as a Personality Disorder in the
DSM-5 but not in the ICD-10?	
64:09 - 64:57	
RM: Asks QE3	

EX10: I'm not a clinician so I don't look at the
ICM10 or upcoming ICM11. I look at the DSM5
because it helps what I want to measure. So I don't
have an opinion on that. When I took a doctoral level
class, we had to make diagnoses and use the codes
from both books.

# **Appendix C: Thematic Groupings**

Below are selected quotations taken from the data and sorted according to relevant themes for thematic analysis:

### THEMATIC GROUPINGS BY QUOTATION

**Symptoms of NPD:** This theme refers to reference of the symptoms displayed in a person with NPD (or a person displaying narcissistic traits). Its purpose is to determine the general approach the expert has for narcissism and what they identify the symptoms as being. This theme also highlights reference to narcissistic traits both negative and positive. An example answer would be reference to grandiosity, egocentric and sensitivity to criticism.

**EX1**: Self involvement, egocentricity, a difficulty getting beyond encapsulation in the self, getting across the divide in the other, so as seeing them as fully real as they are. All narcissists have issues with empathy, although they can emphasise, using it as a tool to extract useful information from others. What they really have trouble with sympathy and compassion. I think of empathy as cognizant and sympathy as caring. Psychopaths are often cognizant of the feelings of others, but they don't give a damn. But all narcissists have issues with empathy and have trouble with sympathy. I think of empathy as cognizant and sympathy. I think of empathy as caring.

### **RM** – *The difference being compassion.*

**EX1** – I think so, narcissists have real difficulty feeling sympathy and caring for the views of other people, especially the feelings of other people.

**EX1:** I mean I am listening to a client talking and paying attention to the death of the description of the other people in his life. Say I want to talk about his wife or children, but he may go through the whole session without talking about others in their lives, then that is a pretty strong indication. Other people to mention their wives and children but at the end of the hour you are left with a feeling, that they are kind of carboard figures, he hasn't spoken about them in that in any way brings them to life. He is not communicating any depth to these people, because he is not interested in their depth, just as them as object affecting him.

**EX2**: Err for me the grandiosity is sort of the lynchpin, idea that you are better than others, entitlement, idea that you are unique, rules don't apply to you, be willing to exploit others in part because of those traits. Also showing off exhibitionism, being a domineering person and having a domination approach, perhaps in some sort of hierarchical model.

**EX2**: Flexibility, I mean if you are a little cocky you are going to keep it to yourself a bit and still fit in, I shouldn't brag about how much money I make, the quality of my life such as that. Also, people with the disorder have a great deal of failure, maybe in the workplace or in relationship between of the condition, it's a flexible and fine line. Also, less control over the manifestation over the traits.

**EX3:** There tends to be a high degree of sense of superiority to others and a sense or a need to be associated with indicators of status. One patient I had told me he was diagnosed with bi-polar, even though he turn out to have NPD, this guy was so narcissistic in his belief of his own bipolar disorder that he claimed that the scientific world had produced an additional four disorders based on his case. So, there is this association with a sense of uniqueness and entitlement, I think an ironic failed status as well, you know boasting or a serious of excuses.

**EX4**: For me the big picture, is grandiosity is associated with self-esteem which is dependent upon social approval. There is this need to have approval for the approvals of others. When that approval is not there then you start to see these people lash out in some way. They tend to be driven individuals.

**EX5:** I would mostly say in terms of low agreeableness and high extraversion, lack of Concern for others, Grandiosity, attention seeking, interpersonal dominance, those kinds of things.

**EX6:** I think the grandiose, one the elements that is still definitely one of the most important pieces.

**EX8:** Yeah, so I would say in my opinion the key characteristics, the one that stands out to

me the most would be just the sense of arrogance and acts of self-interest. One of the characteristics people have this a real sense of superiority, the sense of grandiosity and entitlement, some people thinking that they deserve better treatment then the others or special treatment. Then I would also include selfishness, self-centred, really prioritizing one's

needs over the needs of others. And the last one that stands out to me is sort of the sense of exhibitionism and attention-seeking, trying to be in the spotlight and having power, that kind of thing

**EX9:** Highly sensitive to criticism, although how this manifests as behaviour would alter. Grandiosity, lack of empathy Err just little understanding of the emotions of others. Traits like self-entitlement, perceived feeling of uniqueness to an extreme extent err self-disregard for others,

**Brief analysis of theme:** On a surface level it would seem the experts all suggest similar characteristics. In particular reference to: grandiosity, self-involvement, resilience to criticism, sense of superiority over others, difficulty in expressing and understanding sympathy (compassion). The only key difference is the interpretation of empathy. For some experts (EX9) suggest NPD sufferers have little to no empathy towards others. Other experts argue that narcissists (EX1) do empathise, and they use it as a tool to find out a person weakness. It is compassion that they have trouble expressing.

<u>Severity of NPD condition</u>: This theme specifically focuses on how dangerous and severe symptoms of NPD are, both to the individuals and to others. Specifically, this theme looks at the severity of the condition, focusing on the damage caused internally upon the psyche as well as damage through behaviour to others. In this manner this theme also considers if NPD should count as a personality disorder/ mental illness.

**EX1**: The most extreme form of NPD is a psychopath and they are extremely dangerous to society, conscienceless people, everyone has a degree of psychopathy but people who have a lot of psychopathy are aware of it and having studied psychopaths who are criminals and also highly narcissistic successful business individuals you can definitely see the similarities and reoccurring themes. Individuals who display these kinds of tendencies are extremely dangerous to the people around them, seeing them as tools or pawns, especially to their partners and children, they do immense damage to these children and the narcissistic parents is incapable of loving and sacrificing so in this way it damages the child.

**EX2**: I don't know I mean when you get to a disorder its going to be bad, but if you have say some narcissistic tendencies then sure, I mean we know confidence is attractive and so it finds dates and helps people rise in jobs to positions of leadership so yeah there are some positives to having high narcissism, extroversion assertive, can be positive at least at first, I mean over time people will catch on to the negative aspects the manipulation and lying, but yeah there are some positive qualities. Mainly through extroversion.

**EX2:** I mean some studies have shown that some people who display grandiose narcissism are less likely to internalise the criticisms of others and this has allowed them to push through and achieve in a manner that others cannot, you know just incredible confidence in yourself and when bad events occur you just shift the blame onto someone else. It can protect you in form some of that self-doubt and give you some psychological resilience.

**EX2:** Given all the time I spent looking at NPD and the narcissistic condition, I have of course seen it in people, and its very real. It should absolutely be taken seriously,

especially given how our society currently views narcissistic tendencies. Yeah, it's a personality disorder, it absolutely should be, so that makes it a mental illness I guess. **EX2:** The grandiosity the entitlement, it's not necessarily dangerous, but when it leads to entitled and exploitive behaviour, it stops them from caring about others, showing the kind of compassion that is vital. Especially if it leads to success, these abusive behaviours, so they think they don't need to care about others, it's not their responsibility. So, they might not feel bad about bankrupting a million people, it's all about me and my stakeholder. This Is both dangerous and sadly common in business practices, and in desperate times it only gets worse.

**EX3:** A person who has the disorder will have impairment in their social function, will frequently cycle through jobs, loses and changes friends frequently, just has an uncontrollable difficulty in the world. A narcissistic individual with just more apparent tendencies could have the same problem but would be able to manage their life and their societal relationships, at least to the degree of some control.

**EX3:** So, I would say on a level where there is a disorder, there is like nothing that is positive about the disorder, its causing them major life problems. I mean if a person is narcissistic, but not have NPD, they might have that grandiosity, and swagger and confidence which helps them climb the ladder and become successful ironic. There is an optimal level of anxiety to narcissism. Think about if you go to a Dr. you want the narcissistic DR. who says they are the best, to trust you. People are more likely to gravitate and trust those who seem to know what they are doing. Narcissists give off a good first impression, it's a double-edged sword with their inability to see their own flaws.

**EX3:** Prevalence to commit exhibitionary or exploitive sexual acts.

**EX3:** Superiority, entitlement, some of the general traits of narcissism which are destructive. Also, boundary issues, so frequently sexual assault, or abusive actions of some kind, physically or verbally, tends to be more verbal though. I mean with narcissists its very much a constant mind game of how to conquer others, analysing weaknesses and flaws in a person's lifestyle so it can be used as leverage at a later time, but yeah for sure they can be dangerous.

**EX3:** Well I mean we have a president right now who is a good example to look at. One thing that is interesting is the kind of people Trump employs around him, tend to be either these kind of weasel people who suck up to him, or some other less bright pawns, he isn't putting anyone in a position of power that might be able to topple him. It's the reason why he picked someone so unlikeable as Pence to be Vice President. **EX3:** We with regards to Trump he has had a life of minimal frustration, because of his wealth and situation so I don't know what to say about his age and narcissism, it is apparent that it would be extremely difficult if not impossible to get some sort of mindset change out of Trump at this point, he listens to himself above all else, above logical reasoning. This is of course one of the reasons why it is so difficult to treat NPD. **EX4:** I differentiate between adaptive and maladaptive in all disorders, maladaptive would be upon the social environment and on self-esteem and moves towards greater and greater intolerance and frustrations within the environment, coming out in anger and aggression. The difference being the degree of severity based upon control. **EX4:** Well if you have narcissistic leaders who doesn't not have submission, I think that this kind of authoritarianism leads to serious issues. There is an incentive to try and get away with as much as possible in this situation and that is always dangerous. **EX4:** Well its Trump, its Putin, its Assad, it's a great deal of these powerful leaders, especially in developing worlds, no one is checking the power of these people, so it is no wonder it goes to their heads.

**EX5:** I think traits such as confidence, social dominance and arrogance are not necessarily bad things. I think to the point where they become extreme then it becomes debilitating to the person. I think not having the flexibility in how intensely they display those traits, is what can become so impairing for narcissists.

**EX5:** I also think it becomes very hard to hide the further down you go. You don't have a lot of options by responding different ways. They tend to be liked in initially and as time goes on other people's impressions of them decreases. I think that happens in most cases the more interactions you have with them the more debilitating they are because they can't regulate their behaviour.

**EX5:** The aspects that make it more likely that you will suffer in payments or make other people suffer. Not being able to feel empathy and compassion; being callous towards others making rules that don't apply to you because you're special. Responding with rage when you are slighted it's all setting the stage for a screw up yours and other people's lives. I think those are all potential dangerous to society.

**EX5:** you've got the same psychological characteristics that you have before they care about themselves and not so much for other people respond with rage when threatened. if you have somebody with power doing that and the ability to influence other people I expect those behaviours will be far more self-serving than the others with NPD.

**EX5:** I think the research shows that narcissism is truly impairing.

**EX6:** I think the confidence and self-promotion that comes with those characteristics I think are really helpful in the right context; for example short-term interactions I think narcissistic individuals do quite well in those because they are interesting to other people, draw lot of attention to themselves their charming they are funny they are interesting. In the long-term they can be really annoying and drive people crazy, But I still do think that a lot of the characteristics are positive in the right situations and contexts.

**EX6:** I think the connections between narcissism and power and status are very fascinating. In the idea that some people at least start to develop those tendencies when they are put in a position of having influence of power. it's certainly something that deserves more attention and it does make a lot of sense. If you're someone who suddenly has a lot of tremendous wealth and fame and people essentially worshipping

you it might distort how you think about yourself and other people and there is definitely something there. There's important component in the type of people who seek out those sorts of things regarding to fame and power. **EX6:** In politics you see this with our current president in the US who definitely has some narcsissistic tendencies in the position of power.

**EX7**: One of the characteristics of narcissism that lead to problems for other people, is that people with the problem aren't very reflective or self-aware. If you're not careful, you're not thinking about the impact of your behaviour and the origins of that behaviour then you have all kinds of potentials to cause damage. especially if you have the privilege to be in a position of power. If you think about people like Donald Trump they live life in a way to avoid feeling small. sometimes you have to reconcile the fact that you are small that your life is meaningless, if you have a hard time doing that you can do all kinds of things to compensate for that concern and caused damage and you don't think at the fact that you're causing damage.

**EX8**: I guess I would think about it as an issue of severity and how much that interferes with the person's functioning or another people's functioning. So for example, you could probably think of somebody who may be, I would say, they are a little bit smart or arrogant, but they are still likable or overall generally a fine, or average member of society. Maybe they talk about themselves too much but in general they are enjoyable person to be around. Whether if you're thinking about it as a full-blown disorder those traits are present very strongly and they either interfere with person's functioning. For example, maybe it makes their relationships difficult, or they make the lives of other people really difficult. So perhaps they are manipulative and self-centred in relationships or seek power just for the sake of seeking power and you could see a situation where it becomes a problem for other people. And I think and the disorder I really think about is an extreme version of some Machiavellian characteristics.

**EX8**: But I think that with narcissism the ugliest how I see it the issues of the distresser has always been jealously to the detriment of themselves and others, but they might cause problems for other people, like manipulative relationships, that kind of things. **EX8**: I'm sure you've got I would guess that you've interviewed a lot of joking authors from the America about Donald Trump

**RM**: *He has pretty much dominated the research* 

**EX8:** I think that is a good example when somebody so aggrandising and so self-absorbed

and the primary goal really there is to promote the image, their product (you know, their

product is themselves). That's not really a good thing when everything is self-centred. I think again, you know, it's not necessarily just Donald Trump but we could probably think of other examples like business executive or even somebody at school who is a bully because they are very narcissistic. There are probably different manifestations and

examples but I think narcissism is a very dominant space thing and so I think in some ways it's hard to reason with a person who is very dominant but for the people whom they

are backing whether it is subordinates or dominated individuals they might see some positivity in the actions displayed by the narcissists. And often narcissists feel like they are going to war, they want to rally their troops and get ready to attack. It's kind of a game which other people aren't really playing but caught in the crossfire. You see this a lot in office politics

**EX8:** Hmmm, maybe in some sense a level of stubbornness when that person really needs to be right just to be right and this really dogmatic and authoritarian to the point when it's got to be a highway where is there is no negotiation, no compromise, it is all about that person and

their agenda. When you think of your political leaders at various levels of the government, I think we want somebody confident but not somebody who is a loose canon and whose point is just to be right and proof their agenda.

**EX9**: for a narcissist there is joy in exploitation, in the utilisation of this power. So, its obvious why jobs that very obviously suited for those who want to be powerful. One of the great failings of modern society is that the people who would make the best leaders, very often don't want to be powerful and so never strive to be.

**EX9:** So, I mean we see it in all aspects of the public eye, through entertainment and sport, narcissistic characters often tend to bring the attention of the populace. I think a good example is Floyd Mayweather, so when he was known as Pretty Boy Mayweather he was smashing people, but nobody was interested in watching him fight. He has kind of a boring points based defensive style, that isn't all that interesting to watch, plus he is a small weight class.

#### **RM:** Sure

**EX9**: But then he changed his name to Money Mayweather, started talking lots of shit; saying he was better than everyone else; throwing money around; really being as narcissistic as he could be. It was almost a persona. He literally has the intention of getting everyone to hate him. Suddenly all eyes are on him and everyone wants to see him get mauled, so his pay-per-view buys surge and suddenly he is one of the most famous boxers of all time. Now in the last few years he has kind of changed into a more kind-hearted individual, but he realised that some of his success was based upon people wanting to see him get badly hurt. I wouldn't say this is normally how a true narcissist thinks, but I think that partial Flloyd stumbled upon this technique partially because he was so narcissistic, and partly because it is a truism of human nature, to what to the see the narcissistically arrogant get punished for their hubris.

**EX10:** Any personality disorder has pronounced effects on one's emotional life and their ability to forge relationships and caters to such stuff. If we're talking about subclinical narcissism, then superiority and leadership are usually considered "adaptive" components of narcissism

**EX10**: Grandiosity in leaders, military, political, business, can lead one to lead others down the wrong path. If one of these leaders is just trying to instil a sense of grandiosity by misleading their followers, very little good can come from that. I'm talking dictatorial behaviour with little regard for the citizens. Given that the citizens then tend to resent to tyrant in a loud and aggravating fashion to the narcissist, you are going to see oppressive action taken. A kind of its me versus them mentality.

**Brief analysis of theme:** This theme shares a lot of similarities with the grey theme (**Reference to symptoms of NPD**). However, the key difference is this theme looks at the more severe actions and behaviours taken by people with NPD and poses whether nor not NPD should be considered as a PD and as a mental illness. In comparison the grey category acts only has a start just to determine whether the experts agree on what symptoms of NPD actually look like. There was some consideration to merging these themes, but as they look to poses different questions and accomplish different things they were separated.

The consideration for the severity of narcissistic behaviour varies. Narcissistic behaviour is stated to have some positive qualities, especially in leadership or in situations of assuming authority. However, in the case of NPD, the conditions are considered to be uncontrolled to the point of social determent, this might be insulting others without meaning to, or dominating others in a patronising fashion. The condition is severe because this lack of control over malicious tendencies can lead to violent or manipulative behaviours. This is especially dangerous in the case of leadership where the behaviour of a narcissistic leader can ruin the lives of all they have power over.

**Narcissistic individuals within the public eye:** In nearly all conversations reference was made to President Donald Trump with regards narcissism. Trump dominated this opinion with only a few other individuals such as Kim Jon Un, Kim Kardashian and Johnny Depp being named. There could be a few reasons for this choice. Firstly, as president of the United States, Trump is perhaps the most famous person in the world. In conjunction with a sordid pass with narcissistic events and a long public attention, Donald Trump has become an institution, that is in a way known for its narcissism. One of the continuous mottos of Trump is the suggestion that he is the best, his actions are better than others and his products are better than any others. Given that he fails on all three accounts, having a history of failed businesses and bankruptcy, Trump proves that on some levels a narcissist can succeed in America. In this way he acts for a number of other narcissists to be inspired to continue their narcissistic tendencies. Having this lightening rod effect is most likely the reason why he personally was singled out by the experts as an individual in the public image that has NPD.

**NPD relationship with mental illness:** This theme looks to highlight discussion of mental illness as a concept. This means looking at the term 'mental illness' as a valid term in addition to discussing it's meaning. The theme looks to capture what an expert considers a mental illness to be and how sever must a disorder be to be considered a mental illness.

**EX1**: Well you see here we get into core problem. I don't believe in mental illness, there is no such thing , when something has been called a mental illness, if they discover a biochemical or some neurological deficit, once that's discover, that doesn't prove that's a mental illness, it proves that it's a physical illness, Mental illness is a category of those behaviours that we want to think of as sick but that we can't think of as sick. As soon as we can prove that thy are sick it becomes a physical illness. Mental illness is a physical illness to behaviour that we know is sick but we can't prove is sick. There sickness is biological, you cannot apply the language of sick to mental behaviour it is simply a metaphor, a person is sick in the way an economy is sick, that is its merely a metaphor.

**EX2:** I mean its super hard when dealing with a multi-dimensional disfunction (classifying someone with mental illness). Tom Whitaker and Jerome Wakefield argue that it has to be harmful and unmanageable and stop the function of family and intimate relationships and friends. Also, its self-control, you lose the ability to modulate your own thoughts and emotions. Like just cocky there is some control over, you would turn it down for say an interview.

**EX2:** I consider a personality disorder to be a mental illness in the same way anxiety and depression is. I suppose you would consider them as mental illness if you want a precise answer, but I would rather not look at personality disorders in such a way.

**EX3:** Hmm (pauses and considers some time) They have to have a significant impairment in their daily functioning or significant emotional stress, so those are basically the criteria.

**EX3:** Well I see the point, it is called psychopathology for a reason, we need to be able to give a diagnosis and put names to illnesses, mental illnesses being no different for the purpose of treatment. I do prefer the points in traits-based approach, but it's obvious that people with a mental illness are mentally ill, after all one of the criteria is that society can see this in them when they interact. Also, when looking at genetical factors, having a mental illness means there is a good chance your offspring will inherit certain aspects of this or perhaps even the disorder themselves, so in this respect it is worth thinking of mental illness as a disease.

**EX3:** I guess like the previous question, but I mean a personality disorder is definitely a mental illness, I mean they are somewhat interchangeable as term for a reason. I guess you could argue that they aren't on the grounds of the mental illness term being a somewhat undefined term, I mean I suppose a personality disorder is too, but regardless there is not much difference.

**EX3:** (On NPD) Yeah, I mean, it's both a mental disorder and a personality disorder, so for sure it's a mental illness

**EX4:** Well you know back in the old days when getting a diagnosis and working with patients was common and they needed a terminology, this term 'mental illness' is fine. I now don't think we need these terms, it isn't reflective of the times.

**EX4**: I mean I just wouldn't I don't like to think with that terminology. I mean if the diagnosis helps people, but I don't think it does honestly. Doctors these days diagnose people far too fast with far too much need to place a label on a disorder. They aren't interesting in listening as much as trying to quickly diagnosis. I'm not saying that it was different in the past, only that it is something we should be addressing now. I'm not even opposed to making a diagnosis like that, just not in the manner its used. For mental illness I just don't believe in it, so I wouldn't diagnosis someone as mentally ill. **EX4:** Yeah I mean the same as before, a person with NPD is mentally ill by the definition you want to go by.

**EX5:** Psychological characteristics that lead to distress impairments and harm to themselves or others. When I started doing research on narcissism I took a lot on psychopathy. So maybe in a case like that they're not so much distress but they're definitely harming others. But yeah those are my 3 criteria. I suppose you could tack on lack of control as well.

**EX5:** I think that's part of it honestly that's the impairment criteria where social relations are impaired, job prospects are impaired. Or you know you're in jail for harming others that's also impairment.

**EX5:** (On if NPD should be a mental disorder) 100%. It meets the same criteria that most major personality disorders do. if you look at major depression it's also got thresholds that's distress and impairments. Mental illness also refers to the same kind of behavioural distress and impairment.

**EX6:** I think the biggest thing would be distress, I think the individual experiencing distress is definitely one of the huge things which obviously is going to be an issue for a narcissism because they typically don't experience a great deal of stress themselves. *RM:* So by that do you mean distress being caused to the individual \*and\* people around them?

**EX6:** If we were to sum up mental illness in general, distress is definitely one of the key components. I think you'll see that in the vast majority of things that show up in the DSM for example narcissism it's one of those disorders where the individual doesn't report typically a great deal of distress, but the distress that because other people around them is enough to meet the criteria to what I would consider important. I also think there's distress to the individual and that they're not necessarily aware of it, or what the source of it is.

**EX6:** (On PD's being mental illnesses) I regard them are really the same thing. **RM:** So, no differences?

EX6: Errr not really no.

EX7: (On mental illness) I don't really like that term.

**EX7:** I just wouldn't really use terminology.

EX7: To put it differently I would say all mental illnesses are personality disorders

**EX8:** I think the most important thing I could see, I guess there are 2 things: 1 is it very distressing to the person or to other people around them. That's the core criteria. The 2nd thing I would say, especially if you're thinking about severity, almost how much functional can that person done a job, can they go to school, anything that overlapping with the distress. I think sometimes we tend to think of distress and failure to function in a pyramid that's two really separate dimensions. I think they are overlapping to quite some degree, but I think also deserve their own focus.

**EX8**: I think pretty much 100% and if you think of something like anti-social personality

disorder or grandiose narcissism

**EX9**: A mental illness? Hmmm a big one is disorder, the complete loss of control over their behaviour, to the point where they are harming others with their behaviour, in ways they really don't want to. It's a disease, a mental disorder and when you think of it as one, a disease that manifests not for a day or a year, but the whole life span even, some days manageable but most days it is not. I'm not sure how I feel about the term mental illness, it is something of a dated term.

**EX9**: To the extent that I would consider any other mental illness to be a disorder. I think that NPD when correctly diagnosed is for sure a mental illness. However, I wouldn't say someone with narcissistic tendencies is mentally ill.

**EX10:** A mental illness is when someone has issues forging meaningful relationships with other people and impairs major life activity like working and such. It should be debilitating in nature, to the point where the person cannot function as they desire and obviously cannot function within society.

**EX10:** A mental illness is when someone has issues forging meaningful relationships with other people and impairs major life activity like working and such. It should be debilitating in nature, to the point where the person cannot function as they desire and obviously cannot function within society.

**EX10:** 100%. I have no doubt its a mental illness when its present to fulfil the requirement for NPD, not just general narcissism found in the populace. If you have full blown NPD, you suffer from a mental disorder you know

**Brief analysis of theme:** This theme ends up being quite broad, as the terminology mental illness is held in connection with many of the experts. The experts end up being pretty split on the existence of mental illness and again split on whether this term

should be used. This is one of the core themes examined in further detail within the analysis

**Differences in NPD Behaviour:** The theme uses quotations in reference to suggestion of divide with the NPD diagnostic bracket. One of the core discussed issues within the literature is a discussion on the nine descriptive traits outline in the DSM and whether they fully encompass the full scope of narcissism. One of the most commonly discussed splitting to dividing NPD into a grandiose and vulnerable categorisation.

EX1: So the grandiose narcissism it's all about how great he is. The depressed narcissist is equally obnoxious because it is all about how terrible everything is.
EX: That they vary, yes, the big variation being between grandiose and depressed.
RM: I read a work that split narcissism into 5 separate types of disorder, something like two poles, grandiose and vulnerable with some other variants in-between.
EX1: Yeah that could be true, thinking of different types of narcissism remind some of Kohut psychology and he distinguishes the difference between the type of narcissist who is constantly looking for mirroring, who is constantly looking for mirroring, as opposed to the idealising narcissist who are narcissists who are engaged in hero worship they are worshiping gurus and they are just projecting their ideal self in a character, like Doyle Brunson or Donald Trump or even God, or the Pope or whatever. It's a variation of narcissism to idealise people. That's certainly different from the mirroring narcissist who wants to be God. The worshiping of God is a more indirect version of this.

**RM:** *I* wonder if there should be at least two different names and disorders on narcissism.

**EX1:** Yes there probably should be.

**EX1:** The thin skinned are borderline, the thin skinned ae not necessarily borderline, more obsessive, more intellectual, obsessive compulsive. The thin skinned are people who are overwhelmed by their feelings, overwhelmed by their feelings, this sensitivity makes them very hard to work with. The thick skinned are insensitive and would rather not have them, they want to have distant from their emotions and understand themselves on a intellectual basis, they just don't feel much

**EX2:** Oh, they are super different, grandiose being the proto-typical one, with vulnerable less so. In terms of vulnerable narcissism many of those people aren't even grandiose. I think they are ego centrical and self-absorbed, but it often comes from a place of victimisation, a defence mechanism and are quite different in my mind. **EX2:** I think if you think about grandiose and vulnerable, at the core and traits from agreeableness with the five factor model, so you are going to display some of the obvious traits of narcissism present in both, the self-entitlement, the constant self-involvement but then a grandiose narcissist displays some other traits like desire to rule

the hierarchy, to be outgoing and always after the newest object with can be praised, like a car or watch. All about attention. Vulnerable are shyer, sensitive to criticism, anxiety and so are every different. Some people are very obvious in their narcissism, like Donald Trump it's hard for people not to agree on this. But then there is hidden or covert narcissism, who don't reveal this narcissism until you get to know them intimately.

**EX3:** Yeah, I do, it's true with all diagnostic categories, with mental illness. The debate on whether personality disorders the five out of nine, captures it perfectly. Two individuals could have almost completely different symptoms, almost all of them different, but still be classified with the same disorder. For this reason alone, shows that there needs to be a change in classification. Trait based dimensional model, and perhaps a further focus on subcategories could help with this diagnostic problem

**EX4:** I think it you go to Kohut, there are pull that suggests a vulnerable and grandiose divide. The grandiosity is there relative to what, I mean it's what diagnosticians focuses on.

**EX4:** Hmm from the poles point of the narcissism, the non-ambitious to non-grandiose pool, could have more compassion but does not have the assertiveness that comes with that grandiosity. I think at the heart of democracy and leadership the necessary selfesteem is based in this idea of being somewhat narcissistic, they in a sense are linked in a manner which has been orchestrated by modern society. In Kohut's system the idea is to take both poles and join them together somewhat.

**EX5:** I think the description is pretty good. The need for admiration, grandiosity, lack of empathy. Very consistent of the traits that I would associate with the condition. I think if I thought that there was more of an underlying vulnerability to these folks I'd be dissatisfied with calling it NPD.

**EX5:** I have a tough time understanding vulnerable narcissism as narcissism in most cases. It doesn't look like narcissism to me, particularly it seems more like borderline personality disorder. It's almost entirely comprised of high levels of neuroticism **EX5:** I think that grandiosity fits better with classic descriptions of narcissism. I think the emotional vulnerability Is the result of psychoanalytic overthinking. With the whole putting up a front because they feel vulnerable and have very little self-worth I don't agree that should be categorised as NPD

**EX5:** Assuming that you mean something more than there are a bunch of different ways than 5 out of 9 symptoms, I think there are a lot of ways of getting there. Symptom profiles can differ dramatically Is that all that you meant?

**EX5:** vulnerable narcissism is still closer to borderline personality disorder and high levels of neuroticism

**EX6:** I've had some really interesting discussion, with folks about whether grandiosity and vulnerability are two different expressions. Is it the case that people that people kind of oscillate between the two and I'm not sure? I like the idea that people can move

between the two. For example, when things are going well, the grandiose expression comes to the surface. When things go badly for them the vulnerability component may come out. So, I think there is a possibility for a subset of these individuals. I think it might be possible but there are different types of narcissism that's why things look so murky. But trying to explain slightly different manifestations using a similar language. **EX6:** So, I think there might be something there that will eventually help us understand these different manifestations of NPD and I think the vulnerability stuff might have a really really strong neuroticism component that just isn't showing up.

**EX7**: I think the pages on the outside of going to be different. you have to go to the inside of the person to see what's really going on and seeing if it's narcissism or not. **RM:** Are you not interested in making distinctions between different types of narcissism how do you propose to do it?

**EX7:** I don't find that particularly helpful, I want to know what can a person do that would really bother you and threaten your sense of self-esteem and then what you going to do about it? and that's a highly a contextualized thing. Let's compares events between trump and Morrissey. Both are narcissists, but would we say that Morrissey and Donald Trump other same some type of narcissism? I don't think so.

**EX8**: So yeah, that's what I can probably talk a lot about. I would make a distinction, yes. I

probably fall more into the camp where grandiose and vulnerable narcissisms are different presentations of narcissism rather than present just that different types of the same person. I think individuals who are very grandiose, they might show anger in their

reaction rather dominant than vulnerable narcissistic individuals. But I think there are certainly people out there who are narcissistic just because they are narcissistic and not because they are trying to master underline vulnerability or something that they don't like about themselves. So, I would make distinguish between those 2 things.

**EX9:** Yes, I would say so, I would say there is enough definitive proof that suggests multiple different behavioural patterns can be observed in NPD sufferers. The five in nine systems is not entirely correct in its approach. It's a little bit too broad to be entirely accurate.

**RM:** *I* would say it seems like there is a lot of agreement for this position.

**EX9**: Yeah, I would say so, it's hard to tell, but a great deal of people have written about the subject, and I don't believe there would too many negative ramifications to introducing a grandiose and vulnerable narcissism distinction.

**EX9:** Well yeah that's the thing, should it be split into more categories, I personally would say no. The way to approach this is with small steps, continuously little changes. This allows us to utilise the data we have and keep some semblance of structure. I would say if you made say four sub categories of NPD for example, then the dispute over why four categories and what they should be there would be a rampant one.

**EX10**: Well I think that spectrum can be further dissected, such that there are varying components where one narcissist may be more vulnerable, and another less, but if grandiose and vulnerable narcissism were entirely separate things, then scores on any test designed to measure those two things would be entirely orthodical, and that's not the case.

**EX10:** They can impact it for good and for bad. A grandiose leader who is a charismatic visionary can help an entire segment of the world for the better. I'm fairly sure Mahatma Gandhi was a narcissist but (he) was also a tremendous charismatic visionary who helped unshackle India from the reins of British Imperialism. Anyone who is that functional, performing at that level, needs a hefty dose of narcissism.

**Brief analysis of theme:** This theme looks at quotations with specifically reference to the differences in behaviour displayed under the umbrella of NPD. Some experts suggest a splitting of NPD into two separate conditions, vulnerable and grandiose narcissism. Other experts such as EX7 argue that further division of the condition leads away from actual useful treatment capabilities. There is some intersecting here with the yellow theme (**Reference to Measuring Instruments**) and the Dark Yellow (**Decline of Discreet Diagnosis/ Discussion of NPD Prevalence Rates**) given that all three focus on the measurement of NPD in some manner and the current trends in the understanding of narcissism.

All experts identified a grandiose narcissism, however not all identified a vulnerable narcissism. In the case of EX1 he refers to pseudo vulnerable narcissist, the depressed narcissist. In addition, EX1 argues for a difference between thick and thin-skinned narcissists. Others like EX5 argue vulnerable narcissism is closer to borderline personality disorder with high levels of neuroticism.

<u>Relevance of environment as NPD contributor</u>: This theme uses quotations that reference the argument between the relevance of genetics versus the relevance of the environment as primary contributor for NPD traits. The literature would suggest this is approximately a fifty/ fifty split, however the literature is very much divided.

**EX1**: Clearly, we have brains as well as minds so clearly there is something there to begin with not just the environment. To me it's in a black cloth, I don't know how to estimate it. I don't think about it very much because the whole of the psychotic approach is based around environmental factors, the quality of the maternal holding. I'm far more likely to think in the case of a severe narcissist, sometime seriously went

wrong in the mother infant relationship. I'm more likely to think that than I am biological factor.

**EX1:** I don't think it is particularly leaning towards one gender, although it certainly takes on different manifestations. So you have the sadistic narcissistic domineering male, but you have the seductive female, who is out to get you addicted to her, her narcissism takes the form of a trying to make her the centre of your desire and attention. She goes about it in a different way.

**RM**: *Is that because men and women want fundamentally different things from life.* **EX1**: Err I think actually they kind of want the same thing, they just have two different ways of thinking, two different applied strategies. They just want to be the centre.

**EX2:** I mean genes play a huge role in all psychology and in all psychopathy, so probably about 50%.

**EX2**: Yeah actually I think I go to the opposite I don't think that psychoanalytic theory really goes that far, like it all being about parenting. I don't think you can address that unless you have designs that let you intertwine genetics from environmental feature, that's all speculation really, even showing a correlation between narcissistic parenting style and a child's narcissistic personality does not say that a nurture issue or a genetic issue, because the two still have not been separated. I think it's a very poorly understood issue as to how any of the personality disorder divide into nature versus nurture?

**EX3:** Genetics play a role in everything... The research that links narcissism to biological substrates, there isn't anything too conclusive, it can't be, the science is not there yet to make some conclusive decision. At least I believe so. There is some genetic component to it obviously, I think this one of the personality disorder, which is more influenced by the environment, more so than other sides might be by genetics.

**EX4:** I have no honest idea, I guess based on a what we know, I mean Freud would suggest that it's a common a true characteristic in all. Are there variations in narcissism based upon genetics, that is hard to say? I mean we will get into the sex roles later, but you know the data is not there really.

**EX4**: One of my paper was on sex roles and narcissism, and basically the results suggest that grandiosity seems to be more associated with males. And the vulnerability aspects seem to be more focused around women.

**EX4:** My data suggest that male masculine shows that there is a tendency for narcissism to be more present in males. We did a study in Iran which measures the dirty dozen measures the dark triad in school teachers in central iran, to make it short and sweet, males are going to be higher, if you look at masculinity even in females, this tends to predict narcissistic characteristics.

**RM**: What exactly do you masculinity in females?

**EX4**: If you go and look at the sexual inventory there is an inverse of positivity evaluated masculinity, positivity evaluated femininity, a bi-polar masculine and feminine scale, then there are smaller scales which look at socially devalued forms of

masculinity and femininity, so when I say to you that masculinity predicts narcissism in males and females, both males and females with show a spectrum of relationships which are more masculine or feminine relative to sexual stereotypes, and vice versa, and so masculinity of this kind measured in females and males alike, predicts narcissism.

**EX5:** As a traits theorist, I think they reflect the same genetic influence as the traits that contributed to them. 45 to 60% from genetic variance.

**EX5:** I suspect there are a lot of other personality traits which don't show a whole lot of shared Influence. Asperger's shows about 10% due to shared environments and the rest is due to unshared environments or measurement error. So, while I agree that the environments important I think it's probably the way that genetic shape it. So, I'm convinced that the traits lead to those environments themselves?

**EX5:** There is good evidence, like if you look out of a lot of studies with twins, that have been separated at birth they look remarkably similar despite not being together and not living in the same environment. One of the big ideas behind that is similar genetics are constructing similar environments \*inaudible\* way people respond to the types of choices they make. It seems that their genes heavily influenced the kind of decisions that they make.

**EX5:** Well these structures in society are caused by genetics if you trace it back far enough. If you had to pick one dimension that would be a good place to start. In terms of determining trait It's probably agreeableness, sort of the connection with others and playing well with others.

**EX6:** I definitely think it has a huge role. the heritability estimates are always a little fuzzy, but I definitely think that there's a genetic contribution I reckon it's about half the genes half environments. I definitely think there's a strong genetic connection that gives people a disposition and tendencies to develop characteristics. **EX6:** I think both I know testosterone can definitely play a role and men are socialised

to do this. I think it's a biological inheritance that sets the stage. I'll socialization finishes things off where in many cultures is typical for men to gain status. I think the connections between social hierarchy and NPD and the navigation of those hierarchies it's one of the things I'm really interested in and I think there's something there.

**EX7**: Genetic studies generally show even if you're talking about relatively stable dispositions, the variance levels are too high. Genes aren't quite the right level of analysis to think about.

**EX8:** As far as the development of narcissism we don't have very good understanding of, there different theories out there but to my knowledge there have been a lot of societal research examining these kinds of issues but not so many genetic studies. I would say that genetics is pretty big component to it that would explain a lot of the characteristics, where you see it in siblings or children and parents. Even when you conduct twin studies and separate them, then tend to grow up with some innate traits

from their parents. Also, I mean given how similar humans are biologically, it would make sense that genetics influence behaviour in a huge way. I would think that it definitely is the central component as important as the environment. **EX8:** I think genetics is probably more primary and genetics help dictate the environment that you choose, that kind of thing. That being said, I think just like anything there certainly is more important environmental contribution and so from what I've read there 2 sorts of theories of development of narcissism. One of them seems to be that narcissist is chosen at birth to develop these tendencies. Another one is the person who is narcissistic as an adult was spoiled as a child and thought they were special, they were great. I would personally see that as a bigger influence of narcissism, but again, I don't think we have the answers to these questions and I think that is an important direction for narcissism research quite forward.

**EX9**: High likelihood of children becoming narcissistic if their parents were. The children had been separated from the parents at birth. I mean the paper proved that these two factors do correlate relatively well

**EX9**: You mean nature versus nature what percent of each? Hmmm well honestly it is impossible to tell, for argument sake we can say 50/50. But we know that childhood abuse increases the likelihood of developing NPD later in life, and we know that growing up in an environment where a key role model displays narcissistic tendencies increases the likelihood of growing up with heighten narcissistic tendencies.

**EX10**: Well as we know from twin studies of modern psychotic twins we know that about 51% of anyone's personality is inherited. So, I would suggest that a personality disorder which is so fundamentally based upon trait levels, the majority of one's inherited disorder comes from one's parents

**EX10**: So, once we have a stable maladapted set of traits we can measure those and in these twin studies we simply measure them, it doesn't really matter who raised you, the correlation between the two comes across in the genetic inputs.

**Brief analysis of theme:** A reoccurring sentiment is that there is difficult conducting conclusive data on entirely genetic based studies, both of PD and NPD alike. Given that genetics testing Is still very basic in design, it is currently impossible to isolate genes or DNA strands that relate to narcissistic tendencies. However, all experts agree that it is a significant factor, most likely 50 (in EX5 potentially 60 or 51% in the case of EX10) percent and in the case of some experts even more impactful than the environment. As there is little way to measure the biological impact, most of the experts tend to avoid including it in their analysis. However, since none of the experts had a good understanding of the impact biology has on NPD, clearly there is need for further research in this area.

**Role of gender:** Nearly all of the experts suggested that men display equal to or more dominant narcissistic traits. However, there was some contention over female narcissistic tendencies suggesting that women can be as narcissistic as men although the symptoms present differently. Most experts described this female narcissism as being more cunning, manipulative and secretive in nature. In addition, experts that described a difference between grandiose and vulnerable narcissism often characterised women as have tendencies which favoured vulnerable narcissism.

**Relevance of environment as NPD contributor**: This theme focuses on the most prevailing environmental impacts that occur on a macro-scale. Given that most experts agree that the genetic portion of the disorder is somewhat unmeasurable, attention has been paid to macro scale events which impact the society as a whole in relation to narcissistic tendencies. Some example of this might be the rise in individualism, or the relationship between social media and narcissistic tendencies.

**EX1:** Well okay sure, ruthlessness is useful, especially under capitalism. **RM:** *Yes, it would seem that a lot of CEO's seem to be narcissistic, it seems kind of necessary to get to the top* 

EX1: Exactly, you need to be willing and able to step on other people

**EX1**: Hmm I was watching an ad play during the Canadian Football League for GMC. The ad goes 'what kind of a person do you want to be, a good person a good friend, a good parent, is that it? (it belittles this notion) 'No you want to be the best'! Well you see that's narcissism talking right there.

**RM**: But I mean if that resonances within everyone, then that's genius. They have brought along this product and said look how niche and this is and how unique you will be if you have this, but deep down it is relevant to everyone.

EX1: Right, it's very easy to tempt people's narcissism.

**EX1:** Well now we go back to the environmental question, I personally think this whole culture including our educational system, this structure we live in breed narcissism, a culture of achieving and doing and doesn't pay any attention to being, always about doing and achieving, not about being

**RM:** Is narcissism a parentally influenced phenomenon or could say the abuse of peers and other influences like teacher abuse or from family members.

**EX1:** Yeah, I think it can be from other kids and bullying the meanest, the cruelness of other kids, especially if they identify something odd or unusual about the person they tease him or her, the ostracize that person. Even with really good parenting that can be very damaging. Although my bias to kids who have a really loving mother and father and a really great environment, even if that kid encounters sever bullying later in childhood or adolescence, although the child will be hurt, if the kid has really good loving, he is going to have a core, that's going to be pretty strong and endure the later cruelty better than someone who has been deprived.

**RM**: So they have more of a backbone or self because of this loving nurture, they have this foundation of love to be supported by.

**EX1:** Yeah exactly a person who has been raised with love knows what it is and they have received it, he knows that it exists in the world and if he is not getting it he will not be ingeniously be able to find it. He will find the one teacher or coach or friend who can prove them a semblance of this love. They will find it in god or in their imagination, some semblance of this love.

**EX1**: I think can a number of ways, you could have a person who is a narcissist. A person who turns to drugs to numb, terrible feelings of not being good enough, using the drugs to numb low self-esteem, but the drugs make him more narcissistic. Take alcohol, it certainly makes people more introspective and self-focused, and in the case of a narcissistic individual it heightens these effects. A grandiose narcissist may abuse drugs because they like this heighten self-aggrandising and revel in the feeling

**EX2:** I'm more pessimistic about it to be honest, I don't think parenting and selfies and the self-esteem movement plays a huge role frankly in the contributor of narcissism. I mean there was a study to look at narcissistic traits in pre-schoolers and studied to see if they continued and the correlation suggest that by preschool they were able to pick out these traits. That experiment was relatively successful. I think you bring some of those traits straight out of the womb with them. I think some cultures can inhibit this too, like some Asian cultures, where being self-absorbed can bring shame on your family in a way that isn't fully comprehended in the west, and this pushes down some of these traits, where as a western culture may encourage individualism on a level that encourages narcissistic attributes but you know I don't think nurture is as impactful as people give it credit for.

**EX2**: I think both show it, I come from a trait-based background, that all personality disorders can be linked to normal personality. So, we know across the world men are less agreeable to women, less tender minded, more self-focused. This doesn't mean that women don't do some disagreeable that others, just men tend to me more disagreeable, so looking at the curve at the high end you are going to see mainly men at the part of the spectrum where this is going to be represent as NPD or some other disorder.

**RM:** Do you think that is a societal thing or more a physical one.

**EX2:** I don't know it may well be that there are hormonal factors, like testosterone, but also culturally men have been praised and encouraged for narcissistic traits to an extent whereas these qualities have often been oppressed or even attempt to breed out of woman. There is an interesting study done by Judge who showed that being disagreeable predicts higher salaries for men but not for women. So if you are some asshole dude, who says I should get a raise I kick ass, isn't going to go so well for a women.

**EX2:** I have a good sense of that to be honest, narcissism like most other disorders seem to have co morbidity with substance disorder and anti-social behaviour, but it's not a robust correlate like anti-social and psychopathy disorders. I mean it makes things worse because substance disorders tend to make all disorders worse and

reinforce negative behaviours or at the least numb the individual from dealing with said negative behaviour. Does it dramatically change it though, I don't really know

**EX3:** Society is more measurable of course, there are lots of studies which show the influence of narcissistic parents on children, and narcissistic bullies or the involvement of verbal or sexual abuse. NPD really has its roots in childhood where the environment can impact you in a huge way, in a way you can't deal with or understand. We can see this in the research, but I'm really not sure how to evaluate and answer this question. **EX3:** You know I'm not entirely sure, but I would imagine that it is men, no sure why, probably partly to do with social distinction, patriarchal and males are taught to show dominance and toughness in society, all of those can be linked to narcissism. Women tend to be more compassionate, which is pretty much the opposite, as well as modesty **EX3:** You know I'm not entirely sure, but I would imagine that it is men, no sure why, probably partly to do with social distinction, patriarchal and males are taught to show dominance and toughness in society, all of those can be linked to narcissism. Women tend to be more compassionate, which is pretty much the opposite, as well as modesty **EX3:** You know I'm not entirely sure, but I would imagine that it is men, no sure why, probably partly to do with social distinction, patriarchal and males are taught to show dominance and toughness in society, all of those can be linked to narcissism. Women tend to be more compassionate, which is pretty much the opposite, as well as modesty. **RM:** So basically, our societal structure looks to nurture the opposite of narcissistic thinking for women.

**EX3:** Right, well it might in some way, in say the Kardashian way an aloofness there, but no mainly it does not.

**RM**: That seems pretty controversial?

**EX3**: Why? It has nothing to do with women, but marketing psychology and ancient societal structures. I think we have seen a move away In the more recent years. But women's rights have come a long way since the 20's, even since the 60's. That is very very recent in human history, so it will take some time for that cocky approach that could be considered narcissism in men. This is all starting to change now, with more women becoming managers and CEOs, moving towards a more neutral work environment over a male one.

**EX3:** Err I'm honestly not sure about that. Substance abuse is obvious shares a critical relation with clinical psychology, so I would imagine that you would see an increase in narcissistic traits or heightens destructive behaviour. Perhaps used as a crutch and thus be used in that way, but with narcissists, hmmm you have to imagine some narcissists take uppers and other stimulates to get that rush, I mean they are often very driven people, this again is narcissists not people with NPD, those who have the disorder would almost certainly be using drugs, if they are using drugs as a crutch to make it through the day. One imagines the abuse would be chronic use, as it tends to be in psychological disorders.

**EX4:** The western world has become exceptionally materialist and has built society around the striving of consumption. So, there has been a lost in community as a force that helps give structure to human life. So, some of the criticism the most basic black and white ideas, said things like contemporary society and contemporary psychology were promoting a cult of narcissism. I would say things are a lot more complicated

than they used to be, having a culture which is increased communal, less religious and more disconnected from value systems has aggravated tendencies towards a narcissistic disposition.

**EX4**: There has been quite a few studies that look for narcissism in Facebook and it seems that these kind of social media, is encouraging this individualism, and reduce tendencies toward optimal frustration which may promote narcissism. I mean according to Kohut, what is supposed to happen, narcissism is just fine in early life. And you go through times where you are optimately frustrated in your relationships, and what is supposed to happen if you internalise sources of self-esteem not allows for change in the understanding of relationship. So social media effects this optimum frustration does not occur so well in social media

**RM:** *How so?* 

**EX4**: Well it requires that person to person interaction, so seeing emotions and experience so called real life, by contrast social media in its current form is a primitive spartan version of this that doesn't provide the necessary feedback to stimulate this optimal frustration.

**RM:** What exactly is synthetic narcissism?

**EX4**: It refers to a kind of narcissism that develops in a situation that is contrary to the ordinary. I one of my papers, the synthetic narcissism looked at was based around gender roles. If a woman, acts like a man, in a man's position, doing masculine work, do you see women develop a kind of narcissism normally related to men, as in an increase in grandiose characteristics. The correlation is actually quite strong. **EX4**: That's exactly right, technology aggravates this tendency, and in conjunction with capitalist structures and ever-increasing technology, they all work with one another to exacerbate the symptoms.

**EX4:** One would assume that narcissistic individuals would tend to abuse substances which fall in line with their ethos as a narcissist, I guess the theoretical point is if a narcissist finds themselves in an environment which does not in optimal frustration, they may substitute social supports for chemical support, I mean that's all very plausible.

**EX5**: While I agree that the environments important I think it's probably the way that genetic shape it

**EX6**: I think there is definitely something happening where I think societal changes really can have an impact on narcissism characteristics and I think narcissism probably is increasing in recent years since they have been a lot of changes in cociety. I'm sure societal and environmental forces can have a huge impact.

*RM:* Why do you think they've been increasing recently?

**EX6:** I'm not absolutely sure, I do think some of the things like social media. Whether that's a causal inference or just a symptom of the increasing narcissism I can't be sure. I definitely think there's something going on with this strong desire to be in public to have people looking at you constantly to be talking about what you're doing at every possible moment and I don't know if that's creating an impression for young folks in

particular, that life is like a constant stage. Without any kind of time off stage so I, then again I think the causal force of this or a being a consequence of increasing narcissism. **EX6:** I think some of the changes in family environments also, might have something to do with this while there's more of a focus on surface level characteristics rather than character development.

**EX6:** looking at kids and their career aspirations it wasn't connected to narcissists but one thing I did find a bit worrisome was when we asked what they want to do when they grow up. A large percentage said something that has to do with being a celebrity or an athlete or actor or musician which is interesting because they seem to be a lot more focused on fame and attention now than in past generations when you would see other things like I would want to be a police officer or astronaut which were a bit more common back then

**EX7**: I think the impact (of NPD) on society is overstated usually, I think the idea of it being an epidemic is a hoax and I don't think it's very good evidence supporting the idea so I'm sceptical of that.

**EX7**: You can see substance abuse being intertwined with the narcissistic dynamic, which is the cause and which is the effect is difficult to know.

**EX8**: There is a lot of stuff now about generation millennials and narcissism, whether the society is promoting that. I think there's been some debate about that. In the States there's increasing valuation narcissism being measured. Once could argue that the president chosen for the country is a reflection of this. But the thing is a leader and being really confident and really persuasive is a good thing. I think those traits are really being valued by younger generation. So, I could think that contributing to some degree or may be people who don't have those traits can feel like something's wrong about them and they're not leadership type. But I think we can only have so many leaders and I think telling everybody they are going to be a leader probably is unrealistic. And I could see that contributing to narcissism in some way shape or form. Because, again, I don't think everybody can be a leader, but I can see at schools, at least in the States, where everybody is told to be a leader and to stand out and that's sort of interesting perspective.

**EX8**: I think it's possible. I think may be to some degree, but I think it also may be that people who are already type of narcissistic or histrionic just are louder and able to express themselves better on social media. Just now that we see it more. But companies like Facebook have massive massive marketing teams designed to among other things bring out that kind of narcissism which keeps you posting. So I think it probably contributes to some extent, but I think a lot of it is just giving the people the outlet to what they already have. It's just now on display more.

**EX8:** I would see it almost as substances I tend to think sort of caused by some other underlying issue whether it would be sensation seeking or to cope with pain of living, as a numbing mechanism. With narcissism I would see it linked more to sensation seeking and I guess if somebody who is narcissistic also reported a lot of substance abuse I think

overall it would be indicative of just generally more externalizing difficulties. I wouldn't say they are going to be more narcissistic, they already have the condition right, but maybe it reduces their inhibitions and further reduces their ability to withhold thoughts.

**EX9:** Sure, so let's say the degree to which that child experienced abuse from bullies, or abuse from adults, whether sexual. Physical or verbal, they can all be effective at unleashing narcissistic tendencies later in life.

**EX9:** That's not to say such trauma would in any way guarantee narcissistic tendencies, only that extreme cases could be more likely to cause NPD, especially if that child does not have a loving and teaching support group

**EX9:** Predominately, but it could also be the support and love of a sibling or guardian, like grandparent that helps guide and channel malevolent tendencies.

**EX9:** Who can say, many reasons. The patriarchal shape of society, the validation and encouragement of such traits in men over women, perhaps based in hormones, or in general physical strength. It is a combo of biological and societal that is for sure. Biology influences society in a rather meaningful way, but we have no real idea what kind of influence that it. No one really does, the data just isn't that producible on any meaningful level.

**EX9:** Again, I'm not entirely sure, I have to imagine that certain drugs, ones that are renown for making a person behave in a more narcissistic manner, like alcohol or cocaine, you have to imagine they exacerbate the problem. A person will NPD is quite likely to have some sort of addiction, whether it is to the constant maintenance of their body, their social appearance often requiring a crutch.

**EX10:** I'm glad you asked, as I've asked my friends, is social media for example causing Narcissism, or simply an avenue for expression of narcissism? The way I look at it is imagine the 1880s pioneer woman crossing the American West in a covered wagon. She could have been a raging, flaming narcissist, but had no one to express it to. Today we have social media, and people can go on and relatively anonymously express how great they think they are.

**EX10**: Well I say "you might be a narcissist if: you know exactly how many Facebook friends you have.

**EX10**: Generally, males score higher than females. The reason for this is some sort of longstanding cultural bias in favour of the success of male children than female children. For many generations women were told their only option in life was to be a nurse or have children, and if they got married they were to stay home and cook, but men are supposed to go out and conquer the world. Why men? They're special, they're powerful, they're smart, women are not.

**RM**: So by your theory, as we begin to see more females in position of power hopefully, we're more likely to see narcissistic female CEOs as well?

**EX10:** Absolutely, in fact some pop culture icons develop narcissism, such as the Kardashians. They operate as icons, do you want to grow up to be a CEO or a model on Instagram?

**EX10**: It's my understanding that people who have NPD are more likely to engage in substance abuse, especially cocaine, as it is supposed to make you feel smart and intelligent and pretty and powerful, and all those things, which then just acts as fuel for the narcissism fire.

**RM:** Would you say there would be a difference in the type of substance depending on the effect of their disorder? Maybe taking stimulants might make certain traits worse than the average person.

**EX10**: I would think people with different disorders would tend to gravitate towards different substances to abuse, for example someone with a general anxiety disorder, may be more likely to abuse tranquilizers, as it takes away their anxiety. A narcissist might be more likely to take stimulants because it makes them feel even prettier.

**Brief analysis of theme:** This theme intersects with the scarlet theme (Reference to **Debate Over Nature/Nurture as Prevailing NPD Contributor**) given that both assess the impact of the environment as an impactor on NPD. In this manner it was difficult to separate the two themes. However, given that there is very little conclusive research on the genetic aspect of NPD research. This theme looks to focus on the types of impactors we can see in the environment which happen on a macro scale. The crimson theme on the other hand looks to focus solely on the debate on which is more relevant. Originally this was a single category, but given the broad spectrum of the ideas, it was necessary to separate the two.

**Role of Social Media:** One of the most common suggest for the apparent rise in narcissistic tendencies is the impact of the internet and in particular social media. All experts agree that social media is at the very least allowing narcissistic behaviour to be rewarded and pursed. It also acts as a megaphone for all narcissists to broadcast their actions with. However, there is a divide on whether using social media increases narcissistic tendencies. EX8 argues '*I think it also may be that people who are already type of narcissistic or histrionic just are louder and able to express themselves better on social media*'. In order to conclusive resolve this much more research would need to be undertaken, most likely using some of statistics gathered through Facebook.

**Role of substance abuse:** There was some variance in the expert opinion although there is general agreement on a few issues. Firstly, that substance abuse tends to heighten narcissistic behaviour, especially if the substance is in somewhat a stimulant or depressant. Secondly most experts agreed that substance would be adopted as a crutch, although the argument over if the drugs are used as an addict's crutch or as a

method of aiding narcissistic tendencies (i.e. impervious to personal criticism and the criticism of others out of apathy), was contended.

**Relevance of Parents:** A reoccruing theme highlighted by the experts is the role parents and parenting styles have on creating narcissistic tendencies. In particular it would seem that if the parents act too strictly and verbally abusive towars their children, especially if they use repeated punishment involving shame and guilt causes narcissistic tendencies. In addition parents who are too easy and coddle their children can cause narcissistic tendencies as coddling can promote grandiosity which can get maginified when facing the trials of the world.

**Decline of Discreet Diagnosis:** This theme focuses on the move from discreet diagnosis to a more trait-based approach, or in the case of some experts a completely different diagnostical approach. Given this transition to what is and what isn't NPD, this theme also focuses on how prevalent we can expect to see NPD be in the populace given the moving of the markers.

**EX1:** I don't really think of it as a line, I think of it as a continuum. **RM:** So there is no point, or there is no straw you consider to be the one that breaks the back. A point that we say, no no this is too much.

**EX1:** Abhh I don't really think that we can. I don't really think we can ethically perspective. I mean it's almost based upon different ethically judgements. I mean what you are really asking is how much selfishness is too much selfishness.

**EX1:** As much. I mean everyone needs narcissistic gratification, everyone needs mirroring, validating, applause appreciation. But some people are desperate for it. So as a relatively more mature person would be sad, and he comes home and he wants narcissistic gratification from his partner and he tells her about his bad day, and basically he wants soothing and bucking up. But after 15 minutes of this attention he realises she is a human too and gets up. He will ask 'oh how was your day'. **RM**: *Yeah*.

**EX1:** Now some people never get up, they spend their whole lives as using other people as mirrors.

**EX1:** Okay well my answer has to be that I do not consider narcissistic personality disorder to be a mental illness because I do not consider hysteria or grandiosity or any of these things to be a mental illness, because mental illness doesn't exist.

**EX1**: Well certainly NPD is not a physical illness, I mean to do that you would have to prove with microscopic data that empirically prove that there is a biological

malfunction, defect or disease. You can't do that for these behaviours that are called mental illness. I mean what am I doing then when I'm so called treating these traits. I'll tell you what it is, narcissism is not sick its bad, the whole of psychology has devoted itself to avoiding the law and that's its fundamental error. These forms of behaviours that we consider to be mental illness, if we were to be honest we would call them wrong and bad, we don't like these behaviours. Even down to weird behaviours like someone standing too close to you when they talk, so we think there is something mental wrong with them.

**EX2:** I mean using the DSM cut off point, the data would suggest extraordinarily rare, the Stinson paper you put forth is really an outlier but most epidemiological studies the modal percent is zero to 0.1 % but I think that's there an artificial cut off, so if you made the cut off instead of four symptoms, three or two them absolutely the rate would be higher. You know when you have a dimensional construct that you pretend is categorical, resulting a yes/ no I don't even know how useful knowing prevalence rates are as it's an arbitrary cut-off,

**EX2:** I don't have a terrible problem with the five of nine seems pretty relevant to narcissism as term of construction validity if you meet this criterion you are narcissistic. But I quibble over that if you have five of nine you have it and four of nine you don't. We have argued that the DSM should not favour vulnerable. I mean either though it only focuses on the grandiose and not the vulnerable I think that okay because NPD should be considered to be an impairment in society and the listed traits should reflect that as opposed to a weaker, vulnerable condition which impairs society. If we can capture both that would be a benefit, but that would broader the symptoms of NPD but the things is if you include the traits to say include shyness, sensitive to criticism and other vulnerable qualities that you are just going to increase the likelihood of co-occurrence, with borderline dependence and so. This is why we see so must cooccurrence due to the general overlap of traits within disorders.

**EX2:** I consider a personality disorder to be a mental illness in the same way anxiety and depression is. I suppose you would consider them as mental illness if you want a precise answer, but I would rather not look at personality disorders in such a way. They tend to be hard to treat given the genetic underpinning. Also, It's hard because the lines are arbitrary on whether or not you have the condition, the cut offs could really be changed at any time, altering the meaning. Like are you really talk or not, yes no, like who knows. So, you can make cut-offs but it's worth bearing this in mind. So, with disorders we should be really consolidating a model which address trait theory in the best possible way. It would help remove some of these tough issues.

**EX3:** I'm not sure but on a truly clinical diagnosed level (of NPD), extremely small like less than one percent, perhaps higher.

**EX3:** Moving away from strict, yes or no categorisation of conditions and onto a more trait and percentage-based model, has really improved understanding of disorders. **EX3:** I think it's important that we distinguish once again though between NPD and narcissism, everyone of course has some narcissistic tendencies and they range in severity, and for the severity required to be classified as NPD

**EX4:** I actually don't know that, but I would say that research demonstrates a continual narcissism is present in everyone to some degree.

**EX5:** The key difference is probably one of trait extremity NPD should be more associated with impairments. So, for me it's mostly a matter of degree/intensity compared to tendencies.

**RM:** And this impairment might be something like not functioning normally in society. **EX5:** Right so like Impairments within relationships work, school and such. I think it's just a result of these extreme traits.

So that would be more of the kind of sliding scale type thing rather than the definitive line.

**EX5:** I'm going to go with the DSM estimates to me somewhere between 3 to 5% we're like we're talking about the full-blown disorder.

**EX5:** It implies a sharp demarcation. At a high end that's pretty bad and that's a low and that's probably OK. You have to draw a line of demarcation? somewhere and when it gets to figuring out if it seems to be lack of control impairment distress and harm to others. I think it's fair to call it something and mental illness is ok with me.

**EX6:** It's hard to know, the hit rates look very low because the government went for treatments but I'm guessing. I don't know it's a good question I'm guessing maybe like 5%. I reckon it's higher though than some institutions say like 1% I think the diagnostic criteria is a little weak for NPD so I'm going to say 3 to 5%.

**EX6:** Also, I recognise that clinicians have to have something that is tangible and that they can use like cut off scores I don't think we're in a position yet to give that to them and so I can understand why have there been reluctant to shift over

**RM:** If not cut off points, at least sectored areas that could give them more precise interpretation, so everyone isn't treated exactly the same.

**EX6:** What I imagine would happen very quickly there is we would start having Arguments about where these sectors are, and it will probably be just as divisive as it is now. So I'm sure that will be the next point of contention so where are these cut off points going to be.

I think there is a point where it can become pathological exactly where that point is like is there a qualitative shift? It makes it hard to find out where the dividing line is if there is one.

**RM**: So, you mean with the literature changing all the time, the markers by which we identify a personality disorder?

**EX6:** Yes, the research is constantly evolving and seeing as the DSM looks to be up to date with diagnostics, it has to change frequently. That effects the validity somewhat, but at least it is moving forward in the right direction.

**EX7:** I think narcissism is whatever the person who is studying it, says what it is. Meaning that a lot of different people have found different definitions and created measurement tools to study. so nobody seems to really agree what we're talking about. You could call me a sceptic. I think the DSM has it wrong, personality technology has it wrong. I don't think there such thing as NPD. it doesn't take long to take a bunch of traits, put them together and say "so now that's what narcissism is".

**EX7**: narcissism might be a way to describe the reason for those problems, but the fact that they have problems is already determined by the fact that they came into your office so you don't need to go above and beyond to determine whether or not they have problems. I don't think that's a scientific way to draw a line.

EX7: It's not uncommon I think a lot of people in general are very immature.

**EX8**: I would say that the prevalence is very low of NPD that is. Although that's of course subjective. Estimates I've seen of range like anywhere from 1 to 5 percent I mean based

on qualitative experience of what I've read

**EX9**: For diagnosing this difference, we recently we have seen a move to trait theory. It's the more accurate method and has been peer reviewed so much at this point it should be implemented.

EX9: Very rare, very rare, hmmm maybe around say one in 200 maybe 300.

**EX10:** It's my understanding that it ranges between 1 - 6% of the population, **EX10:** Oh gosh that line in the sand thing falls into the categorical narcissistic personality disorders and I've never been a real fan. I think that line is different for everyone. There is some range where the line actually is. And so it's a particular confluence of the experiences and disorders, thinking, and emotional responses, and maladapted egos. That particular confluence can rise to a high enough level where it becomes a full-blown personality disorder.

**EX10**: Basically, you said around the world, because personality disorders can only be diagnosed in their cultural context

**Brief analysis of theme:** This is one of the more controversial themes with some experts supporting the implementation of trait theory, whilst others suggesting discreet diagnosis is still the correct method. In general, there is a majority calling for having some aspects of the diagnostic process measured with trait theory. The argument against the implementation of traits is made by EX1 who suggests this is diverting time away from the diagnostic process. However, given the large amount of support for the inclusion of trait-based instruments, it would seem to make sense to implement at least one trait-based instrument when calculating the severity of a person's narcissistic tendencies.

When asked about the prevalence rates, many of the experts guessed between 1 and 5 percent. According to EX2 who conducted research in the past, placed prevalence rates somewhat lowers, from as 0 to 1 percent. Review of the surrounding literature has suggested around 0.01 percent. Given that most of the experts seemed to overestimate

prevalence rates or judge them by completely different standards, shows that there is some stigma and confusion bout the PD.

**<u>NPD</u>** measuring instruments: This theme refers to the current instruments used to measure narcissism and narcissistic attributes. It looks to examine which methodologies the experts deem to be valid, and which they do not consider to be valid.

**EX1:** You know I generally avoid reading the DSM, I don't find that pigeon hole kind of thinking to be helpful

**EX1**: (relation to NPI other metrics) I'm sorry I can't comment I haven't used any of these inventories

EX1: Honestly, I do not use the ICD-10, I'm only vaguely familiar with it.

**EX2:** Well the previous data shows it to be zero to one percent given on the paper, this Stinson once you showed me seems to be an outlier in that regard. It depends how you access it. If you use semi-structured or fully structured interviews like the paper they are not going to necessarily be that accurate as people tend to over think the scale and magnitude of these disorders. You are going to find high rates when you ask people but then speaking with clinicians it's a lot rarer because of the severity of the symptoms required to meet these criteria. There are plenty of very narcissistic people, that its rather rare for people to meet that five of nine criteria

**EX2**: I would go on a self-report basis, I mean narcissistic people are pretty willing to discuss themselves and their views, you could even ask 'are you a narcissist' but things like 'would the world be a better place if I ran it'. I trust self-report more than I think most people do, I mean more than normal people. Also you could ask family member, partners and friends and see what they agree on trait wise and where they differ. Most provide relatively valid information especially if you collect the data from enough sources.

**EX2**: I think the NPD is heavily criticised, but very commonly used though and the data suggest it works just find. I'm a co-author on a FFM relationship to NPI, so it relates to something that resonances with all people, FFM works for all.

**EX2:** It's more around the world, the DSM follows the ICD codes, but the DSM is more developed in terms of mental health. The ICD is all about health problems for all parts of the anatomy. The DSM is more mental illness. If narcissism was taken out of the DSM it would not stop research from occurring, the actually tried to take it out and I wrote a paper concerning this, but yeah people still would study narcissism even if it was no longer listed. Just because its so fascinating and relevant and complex in nature. The ICD-11 is going to get rid of all personality disorders and just describe personality disorders based on traits, to narcissism will still be there maybe not by title but will still be possible to determine based on trait allocation.

**EX3**: I haven't spent much time on the DSM-5, it seems a little vague and only covers grandiose narcissism, or perhaps no other types. But honestly, I am not that familiar. **EX3**: It's not a great measure, Josh Millers introduction of the FFM has improved its logic and direction as assimilation of character. The NPI itself doesn't take into consideration different types of narcissism so well, or rather as well as it could, so there is room there for improvement. Perhaps the introduction of subcategorizations looking at entitlement and exploitive-ness as traits, it how does this map on to psychopathy.

**EX3**: So, when you are doing a clinical diagnosis you are looking for the symptoms, so and so displays these symptoms, that display with narcissistic tendencies, so we would treat that, rather than give the diagnosis of narcissism. Then for insurances purposes we would match them up with the DSM when needed, but I didn't have too much to do with that.

**EX3:** Err hmm, not too much to say on that, I mean the ICD looks at all types of medical conditions right, so it theoretically shouldn't go into as much detail as the DSM.

**EX5:** I'm a fan of self-reports I think they work pretty well as long as you're not asking about motivations for behaviour then self-reports work great. You're asking people to describe characteristic ways of thinking and feeling and acting. I think they're very good at doing that. If you believe that narcissism is some sort of dynamic process as the result of vulnerability rising and grandiosity.

**EX5:** We've used the NPI and bunch of others, but I prefer the FFM model. It gives you grandiose and vulnerable score based out of three factors neuroticism interpersonal antagonism, Extraversion.

**EX5:** I actually don't know. I haven't read enough to see what the ICD-10 was thinking. You seem to have everything in there, all the more severe /dangerous disorders except, narcissism and I don't understand that at all.

**EX6:** I think in terms of the differences I think one of the issues is going to be what kind of model are we talking about in terms of narcissistic tendencies. I think for example if we're talking about narcissistic tendencies coming from an NPI perspective I think it's a relatively healthy view of narcissism.

**EX6:** I like the fact that you mentioned Josh Miller and I like the work that he's been doing kind of stripping these personalities down to the basic underlying principles of the brains. And I really like his DSM 5 trait model.

**EX6:** You look at some of the other measures and ways of thinking about it like the NPI, I think the exploitation and entitlement don't mention it's already the most interested to me. But then the psychometric qualities are also just ridiculously weak like I was reviewing a paper yesterday. One of the alpha or the E dimension was like a, 0.27. We can't have a measurement where there are only 3 or 4 items and it hangs together so poorly. But I think it's really interesting because it taps into the more toxic elements of narcissism. I think this in particular has a lot of potential, but it only came out in 2013. 10 years down the road I think it has the potential to be a real contender

**EX6**: You can get such a diversity of symptoms with a simple checklist in the DSM where you have people who have the same diagnosis but have really different symptom

profiles... I'm guessing that we probably do need some multidimensional approach to really understand it well.

**EX6:** I know with the DSM-5 being developed there was a lot of conversation about whether it was going to show up in it or not. Whether NPD will feature in the next version I don't know but I do hope so because I think something is there. I think people are concerned because there are so many deep questions and I don't think we've been making this much progress as at least I think we should.

**EX7**: (on DSM-5) I find it pretty invalid. I can give you an extended answer about the origins of that construct. In the middle of the twentieth century, there were two dominant paradigms in psychiatry. There was the psychoanalytic Paradigm And the descriptive Reductionist paradigm. The latter, the ones that were in control of writing the DSM 3. The reason for that was because psychiatry overall was embarrassed about how inconsistent the diagnoses were. By turning the diagnostic criteria of a fundamentally Influential and complex dynamic construct into something that can be reliably rated, they fundamentally change the definition of the term.

**EX7**: I think the NPI is a huge distraction. I think it has \*back necking? \* Because it the perverted the meaning of the construct and because it has some psychometric limitations that I don't want to bore you with. I think the precautionary response scale is kind of dumb. I think it's got structure that hasn't been well characterized, those three factors have completely different correlation, but people put it down to 1 construct. I think it's been a huge mistake relying so much on the NPI.

**EX7**: But then you have to consider that it may not be measuring narcissism in the first place. In general, I would say the favourite of my cross-sectional questionnaires is the PNI Or the FFM\_that Josh and Don and those guys have made. But I think the more important answer is you can't get away with measuring such a complicated construct using a simple questionnaire no matter what the questions are. Even if you want to get beyond questionnaires in general all the questionnaires in the world together still not going to capture this construct.

**EX8:** So, I would say, overall, it's a good representation. I think some of the criteria are probably just different ways of asking the same thing. But I think overall, it is a good reflection of some of the core traits that at least that I think of as defining narcissism. I think it reflects here against entitlement those kind of things. I think having a bit of a fuller and cleverer dimensional model will be preferable to the criteria. Also, some of criteria themselves seem a bit redundant so I prefer a complex model with the trait dimensions rather than categoric criteria.

**EX8:** I would say as much as possible getting multiple measures and sources of information from the person themselves, also from informant, so perhaps, people who've known that person for a while, because they can bring different perspective. A person that you meet for one hour in a clinic might not get an accurate picture. Also a really narcissistic and self-centred might be worried that you are going to try and change and influence them so they might try and hind their condition from you, especially if they know the reason for their clinical visit. One really important future direction for

narcissism is really get out this question of vulnerability assessed, by using broad longitude studies, that use large sample sizes. Also using ecological momentary assessment designs that we can actually test to the extent that narcissist is moving throughout their daily lives if they do show these fluctuations of grandiosity to vulnerability. I think that the research that is focused on vulnerable is really just speculative.

**EX8:** I think you could do couple different ways. I think you could do it when you're just using EMA of what happened to person, by filling out a diary. In that case of EMA approach you just track them of complete assessment, you know, several random assessments a day for so many days, track whether or not they were in a social situation and how they've responded. That would be one way to get at it. But then you can see if there is anything that is unusual. Do you see fluctuations or narcissistic outbursts or is this person pretty much always says that they feel good about themselves and that would be interesting. Another way to get at it would be to use more of an experimental design where, for example, you actually bring narcissist to a lab studying, have them do some sort of task to see if they show more reactivity to criticism from others or to negative abuse from others. I think that there are couple of different ways you can go about it. I think that would be interesting approaches that would really take these researches a step forward.

**EX9:** Yes, but really people aren't sure enough about the split to be implanting it into the DSM yet. Millers FFM model seems like a smarter approach. To be honest moving to a more trait-based approach certainly seems the more sensible way to approach the subject. The DSM has its uses for sure, but really clinicians should not be banking on it to hard when it comes to therapy, it's a diversion from the core issue.

**EX10:** That's one of the problems with NPD is that it measures adaptive and maladaptive components of narcissism, and scores these components, and masks the individual differences. Someone could have a high level of these adaptive components, and have a high narcissism score another person has high levels of maladaptive components, and also has a high score.

**EX10:** I think it's highly accurate, I like it. I like that they got rid of the whole "access to" thing, and now it's included in the general taxonomy of mental disorders. Access to group B is now group B.I think that these diagnostic criteria are really helpful, I'm a fan. I'm a fan of any rigid taxonomy.

**EX10**: One of the things about things being clear is that there is OCD and then there is OCPD and then Schizoid personality type which can be confused with Schizophrenia. There is no real clear-cut category for these, which is why I'm a fan of a rigid taxonomy. It gives us a frame of understanding the various components of these disorders which may or may not overlap.

**EX10**: Sure, well I used the NPI on a couple of my studies and I found it to be relevant and effective, also its been rather widely peer reviewed so I was happy with the outcome, even though I tried to critique it a little. Apart that the NPI I haven't used too many other psychometric models with relation to narcissism, it's not exactly my field.

**Brief analysis of theme:** This theme provided a variety of responses. Some of the experts had not used any previous narcissists attribute measuring models. Experts who had tested models tended to report success with both the NPI and Miller's FFM model. EX7 argues against the NPI however describing it as perverting the meaning of the construct and because and having validity issues with the precautionary response scale. broad longitude studies

Most people were against the Stinson papers claim of NPD being the least researched disorders. EX2 calls it an outlier in this regard.

**Future direction of NPD research:** This theme is with reference to the experts predicted future for the direction of narcissism related research. This theme looks at both what the expert would like to see happen in the field in the future, and what actually will happen in the future.

**EX1:** I think the understanding of narcissism is there, it's just scattered and needs to be brought together even in psychoanalyse let alone other areas of psychology. There have been a variety of different contributions from all fields and different perspectives. What we need is an integration of these put together what is true in Kernburg and what is true in Kohut and so one. I think we have all the pieces, we just need to put them together. **RM:** *How could you go about doing that?* 

**EX1:** I think a classically composed peer reviewed full comprehensive study is a good start, I would review Kernburg in one chapter, and each contributor a chapter.

**EX2:** I think from a behavioural genetic perspective there can be further research done but the papers so far keep it within roughly the 50% bracket, and with inheritability they have correlation of 0.5 so certainly more conclusive results are needed. You need twin adoption approaches, they aren't easy to do and I don't know if we have any understanding of molecular cause, and especially for NPD that's going to be low on the list for conditions that receive the necessary attention to understand the condition, on a molecular level.

**EX2:** I would like to see the DSM incorporate something that is going to be basic trait model like ICD-11 and have a section like antagonism or anti-social dissocial that will capture a lot of the traits of narcissism grandiosity untrustworthy malevolence. So people will be interested in in traits and narcissism with very little knowledge of the DSM captures it and we know people who are narcissists in our lives and we would like have knowledge on why these people are as they are on a basic level.

**EX2:** Is pathological narcissism the same as narcissism, is it a continuous stream like I believe or is there a distinctive difference between the two, like something like should be consider a separate entity. How would you help someone with NPD, If someone wants to get better how do you help them get better? The answers to these questions are still pretty simplistic compared to what a full review could show with some time and planning.

**EX2:** I would like to see more large scale research undertaken in societies, especially in corporate and prison environments, where narcissistic people can be found. Clinical studies are just one person and you are capturing them in one instances and may not be accurately reflective of general populace

**EX2:** I think we just need to know what kind of narcissism we are measuring and making sure the data makes sense together and is valid, so multiple inventories and multiple testing with the same experiment design help with this. We have a paper showing though that some scales are more than relevant and can skew the results, so it's worth bearing in mind when selecting from the available instruments.

**EX3**: I mean since we have no idea of what maximum understanding of NPD and psychology would look like or be reasoned it's impossible to say how far we are along to truly understanding any mental disorders. We just have the metrics, but we are making progress especially within the last 20 years or so.

**EX3**: I would say consolidate a lot of this research and put some practical measures in place. Hmmm key issues. Large scale testing for sure, as much as possible, you can never really do enough, so more money for research in that regard. I mean when you really think about it, money in the major majority of research areas in narcissism. I would say we are very much in the middle, in terms of where

**EX5:** Haha that's why my hair is white. But to tell you the truth I would say, not very and I could still see us making huge headway with mental health, especially with the influence of machines and the internet. Advances in technology we can't even imagine. **EX5:** One of my problem is reducing issues to the individual, so I think that narcissism needs to be understood in terms of aggregate cultural dynamic, I think that is an important idea. I think cultural environment that doesn't look to be individualistic, doesn't have submission, maybe not Muslim submission, a kind of submission to ideals that control ambition, and the family dynamic and the cultural dynamic, I don't know if that answers what you looking for?

**EX5:** Hmm (pause) well honestly, I'm not sure, perhaps a wider issue of larger aggregation of views on narcissism, it is important to use as many different methodologies as possible.

**EX5:** (On Improving NPD validity) Defining it. You can go back to the subtypes we sort of believe that vulnerability is an area of narcissism. I think redefining narcissism might be a good idea.

**EX5**: I think we need perspective research to do that and most of what we've done so far is just retrospect after the fact that it's happened rather than figuring it out while they're a kid, asking about family life, parents.

**EX6:** Not terribly accurately at the moment I think some of the things we talked about earlier like distinctions between the different forms of narcissism are not very well understood yet

**EX6:** Moving away from this categorical understanding of NPD in that's you either have it or you don't.

**RM:** What about sample size, would you say there's been enough people to tell?

**EX6:** The vast majority of what is from non-clinical samples. I think that would certainly help if they were clinical.

**EX7:** Measurement is the key issue. We don't have the tools to measure the construct and all of its theoretical complexity. It's like trying to argue about the nature of water without understanding the periodic table.

**RM:** If you had a load of money how would you go about researching that?

**EX7**: I think you have to figure out time and multiple methods and there's a both tremendously challenging

**RM:** Do you mean more pioneering work in that respect?

**EX:** Yes, in a way, I would honestly need to really think about it, in fact I really will. **EX7:** Further research into the theoretical complexity of the narcissistic condition, how it interacts with other moods, other emotions. I think when you look at these kinds of ideas from such a clinical perspective you are failing to take into consideration just life in general. Trying to categorise what, it doesn't even make sense to think of people as a series of traits. People aren't two-dimensional movie characters, they all have the same stuff inside of them creating complex emotions. Intelligence doesn't even factor into this.

**EX9:** I think it's kind of relative, in comparison to what we are going to know in fifty years, I think we will look back and say we knew very little. In terms of being to treat it currently, I think we do okay, just okay but okay, especially if you compare to just a hundred years ago, there was basically no structured mental health system anywhere. **EX9:** We need to do larger scale testing, using a whole lot of different methods to support, just trying a whole bunch of different ideas and items.

**EX10:** Hmm, well I'm a fan of section 3 of the DSM 5, the whole trait taxonomy, measurement of particular disorders, I expect in future generations, there will be even more of that. Have it expanded upon, perhaps with a little more complexity? After models of personality have been able to be used to measure personalities of all types, we need more work that delves further into classification too. **EX10:** I would like to see more research on the overlap between antisocial personality disorder and NPD, there's been some critical work on this.

**Brief analysis of theme:** Most experts agreed that more studies, based in multiple backgrounds would be useful in calculating NPD. Many experts argue that we are still in a discover phase for mental disorders and a great deal of further pioneering work is needed. EX7 for example argues that a definitive definition of narcissism is required to make further progress.

All experts argue for increase in sample sizes. In addition, developing research that focuses on more cross-cultural studies and looks to analyse people from all backgrounds in comparison. EX2 suggests more studies that focus on prison environments and in corporate environments. This would be a meta-analysis of traits within a tribal context. EX2 argues for the DSM incorporate to a section like antagonism or anti-social dissocial which will capture a lot of the traits of narcissism grandiosity untrustworthy malevolence

# **Appendix D: IOREC Application for Approval**

#### Declaration of the:

Principal Investigator OR (please enter an X as appropriate) Supervisor and Student Investigator x

- The information in this form is accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief, and I take full
  responsibility for it.
- I have read and understand the University's Policy on Research Ethics.
- I undertake to abide by the ethical principles underlying the Declaration of Helsinki and the University's good practice guidelines on the proper conduct of research, together with the codes of practice laid down by any relevant professional or learned society.
- If the research is approved, I undertake to adhere to the study plan, the terms of the full application
  of which the REC has given a favourable opinion, and any conditions set out by the REC in giving its
  favourable opinion.
- I undertake to seek an ethical opinion from the REC before implementing substantial amendments to the study plan or to the terms of the full application of which the REC has given a favourable opinion.
- I understand that I am responsible for monitoring the research at all times.
- If there are any serious adverse events, I understand that I am responsible for immediately stopping the research and alerting the Research Ethics Committee within 24 hours of the occurrence, via ethics@liv.ac.uk.
- I am aware of my responsibility to be up to date and comply with the requirements of the law and relevant guidelines relating to security and confidentiality of personal data.
- I understand that research records/data may be subject to inspection for audit purposes if required in future.
- I understand that personal data about me as a researcher in this application will be held by the University and that this will be managed according to the principles established in the Data Protection Act.
- I understand that the information contained in this application, any supporting documentation and all
  correspondence with the Research Ethics Committee relating to the application, will be subject to the
  provisions of the Freedom of Information Acts. The information may be disclosed in response to
  requests made under the Acts except where statutory exemptions apply.
- I understand that all conditions apply to any co-applicants and researchers involved in the study, and that it is my responsibility to ensure that they abide by them.
- For Supervisors: I understand my responsibilities as supervisor, and will ensure, to the best of my abilities, that the student investigator abides by the University's Policy on Research Ethics at all times.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

• For the Student Investigator: I understand my responsibilities to work within a set of safety, ethical and other guidelines as agreed in advance with my supervisor and understand that I must comply with the University's regulations and any other applicable code of ethics at all times.

Signature of Principal Investigator or Supervisor Date: (14/08/2017) Print Name: DR. PENNY CORTVRIEND : Penny Cortvriend.....

Signature of Student Investigator: Ryan McConnell Date: (07.09.2017) Print Name: RYAN PAUL MCCONNELL

#### SECTION A - IDENTIFYING INFORMATION

#### A1) Title of the research (PLEASE INCLUDE A SHORT LAY TITLE IN BRACKETS).

A review of the opinions of experts regarding Narcissistic Personality Disorder and it's connection to mental illness.

# A2) Principal Investigator OR Supervisor x (please check as appropriate)

Title:	Dr	Staff number:	
Forename/Initials:	Penny	Surname:	Cortvriend
Post:	Dissertation Advisor	Department:	School of Psychology
Telephone:		E-mail:	Penny.cortvriend@online. liverpool.ac.uk

#### A3) Co-applicants (including student investigators)

Title and Name	Post / Current programme (if student investigator)	Department/ School/Institution if not UoL	Phone	Email
Mr. Ryan McConnell	Current	Psychology		ryan.mcconnell@online.liverpool.ac.uk

# SECTION B - PROJECT DETAILS

B1) Proposed study dates and duration (RESEARCH MUST NOT BEGIN UNTIL ETHICAL APPROVAL HAS BEEN OBTAINED)

Please complete as appropriate:

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

## EITHER

Approximate end	I date:	07.03.2018	
		÷	
		OR	

B2) Give a full lay summary of the purpose, design and methodology of the planned research.

# UOL ONLINE MSc PSYCHOLOGY PROGRAMMES DISSERTATION PROPOSAL PRO FORMA

## STUDENT: RYAN MCCONNELL

## DISSERTATION ADVISER: PENNY CORTVRIEND

1. Title	
The expert opinio mental illness clas	ns on the relationship between Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and sification.
1.1. Version	Final.
1.2. Date of submission	7th March 2018.

2. Background		
2.1. What is the general topic of the study?	The main topic of study is Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and an analysis of its classification within the medical and psychological field. NPE according to the DSM-5 is characterised by a long-term display of abnormal behaviour. This manifests as: a pervasive pattern of grandiosity (in fantasy or behavior); need for admiration; and lack of empathy, beginning by early adulthood and present in a variety of contexts (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).	

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

2.2. Summarise in no more than two paragraphs the state- of-the-art of research on this topic	There is some controversy with regards the recognition of NPD and it's symptoms. It can be argued that it shares many overlapping traits with other disorders, such as histrionic personality disorder (see Pfohl, 1995). An example of this is within the DSM-5 as NPD is classified as a cluster 2 personality disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The ICD-10 however does not include NPD as a separate category, instead grouping it within the 'Diagnostic Related Group' (Ottosson et al., 1995). Additionally, one can argue that narcissism is not necessarily a poor personality attribute, since it can be classified as either healthy or pathological, with healthy being considered just a personality quirk (see Watson & Bagby, 2011; Miller, Widiger & Campbell, 2010). Indeed in some instances researchers argue that narcissism is seen by others as a strong dominate trait that often garners the respect of others and therefore does not require treatment (Russ et al., 2008).
	With regards the classifying NPD as a mental illness there is again some debate. The ICD-10 suggests that personality disorders are deeply ingrained within a person's psyche and are essentially part of the person's character. Mental illness on the other hand is considered to be a more fleeting phenomenon (Kendell, 2002). It can also be argued that NPD is learned through social experience and thus can be corrected, making it an outlier in comparison to other personality disorders (see Cooper, Balsis & Oltmanns, 2012). Finally NPD has a high rate of co-morbidity with other personality disorders, depression and bi-polar disorder occurring frequently (Paris, 2014). All these factors combined mean that NPD is very interpretable in terms of both nature and severity.
2.3. Summarise in	contribution to the field of NPD and how it is relevant to this research. There are multiple theories regarding NPD, its traits and its severity, with
2.3. Summarise in one paragraph what are the main limitations of the research above?	significant future research being required to fully understand the bedraft, while (Wright et al., 2013). In addition, there is limited research undertaken on the aggregation of knowledge regarding NPD. With regards research that involves the amalgamation of expert opinions there appears to be no other literature on the subject that was easily available. Instead the clear majority of the conducted research on NPD is focused on determining traits, measuring them and combating difficulty in treating patients with NPD (see Cain, Pincus & Ansell, 2008). Perhaps the most conflicting issue within NPD research is with regards its underlying conception. One argument suggests that NPD is a defensive response to being abandoned, shamed or deeply injured (Salvatore, Carcione & Dimaggio, 2011). Others argue the opposite, that it is an aggressive trait with no inner self-loathing (see Vazire & Funder, 2006; Tracy, et al., 2009). All this would suggest that NPD remains still somewhat undefined.

2.4. What is the gap in current knowledge that you intend to investigate? What is the original	Upon review, there seems to be little literature regarding the classification of NPD mental illness. Therefore one reason for conducting this research is to establish more understanding of NPD and how the scientific community perceives it.
contribution of your work?	Additionally, we can identify NPD is various figures in politics (see Post, 1993), as well as in many current social situations, that are very relevant to modern-day social behavioural dynamics (Millon, et al., 2012). Indeed, further understanding of NPD could be extremely beneficial to modern psychology and sociology. It is therefore within the interest of the scientific community to improve our understanding of NPD.
	By conducting interviews with multiple field experts we can look to contest some of the inconsistencies present, thus the work will act as something of a topical review. In addition, some of the research questions will focus on the inconsistencies present in current NPD research. These questions posed to the experts should produce data that helps rationalise and weight each idea presented with the current NPD understanding. From this data, an evaluation can occur on the relevance and validity of each theory proposed regarding NPD and its link to mental illness. However, this research will not look to solve the said inconsistencies, but rather rationalise them and weight them within a single document.

3.1. What is your research question?	What are the expert opinions on the relationship between Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and mental illness classification.
3.2. What are the aims of the study?	To explore the expert opinions of established NPD related experts with regard NPD and it's understanding and classification.
3.3 What are the objectives of the study?	<ol> <li>To explore experts' perceptions of what constitutes NPD, using a qualitative approach.</li> <li>To explore the expert opinions regarding the classification and</li> </ol>
	identification of NPD as a form of mental illness.
3.4. What are the hypotheses? (if quantitative design)	N/A

4. Method					
4.1 Select which	Quantitative				
design you plan to use	Qualitative 2	ĸ			
4.2. Summarily justify your decision above	In order to explore the expert views of NPD detailed explanations on t subject of NPD will be required. Such detailed explanations require an depth verbal response and probing , therefore making the qualitative method more appropriate.				
4.3. Select which of	Archival research or secondary analysis of data				
the following methods/procedures will be used in the	Interviews (including focus groups) X				
study	Observations				
	Experiments on human participants				
	Questionnaires (including surveys)				
	Other(s) – Please specify				
4.4. If you are using questionnaires, indicate which one(s), briefly describe them (including main psychometric properties) and justify your decision	N/A				
4.5. If you are using other materials (e.g., photos, drawings, measurements equipment, etc.), describe them and justify your decision	No other materials are required.				
4.6. Describe the participants in your study (what are the inclusion criteria?)	It is of critical importance that all interviewees are respected experts in field of NPD. In order to fulfil this criteria, they need to have published least one piece of peer reviewed literature on NPD. This is just a minim requirement however and experts who have years of experience in the field and those who have published multiple papers will be sort after f	at num e			

	Additional experts with research that is more recent and therefore more topically will be sort after more highly.
4.7. What are the exclusion criteria?	All other people who do not meet the requirement of having published literature on NPD.
4.8. Justify your exclusion criteria	Those who have not worked in the area of NPD may not be able to provide the relevant information to accurately achieve the aims of the study. In order to produce accurate results, it is of course vital that all participants are indeed 'experts' in the field of NPD. It is expected that these experts will hold various positions in the scientific community. Some will be psychologists or physiatrists; whist others may be practicing doctors or neurologists. This should present result in producing a range of useful data that is extremely relevant to the research question.
4.9. State the total number of research participants to be recruited (sample size)	Ten participants.
4.10. Describe how the sample size was calculated	Similar studies which look to conduct a detailed interview with experts tend to have approximately ten experts as an average (see Baker, Edwards & Doidge, 2012 for details). In addition, having ten participating experts each conducting a thirty to forty-five minute interview should present enough data to be accurately interpreted (approximately 8 hours), thus fulfilling to the needs of the research question whilst keeping the interview process both conservative and focused (as Marshall et al., 2013 suggests).
4.11. Please describe the procedure	Experts will be identified through the study NPD literature via a variety of internet journal search engines included Discover and Google Scholar. The email addresses and contact details of experts who meet the criteria will be recorded. A Participant Information Sheet (PIS) will be attached to each email sent. In addition, before proceeding with the interviews all participants will be presented the option to ask any questions about the research. The details of approximately forty experts will be gathered and each messaged regarding the details of the research. As many of the them will most likely not respond or will decline the interview, one might expect the need to email more experts if the original forty does not yield enough confirmations.
	Initially the experts will receive a PIS describing the research question, aim and objectives. This will include the goals this research looks to achieve, why they are a suitable candidate and the average time the interview would last. The student researcher's contact details will also be included I the initial information package so that potential participants can contact the student researcher for more information if necessary. Once confirmed

	the experts will re scheduled.	eceive the lette	r of consent and an i	interview	will be
	The study will con interviewed.	nclude when al	l ten selected expert	s have bee	en
	As these experts will most likely be located in different parts of the world and meeting with them all in person would be impractical, the interviews will instead be conducted via Skype or another online communication system. The interviews will be recorded with the permission of the expert, then transcribed and analysed. The interview will be voluntary and the experts will have the right to conclude the process and void their data at any time.				
	as to properly exp recordings and tra analysed. These ir	olore the exper anscriptions of nterview recor d up on a single	o include many open t's full understanding the interviews will b dings will be kept on e external hard drive	g of the to e the only ly on a sinj	pic. The data gle personal
4.12. Will the study involve the discussion of sensitive topics that may cause		Yes			
distress or embarrassment to the participant?			No	x	
4.13. What are the	Information sheet			x	
arrangements for obtaining consent from participants (please tick)	Consent form				x
	Other (explain)				
4.14. Will you require t		l of bodies or in	nstitutions other	Yes	
than the University of I	Liverpool?			No	x
4.15. If the answer	N/A				
above was YES, please indicate which are the bodies or institutions					
please indicate which are the bodies or	No				
please indicate which are the bodies or institutions 4.16. Are there any additional ethical issues you would like to discuss that are	No oval process do you	u consider	Expedited		x

4.18. Describe how you will you analyse your data, and justify your decision	Although a research question is present, there will most likely be several interpretations and views that contradict one another in some way. This would suggest that an interpretative phenomenological approach (IPA) should be undertaken. An IPA is often used to show how a phenomenon is understood given context, in this case NPD it's classification within the scientific community (Gill, 2014). In addition IPAs are predominately used in small interview process with just a few participants providing a highly detailed analysis on subject (Pringle, et al., 2011).
	An IPA does not require that the analyst give a hypothesis. Instead the analyst generates codes from the data (Brocki & Wearden, 2006). After the data is collected several techniques will be used in order to properly analyse the data. This includes: coding; classifying and identifying themes; connecting and interrelating data; interpretation and development of the explanatory meaning (as suggested by Strauss & Corbin, 1994).

#### 5. What are the expected outcomes of the research?

This research looks to improve understanding on why the classification of NPD is so varied and controversial. In particular the research will focus on explicitly exploring the views of experts in the field and as such act as an aggregate of expert views and help explain the contemporary zeitgeist surrounding NPD. This research should firstly help consolidate existing ideas regarding NPD and severity. In addition review its connection to mental illness in expansive detail.

# 6. Timetable

June 2017 – Approval of proposal/ supervisor assigned. July 2017 – Proforma works. August 2017 – Completion of proposal/ ethical approval granted. September 2017 – Data collection/ literature review. October 2017 – Final data collection. November 2017 – Finalized data analysis. December 2017 – Completion of Key sections of dissertation. January 2017 – Completion and hand in of first draft. February 2017 – Revisions and amendments. March 2017 – Completion of dissertation.

This timetable should be subject to change should any delays occur. In addition most sections of the dissertation will be worked on starting from July 2017, but will be completed as the timetable suggests.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

## 7. References

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (DSM-5<sup>®</sup>). American Psychiatric Pub.

Baker, S. E., Edwards, R., & Doidge, M. (2012). How many qualitative interviews is enough?: Expert voices and early career reflections on sampling and cases in qualitative research.

Brocki, J. M., & Wearden, A. J. (2006). A critical evaluation of the use of interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA) in health psychology. *Psychology and health*, *21*(1), 87-108.

Cain, N. M., Pincus, A. L., & Ansell, E. B. (2008). Narcissism at the crossroads: Phenotypic description of pathological narcissism across clinical theory, social/personality psychology, and psychiatric diagnosis. *Clinical psychology review*, *28*(4), 638-656.

Cooper, L. D., Balsis, S., & Oltmanns, T. F. (2012). Self-and informant-reported perspectives on symptoms of narcissistic personality disorder. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, *3*(2), 140.

Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *17*(2), 118-137.

Kendell, R. E. (2002). The distinction between personality disorder and mental illness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 180(2), 110-115.

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research?: A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*(1), 11-22.

Miller, J. D., Widiger, T. A., & Campbell, W. K. (2010). Narcissistic personality disorder and the DSM-V. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *119*(4), 640.

Millon, T., Millon, C. M., Meagher, S. E., Grossman, S. D., & Ramnath, R. (2012). *Personality disorders in modern life*. John Wiley & Sons.

Ottosson, H., Bodlund, O., Ekselius, L., Knorring, L. V., Kullgren, G., Lindström, E., & Söderberg, S. (1995). The DSM-IV and ICD-10 personality questionnaire (DIP-Q): Construction and preliminary validation. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, *49*(4), 285-292.

Paris, J. (2014). Modernity and narcissistic personality disorder. Personality Disorders: Theory,

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

Research, and Treatment, 5(2), 220.

Pfohl, B. (1995). Histrionic personality disorder. WPA/ISSPD Educational Program on Personality Disorders, 90.

Post, J. M. (1993). Current concepts of the narcissistic personality: Implications for political psychology. *Political Psychology*, 99-121.

Pringle, J., Drummond, J., McLafferty, E., & Hendry, C. (2011). Interpretative phenomenological analysis: a discussion and critique. *Nurse researcher*, *18*(3), 20-24.

Russ, E., Shedler, J., Bradley, R., & Westen, D. (2008). Refining the construct of narcissistic personality disorder: Diagnostic criteria and subtypes. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *165*(11), 1473-1481.

Salvatore, G., Carcione, A., & Dimaggio, G. (2011). The dependent self in narcissistic personality disorder in comparison to dependent personality disorder: a dialogical analysis. *International Journal of Dialogical Science*.

Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1994). Grounded theory methodology. Handbook of qualitative research, 17, 273-85.

Tracy, J. L., Cheng, J. T., Robins, R. W., & Trzesniewski, K. H. (2009). Authentic and hubristic pride: The affective core of self-esteem and narcissism. *Self and identity*, *8*(2-3), 196-213.

Vazire, S., & Funder, D. C. (2006). Impulsivity and the self-defeating behavior of narcissists. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *10*(2), 154-165.

Watson, C., & Bagby, R. M. (2011). Assessment of narcissistic personality disorder. *The handbook of narcissism and narcissistic personality disorder: Theoretical approaches, empirical findings, and treatments*, 117-132.

Wright, A. G., Pincus, A. L., Thomas, K. M., Hopwood, C. J., Markon, K. E., & Krueger, R. F. (2013). Conceptions of narcissism and the DSM-5 pathological personality traits. *Assessment*, *20*(3), 339-352.

B3) List any research assistants, sub-contractors or other staff not named above who will be involved in the research and detail their involvement.

N/A

B4) List below all research sites, and their Lead Investigators, to be included in this study.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

Research Site	Individual Responsible	Position and contact details
N/A		

B5) Are the results of the study to be disseminated in the public domain?

YES X	NO
-------	----

If not, why not?

N/A

N/A

B6) Give details of the funding of the research, including funding organisation(s), amount applied for or secured, duration, and UOL reference

Funding Body	Amount	Duration	UoL Reference
N/A			

B7) Give details of any interests, commercial or otherwise, you or your co-applicants have in the funding body.

# C1)

## SECTION C - EXPEDITED REVIEW

	Yes or No?
a) Does the study involve participants who are particularly vulnerable or unable to give informed consent? (e.g. children, people with learning or communication disabilities, people in custody, people engaged in illegal activities such as drug-taking, your own students in an educational capacity) (Note: this does not include secondary data authorised for release by the data collector for research purposes.)	No
b) Will the study require obtaining consent from a "research participant advocate" (for definition see guidance notes) in lieu of participants who are unable to give informed consent? (e.g. for research involving children or, people with learning or communication disabilities)	No
c) Will it be necessary for participants, whose consent to participate in the study will be required, to take part without their knowledge at the time? (e.g. covert observation using photography or video recording)	No
d) Does the study involve deliberately misleading the participants?	No
e) Will the study require discussion of sensitive topics that may cause distress or embarrassment to the participant or potential risk of disclosure to the researcher of criminal activity or child protection issues? (e.g. sexual activity, criminal activity)	No

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

f) Are drugs, placebos or other substances (e.g. food substances, vitamins) to be administered to the study participants or will the study involve invasive, intrusive or potentially harmful procedures of any kind?	No
g) Will samples (e.g. blood, DNA, tissue) be obtained from participants?	No
h) Is pain or more than mild discomfort likely to result from the study?	No
i) Could the study induce psychological stress or anxiety or cause harm or negative consequences beyond the risks encountered in normal life?	No
j) Will the study involve prolonged or repetitive testing?	No
k) Will financial inducements (other than reasonable expenses and compensation for time) be offered to participants?	No



	Yes or No?
a) Will the study seek written, informed consent?	Yes
b) Will participants be informed that their participation is voluntary?	Yes
c) Will participants be informed that they are free to withdraw at any time?	Yes
d) Will participants be informed of aspects relevant to their continued participation in the study?	Yes
e) Will participants' data remain confidential?	Yes
f) Will participants be debriefed?	Yes

If you have answered 'no' to all items in SECTION C1 and 'yes' to all questions in SECTION C2 the application will be processed through expedited review.

If you have answered "Yes" to one or more questions in Section C1, or "No" to one or more questions in Section C2, but wish to apply for expedited review, please make the case below. See research ethics website for an example "case for expedited review".

C3) Case for Expedited Review – To be used if asking for expedited review despite answering YES to questions in C1 or NO to answers in C2.

1	N/A	

# SECTION D - PARTICIPANT DETAILS

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

#### D1) How many participants will be recruited?

D2) How was the number of participants decided upon?

Similar studies which look to conduct a detailed interview with experts tend to have approximately eight to twelve experts as an average (in reference to studies that required approximately 8 hours of interview data as Marshall et al., 2013 suggests). In addition, having ten participating experts each conducting a forty-five to sixty-minute interview should present enough data to be accurately interpreted (approximately 8 hours), thus fulfilling to the needs of the research question whilst keeping the interview process both conservative and focused

D3)

10

# a) Describe how potential participants in the study will be identified, approached and recruited.

All participants (experts who have published a paper on NPD) will be identified through their works on a variety of search engines (Discover/ Google Scholar). The email addresses will be found on the authors publications or via their university website details (or other organizations). The email addresses used in the study will only be ones listed within the public domain.

Each expert will first be approached by email. If no response occurs within two weeks a single call will be made (the email will state that there will be a call made). If this is unanswered or the initial approach is rejected by the expert, no further attempt will be made to contact them. The email will include a cover letter and a PIS. In addition, before proceeding with the interviews all participants will be presented the option to ask any questions about the research. The details of approximately forty experts will be gathered and each messaged regarding the details of the research. As many of the them will most likely not respond or will decline the interview, one might expect the need to email more experts if the original forty does not yield enough confirmations.

Initially the experts will receive a PIS describing the research question, aim and objectives. This will include the goals this research looks to achieve, why they are a suitable candidate and the average time the interview would last. The student researcher's contact details will also be included in the initial information package so that potential participants can contact the student researcher for more information if necessary. Once confirmed the experts will receive the letter of consent and an interview will be scheduled.

The study will conclude when all ten selected experts have been interviewed.

#### b) Inclusion criteria:

It is of critical importance that all interviewees are respected experts in the field of NPD. In order to fulfil this criterion, they need to have published at least one piece of peer reviewed literature on NPD. This is just a minimum requirement however and experts who have years of experience in the field and those who have published multiple papers will be sought first. Additional experts with research that is more recent and therefore more topical will be sort after more highly.

#### c) Exclusion criteria:

All people who have not published any works relating to NPD.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

#### d) Are any specific groups to be excluded from this study? If so please list them and explain why:

Those who have not worked in the area of NPD may not be able to provide the relevant information to accurately achieve the aims of the study. In order to produce accurate results, it is of course vital that all participants are indeed 'experts' in the field of NPD. It is expected that these experts will hold various positions in the scientific community. Some will be psychologists or psychiatrists; whist others may be practicing doctors or neurologists. This should present result in producing a range of useful data that is extremely relevant to the research question.

#### e) Give details for cases and controls separately if appropriate:

N/	A	
1.4/	~	

#### f) Give details of any advertisements:

N/A

### D4)

# a) State the numbers of participants from any of the following vulnerable groups and justify their inclusion

Children under 16 years of age:	0
Adults with learning disabilities:	0
Adults with dementia:	0
Prisoners:	0
Young Offenders:	0
Adults who are unable to consent for themselves:	0
Those who could be considered to have a particularly dependent relationship with the investigator, e.g. those in care homes, students of the PI or Co-applicants:	0
Other vulnerable groups (please list):	N/A

#### b) State the numbers of healthy volunteer participants:

Healthy Volunteers	10

D5)

# a) Describe the arrangements for gaining informed consent from the research participants.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

In the initial email sent to each participant the necessary paper work will be sent regarding informed consent. Once the necessary documentation has been completed, it will be stored with the other informed consent documents, in a secure location (a locked cabinet and password protected laptop).

b) If participants are to be recruited from any of the potentially vulnerable groups listed above, give details of extra steps taken to assure their protection, including arrangements to obtain consent from a legal, political or other appropriate representative in addition to the consent of the participant (e.g. HM Prison Service for research with young offenders, Head Teachers for research with children etc.).

### N/A

c) If participants might not adequately understand verbal explanations or written information given in English, describe the arrangements for those participants (e.g. translation, use of interpreters etc.)

N/A

d) Where informed consent is not to be obtained (including the deception of participants) please explain why.

N/A

#### D6) What is the potential for benefit to research participants, if any?

Aside from the opportunity to explore and discuss their views and have them used in research there is no other benefit.

D7) State any fees, reimbursements for time and inconvenience, or other forms of compensation that individual research participants may receive. Include direct payments, reimbursement of expenses or any other benefits of taking part in the research?

None

#### SECTION E - RISKS AND THEIR MANAGEMENT

E1) Describe in detail the potential physical or psychological adverse effects, risks or hazards (minimal, moderate, high or severe) of involvement in the research for research participants.

None

E2) Explain how the potential benefits of the research outweigh any risks to the participants.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

There are no risks and no benefits.

E3) Describe in detail the potential adverse effects, risks or hazards (minimal, moderate, high or severe) of involvement in the research for the researchers.

E4) Will individual or group interviews/questionnaires discuss any topics or issues that might be sensitive, embarrassing or upsetting, or is it possible that criminal or other disclosures requiring action could take place during the study (e.g. during interviews/group discussions, or use of screening tests for drugs)?

YES NO X

> If Yes, give details of procedures in place to deal with these issues.

N/A

N/A

E5) Describe the measures in place in the event of any unexpected outcomes or adverse events to participants arising from their involvement in the project

If any participant becomes upset or uncomfortable during the interview or any other part of the research process, the interview will be stopped and every effort made to assist the participant. Participants will also be reminded that they can end their involvement in the research at any time.

E6) Explain how the conduct of the project will be monitored to ensure that it conforms with the study plan and relevant University policies and guidance.

The student researcher will be supervised by a dissertation adviser from the University of Liverpool who will be informed of progress at regular points during the research process. All university policies and procedures will be adhered to.

#### SECTION F - DATA ACCESS AND STORAGE

F1) Where the research involves any of the following activities at any stage (including identification of potential research participants), state what measures have been put in place to ensure confidentiality of personal data (e.g. encryption or other anonymisation procedures will be used)

	1
Electronic transfer of data by magnetic or	Standard email encryption
optical media, e-mail or computer networks	
Sharing of data with other organisations	N/A
Export of data outside the European Union	N/A

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

Use of personal addresses, postcodes,	N/A
faxes, e-mails or telephone numbers	
Publication of direct quotations from respondents	Direct quotations from participants may be used in the write up of the dissertation but all participants will be anonymised as they will be given either a pseudonym or a number as an identifier.
Publication of data that might allow identification of individuals	N/A
Use of audio/visual recording devices	All interviews will be audio recorded with the participant's permission. All recordings will be transferred to a password protected laptop and the original recordings will then be deleted.
Storage of personal data on any of the following:	N/A
Manual files	Any hard copies of informed consent forms will be stored in a locked cupboard accessible only by the student researcher.
Home or other personal computers	Password encryption
University computers	N/A
Private company computers	N/A
Laptop computers	N/A

## F2) Who will have control of and act as the custodian for the data generated by the study?

The student researcher

#### F3) Who will have access to the data generated by the study?

The researcher and the researchers dissertation adviser. In addition, assessors and the faculty manager may also have access to the data.

#### F4) For how long will data from the study be stored?

5 years, after which time it will be destroyed or deleted.

## SECTION G - PEER REVIEW

### G1)

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

a) Has the project undergone peer review?

YES X NO

b) If yes, by whom was this carried out? (please enclose evidence if available)

The research proposal was reviewed by two faculty members at the University of Liverpool.

#### SECTION G - CHECKLIST OF ENCLOSURES

Study Plan / Protocol	x
Recruitment advertisement	N/A
Participant information sheet	x
Participant Consent form	x
Research Participant Advocate Consent form	N/A
Evidence of external approvals	N/A
Questionnaires on sensitive topics	N/A
Interview schedule	x
Debriefing material	x
Other (please specify)	N/A

## REFERENCES

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research?: A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11-22.

Millon, T., Millon, C. M., Meagher, S. E., Grossman, S. D., & Ramnath, R. (2012). Personality disorders in modern life. John Wiley & Sons.

Research Ethics Application Form Version 4.1 for Online Programmes 31/1/11

# **Appendix E: Ethics Response Form**

I	ETHICS RESPONSE FORM				
	Researcher name (student): Ryan McCo	onnell	Faculty reviewer: S.ELNTIB	Date of Review:20.09.17	
	Working Title of Proposal or summary Disorder (NPD) and mental illness classifi		scope: The expert opinions on the relationship between	Narcissistic Personality	
	Proposal attached? _X_Yes	No	Academic Honesty Declaration signed?	<u>Xes</u> No	
ln fo	the blue column, the <u>RESEARCHER (stu</u> rm to the faculty member supervising th	<u>ıdent)</u> sh e study.	uately addressed by the researcher <u>in order to</u> obtain ould perform a self-check using these 35 questions In each row of the blue column, the RESEARCHER fonesty Declaration must be attached and should be	before submitting the ethics should enter YES, NO, or NA	
RE	ESEARCHER'S self-check on each stand	ard. Witl	rvising faculty member) will enter YES, NO, or NA to n each NO, the ETHICS REVIEWER will indicate what er a decision at the end of this form and return the fo	revisions are required for	
lft	the ETHICS REVIEWER (supervising fac	ulty men	ber) <u>is able to</u> approve "as is" then the orange colu	nn is left blank.	
	the <mark>orange column</mark> , the <u>RESEARCHER (</u> here/how each of the reviewer's concern		will respond to each of the ETHICS REVIEWER'S co et in the resubmitted materials.	ncerns to explain	

Table 2Ethics Response Form Table

	Researcher's ethics self- check In each row, the researcher should confirm compliance with the ethical standard by entering "Yes," "NA," along with a brief defense of the response (i.e., stating keywords that point to how the ethical standard has been met).	Ethics Reviewer's assessment: After the researcher has presented the evidence for compliance with each ethical standard, the Ethics Reviewer should either confirm by entering "Yes" or challenge with "No." With each "No," the reviewer must specify what revisions are needed to obtain ethics approval.	Researcher's response to Ethics Reviewer Researcher must use this column to explain how and where each of the Ethics Reviewer's concerns (in the yellow column) has been addressed.
Example: Will data be stored securely?	Yes. Data files will be kept on a password protected computer.	No. Please also address how the paper surveys will be secured prior to being entered as electronic files.	Paper surveys will be in a locked file cabinet. Proposal has been updated.
The first 11 questions apply to all st Hover the mouse over the blue foot	•	r is not interacting with participants to nd definitions.	collect new data).
<ol> <li>Are participant recruitment and data collection steps<sup>a</sup> adequately described, such that the study's risks and burdens can be discerned?</li> </ol>	Yes, the following steps will be undertaken. Experts will be identified through the study of NPD literature via a variety of internet journal search engines included 'Discover' and 'Google Scholar'. The email addresses and contact details of the experts who meet the criteria will be recorded. A Participant Information Sheet (PIS) will be attached to each email sent. In addition, before proceeding with the interviews all participants will be presented the option to ask any questions about the research. The details of approximately forty experts	YES	

will be gathered and each	
messaged regarding the details	
of the research. As many of the	
them will most likely not	
respond or will decline the	
interview, one might expect the	
need to email more experts if	
the original forty does not yield	
enough confirmations.	
-	
Initially the experts will receive	
a PIS describing the research	
question, aim and objectives.	
This will include the goals this	
research looks to achieve, why	
they are a suitable candidate	
and the average time the	
interview would last. The	
student researcher's contact	
details will also be included I	
the initial information package	
so that potential participants	
can contact the student	
researcher for more information	
if necessary. Once confirmed	
the experts will receive a letter	
of consent and an interview will	
be scheduled	
be seneduled.	
The study will conclude when	
all twelve selected experts	
have been interviewed.	
As these experts will most likely	
be located in different parts of	
the world and meeting with	
them all in person would be	
impractical, the interviews will	
instead be conducted via	
motoda bo conducted via	

	Skype or another online communication system. The interviews will be recorded with the permission of the expert, then transcribed and analysed. The interview will be <u>voluntary</u> and the experts will have the right to conclude the process and void their data at any time. The recordings and transcriptions of the interviews will be the only data analysed. These interview recordings will be kept only on a single personal laptop and backed up on a single external hard drive; all data will be password protected/encrypted.		
2. Will the research procedures ensure <u>privacy<sup>b</sup></u> during data collection?	Yes, other than the expert no other people will be present at the time of the interview. All interviews will take place on skype, with the researcher being the sole person in the room. The researchers will be asked prior to start of the interview if they are comfortable with the situation before beginning.	YES	
3. Will data be stored <u>securely</u> <sup>c</sup> with adequate provisions to maintain the confidentiality of the data?	Yes. Data will be stored on the research laptop and on a single external hard drive. Both will be password protected.	YES	
<ol><li>Will the data be stored for at least</li></ol>	Yes, the data will be stored for	YES	

5 years?	5 years after which time it will be deleted/destroyed.		
5. If participants' names or contact info will be recorded in the research records, are they absolutely, necessary??	Yes, the participants names will be recorded on the informed consent forms. These forms will be kept in a locked cupboard and accessible only by the researcher. All electronic versions will be stored on a password protected laptop.	YES	
6. Do the research procedures and analysis/write-up plans include all possible measures to ensure that participant identities are not directly or indirectly <sup>6</sup> disclosed? For secondary data analyses, the proposal must clearly state when/how de-identification will occur.	All participants will be provided with a pseudonym which will be used on all write ups of the dissertation. The true identity of the participants will not be known to anyone other than the researcher.	YES	
7. Have all potential <u>psychological</u> , relationship <sup>2</sup> , <u>legal</u> <sup>8</sup> , <u>economic/professional</u> , <u>physical</u> <sup>4</sup> , and other risks been fully <u>acknowledged</u> <sup>6</sup> and described?	Yes, there are no known risks to participants regard this particular research	YES	
8. Have the above risks been minimized <sup>1</sup> as much as possible?	Yes.	YES	
9. Has the researcher proactively managed any potential conflicts of interest <sup>®</sup> ? Note that student researchers may <u>not utilise</u> research assistants to recruit participants or collect research data on behalf of the researcher.	There should be no conflicts of interested present in this study. No participants are personally known by the researcher and no family or personal friends will be involved in the research in any way.	YES	
10. Are the research risks and <u>burdens<sup>n</sup></u> reasonable, in consideration of the new knowledge <sup>o</sup>	Yes.	YES	

-	- 8			· · · ·
[	that this research design can offer?			
	11. Is the research site willing to provide an <u>Authorisation</u> Letter (or email) granting <u>permission</u> <sup>o</sup> for all relevant <u>data</u> <sup>o</sup> access, access to participants, facility use, and/or use of personnel time for research purposes?	N/A	YES	
	interviews, observations).		g participants to collect new data (suc	
	Please place an X on this line	If <u>NONE</u> of the questions in the	next section are applicable to the prop	osed study.
ľ	12. Applicable for student researchers: Will this researcher be appropriately <u>gualified</u> and <u>supervised</u> in all data collection procedures?	Yes, the student researcher will be supervised throughout the duration of the study by a dissertation adviser from the university of Liverpool.	YES	
	13. Is participant recruitment coordinated in a manner that is <u>non- coercive</u> <sup>5</sup> ? Coercive elements include: leveraging an existing relationship to "encourage" participation, recruiting in a <u>group</u> <sup>0</sup> setting, extravagant compensation, recruiting individuals in a context of their treatment or <u>evaluation</u> <sup>v</sup> , etc. A researcher must disclose here whether/how the researcher may already be known to the participants and explain how perceptions of coerced research participation will be minimized <sup>w</sup> .	Yes. None of the participants are currently known and no further attempt will be made to recruit the participants into the research if rejection of the initial contact occurs. All participants will be given time to ask any questions about the study (14 days) before they agree to the study.	YES	
1	14. If anyone would be excluded from participating, is their exclusion justified? Is their exclusion handled respectfully and without stigma <sup>x</sup> ?	Yes, the exclusion criteria is entirely relative to the study and no other exclusion criteria is present.	YES	

45 100 0		NE 0	
15. Where the researcher proposes to use an interpreter, has adequate consideration been given to the interpreter's training regarding confidentiality and principles of informed consent, etc.?	N/A	YES	
16. Do the informed consent <sup>y</sup> procedures provide adequate time to review the study information and ask questions before giving consent?	Yes, a period of two weeks will be given to each participant to resolve these issues.	YES	
17. Will informed consent be appropriately <sup>z</sup> documented?	Yes. In <u>addition</u> all participants will be notified all details regarding informed consent in the initial contact phase.	YES	
18. Is the participant information sheet (PIS) written using language that will be <u>understandable<sup>ss</sup></u> to the potential participants?	As all participants are academics in English, there should be little issue with the participants not being able to understand the language. The PIS is written in plain English for this reason.	YES	
19. Does the PIS include an <u>understandable<sup>bb</sup></u> explanation of the research purpose?	Yes. Care will be taken to meet this criteria, however as all experts will have published a paper in the English language, this should not be an issue.	YES	
20. Does the PIS explain the sample's inclusion criteria in such a <u>way<sup>65</sup></u> that the participants can understand how/why THEY are being asked to participate?	Yes, all participants will fully understand why they have been asked.	YES	
21. Does the PIS clearly state that participation is voluntary?	Yes.	YES	
22. Does the PIS convey that the	Yes, this is included in the PIS.	YES	

	participant has the <u>right<sup>ed</sup></u> to decline or discontinue participation at any time?			
	23. Does the PIS include an understandable description of the data collection procedures?	Yes.	YES	
	24. Does the PIS include an estimate of the time <u>commitment<sup>ee</sup></u> for participation?	Yes the single interview is aptly described as thirty to fifty minutes in length in the PIS.	YES	
1	25. Does the PIS describe any thank <u>you</u> gifts, compensation, or reimbursement to participants (for travel costs, etc.) or lack thereof?	Yes, no compensation or gift will be offered or provided to any participant.	YES	
	26. Does the PIS include a description of reasonably foreseeable <u>tisks<sup>#</sup> or discomforts?</u>	Yes, there are no risks or discomforts envisaged in this research.	YES	
- 6	27. Does the PIS include a description of anticipated benefits to participants <sup>99</sup> and/or others?	Yes, anticipated benefits to the wider academic community are detailed on the PIS.	YES	
	28. Does the PIS explain how the participant can contact the researcher and the university's Research Participant Advocate? (USA number 001-612-312-1210 or email address (verpoolethics@ohecampus.com)	Yes.	YES	
	29. Does the PIS describe how privacy will be maintained <sup>th</sup> ?	Yes.	YES	
	30. Does the PIS disclose all potential conflicts of interest (specifying that this study is separate from the researcher's other professional role)?	Yes	YES	
	31. Do the consent documents preserve the participant's legal <sup>4</sup>	Yes	YES	

rights?			
		e populations should be reviewed and	
	<u>viewer, but</u> must also be confirm	ed by the International Online Researc	h Ethics Committee
before the study may go ahead.			
X Please place an X on this lin	e if <u>NONE</u> of the questions in the	e next section are applicable to the pro	posed study.
32. If <u>vulnerable<sup>ll</sup></u> individuals will be	N/A		
specifically sought out as			
participants, is such targeted			
recruitment justified <sup>kk</sup> by a research			
design that will specifically benefit			
hat vulnerable group at large?			
33. If the researcher happens to also	N/A		
serve in a trusted or authoritative			
ole to the participant (e.g., health			
care provider, teacher etc.), do the			
ecruitment procedures ensure			
voluntary participation?			
34. If the research procedures might	N/A		
reveal or create an acute			
psychological state that necessitates			
eferral, are there suitable			
procedures in place to manage this?			
35. If the research procedures might	N/A		
eveal criminal activity, child/elder			
buse, or employer policy non-			
compliance that necessitates""			
eporting, are there suitable			
procedures in place for managing			
his? Are limits to confidentiality (i.e.,			
duty to report) appropriately			
mentioned in the Participant			
nformation Sheet?			

	ETHICS APPROVAL DECISION
	IENT MUST BE POSTED IN THE GRADEBOOK AFTER THE SUPERVISING FACULTY MEMBER HAS RENDERED A THE APPROPRIATE ETHICS PATHWAY(S) MUST ALSO BE ENTERED INTO THE MITSALE OR LOCAL, EXPEDITED O ROVAL(S)
	ing Faculty Member will mark an X next to box A, B, or C. If box A or B is marked, then the supervising faculty also mark an X next to the applicable subcategory (1, 2, 3, etc.):
	A. APPROVED VIA EXPEDITED (LIGHT TOUCH) ETHICS REVIEW:
	<ul> <li>As the supervising faculty member, I confirm that all applicable criteria 1-35 above are met with either "Yes" or "N/A."</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>I understand my responsibilities as <u>supervisor</u>, and will ensure to the best of my abilities that the student investigator abides by the University's policy on Research Ethics at all times.</li> </ul>
x	<ul> <li>I affirm that the research activities fall entirely within the parameters of the design indicated with an X below (1, 2 or 3) that the International <u>Online</u>. Research Ethics Committee has authorized faculty members to approve via the expedited (light touch) review:</li> </ul>
	1. analysis of <u>public</u> documents, artifacts, <u>behaviour</u> or data;
	<ol> <li>secondary analysis of <u>existing</u> data that is privately held but released for research purposes (with all identifiers removed);</li> </ol>
	X 3. surveys or interviews of <u>non-vulnerable</u> adults on <u>non-sensitive</u> topics (i.e., no potential to participants of coercion, distress, loss of work/school time, damage to professional reputation). Vulnerable populations include children, clinic patients, prisoners, military personnel, facility residents, anyone over whom the researcher holds authority (e.g., students, subordinates), anyone who might feel undue pressure to participate in the study, and any individuals with severe enough mental disabilities to interfere with capacity to consent to the study.

	B. REFERRED TO ETHICS COMMITTEE:
	<ul> <li>As the supervising faculty member, I am referring this study to the full ethics committee (IOREC) because [mark 1, 2, 3, 4 or Other below].</li> <li>I will email the student's ethics application and all attachments as a single zip file to the ethics committee via liverpoolethics@ohecampus.com, copying the DOS (or Programme, Director where this exists).</li> </ul>
	The ethics committee accepts applications until 5 pm Liverpool timezone on the 3 <sup>rd</sup> Thursday of every month. Decisions and feedback will be emailed to the student and DA within 5 business days after the 4 <sup>th</sup> Thursday of the month
	1. the researcher proposes to collect data from vulnerable individuals such as children, clinic patients, prisoners, military personnel, facility residents, anyone over whom the researcher holds authority (e.g., students, subordinates), anyone who might feel undue pressure to participate in the study, and any individuals with severe enough mental disabilities to interfere with capacity to consent to the study.
	2. some (potential) participants may find the research topic or premise sensitive
-	3. participants' jobs or livelihoods may be placed at any risk by the study activities
-	4. the participants' culture and/or international location suggest that extra participant protections may be necessary
	Other:
	C. REVISIONS REQUIRED:
	The student needs to revise the proposal and ethics materials to address the concerns in the yellow column and resubmit to me before I can select A or B above.

#### Footnotes

Percenses
Provide service of the provide service of potential ratic searcher fruit needs to plan and clearly afficiates all of the following that apply:

Provide service data or cancer differential information or potential participants, with the obtained,
include the provide service data or cancer differential participants, with the obtained,
with the service data or cancer differential participants,
with the service data or cancer differential information (parts as discipants and the potential ratio).
Provide service data or cancer differential information (parts as discipants and the potential ratio).
Provide service data or cancer differential information (parts as discipants and the potential ratio).
Provide service data or cancer differential information (parts as discipants and the potential ratio).
Provide service data or cancer data or cancer

volunteers in a stigmalizing manner.

<sup>2</sup> While documenting consent via signature is common, note that anonymous surveys can obtain "implied consent" by informing the participant, "To protect your privacy, no consent signature is requested. Instead, you may indicate your consent by clicking here/returning this survey in the enclosed envelope.") It is also acceptable to autoproceed, we had consent for interviews, (pugger) on they any record of the interviewe's name.

Indeed, you may indicate your consent by clicking hereinstuming this survey in the enclosed envelope.") It is also acceptable to <u>subspaced</u>, verbal consent for interviews, <u>furged to not have any record</u> of the interviews' name. <sup>54</sup> The ethics committee encourages tailoring the interview of the readers <u>agings as</u> a professional tone is maintained. <sup>54</sup> Proper encourages tailoring the interview of the readers <u>agings as</u> a professional tone is maintained. <sup>54</sup> Proper encoursing the PIS and/or to be two working the interview of the readers <u>agings as</u> a professional tone is maintained. <sup>54</sup> Proper encoursing the PIS and/or to be two working the readers <u>agings as</u> a professional tone is maintained. <sup>54</sup> Proper encoursing the PIS and/or to be two working the readers <u>agings as</u> and have about me<sup>2+</sup> To proped to which the past years (or (b) The researcher is inviting all tandees of the past year's XV2 professional contense to be in the study; or (c) The researcher will be randomic sectoring possible proteing past year to be provided the invitiant of all employees who meet the researcher's study origin (c), have been with the opastization at least 2 years and have transitioned into a managerial role within the past year); or (b) The researcher will be and/or (b) applicable) the invite's access to services. <sup>44</sup> Provide an estimat (in mixes or hours) of each component of data collection (e.g., survey, interview, <u>morebectications, etc.</u>). <sup>44</sup> Provide an estimat (in mixes or hours) of each component of data collection (e.g., survey, interview, <u>morebectications, etc.</u>). <sup>44</sup> Provide an submat the research report will not include names and that the data will not be used than you coll gas ystem that will permit the researcher to not use names. For sensitive interviews, the researcher might also want to assure participants that recordings will be destroyed immediately after transcription. <sup>14</sup> The consent that the researcher point will not include names and that the data will not be used for any ucong system that wi

# **Appendix F: Informed Consent Form**

Ll	ORMED CONSENT FORM FOR RESEARCH STUDIES	
	e of Research Project:	
Th	expert opinions on the relationship between Narcissistic Personality order (NPD) and mental illness classification.	
Re	searcher(s):	Please initial bo
1.	I confirm that I have read and have understood the information sheet for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information and ask questions, and I have had these questions answered satisfactorily.	
2.	I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason, without my rights being affected.	
3.	I understand that, under the UK's Data Protection Act, I can at any time ask for access to the information I provide and I can also request the destruction of that information if I wish.	
4.	I understand that I will not be identified or identifiable in any report subsequently produced by the researcher.	
5.	I accept that taking part in a study intervention is voluntary and confirm that any risks associated with this have been explained to me.	
6.	I agree to take part in the above study.	
7.	I agree to having the interview/focus group digitally recorded.	
Pa	ticipant Name Date Signature	
F	esearcher Date Signature	9

Telephone: +212 682499708 Email address: Ryan.mcconnell@online.liverpool.ac.uk

# **Appendix G: Participant Information Sheet**



PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

#### Title of the study:

The expert opinions on the relationship between Narcissistic Personality Disorder (NPD) and mental illness classification.

Date: 17.11.2017

Dear Participant,

You are being invited to participate in a research study. Before you decide whether to participate, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and feel free to ask us if you would like more information or if there is anything that you do not understand. Please feel free to discuss this with anyone you feel it would be useful to discuss it with. We would like to stress that you do not have to accept this invitation and should only agree to take part if you want to.

Thank you for reading this.

What is the purpose of the study? To aggregate the general perceptions on NPD (Narcissistic Personality Disorder) and to explore perceptions about the classification of NPD as a mental illness.

Why have I been chosen to take part? Due to your previous experience researching NPD, you are deemed to be an expert on the subject, and your insights and knowledge are deemed vital for the research.

**Do I have to take part?** No, all participation is voluntary and you can withdraw from the study at any point in time with no recourse or disadvantage.

What will happen if I take part? An interview will be conducted (via skype) of roughly 30-45 minutes in length. The interview questions are purposely designed for the research question.

Are there any expenses and/or payments? No expenses or payments will be made to participants and no expenses will be incurred because all interviews will take place online.

What are the risks in taking part? There are no foreseeable risks to taking part in this study but if you wish to stop the interview at any point or feel uncomfortable, please tell the researcher. You are free to withdraw from the research at any point in the research process.

What are the benefits from taking part? There are no direct benefits to you from taking part but that it is hoped the results of the study will be of benefit to the wider academic community.

What if I am unhappy or there is a problem? Your information can be discarded and you can withdraw at any time. If you become uncomfortable for any reason at any point during the interview, please tell me and we can stop the interview.

Will my participation be kept confidential? Yes, no names will be mentioned in any write up of the dissertation and all participants will be anonymised by means of a pseudonym.

What will happen to the results of the study? The will used for purposes of completing a dissertation. The results will not be shared with anyone other than the dissertation adviser prior to submittal.

What will happen if I want to stop taking part? Your information will be withdrawn and deleted. You can withdraw from the research at any point of the process.

Who should I contact if I have any questions? Contact the researcher Ryan McConnell at ryan.mcconnell@liverpool.online.ac.uk or tel:+212 682499708